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ABSTRACT 

From the perspective of the institutional theory and focusing on the concept of 

isomorphism and the three pillars of institution, this thesis examined the auditing 

regulatory changes in Indonesia and how such changes affected the developments and 

implementation of its Audit Quality (AQ). It employed the qualitative approach with 

three phases of data collection and analysis involving interviews, document 

inspections, observations and case studies. The first phase explored how accounting 

regulators act as institutional agents in affecting regulatory changes concerning AQ in 

the country. The second phase sought practitioners’ views on those changes and how 

they were affecting their practices. Using the case study approach, the third phase 

went deeper into this issue by investigating its implementation through two case 

studies consisting of one local and one global audit firm.  The analysis revealed how 

regulators have undertaken significant efforts in improving AQ through the 

enhancement of auditing statutory and institutional frameworks. However, 

practitioners gave mixed reactions on the efforts even though they shared similar 

general expectations on the regulatory changes. The case studies provided evidence of 

how AQ is being implemented and improved in both firms. Improvements were 

affected through the education of auditors, strengthening of the ethical values of the 

auditors, and quality control of the practices.  This study showed how the regulative 

pillar was mobilized by Indonesian accounting regulators as a foundation to 

strengthen the AQ.  The institutional analysis also showed the interplay of normative 

and cultural-cognitive pressures in influencing practitioners’ views on AQ efforts 

more than the coercive pressure. From the practical side, it was evident that local and 

global firms perceived and responded differently on coercive and culture-cognitive 

pressures. This study illustrates how institutional pressures explain the development 

and enhancement of AQ in an emerging economy. 

 

Keywords: Audit quality, regulatory changes, institutional theory, Indonesia, 

isomorphism 
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ABSTRAK 

Dari perspektif teori institusi serta tumpuan kepada konsep isomorphisme dan tiga 

tonggak institusi, tesis ini meneliti perubahan kawal selia audit di Indonesia dan 

bagaimana perubahan tersebut mempengaruhi perkembangan dan pelaksanaan Kualiti 

Audit (AQ). Kajian ini menggunakan pendekatan kualitatif dengan tiga fasa 

pengumpulan data dan analisis yang melibatkan temu bual, pemeriksaan dokumen, 

pemerhatian dan kajian kes. Fasa pertama meneroka bagaimana pihak berkuasa 

bertindak sebagai ejen institusi yang mempengaruhi perubahan kawal selia berkaitan 

AQ di negara tersebut. Tahap kedua bertujuan mendapatkan pandangan para 

pengamal terhadap perubahan tersebut dan bagaimana ianya mempengaruhi amalan 

mereka. Dengan menggunakan pendekatan kajian kes, fasa ketiga lebih mendalami 

isu ini dengan menyiasat pelaksanaannya melalui dua kajian kes yang terdiri daripada 

sebuah firma audit tempatan dan sebuah firma audit global. Analisis mendedahkan 

bahawa pengawal selia telah melaksanakan usaha-usaha yang signifikan dalam 

meningkatkan AQ melalui penambahbaikan audit berkanun dan rangka kerja institusi. 

Walau bagaimanapun, pengamal memberikan reaksi bercampur ke atas usaha ini 

biarpun mereka berkongsi jangkaan umum yang sama terhadap perubahan kawal selia 

tersebut.   Kajian kes tersebut menyediakan bukti tentang bagaimana AQ sedang 

dilaksana dan dibuat penambahbaikan di kedua-dua buah institusi. Penambahbaikan 

dilakukan melalui pendidikan juruaudit, pengukuhan nilai-nilai etika juruaudit dan 

kawalan kualiti ke atas amalan. Kajian ini menunjukkan bagaiman tonggak regulatif 

digerakkan oleh pengawal selia di Indonesia sebagai asas untuk mengukuhkan AQ. 

Analisis institusi juga menunjukkan interaksi tekanan normatif dan budaya kognitif 

mempengaruhi pandangan para pengamal terhadap usaha AQ berbanding tekanan 

paksaan. Dari segi praktik, jelas bahawa firma tempatan dan global menanggap dan 

bertindak balas secara berbeza terhadap tekanan paksaan dan tekanan budaya-

kognitif. Kajian ini menggambarkan bagaimana tekanan institusi menerangkan 

tentang peningkatan AQ dalam ekonomi yang sedang berkembang. 

Kata kunci: kualiti audit, perubahan kawal selia, teori institusi, Indonesia, 

isomorphisme 
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CHAPTER ONE 

INTRODUCTION 

 

 

1.1. Background of Study 

Audit quality (AQ) continues to receive significant attention from accounting 

regulators, professional bodies and accounting researches, and this is confirmed by 

the issuance of the acts, rules, regulation, standards and guidelines which were 

recently discussed and reported in many published researches, reports and journal 

articles (Christensen, Glover, Omer & Shelley, 2016; Favere-Marchesi, 2000; Francis, 

2011; Francis, 2004; Holm & Zaman, 2012; Hossain, 2013). The acts, rules and 

regulations were established in response to the accounting malpractice that happens 

around the world (Lennox, 2009). In the US, the downfall of Enron and its auditor, 

Arthur Anderson and Co in 2002 had opened up a lot of debates on AQ. Prominently 

the collapse has led to the establishment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) 2002 

which has a significant impact on the accounting landscape globally, and also caused 

the establishment of Public Company Oversight Board (PCAOB) which provides 

turning point to the auditing profession in which, self-regulation practice in the 

accounting profession was terminated.  

 

The SOX 2002 lists new requirements and restrictions including requirement on 

mandatory auditor’s rotation, restriction on non-audit services (NAS), requirement 

related to internal control, as well as the requirement for revolving relationship 

between auditors and their clients.  These are to ensure the high quality of audit 

practice (Lennox, 2009; Sarbanes, 2002).  
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For more than a decade, AQ remains as the main focus in accounting profession. For 

example, in January 2016, the American Institute of CPA, The Center for Audit 

Quality (CAQ)1 published a report, “Audit Quality Indicators (AQI): The Journey of 

the Path Ahead” which identifies the most effective ways to determine and assess AQ. 

Also in January 2016, the Federation of European Accountants (FEE)2 has issued a 

briefing paper entitled “The Impact of Audit Reform on Audit Committee in Europe”. 

The paper discussed “The Criteria for the Auditors Selection” where auditors should 

provide evidence of AQ in order to comply with the auditing standards. This 

supported the assertion that the compliance to audit standards shows high quality 

performance of audit (Schwartz, 1998; Dye, 1993). The efforts and changes 

concerning AQ have also influenced local auditing rules and regulations and this has 

also brought similar attention to other countries around the globe (Humphrey, C., 

Loft, A., Woods, M. (2009).  

 

In the United Kingdom (UK), following the release of the SOX 2002, the Financial 

Reporting Council (FRC) has been restructured and was given the responsibility 

foraccounting, auditing and corporate governance regulation and oversight (Beattie, 

Fearnley & Hines, 2015). The significant changes in the audit profession include 

independent inspection on audit firms and the increase of significance in the role of 

the audit committee and in ensuring the adoption of International Standards on 

                                                             
1 affiliated with the American Institute of CPAs 

2 FEE (Federation of European Accountants) is an international non-profit organization based in Brussels that 

represents 50 institutes of professional accountants and auditors from 37 European countries, including all of the 

28 EU Member States. FEE is also a Regional Organization, member of the International Federation of 

Accountants (IFAC) 

http://www.fee.be/members/see-member-bodies-per-country.html
http://www.fee.be/glossary/35-eu.html
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Auditing (ISA), thus, have become the new factors influencing AQ (Beattie et al., 

2013).  

 

Some regulatory changes have also occurred in Australia, for example the Corporate 

Law Economic Reform Program (CLERP) in 2004 which requires the mandatory 

disclosure of NAS fee in relation with the auditor independence. The effort has 

affected the improvement of AQ at the post of the CLERP establishment (Hossain, 

2013). Unlike the UK and Australia, Canada directly decided to adopt SOX and 

named it as Canadian SOX (C-SOX) or Bill 198 (Amoako-Adu & Baulkaran, 2008). 

Since the incidence of the corporate scandals in the country, the regulators have been 

citing the complexity of business and the development of information technology to 

justify the law as well as newly introduced standards, especially relating to the audit 

standard (Knechel, 2007). Apart from SOX, PCAOB, CLERP and C-SOX, the 

issuance of the International Standard on Auditing (ISA) is another example of the 

result from the regulatory changes. 

 

The issues on AQ have been the focus in the accounting profession in the developing 

countries. For example, in June 2011, Malaysia’s Audit Oversight Board (AOB), The 

Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) of Singapore, and the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) of Thailand, have taken steps to promote 

better AQ in the ASEAN countries. The aforementioned countries are members of the 

Forum of Independent Audit Regulators (IFIAR) who came together and founded the 

ASEAN Audit Regulators Group (AARG). This informal organization aims to 

promote AQ in the region through enhanced collaboration between audit regulators. 
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In 2013 Indonesia became a member of IFIAR; and in 2014, it became the fourth 

member of AARG. 

 

The 6th annual meeting of AARG which was held on 26th of August 2016 hosted by 

ACRA in Singapore was focused on the discussion with the World Bank on 

collaborative efforts to further advance the standard of AQ in ASEAN countries. The 

meeting was not only attended by the ASEAN members such as AOB, ACRA, 

Indonesia’s Finance Profession Supervisory Centre (P2PK), Thailand’s SEC and other 

regulators of ASEAN members, but also the representatives from Hong Kong, China 

as well as the regional and global leadership of Global Public Policy Committee 

(GPPC) audit firms. The areas of collaboration includes capacity building workshops 

and technical assistance accommodating the different capacity levels of ASEAN 

members (FM-TAB, 2016).  

 

Thus, the issue involving accounting scandals, the global regulatory changes as well as 

following up on the regional meetings had forced the Indonesian policy makers to 

respond accordingly to meet the global and the regional demands to address and 

improve its AQ.  Apart from the global pressure on audit efforts, Indonesia also 

experience practical problems which receives the most attention as it leads to the loss 

of confidence in its AQ. The result from a survey performed by IFIAR and reported by 

Mr. Jusuf Wibisana a Public Accountants Professional Committee (KPAP) members 

(MI, 2016), shows that the level of audit quality in Indonesia is considered low due to 

five aspects: 1) the level of competence and number of professional staff of audit 

firms (KAP) are not evenly distributed, 2) inconsistent implementation of the quality 

control system in the KAP, 3) less assertive enforcement of sanctions against 
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violations of professional standards and legislation, 4) low awareness of the 

responsibility of preparing financial statements by management entity, and 5) price 

war in determining the amount of audit services. These five aspects are crucial since 

they are part of the aspects or factors which support the implementation of AQ 

(DiAngelo, 1981; Francis, 2011). Thus, this issue concerning AQ is deemed as a 

challenge for Indonesia.  

 

Many studies on AQ have been conducted worldwide, however, most studies were 

replicated from those conducted in the United States of America (US) and other 

developed countries, which concerned on aspects such as audit rotation, audit fee, 

competency and independency (Hartadi, 2009; Idawati, 2014; Octavia & Widodo, 

2015; Idawati & Gunawan, 2015; Halim, Sutrisno, Rosidi & Achsin, 2014; Suyono,  

2012; Suprapto & Suwardi, 2013). Nonetheless, there are only few studies are based 

on theoretical and empirical debates on the rationale for AQ efforts in emerging 

economy countries. Moreover, taking into account the perspective of institutional 

theory, this thesis aims to investigate why Indonesia conducts some regulatory efforts 

to strengthen its AQ and whether Indonesia is deciding to be part of ASEAN regional 

movement on AQ or to promote better AQ by its own. Hence, this study investigates 

the issues on audit quality by taking Indonesia as the context of the study.  

 

Indonesia has the biggest population in the ASEAN region, however it has less number 

of accountants compare to other ASEAN countries such as Thailand and Malaysia. 

According to the AFA’s Report- The World Bank Group in the year of 2014, the count 

only contributes 12.07% from the total number of accountants in the ASEAN region. 

In comparison with its neighbouring countries, Indonesia is behind in several aspects 
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including its number of accountants in the country. In contrast, Indonesia produces 

more than 35,000 university’s graduates with accounting qualification per year (IAPI, 

2016).  However, having limited number of accountants, Indonesia keeps making room 

for improvements and developments in AQ. One example of the development is by 

scaling up the number of accountants to ensure adequate number met for a growing 

economy country to support the enhancement of AQ (P2PK, 2016).  

 

Another aspect to take into consideration is that there is a “wide’ gap among 

accounting professionals in Indonesia. From the survey report by IFIAR discussed 

above, the level of competency and number of professional staff of audit firm (KAP) 

are not evenly distributed. The gap is not only in competency aspect, but also in its 

infrastructure and other resources. However, with that being said, the Indonesia 

accounting regulators are putting efforts to enforce policies without considering the 

gaps. For example, the auditing standards are legally enforceable for all type of audit 

firms. According to Kellas (2005) the fundamental principle of audit does not differ 

by the entities’ size, whether small, medium or big. On the other hand, the 

stakeholders also expect the same level of assurance. However, it is a challenge for 

regulators to reconcile the needs for different type of audit firms with regards to their 

interest as well as their stakeholders’ interests.  

 

All the phenomena above indicate that AQ is still a major concern and become the 

main issue in Indonesia. However, the regulators are putting efforts to improve this 

condition. Thus, the following section discusses the motivations of this study. 
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1.2. Motivations of the Study 

AQ is a critical global issue particularly among emerging economy countries thus 

setting pressures to improve AQ in their respective countries. Indonesia is no 

exception in regards of AQ enhancement agenda. 

 

Indonesia has made several changes in the country’s accounting profession 

specifically through the efforts by the regulators to enhance AQ. Efforts have been 

performed although some claimed that such initiatives are due to requirement of 

international organizations such as the World Bank and the International Monetary 

Fund (IMF), while some argues that the attention is due to practical problems 

experienced by the country. In addition to this, based on the preliminary interviews 

with the accounting regulators3, some suggest that movements are made for 

legitimacy as much as for efficiency reasons.  

  

Therefore, the motivations for this study are to explore the rationale for AQ efforts in 

Indonesia, to discover the strategies by the regulators to assess each of its efforts to 

improve AQ and to determine the most crucial effort, emphasize in order to achieve a 

high-quality audit and financial reporting practices in Indonesia. Thus, it can be said 

that issues on AQ in the country have not been much discussed particularly on the 

impact, strategies, reaction and reason behind of the regulatory changes on AQ, 

especially by using the institutional perspective. This study therefore hopes to answer 

the regulators as well as practitioners’ expectations in the country’s accounting 

profession. Taking all into consideration, this perspective shows that Indonesia is in 

                                                             
3 Indonesian Institute of Public Accountant (IAPI) and Indonesia’s Finance Profession Supervisory 

Centre (P2PK) conducted on 14 February 2016. 
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compliance (coercive), similar to others (mimetic) and aware of the importance of the 

responsibility for the accounting (normative) (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983).  

 

From the methodological perspectives, it is noted that many previous studies applied 

quantitative research approach in investigating the issues concerning AQ (for example 

Fearnley et al., 2014; DeFond & Lennox, 2011; Beattie et al., 2010; Hecimovic et al., 

2009). Many Most studies were conducted in the developed countries such as the US, 

the UK, Australia, and New Zealand. variables were identified and quantitative 

method was used to show the relationship between the regulator’s efforts with the AQ 

mostly using Ordinary Least Square Model (OLS), sensitivity analysis (for example, 

Sarowar, 2013; DeFond & Lennox, 2011) and experimental case approach (Fearnley 

et al., 2014; Smith, 2012). Not much research has been conducted, especially in 

developing countries including Indonesia. Hence, this study is designed to fill the gap 

by conducting in-depth qualitative method and to show the emerging economy 

countries’ role and effort to improve AQ and to provide some insights from 

participants as to how far Indonesia has gone in order to enhance its AQ.  

 

Based on the literature review, many definitions of AQ are established based on ways 

of defining and measuring it (Francis, 2011). Many researchers define AQ 

contextually according to their own dimensions, perspectives and focus of study 

(Watkins, Hillison & Morecroft, 2004). On the other hands, some other researchers 

define AQ based on the degree of conformity to auditing standard (e.g. Krishnan & 

Schauer, 2001; McConnell & Bank, 1998) or accounting point of view. In general, the 

definition of AQ is to consider the way and ability to reduce bias, and adjust or 

correct the misstatement of accounting information to ensure fairness in the 
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presentation of financial statements (Wallace, 1980). Other definitions of AQ relate to 

the auditors’ competency and capability in reporting audits (e.g. Francis, 2004; Geiger 

& Raghunandar, 2002; Shin, Xu & Lacina, 2011); discretionary accrual as an 

alternate for audit quality (e.g. Dechow & Dicheve, 2002; Krushman, 2003); the 

probability that unqualified report for material errors from the financial statement will 

not be issued (e.g. Lee, Stokes, Taylor & Walter, 1999); the size of audit firm (e.g. 

DeAngelo, 1981; Sawan & Alsaqqa, 2013;  Weiner, 2012; Yuniarti, 2011); and AQ 

based on how auditor issue their opinion and going concern (e.g. Knechel & 

Vanstracher, 2007; Ruiz, Gómez, Fuentes & García, 2004). Thus, from the various 

definitions of AQ, seems that there is no conclusive insight can be drawn to relate AQ 

with the regulatory changes.  In addition, most studies revealed difference 

conclusions, and only focused on the audit result and deliverables rather than the 

process of AQ implementation itself. Thus, the study on AQ and regulatory changes 

has received little attention. 

 

Apart from focusing directly on AQ, some researches have also studied on how 

regulatory changes affect the audit fees (Abidin, Beattie & Goodacre, 2010; Ghosh & 

Pawlewicz, 2009; Griffin, Lont & Sun, 2009; Huang, Raghunandan & Rama, 2009; 

Salman & Carson, 2009).  The findings show various results and regardless of the 

value of the relationship between regulatory changes with audit fee, the change in the 

latter is related to the compliance costs for the audit firms which are subjected to SOX 

or CLERP. Other studies examined the relationship between the regulatory changes 

and AQ with different measurements such as:  contract law (Wegman, 2007); factors 

that affect AQ (Beattie et al, 2010); peer review within existing and non-existing 

auditor in market (Defond & Lenox, 2011); investor’s perceptions of AQ (Smith, 
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2012); transparency, expertise, professionalism and commercialization of audit (Holm 

& Zaman, 2012) and the changed framework of auditing, behavior and perception of 

directors and auditors (Fearnley, Brandt & Hines, 2014). Hence, based on the 

literature listed above, various definitions have been developed that are based on 

different approaches. Crucially, the AQ definition is in continuous evolution and the 

debate in the literature still opens. This study explores another perspective of audit 

quality as a process which concerns the way some efforts in enhancing AQ is 

implemented as well as to get insight on how the practitioners implement it into its 

function.   

 

Finally, the last motivation is to fill the gaps in the literature especially in Indonesia 

context. As above mentioned in the background of this thesis, many researchers 

replicated studies done in the US and other developed countries and most of area of 

concern related to AQ revolves around audit’s rotation and audit fee (Siregar et al.,  

2012; Hartadi, 2009; Idawati, 2014; Suprapto & Suwardi, 2013), audit’s tenure 

(Febrianto & Sugiri, 2012; Giri, 2010; Mayangsari, 2007; Yuniarti, 2012), auditors’ 

competency, experience, independency (Octavia & Widodo, 2015; Idawati & 

Gunawan, 2015;  Halim, Sutrisno, Rosidi & Achsin, 2014; Suyono,  2012), 

Continuing Professional Development for Auditing profession (Laksmi, 2015), and 

Auditor’s Industry Specialization, Auditor’s Procedures (Sarwoko & Agoes, 2014).  

 

The literature review reveals that most researches in AQ adopted agency theory. This 

theory focuses on the relationship between a principle and an agent with the 

assumption that they are driven by desire to maximize their interest (Jensen & 

Meckling, 1976). For example, in the context of listed audit client market that shows 
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demand for auditing is in order to manage agency conflicts (Francis, Khurana, Martin 

& Pereira, 2006; Lin & Liu, 2009). This study is using institutional theory as the 

theoretical framework which focuses on the process of enhancing AQ and regulatory 

changes as the efforts to realize it. The isomorphism principles of DiMaggio et al. 

(1983) as well as pillar of Scott (2008) are needed since this theory concerns the 

institutional pressure that influence organization’s practice.  

 

In addition, due to the theory for this thesis. Research about institutional theory has 

been undertaken to understand whether certain environment settings and industries, are 

more likely to demonstrate isomorphic institutional pressures, and the impact of these 

pressures. Several settings in which institutional theory has been examined is art 

museum (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983), electricity sector (Tsamenyi, Cullen & 

González, 2006), educational system (Hanson, 2001), information technology and 

information system (Krell, Matook & Rohde, 2016), municipal corporation Collin, S. 

O. Y., Tagesson, T., Andersson, A., Cato, J., & Hansson, K. (2009) and public sector 

(government) (Carpenter & Feroz, 2001). This thesis attempts to extend the research 

into institutional theory within an AQ in emerging economy. 

 

1.3. Problem Statement 

Indonesia’s diversity in cultural, belief system and resources may open up many 

opportunities, however, at the same time they may also lead to many challenges, 

especially in business and economy (Frederick & Worden, 2011). The economic 

growth, business and financial stability can be achieved when the country is able to 

show high quality of auditing, financial reporting as well as the ethics of the 

accounting profession (ROSC, 2011). Referring to the survey done result of IFIAR, 
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the results show that Indonesia is considered as a country with low audit level. The 

competency and resources gap among audit firms becomes one of the contexts of 

Indonesian accounting profession. In addition, the number of accountants which is not 

in-line with the number of its accounting graduates as mentioned on the previous 

section is also an issue for the country’s accounting profession. Beyond its context, 

Indonesia is in regard to the agenda of AQ enhancement right now. Thus, this 

condition prompts a need to explore how the regulators decide on the strategy of each 

regulatory effort to improve AQ, to determine the most crucial effort, that need to be 

emphasized and the most effective changes that should be conducted in order to 

achieve a high-quality audit practice in Indonesia. This study also looks into why 

Indonesia carries out these regulatory efforts to enhance AQ. In addition, it also 

provides some insights on the development and implementation of AQ in Indonesia. 

 

In addition to the AQ context, there are at least three reasons for conducting 

regulatory efforts in Indonesia. Some claim that such initiatives are due to pressures 

from international organizations such as the World Bank and the International 

Monetary Fund (IMF) as well as the ASEAN regional counterparts, some argue that 

the attention is due to practical problems experienced by the country. Result from the 

preliminary interviews with the accounting regulators however suggest that 

movements are conducted for legitimacy as much as for efficiency reason. 

 

In spite of the issues mentioned above, different view in defining AQ has encouraged 

researcher to observe AQ insights from the regulators and practitioners’ perspective 

as well as on the changes occurred. Furthermore, the study about regulatory changes 

issues and AQ is rarely being discussed, especially in Indonesia. Therefore, this study 
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focuses on the investigation of how and why the regulatory changes are initiated and 

conducted to enhance AQ. This study also provides some insights on the development 

of its AQ. Hence, the aim of the study is to explore how far Indonesia has looked into 

AQ and how the regulatory changes conducted by regulators influence and strengthen 

the enhancement of AQ in Indonesia.  

 

1.4. Research Questions 

The main research question for this study is how the regulatory changes influence AQ 

in Indonesia and in order to answer the main research question research sub-questions 

are therefore developed. The following research questions present these changes 

affecting the AQ in Indonesia.  Thus, there are eight detailed questions as follows: 

1) How does the regulator play its role in enhancing AQ in Indonesia? 

2) What are the recent efforts, developments or changes concerning AQ in 

Indonesia? 

3) What does the regulator expect from these developments on AQ? 

4) What are the challenges faced by the regulators due to the regulatory changes in 

order to enhance the AQ? 

5) How are the reactions and expectations of practitioners towards the regulatory 

changes? 

6) What are the challenges faced by practitioners due to the changes? 

7) What are the strategies or action plans applied by both types of practitioners due 

to the changes? 
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8) How do the regulatory changes affect the process of AQ implementation and 

practice in audit firms? 

1.5. Research Objective 

The specific objectives of the study based on the research questions above are: 

1) To explore how the regulators, play its role in enhancing AQ in Indonesia. 

2) To explain the recent developments, efforts and changes with regards to AQ in 

Indonesia. 

3) To explain the expectations of regulators from the developments on AQ. 

4) To explain the regulator’s challenges with regards to the regulatory changes in 

order to enhance the AQ. 

5) To explain the reaction as well as the expectation of practitioners towards the 

regulatory changes. 

6) To explain the challenges faced by practitioners due to the changes. 

7) To explore the strategies applied by both types of practitioners due to the changes. 

8) To explore the processes of AQ implementation and practice in audit firm. 

1.6. Significance of the Study 

This study aims to fill the gap in auditing research that can be explained as follows. 

Firstly, there are many definitions in term of ways, of defining AQ and measuring it, 

that include defining AQ contextually according to various dimensions, perspectives 

and focus of study (Francis, 2011; Watkins, Hillison & Morecroft, 2004). Result of 

these studies mostly vary, however, are restricted to audit result and deliverables 
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rather than the process of AQ implementation itself. Secondly, there have been 

several researches on regulatory changes affect the audit fees but not directly on AQ 

itself. (Abidin, Beattie & Goodacre, 2010; Ghosh & Pawlewicz, 2009; Griffin, Lont & 

Sun, 2009; Huang, Raghunandan & Rama, 2009; Salman & Carson, 2009). Thus, 

various definitions on AQ have been developed that are based on different 

approaches. Having said that AQ definition is in continuous evolution and the debate 

in the literature still opens. This study explores AQ as a process which concerns the 

way efforts in enhancing AQ is implemented as well as to get insights on how the 

practitioners implement it into its function.   

 

There are limited number of researches on AQ that have been conducted, especially in 

developing economy countries including Indonesia and these researches are mostly 

replications of prior studies. This study explores the strategy by regulators to assess 

each of regulatory efforts in order to improve AQ, to determine the most crucial effort 

as regulators need to decide and emphasize on what particular efforts to be conducted 

to achieve a high-quality audit and financial reporting practices in Indonesia. This 

study could also provide some insights on the development of AQ and it is an 

extension of previous studies in the area of regulatory changes. This thesis also uses 

data from actual working papers of each firm in order to support and confirm the 

perceptions given by the participants (Hecimovic et al., 2011). This study is 

significant view to several viewpoints. Firstly, the study discusses regulatory changes 

and AQ as an institution by conducting in-depth qualitative method to obtain insights 

by participants. Secondly, the study shows the emerging economy country’s role and 

effort to improve AQ, and also to explores how far Indonesia has conducted efforts in 
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order to enhance its AQ. These show clear viewpoints to distinguish this thesis from 

previous studies.  

 

The result of this study also assists the regulators to perform evaluation to determine 

whether certain regulatory changes has made positive contribution (benefit) to the 

CPA practices and businesses or create burdens and problems (costs) to the 

accounting profession. Although regulation changes can result in effectiveness of the 

regulation itself, it can create different consequences for business, thus measuring the 

cost and benefit for the regulatory change is therefore a critical issue (Mulherin, 

2007). 

This study can also be considered as a reference for the stakeholders particularly on 

how the practitioners address the issue of improvement AQ implementation thus 

gaining back the trust for the accounting profession in audit industry. In addition, it 

might be useful for audit firms to obtain references on how to cope, adapt and prepare 

for all changes according to the firm’s size or audit firm’s classification. The 

challenges that they are facing will be identified and strategies to overcome them will 

be suggested. The outcomes of this study may be a comparative guidance for them, 

especially the small and medium firms, particularly in managing their limited 

resources in complying with the new regulatory changes (Hecimovic et al., 2011). 

 

This thesis adapts institutional theory perspective to discuss the efforts undertaken by 

regulators and accounting profession in Indonesia in order to strengthen its AQ. The 

theoretical framework of this research focuses on the understanding of how the 

regulators play their role in enhancing AQ in Indonesia which is due to international 
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pressure in global world and to put a foundation to strengthen and support the efforts 

to enhance AQ. 

 

The evidence also shows that the country has put in various initiatives in relation to its 

AQ. Result show that the regulatory changes have significant influence on the 

development and improvement of AQ in Indonesia and that these improvements are 

necessary to ensure good-practice country in accountancy profession with regards to 

AQ in Indonesia and in the developing world. This study also shows that the efforts 

signaled significant changes in the accountancy environment i.e. the shift in the 

practitioners’ perception towards the risk of not properly implementing the law and 

standards. This study explores whether audit firms of different sizes have different 

perceptions towards regulatory efforts to enhance AQ in Indonesia. Although they 

reacted and perceived, expected, and faced challenges differently in response to the 

regulators’ efforts, they shared a similar opinion regarding their general expectations. 

All participants share a similar view on benefits that they can gain by complying with 

the regulatory changes. Finally, the study presents result from the implementation of 

AQ due to regulatory changes and pressures, in two different audit firms (the global 

and the local audit firms). The study shows how AQ is being improved and 

implemented, in the context of the both Indonesian audit firms. Result also show that 

both audit firms experience AQ improvement initiatives and commitments in their 

professional practices with regards to education, ethical, and quality. This study also 

shows that the AQ in Indonesian is being improved by utilizing institutional theory 

and it is suggested that the AQ can be defined based on audit process as an alternative 

perspective, which is explored by the three phases of analysis.   
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1.7. Scope of the Study 

The aim of this thesis is to provide some insights on the development of AQ with 

regards to initiatives and regulatory efforts conducted by the accounting regulators. 

The regulators’ term used in this this study refers to P2PK and IAPI, as detailed being 

discussed on Chapter 3.  The study uses Indonesia as a case study (Cresswell, 2013; 

Tin, 2012). The interviews were conducted with regulators and practitioners located 

in Surabaya and Jakarta. This is because Jakarta and Surabaya are the business and 

economy centers in Indonesia and majority of audit firms are located in both cities. 

According to P2PK, more than 85% of Indonesian Accountants are located in the 

same areas” (IAPI, 2016; P2PK, 2016).  

 

This study focuses on these regulator’s efforts undertaken by Indonesian authorities 

on a pre- and post- 2007 basis. This is because the initial reaction of the Indonesian 

government’s policy in the auditing profession occurred in 2007 thus makes it is a 

starting point of the IAPI’s (Indonesian Institute of Public Accountants) establishment 

on the independence of CPA.  

  

1.8. Organization of the Study 

This thesis is organized into nine chapters. Chapter 1presents the Introduction; 

Chapter 2 presents the Literature Review; Chapter 3 explains Indonesian Auditing 

Profession; Chapter 4 presents Theoretical Framework; Chapter 5 presents the 

Research Methodology; Chapter 6 describes Phase One: Regulator as Institutional 

Agent (Actors), Chapter 7 describes Phase Two: the Issues from Practitioners’ 

Perspective, Chapter 8 describes Phase Three: AQ Implementation (Comparative 
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Case Studies) and Chapter 9 presents the Research Implications, Recommendation 

and Conclusion. The following paragraphs will discuss each chapter as follows: 

 

Chapter one discusses the background of the study, motivation for the study, 

statement of the problems, research questions, research objectives, significance of the 

study, scope of the study and the organization of the study.  

 

Chapter two discusses the relevant literatures of AQ to explain the nature of study in 

AQ. This study views seeing AQ from the perspective of practitioners, and 

academicians (demand-side research and supply-side research). It also reviews prior 

studies on regulatory changes and AQ, AQ in development and emerging economy 

countries and studies on AQ in Indonesia. As a conclusion, by having literature 

review, it shows the gaps in AQ literature and the position of this study. 

 

Chapter three focuses only on the discussion of Indonesian Background and Context: 

Historical, geographical and cultural context, political context, socio-economy 

context. In addition, it discusses Indonesian Auditing Profession. It describes the CPA 

in Indonesia and its regulatory bodies, auditing requirements and standard setting, AQ 

and its implementation in Indonesia, and the adoption of international auditing 

standards.   

 

Chapter four presents the theoretical framework which describes theoretical 

justification, the Institutional Theory (isomorphism and three pillars), and definition 

of terms.    

 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

20 

 

Chapter five is the research methodology. The main objective of this chapter is to 

highlight the approach used in this study based on the problem statements given. This 

chapter consists of research philosophy, research paradigm, research design which is 

determined by three phases of analysis that included data collection and sources.  

 

Chapter six is the regulators as institutional actors. The main objective of this chapter 

is to highlight the role and efforts which are conducted by the regulators in enhancing 

AQ, the regulator’s expectation due to the changes, the regulators challenges, and also 

the comparison between the two-different period which are pre-2007 and post-2007 in 

relation to the regulatory changes. 

 

Chapter seven discusses the issues from practitioners’ perspectives. The main 

objective is to explore the reaction, perception and action of the practitioners on the 

regulatory changes. In addition, this chapter also explains the expectation, the 

challenges as well as the action plans due to the changes. 

 

Chapter eight is about audit quality implementation: the comparative case studies. It 

describes the case study 1: the AQ implementation in Global audit firm and Case 

study 2: the AQ implementation in local audit firm. 

 

 Finally, the last chapter explains the implication, recommendation and conclusion of 

this study. 
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Figure 1. 1.  
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1.9. Summary of The Chapter 

This chapter describes the introduction of this thesis which covers the background and 

motivation of the study which caused by the global changes in accounting landscape 

worldwide thus influence Indonesian to stimulate the regulators of accounting 

profession to conduct regulatory efforts in order to enhance its AQ. The issue which is 

stated in problem statements, describe the research objectives and as the research 

questions. This chapter also includes the scope, significance and the organization of 

study.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

23 

 

CHAPTER TWO 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

 

2.1. Introduction 

The current chapter critically provides a review of literature on AQ. Some studies 

initiated about AQ in difference perspectives and in development and emerging 

economy countries and some conducted studies about regulatory changes. Some uses 

quantitative methods to analyze the impact of regulatory changes on AQ and other 

studies issued positive article via data collection to analyze prior studies. This chapter 

consists of five primary sections: (1) Introduction, (2) Audit Quality in difference 

perspectives, (3) Regulatory Changes within Audit Quality (4) Audit Quality in 

Developed and Developing Economies, included Audit Quality in Indonesia (5) 

Regulatory Changes and Auditor’s Liability, (6) Institutional Theory and 

Environmental Setting, (7) Gaps of Interest in Literature, and (8) Summary of the 

Chapter 

2.2. Audit Quality 

 Most of stakeholder’s mindset, while discussing about AQ concept, will be directly 

related to the individuals’ behavior and competency (auditors) who are conducting 

audit assignments (Herrbach, 2001; Hudiwinasih, 2010). They expect that audit is 

performed in good and high-quality manner to fulfill their requirements. It is like an 

obligation for audit firm to provide enough procedures and monitoring for assigned 

auditors to keep them away from serious audit quality deficiencies that may result in 

“audit failure” (Malone & Robert, 1996; Francis, 2004; Fafatas, 2010; Bishop et al., 

2013). However, there are still many factors affecting AQ, not only depend on the 
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auditor’s competency or from internal factor of auditor, but also from the external 

factor such as regulatory changes, adoption of new standards, demand of the audit, 

and competition in market. Thus, in order to discuss about AQ, it should be 

considered from the difference perspectives. All perspectives they used are correct, 

depends on their interest and point of view.  In other word that audit quality has its 

own definition regarding to the side factors (Watkins et al., 2004).  

 

This sub section of AQ will discuss the AQ from different side factors or 

perspectives; there are (a) AQ from the perspective of practitioners (profession); and 

(b) AQ from academician’s perspectives (Previous Research on Audit Quality).  Each 

perspective will be explained in the following paragraphs below. 

 

2.2.1. AQ from the Perspective of Practitioners (Professions)  

Practitioners define AQ based on their experiences. On May 2013, Public Company 

Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) had Standing Advisory Group Meeting 

Discussion to determine the definition of audit quality and its indicators. They define 

audit quality: 

“Audit quality as meeting investors’ needs for independent and reliable audits 

and robust audit communications on: a) financial statements, including related 

disclosures; b) assurance about internal control; and c) going concern warning 

[…].” 

The definition above shows that they focused on the term “meeting customer needs”, 

in which the common understanding is used in business endeavors. They consider that 

that definition will be more intuitive in term of result (PCAOB, 2013). 
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In a certain occasion, a practitioner from Mazars LLP considers AQ is a condition 

where we can make our clients happy supported by good and quality people (team). It 

is like “a big circle” in which “simply the best” the way firm translates and creates 

professional harmony relationship between our people and clients. 

 

Another definition published by the Government Accountability Office (GAO, 2003) 

states that a AQ is one performed “in accordance with generally accepted auditing 

standards (GAAS) to provide reasonable assurance that the audited financial 

statements and related disclosures are presented in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles GAAP and (2) are not materially misstated whether 

due to errors or fraud. This condition can be implemented since the independent 

auditor is responsible for compliance with auditing standards in an audit engagement. 

 

Different definition from the IAASB Chairman states that all business sectors (clients) 

as well as regulators demanded high- quality audited financial reporting. Each of them 

has their own view in term of defining “audit quality” (IAASB, 2013). Based on 

IAASB’s view, “a quality audit is likely to be achieved when the auditor’s opinion on 

the financial statements can be relied upon as it was based on sufficient appropriate 

audit evidence obtained by an engagement team”.  The AQ can be consistently 

performed, if all aspects regarding elements of AQ implemented. AQ’s framework 

contributed or affected by inputs, processes, outputs, interactions among stakeholders 

and various contextual factors (IAASB, 2013). All those aspects cannot be separated 

caused it is a cycle to which audit quality can be revealed, whether from the market 

(demand) point of view as well as supply- side factor. 
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Based on the four different definitions, the researcher concludes that according to 

practitioners, AQ means the condition where auditor can fulfill four criteria: meeting 

customers’ need, professional harmony relationship between auditor team and clients, 

compliance with auditing standards, and all aspects regarding elements of AQ 

implemented consistently. Those definitions are considered from the practical view. 

Another definition will be explained from the academic view below. 

 

2.2.2. Previous Research on AQ from the perspective of Academicians  

There are two big categories areas of research in studying AQ, which can be 

distinguish into supply-side and demand-side research (Reisch, 2000).  Supply –side 

research tends to the internal capacity of auditor, how the provided services delivered, 

whether demand- side research is considered from the expectation of market (external 

users).    

 

2.2.2.1. Demand-Side Research for AQ 

Demand research normally related to factors affecting management of company itself 

and the users of audit report such as regulators, investors/ creditors, and shareholders.  

Demand research can be categorized as market-based research, since it focuses more 

to clients’ and audit report users’ expectations (Reisch, 2000). Proxies used in demand 

or market- based research such as the Earning Response Coefficient (ERC) ( Teoh, & 

Wong, 1993; Myers, Myers & Omer, 2003); financial reporting compliance with audit 

standards (Krishnan, et al, 2000); going concern (Ruiz, Gómez, Fuentes & García, 

2004; Knechel et al., 2007); audit quality in which view of auditing cost,  (Chung & 

Narasimhan, 2002; Hoitash, Markelevich & Barragato, 2007); earning management 

(Van Tandeelo et al., 2008); overvalue equity ( Houmes, Foley & Cebula, 2013);  and 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

27 

 

the last context of demand for audit quality itself (e.g. Chow, 1982; Reed, Trombley, 

& Dhaliwal, 2000; Dedman,  Kausar, & Lenox, 2014). 

 

For example, Dedman et al. (2014) studies the determinant of voluntary audit in large 

sample of companies in UK. Result indicates that those companies were willing to 

order voluntary audit due to their interest and according to certain purpose for 

example wish to raise their capital, got greater agency costs, plan to purchase non- 

audit service from their auditor, and because exhibited greater demand for audit in 

mandatory audit regime. Another example is the relationship between AQ and audit 

fee, investigated by Hoitash et al. (2007) finds that there was significant negative 

association between total fees and both audit quality proxies during the period 2002-

2003. The result shows some consistency with the economic bonding as a predictor of 

the audit behavior instead of concerns for audit reputation. 

 

The last example of this demand research category is about the AQ and overvalued 

equity (Houmes et al., 2013). After analyzing result shows, there is positive 

correlation between the firms’ equity and AQ. It means management incentives 

associated with highly valued equity reduce the tendency of high quality auditors to 

reduce accruals. Based on the examples above can be summarized that all factors 

create a demand from management and other stakeholders for high AQ. The next 

discussion is about the AQ from supply-side research.  

2.2.2.2. Supply- Side Research for AQ 

Whereas supply-side research, concerns the way auditor’s capability delivers audit. 

Supply- side can be considered as the auditor’s perspectives, for example related to 
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the: (a) competency or ability of auditor (Brazel & Agoglia, 2004; Gul, Wu & Yang, 

2013) such as adaptability, training, competency and experience, professional 

judgment, and also implementation of technology; (b) structure of market (Dun, 

Mayhew & Morsfied, 2000; Wegman, 2007;  Reichelt & Wang, 2010; Kallapur, 

Sankaragurus & Zang, 2010; Hossain, 2013) for example industry concentration, 

regulation, competition; (c) ethics code and professional conduct (Pflugrath, Martinov 

& Chen, 2007; Al Qtaish, Baker & Othman,  2014; Ardelean, 2015) such as ethics, 

independency, objectivity, provision of non- audit service;  and (d) audit firm size (De 

Angelo, 1981; Davidson, & Neu, 1993; Fransis & Yu, 2009; Yuniarti, 2011; Sawan et 

al., 2013; Tritschler, 2013). 

 

 The context of competency, experience and ability of the auditor examined by the 

Gul et al. (2013) based on the analyzing of 800 auditors whether auditor is from big 

and small firms. They consider how the AQ is measured at the individual auditor 

level, because the individual characteristics of auditor may affect AQ of the audit 

being undertaken. They find that AQ affected by individual auditor both significant 

economically and statistically based on their quality measures such as quality 

reporting aggressiveness, client’s abnormal accrual, non-core earnings and the present 

of small profit.  Defond et al. (2005) also suggest that AQ analysis may be pushed 

from the office level (audit firm) down to individual auditor level. Instead of 

conducting audit based on requirements of competency, skill and ability, the auditors 

have to be aware with the dilemma situation. So far, auditors tend to consider only 

technical knowledge rather than ethics, especially when they are facing ambiguous 

moral situations (Swanda, 1990). The position of putting ethics in performing audit 

has the same position or as essential as the competency of auditor. Both factors 
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sustain high level of AQ (Ardelean, 2015). In addition, ISAs4 in which is a principle 

based standards require auditor always consider professional skepticism before 

deciding their professional judgment, since professional skepticism is part of ethics 

conduct (Nelson, 2009; Hurt et al., 2013). 

 

Another study related to ethics and professional conduct, for example Pflugrath et al. 

(2007) investigated the quality of auditor’s judgment affected by the existence of 

ethics code. The practical guidance of implementing ethics code is stated in firms’ 

quality control manual. This is one of the requirements of ISQC5 1. It is very crucial 

for audit firm’s quality control and has good impact to the quality of audit 

performance, especially regarding to the decision of making professional judgment 

(Roybark, 2012). So that is why large clients (especially for SEC registrants) have 

tendency to choose Big 4 firms since they are considered implementing global quality 

control and having experienced on AQ (Francis et al., 2009). This study is consistent 

with the classic definition of AQ used by DeAngelo (1981). He defines AQ as the 

joint probability that a given auditor will both: (a) discover a misstatement; and (b) 

report the misstatement. It means that the quality of auditor depends on the capability 

to find and detect material misstatements in financial statements and the way auditor 

reports these misstatements. Big 4 are the audit firms in which have capability in 

detecting material problems. However, since the financial scandals occurred, Big 4 

become more conservative to accept clients (Fatatas, 2010).  

 

                                                             
4 “Due Professional Care in Performance of Work”: AU-C section 200.A22-A26 

5 International Standard on Quality Control  
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After the period of Enron and SOX, the number of Big 4’s audit clients lower than 

before (Rama & Read, 2006). This phenomenon shows that regulatory changes 

influence the policy of audit firms.  They prepare everything for facing the changes, 

for example increase audit fee charges because post-SOX auditors have greater effort 

and legal liability in order to meet the standards’ requirements (Ghosh et al., 2009). 

This evidence proves in line with the study done by Wegman (2007). He also studies 

about the impact of SOX on accountant’s liability. The result shows that (a) the net 

effect of SOX was substantially increased the legal liability of accountants, and (b) 

accountants were affected by new federal regulatory significantly.  

 

Another study regarding to regulatory changes and AQ is also conducted in Australia 

by Hossain (2013). He examines the effect of CLERP 9 on auditor independence and 

audit quality. He uses non- audit service (NAS) as the proxy to see the significant 

association between NAS and performance pre- and post- CLERP 9. The finding 

shows that there is positive and significant association between NAS and going 

concern opinion post CLERP 9. The auditors tend to disclose going concern opinion 

when they provide non- audit service, and this case is not impaired the audit quality 

post- CLERP era. In addition, evidence shows that after the implementation of 

CLERP 9, the audit quality and auditor’s independence are also improved.   

  

2.3. Regulatory Changes and AQ 

Accountants and their services cannot be a parted with regulation since this profession 

is directly affect to public interest (Lee, 1995; Deren, 2002; Hayes, 2002). There 

should not be more questions about new regulation issued since regulatory changes 

occurred from many years before. Regulation tends to be dynamic, follows changes 
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occurred among them. Regulation cannot be separated from government’s 

intervention as well as professional association bodies, because regulation exists due 

to protect many interests, as well as response the current events.  

 

The most popular response and regulatory change were The Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

(SOX) of 2002 in US (Romano, 2004) and Corporate Law Economic Reform 

Program Act (CLERP) 9 of 2004 in Australia (Jubb & Houghton, 2007). Sarbanes-

Oxley Act (SOX) affected business in general significantly in which increase the 

obligation of accountant profession. The existence of SOX as if becomes “a 

regulation” for the global business and society around the world. The set of 

regulation’s aims is to make everything clear regarding to their obligation involved.   

 

The use of term “regulation” can be understood in different context. In general 

regulation defined as law or rule or condition that control behavior. Ogus (1994) 

defines regulation with the characteristics of law under market system:  

“First, regulation contains the idea of control by a superior: it has a directive 

function. To achieve the desire ends, individuals are compelled by a superior 

authority- the state to behave in particular ways with the threat of sanctions if 

they do not comply. Secondly, it is public law in the sense that in general it is 

for the state (or its agents) to enforce the obligations which cannot be 

overreached by private agreement between the parties concerned. Thirdly, 

because the state plays a fundamental role in the formulation, as well as the 

enforcement, the law, it is typically centralized”.  

 

So, it can be said that the existence of regulation is to protect different sides of 

interests, control acts, put each obligation for each party, and give a warning or 

sanction.  
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 In public accountant’s world, government of countries consider regulatory changes 

for practitioners have purpose to ensure auditing process performed with high quality 

standard that can cover public intentions (Hecimovic et al., 2011; Lee, 1995). Thus, 

the most important thing is the way how these practitioners answer and adapt to the 

ever-changing environment, and regulation to implement AQ. The regulatory changes 

are considered as one of factors affected AQ directly or indirectly (Beattie et al., 

2010). The following paragraphs will discuss previous studies on regulatory changes 

and AQ. 

 

In general, studies examined that changes happen because of phenomenal events, and 

dynamic stakeholders demand. Changes expect improvements, and in term of public 

accountant’s world, the regulatory changes expect the improvement of AQ. The 

information of these changes tells us much about what regulation may or may not, be 

able to accomplish in regard to AQ. It also provides evidence what measurements are 

used by prior studies in order to link the regulatory changes to AQ. The following 

table below is previous study on regulatory changes and AQ. 
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Table 2.1.  

Regulatory Changes & Audit Quality 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Sarbanes-

Oxley Act (SOX) 

and or Corporate 

Law Economic 

Reform Program 

Act (CLERP) 9 

1. NAS fees (normal and abnormal), 

discretionary accruals, propensity 

to issue a going concern opinion 

(Sarowar, 2013) 

Improvement on audit quality 

2. Contract law (Wegman,2007) Accountant liability increased, 

means that audit quality 

improved 

3. Peer review, number of existing 

and non-existing auditor in 

market (Defond et al., 2011) 

Audit quality of small firms are 

decreased  

4. Economic risks, audit committee 

activities, risks of regulatory 

actions, audit firms’ ethics, 

economic independence of 

auditor, audit partner rotation, risk 

of client loss, audit firm size, 

ISAs, and audit inspections 

(Beattie, 2010) 

 

Economic and certain regulatory 

risks are believed to the most 

enhance audit quality 

5. The change framework of 

auditing, behavior and perception 

of UK Directors and auditors 

(Fearnley et al., 2014) 

The changed framework is 

process and compliance driven, 

involving high costs for a limited 

improvement in audit quality. 

 

Significant impact to the audit 

procedures of Deloitte  

6. Transparency, expertise, 

professionalism and 

commercialization of the audit 

(Holm & Zaman, 2012) 

Regulatory and professional 

bodies engaged in image 

management and promotion on 

audit quality in attempted to 

remedy tarnished image and 

augment their legitimacy and 

standing 

7. Two investor’s perception of 

audit quality, (Smith, 2012) 

 Result finds that investors 

believe the perceived reduction 

in audit quality will lead 

management to invest fewer 

resources in internal controls 

8. Compliance, ASAs, cost and 

benefit, Large, medium and small 

audit firms (Hecimovic et al., 

2011) 

The compliance with the new 

standards doesn’t show the 

improvement of audit quality 

and the confidence of public, and 

each firm has its own viability to 

cover the changes, especially 

small firms 

Source: Compilation of literature review of this study, proceed in 2016 

 

Regulatory Changes 

 

Measurements 

Result: Improvement on 

Audit Quality 

(Direct or Indirect) 
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Most of the previous studies above are quantitative researches with various variables 

and research techniques, such as OLS model with sensitivity analysis, uni-variate and 

multivariate test, ANOVA test and experimental method. Most of the researches’ 

results show significant effect on audit whether directly or indirectly. For example, 

the study conducted by Beattie, et al (2010), study about the factor affecting AQ in 

regulatory regime and environment, among the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) of UK 

listed company, Audit Committee (ACC) and Audit Engagement Partners (APs) by 

offering the uncorrelated 36 economics and regulatory factors on AQ. At the final 

result extracted from 36 factors into 9 factors (dimensions) such as economic risks, 

audit committee activities, risks of regulatory actions, audit firms’ ethics, economic 

independence of auditor, audit partner rotation, risk of client loss, audit firm size, 

ISAs, and audit inspections. Based on 9 factors remaining, both factors activities of 

audit committee and certain regulatory risk factor are the most enhanced dimensions 

affected on AQ. In addition, it is surprisingly that the aspect of “standards and 

surveillance compliance” regulatory system, are showed less effective, since it needs 

high cost and less benefit.  

 

Another study done by the same researchers, Beattie et al. (2015), discuss about the 

interactions between auditor and clients in UK changed regulatory environment with 

difference research approach, that is using grounded theory model, in which this study 

is the revision of previous study (contradictory finding with the 1997 setting). Based 

on this study finds that post of regulatory changes, the researches introduce new 

dimensions to the factor influencing the AQ, although several factors as stated on the 
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above paragraph enhance the AQ, however this also shows that several factors need 

process and resources to in a certain regulatory regime, and for two factors “ISAs and 

audit inspection” become unpopular regarding to the ineffectiveness.  This is 

consistent with Defond et al. (2011). They find that the AQ of existing auditors for 

100 SEC clients is lower quality in audit following the SOX era. The quality 

considered by seeing 600 existing auditor exits from the market. They avoid AICPA 

peer review and fail to comply with PCAOB rules, and the rigor rule of the peer 

review and inspection reports. However, the study which is conducted by Defond is 

the auditors of small audit firms. Another supported study finds that good regulation 

should show the effectiveness and efficiency, in term of reaching goal of the 

regulatory changes and in term of cost in preparing, complying with the new era of 

certain regulation should be considered (Jalilian, Kirkpatrick & Parker, 2007).  

 

The last description is the study about the differential impact of force of law 

Australian Auditing Standards (ASAs). The introduction of ASAs complements the 

Regulatory Impact Statements (RIS) which is issued by the Australian Government 

(Hecimovic, et al, 2011). This study uses qualitative study method and explores the 

respond of audit firms in different audit firm size. The result of this study states that 

compliance with the new force of law is not the same respond among audit firms. The 

data is not support that the way to increase audit quality is using the legally 

enforceable standards. 

 

These studies above can be summarized that there are two different points of views 

whether regulatory changes influenced the AQ directly and significantly or not, by 

using various dimensions and method. Most of the discussions talk about the impact 
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of regulatory on audit quality are focused on the output, since that every output is 

visible, measurable, and easier to be evaluated. For example, the most outstanding 

factors among 36 factors affecting AQ in the UK regulatory environment offered by 

Beattie et al. (2010) are economic risk  and regulatory risk, in which those two 

dimensions can be measured using certain formula (Hahn, Robert & Hird, 1991; 

Hanna, Gutter & Fan, 2001). The current study will discuss from process point of 

view, the way every audit firm adapt and face the changes regime in order to 

implement AQ. The way to adapt, face and cope the regulatory changes need 

continuous actions and only can be described by exploring the process.  

 

2.4. AQ in Developed and Emerging Economies 

Studies on AQ in the US, UK, Australia and other developed economies are stated to 

flourish the statutory of SOX 2002. Since the phenomenal Enron occurred, it gives 

massive impact around the world (Sridharan, Dickes & Chaines, 2000; Canning & 

O’Dweyer, 2013). Most of government policies, regulations, and even studies refer to 

that global event. 

2.4.1. Introduction 

Many studies focus on the relationship between regulatory changes6 and audit fees. 

Because of regulatory changes, complains appear among clients that fees are 

increased. There are some reasons that make the increasing of fees. One of the reasons 

regarding to the increasing of audit fees may the high level of AQ (Deis, 1996). The 

theme research about the association between audit fee and AQ has already done 

many times. Table below shows this association.  

                                                             
6 SOX 2002 and CLERP 2004 
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Table 2.2.  

Audit Fee and Audit Quality 
No Authors Result or Major Finding 

1 Deis et al. (1996) It finds that there is significant positive effect between 

audit fee and audit quality 

2 Venkataraman et al. 

(2008) 

In higher litigation regime is consistent with both audit 

quality and audit fee 

3 Hoitash et al. (2007) The result finds that there is negative association 

between audit fee and audit quality during 2002-2003 

4 Choi et al. (2010) The result depends on the sign of abnormal audit fee. 

There will be no association with audit quality if the 

AAF is negative 

5 Sarowar (2013) The NAS (normal and abnormal) improved audit quality 

Source: Compilation of Literature Review of The Study, proceed 2016 

 

Based on the table above, there are various results in which explaining the 

relationship between audit fee and AQ, whether positive or negative effects. However, 

audit fee becomes one of the factors of on audit quality improvement.  

Table 2.3.  

The SOX 2002 within Audit Fees 
No Authors Country Result or Major Finding 

1 Griffin et al. (2009) New 

Zealand 

It found that audit fees increased in New Zealand 

over 2002-2006 

2 Hossain (2013)  Australia The result show significant & positive association 

between NAS fees and the performance- adjusted 

absolute value of discretionary accruals pre- 

CLERP 9 

3 Huang et al.  (2009) US In 2005–2006 Big 4 clients pay an initial-year 

audit fee premium of around 16 percent 

4 Ghosh et al. (2009) US Results indicate an economically large increase in 

audit fees following the enactment of SOX. 

Controlling for audit and client characteristics, 

and find that audit fee levels rose approximately 

74 percent in the post- SOX period. Non-audit 

fees fell significantly over the same period, but 

total fees paid to auditors rose because the 

increase in audit fees more than offset the decline 

in non-audit fees 

5 Abidin et al. (2010) UK There is evidence of significant upward pressure 

on audit fees (1998-2003) but only for smaller 

auditees. Audit fee income for top tier auditors 

(Big 5/4) did not change significantly while the 

number of auditees fell significantly, consistent 

with a move towards larger, less risky, clients 

6 Salman et al. 

(2009) 

Australia The findings indicate that Australian 

companies issuing American Depositary Receipts 

(ADRs) incurred substantial increases in audit 

fees and Australian 
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No Authors Country Result or Major Finding 

firms subject to the full provisions of SOX 

incurred larger increases in audit fees. These 

findings provide a broader understanding of the 

compliance costs for non-US firms 

subject to SOX and therefore inform both policy-

makers and firms 

Source: Compilation of Literature Review of The Study, proceed 2016 

 

Whether table 2.3 above, shows the relationship between SOX (pre-or post- SOX) 

with Fees (audit or non- audit service fees). As explained at the previous paragraph, 

beside the AQ may increase the audit fees, there is also another factor, for example 

the regulatory changes. After the SOX 2002 enacted, several consequences for 

auditing profession appear such as: PCAOB and its requirements, NAS, mandatory 

rotation, revolving door between auditor and client, and the last internal control 

(Lennox, 2009).  

 

Based on the SOX provision, there are two crucial issues due to the annual report of 

the company. First is the section 302. The company has to document their internal 

control and issue the quarterly report. However, this internal control’s documents 

shall be tested and assured by the external auditors for “accelerated issuer”7 (section 

404), or the term which is used is internal control disclosure requirements. Secondly 

is the requirement relating to 10-K filling8 timelines (Section 409, US, SEC, 2002). 

The filling timelines becomes very tight from 90 to 60 days after the fiscal year end. 

Because of these two reasons, that will be additional tasks for both, auditors and 

clients. Auditors become more conservative due to accepting clients since they have 

                                                             
7 Accelerated issuer is a company which does not qualify as a small business since it has at least $75 million of 

common equity, and has previously filed at least one annual report with the Security Exchange Commission (SEC) 

8 Form 10-K is an annual reporting required by U.S.SEC  that gives a comprehensive summary of companies 

financial performance. The 10-K usually includes information such as the general description of a company, 

executive compensation, equity, subsidiaries, 
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to wait and see the situation during that time (Rama et al., 2006). Thus, above of that, 

every audit firm has to re-design or revise the audit procedures, especially 

reconsideration of audit timing of their audit process and the nature of interactions 

with clients, as stated by one of the Technical Partner of Deloitte9 (Fearnley et al., 

2014). In the other hand, managers should prepare the long papers for being audited, 

since the procedures of audit revised in which will be more focus on internal control 

of the company, managers have to prepare time for them and for auditors as well and 

also more costs for audit fee. They consider that the change regime is largely process 

and compliance driven, with high cost for low benefit (Fearnley et al., 2014).  

 

Based on the explanation above related to the cause and effect of regulatory changes 

directly or indirectly on AQ, there are associations among regulatory changes, audit 

fee and AQ. The associations may be negative or positive significantly. The following 

literatures provide other descriptions of what have done by previous studies in 

developed economies on AQ.  These paragraphs below will explain the AQ in three 

developed economics, the UK, the US, and Australia, since these countries enacted 

regulatory issues that become a mirror for many other countries (Lennox, 2009). The 

US has SOX in 2002, Australia introduced CLERP 9 in 2004, and in the UK, the 

government has specific strategy to response the changes, by restructuring Financial 

Reporting Council (FRC) and its body under FRC.  

 

                                                             
9 One of Big 4 of audit firms  along with Ernst & Young (EY); Price  Waterhouse Cooper (PWC);  Klynveld Peat 

Marwick Main Goerdeler (KPMG) 
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2.4.2. AQ in the UK 

In general, AQ is an important matter of concern for business, especially regulators 

because the output of auditing work should be credible report to be functioned well 

for stakeholders (Wegman, 2007). According to Fearnley et al. (2014), there are three 

factors which drive the changes, especially do to the regulatory framework; UK 

domestic law and regulation, EU law and regulation and the impact of Enron collapse. 

Because one of those factors, the UK Secretary of State announced to propose 

reformation on financial reporting and auditing on January 2003.  Thus, since the 

regulatory change era, there are many changes occurred in UK, especially related to 

audit profession. The regulators make changes on the functions and duties of the 

national regulatory bodies for example: First is Auditing Practices Board (APB). 

Instead of being auditing standards setter, the APB also has responsibility to set 

ethical standards for auditors. The second is Financial Reporting Review Panel 

(FRRP). It has responsibility to ensure compliance with the accounting requirements 

(it put its function to be more proactive). The third body is Audit Inspection Unit 

(AIU). It is a new body, with responsibility to the inspection of public interest audit 

and publication of the inspection’s result (Beattie et al., 2015). Those regulatory 

bodies influence the financial reporting audit environment in UK.  

 

During regulatory reform, high monitoring to auditor performance in conducting audit 

expect improvements, since the rigid requirements emphasize more on independency 

and partner rotations (Daugherty et al., 2012), and at the same time the International 

Standards on Auditing updated and implemented. This condition stimulates issue 

about Big 4 fee premium to provide better audit quality (Campa, 2013). The similar 

issue happened in other countries as stated in the previous table (the table 2.3), which 
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is shows direct impact of regulatory changes on audit fees. Most of the findings above 

states significant and positive association between the audit fees and audit quality. It 

means that the amount of audit fees increases post- change regime. However, the 

audit market condition in UK is different. According to the studies ‘result of Campa 

(2013) and Abidin et al. (2010), show that there is no significant relationship between 

the existence of audit fee premium and the delivery of better AQ in UK market. This 

condition supported by the opinion of UK House of Lord (Fearnley et al., 2014) states 

that the audit market of UK is not competitive. So, the implication is the intervention 

of legislative needed for the structure of audit market in UK.  

 

Another example of intervention from regulators due to AQty in UK is the European 

Union (EU) Directive. The UK is one of EU countries among Germany, The 

Netherlands, French, Belgium and Austria together under this association mandating 

audit firm transparency report10, in order to disclose certain information, relate to the 

implementation of AQ, and expect that by having this act can reveal AQ and shows 

differentiation among audit firms. The items include in EU Directive are auditor 

continues education, auditor independence, and audit firm’s internal control systems. 

Those items will be scored and AQ can be measured. According to Deumes et al. 

(2012) based on their study among 103 audit firms in EU countries, they find that 

across audit firms’ show various type of governance disclosures and have no actual 

relationship with AQ. They also find that larger audit firms, the higher score they 

have, and among those countries. The audit firms of Germany and Austria have 

higher transparency report disclosure score.  The reason is because the available of 

                                                             
10 The similar act has already implemented in Canada and Japan (not published). 
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more extensive disclosure guidance of transparency record disclosure compare to UK 

and Dutch.  

2.4.3. AQ in the US 

America also has effort to implement and assess AQ in various ways, especially the 

post- SOX era. As the statement of IAASB chairman said that the AQ can be achieved 

and consistently performed if supported by the competence engagement team 

(IAASB, 2014). Moreover, after the Enron and Word com, auditor’s quality has 

become “a key driver”. As a key driver, auditor has to fulfill required competency in 

order to perform audit accordance with the standards (Cheng, Liu & Chien, 2009). 

Competency should be maintained in well- planned and continues professional 

education program. Thus, audit firms have well trained and educated team to keep 

high quality audit output with the changing environment (Thomas, Davis & Seaman, 

1998).  

 

Instead of competence requirements as stated above, another crucial aspect of 

engagement team is maintaining professional skepticism. PCAOB defines 

professional skepticism as “an attitude that includes a questioning mind and a critical 

assessment of audit evidence” (AU Section 230). Again, connect to the phenomenal 

scandals, professional skepticism was in doubt at that time. Professional skepticism is 

directly related to the way auditors make professional judgment.  (Hurtt et al., 2013; 

Nelson, 2009). According PCAOB’s definition about professional judgment is as “the 

application of relevant training, knowledge and experience within the context 

provided by auditing, accounting and ethical standards, in making informed decisions 

about the courses of action that are appropriate in the circumstances of the audit 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

43 

 

engagement” (AU section 200). In order to ensure whether professional judgment 

applied by auditor, inspection is the answer offered by regulators.  

 

As well as UK, at the period of post- SOX, The US has PCAOB to conduct periodic 

inspections of audit firms (Gunny et al., 2013; Bishop et al., 2013). The inspections 

will identify how a firm performs audit work, and the output of this work is the 

reflection of making professional judgment. As the statement of IAASB’s chairman, 

Arnold Schilder, that applying skeptical mindset is directly interrelated to the concept 

of professional judgment which contributes audit quality (IAASB, 2014). However, 

inspection in which expected as the main factor affected on audit quality is still 

debatable among researches. According to Gunny et al. (2013), find that PCAOB 

inspections are associated with lower audit quality (using three measures that proxy 

actual audit quality: abnormal accrual, restatements and propensity to issue a going 

concern opinion).  Whether Daugherty et al. (2010) stated initial PCAOB inspections 

do not view as positively impacting their audit practices (especially small audit firms), 

while medium and larger firms reported more favorable.  Another study about 

PCAOB inspections of small firms finds that 60 percent of the inspected firms have 

audit deficiencies (Hermanson et al., 2007).  

 

Except the role of PCAOB in conducting inspection to audit firms, together with SEC 

clarifying in auditors’ report, the role of auditor in identifying fraud under auditing 

standards (Advisory Committee, 2008)11.   Thus, as a conclusion of the regulatory 

                                                             
11 Advisory Committee on the Auditing Profession – Report dated 5 October 2008, Part VII, Firm Structure & 

Finances – Recommendation 5: Urge the PCAOB to undertake a standard-setting initiative to consider 

improvements to the auditor’s standard reporting model. Further, urge that the PCAOB and the SEC clarify in the 
auditor’s report the auditor’s role in detecting fraud under current auditing standards and further that the PCAOB 

periodically review and update these standards. http://www.treas.gov/offices/domestic- finance/acap/index.shtml. 

http://www.treas.gov/offices/domestic-
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changes, that the enacted of SOX causes the increasing of auditor’s liability in order 

to improve AQ (Wegman, 2007). The part of the section below, discusses auditors’ 

liability. 

       

2.4.4. AQ in Australia 

The big regulatory changes in Australia are CLERP 9. Similar to both developed 

economies above (US and UK), that the practitioners face challenges due to the 

changes. Following the issuing of CLERP 9, the government introduced: Australia 

Auditing Standards (ASAs) to which complement the Regulatory Impact Statements 

(RIS)12. However, the ASAs’ introduction got complain from Small and Medium 

Audit Practice since the standards for them should be different (Hecimovic et al., 

2011). They consider that Australia’s Auditing Standard Board (AAUSB) provides 

different requirements for SMPs is alignment with ISAs. This condition is in contrast 

to the financial accounting standards because they have IFRS for SMEs (Hecimovic et 

al., 2011). The AAISB has the same approach for assurance and audit as well. The 

consideration is public interest reference (Dellaportas, Yapa & Sivanantham, 2008; 

Kellas, 2005). This term is used by Kellas (2005). He states that the public in general 

expects that standards used both large and small entities should not be different. It 

means that there is same level of assurance among them, and they have right to ask so. 

Although whether in UK or in Canada as well, have differentiation in covering SPs or 

SMEs standards (Hecimovic et al., 2011).  

 

                                                             
12 Initial analysis conducted by Auditing and Assurance Standard Board (AUASB) ( 2006) to address the 

introduction of ASAs. The analysis shows the cost and benefit of legally enforceable ASAs 
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The impact of regulatory changes, also influence one main and mandatory policy is 

audit partner tenure. This is considered to be one factor affecting AQ. According to 

Carey et al. (2006) state there is no association between AQ and audit tenure. Long 

audit partner tenure will reduce the AQ. Data collected by Carey, et al was from a 

period when there is still no restriction of audit tenure policy. This result is 

inconsistent with Ryken, Radich, & Farghen (2007). They find the mandatory rotation 

of auditor as a solution to enhance independency and AQ. Another finding provide 

evidence that incidence of long audit partner tenure may be reduced by the mandatory 

rotation. This tendency of incidence of having long audit partner tenure occurs at the 

outside three main cities in Australia (outside of: Sydney, Brisbane and Melbourne). 

Their findings supported by Manroe et al. (2013) find significant positive association 

between audit partner tenure an AQ as long as the tenure is more than five years or 

more.  

 

2.4.5. AQ in Emerging Economy Countries 

The regulatory changes on global environment are also giving big impact to most of 

emerging economies, for example the study is done in China (Chen, Sun, & Wu, 

2010). They examine legal and regulatory changes affect the relationship between AQ 

and the client economic importance from 1995-2000 and 2001 to 2004.  The results 

show significant differences and contradictory between two eras of analysis. The 

probability of issuing Modified of Audit Opinion (MAOs) before the year of 2001 is 

lower important clients, while after 2001; the receiving of MAOs is higher. It means 

that the AQ before 2001 was impaired by the client importance as measured 

individuality to auditor. After the year of 2001 the audit quality is high.  
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Another impact of the global regulatory changes is the adoption of ISAs. Each 

country may adopt and implement standards earlier or be still in the process of 

adopting. International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International 

Standards on Auditing (ISA) are two examples of standards that are adopted.  Based 

on the MSCI Emerging Market Index 201413, there are 22 best emerging market 

countries: China, South Korea, Malaysia, Chile, Thailand, Panama, Peru, Latvia, 

Poland, Chez Republic, Colombia, Turkey, Hungary, Russia, Brazil, Philippines, 

Mexico, Indonesia, South Africa, Morocco, India and Egypt. Most of the countries 

above have already adopted or implemented the international standards. They are the 

members of IFAC. So, based on the Statement of Membership Obligations (SMOs), 

those countries have to adopt the determined standards; ethic codes and rules 

published (IFAC, 2012). However, the time and process of adoption depends on its 

country readiness. IFAC may provide general guidance and determines the deadline 

of adopting those changes to be implemented effectively in each country.  They adopt 

by considering its nature of economy, legal environment, politics, and cultures. The 

process of adopting standards has challenge and constrain among countries due to the 

capacity issues (Tokar, 2005). However, the efforts in achieving a properly 

functioning auditing profession through adopting international standards are the real 

evidence that they do care about the implementation of AQ in their country (Joshi, 

Bremer & Al-Ajmi, 2008; Wang & Zhou, 2012). 

 

                                                             
13 MSCI Inc. is a leading provider of investment decision support tools to investor globally. MSCI’s product and 

services include indexes, portfolio risks and performance analytics, an environment, social and government tools, 

It provides the annual update data provided on every April in the following year. The updated data available in the 

website is the year of 2014. This data downloaded on March 22nd , 2016, http://www.bloomberg.com/visual-

data/best-and-worst/best-emerging-m... 
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Several emerging countries mentioned above are ASEAN countries: Malaysia, 

Thailand, Philippines and Indonesia. The main different among those countries is a 

diverse legal environment, in this case related to auditing profession. For example, the 

differences in term of statutory audit requirements, standards and standards setting, 

the competence requirement of auditors, and reporting obligations. The difference 

may create differential AQ’s atmosphere (Marchesi, 2000).  Sometimes the method 

used to measure or to identify AQ in certain country is not applicable to other country. 

As the research which is done by Rusmin, Astami & Hartadi, 2014). The study is 

about the impact of surplus free cash flow and AQ on earning management. It 

concerns on the companies listed in the stock exchange in three countries, Indonesia, 

Malaysia and Singapore over the period 2005-2010. The result shows the relationship 

between SFCF and managers’ income-increasing accounting choice is applicable in 

Malaysia, partially applicable in Singapore but it is not valid in Indonesia. Based on 

the samples of three countries indicate that audit quality has negative relationships 

with earning management measure (Rusminet al., 2014).  

 

Instead of different legal environment that may create different AQ climate, the 

cultural factor may cause a difference as well. Cultural system of a country may 

influence the ethical awareness and professional judgment of auditors (Askary, 2006). 

The study examines the effect of culture on professionalism of accounting profession 

in developing countries14. The result show that Gray’s hypothesis of statutory control 

is positively confirmed for Iran, and moderately for Bangladesh, Jordan, Oman, and 

Qatar, and it is negatively rejected for Pakistan, Turkey, Malaysia, and Indonesia.  

                                                             
14 The study compares among 12 developing countries (e.g. Iran, Bangladesh, Oman, Qatar, Malaysia, Pakistan, 

Indonesia and Turkey) by applying Gary’s 1988 Model and Hofstede 1980 Cultural Study.  
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Another study which consider cultural factor due to this profession, is conducted by 

Vu & Nassery (2010). Comparison data used by researches are from India, Vietnam 

and Sweden. The result indicates that auditor’s ethical awareness and professional 

judgment are mainly influenced by their national culture (Vu et al., 2010).  According 

to Ardelean (2015), high AQ is supported by ethical behavior of auditors, and 

professional skepticism expressed through an ethical conduct applied. Thus, the 

ethical behavior may provide credibility and reputation of auditors (Mayhew, 2001; 

Barton, 2003). In audit, the credibility is link to the AQ and it reflects the needed level 

of assurance of an audit report. The credibility is determined from outside, whether 

reputation is built from inside of the audit firm. Pressures come from outside, it 

requires a tough ethical behavior of auditors that may represent their reputation 

(Mayhew, 2001; Barton, 2003). The reputation of an auditor is important, because 

client considers that by engaging with reputable auditor that will build reputation for 

financial reporting credibility, especially for the highly visible clients whether private 

or public sector (Barton, 2013).  

 

In Indonesia, the reporting and auditing practices are also considered the political, 

social, culture and economic forces. Historical background of Indonesia is dominated 

the accounting and auditing practice, even after the independence of Indonesia 

(Sukoharsono, 1993; Easton, 1967).  However, the development of capital market, 

industrialization and new power of university power, change the knowledge of 

accounting students (Sukoharsono, 1993). Global changes in accounting and auditing, 

also change the curricula of accounting department to be internationally harmonized 

(Mula, 2007; Saito et al., 2012). The way to harmonize the accounting and auditing 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

49 

 

knowledge internationally, is by adopting the current international standard used such 

as IFRS and ISAs. 

 

The studies about IFRS adoption are many examined in Indonesia, for example study 

which is conducted by Wahyuni (2011) and Saito et al. (2012) which is concerned on 

IFRS’ adoption and the accounting education program in Indonesia. Immanuella 

(2009) examines the full adoption and harmonization of IFRS implementation and the 

last example is study about IFRS adoption and taxation issues (Mulyadi et al., 2012). 

Since at the beginning of effective implementation of ISAs on January 2013, there are 

very few studies or may be no study about the association between audit quality and 

regulatory changes, for example in term of adopting the ISAs in Indonesia. Most of 

researches on AQ are using the similar proxies or dimensions used in other countries. 

Studies are concerned about AQ towards audit’s rotation and fee (Idawati, 2014; 

Suprapto et al., 2013; Siregar et al., 2012); audit’s tenure (Febrianto et al., 2012; 

Yuniarti, 2012; Giri, 2010; Mayangsari.S, 2007); auditors’ competency, experience, 

independency (Octavia et al., 2015; Idawati et al., 2015; Suyono, 2012); Continuing 

Professional Development for Auditing profession (Laksmi, 2015); Auditor’s Industry 

Specialization, Auditor’s Procedures (Sarwoko et al., 2014). So, that may be 

appropriate to fill the lack of research in Indonesia, which is concerned on regulatory 

changes within AQ. Since the first fully adopted ISAs in Indonesia on 1 January 2013, 

it has been already for three years of this international auditing standards’ adoption. 

Thus, this research will provide the analyzing of ISAs adoption in Indonesia.  
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2.5. Regulatory Changes and Auditor’s Liability 

The role of an auditor is to provide fair assessment of the financial position of a 

company or organization based on audit evidence. Although the existing audit 

procedures are not for the purpose of detecting fraud nevertheless it should be 

disclosed in the audit findings (Mautz, & Sharaf, 1961; Tuanakotta, 2013) as a part of 

auditor’s liability (Malley, 1993). Auditor’s liability is increasing in several concerns 

including the AQ and the reputation of the profession as well as the cost and 

challenges to the industry in order to compete within the audit market (ACCA, 2014). 

The auditor may also be liable under criminal or civil law. The issues of auditor’s 

liability need to be understood particularly on the principles of establishing liability in 

a particular situation, as well as the ability to discuss the ways in which the liability 

may be limited.  For example, in handling the issue of malpractice, a professional 

contract with client’s functions to ensure professional standard of the auditors’ service 

quality, which means that the auditors are bound by the contracts or engagement 

letters thus the auditor’s liability is caused by the breach of contract that serves as a 

common law where the auditor’s liability concept is based on the auditor’s 

negligence. Breach of contract will cause the auditor to be liable to the clients and 

also to other related parties (Kinney Jr,1993). In line with this, the current public 

perspective is that auditors are not only responsible to provide true and fair view on 

financial statement, but also responsible for detecting fraud in the company’s 

operation (Reffett, 2010).  

 

Therefore, it can be concluded that the main responsibility of an auditor is to give 

reliable assurance to the users of the audited financial statements that the information 

in them are true fair and free from material error. Thus, anything that can obstruct this 
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purpose is a potential liability for the auditor. In addition, auditors could be 

prosecuted in a criminal court for either knowingly or recklessly issuing an 

inappropriate audit opinion based on the conclusion of conducting audit on these 

financial statements.     

 

There are several studies related to the auditor’s liability to AQ, rules and regulation 

(Reffett, 2010; Ghosh & Pawlewicz, 2009; Schwartz, 1998; Samsonova-Taddei & 

Humphrey, 2015; Wegman, 2007). Most of the results show that the effect of 

regulatory changes has substantially increased the legal liability of accountants, and 

the accountants were significantly affected by the new federal regulatory. Thus, due to 

the importance of this profession to support the enhancement of the AQ, the 

regulators will have to be closely involved to scrutinize the practice of the accountants 

 

2.6. Institutional Theory and Environmental Setting 

Institutional theory is a huge theory and has many definitions. According to Scott 

(2001) this theory is multi-faceted, durable, social structures, made up of symbolic 

elements, social activities, and material resources. This theory also may be evidenced 

in economic system, legal system, information system, family, religion, academia, 

business, accounting, auditing and etc.  

 

Institutional theory is supported by the characteristics of the environment, and the 

strength that it gives to the organization within it. The boundaries of what is 

considered correct and right actions or behavior are based contextually, and differ 

between different environments. Barley and Tolbert (1997) stated that the 

institutionalized environment establishes indications of behavior that is referenced 
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and undeclared (implicit) which is deemed appropriate based on the norms applicable 

to a certain environment. Thus, institutional behavior is noticeable and observable, 

repetitive activities, and interaction pattern characteristics of a certain setting. 

Institutions that are based on certain setting backgrounds will manifest themselves as 

certain behavioral characteristics that are considered appropriate for that environment. 

She added that by modifying their behavior to be isomorphic for institutions in their 

specific environment, organizations obtain legitimacy, and hence there are changes in 

existence.  

 

Thus, this section focuses on particular environmental settings regarding to the 

utilizing of institutional theory.  This theory has been undertaken to understand 

whether certain environment settings, business and industries, are more likely to reveal 

isomorphic institutional pressures, and the impact of these pressures. Several settings 

in which institutional theory has been examined is art museum (DiMaggio & Powell, 

1983), electricity sector (Tsamenyi, Cullen & González, 2006), educational system 

(Hanson, 2001), information technology and information system (Krell, Matook & 

Rohde, 2016), municipal corporation Collin, S. O. Y., Tagesson, T., Andersson, A., 

Cato, J., & Hansson, K. (2009) and public sector (government) (Carpenter & Feroz, 

2001). This thesis attempts to extend the research into institutional theory within an 

AQ in emerging economy. The detail about institutional theory which is utilized by 

this thesis and its definition of institution, is explained in Chapter 4. 

 

2.7. Gaps of Interest in Literature 

Based on the literature review of prior studies, the gap of interest in AQ literature is as 

follows: Firstly, the first gap is providing an alternative perspective in AQ definition 
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by considering insight of the practitioners. This study will focus on the process of 

every assigned position in each type of audit firm who is involved in audit project. 

The existing perspective of AQ is market based perspective or demand-side research 

and supply-side research on audit quality (Reisch, 2000).  Most of the researches 

concerns on audit result and deliverables rather than the process of audit itself 

(Francis, 2011). This study will explore AQ toward audit process as an alternative 

perspective as mentioned above.  

 

As the literature review about AQ in Indonesia, that the empirical research on the 

association between regulatory changes and AQ in Indonesia is less or no attention.  

The researcher is not considering the time after the adoption of ISAs. It is very rarely 

and less attention for that theme. The popular theme for researchers at that time was 

the impact or the association of IFRS’ adoption with different dimensions or 

variables. 

 

Most of the setting used in studying the impact of regulatory changes are developed 

economies, such as the UK, US, Australia, and New Zealand (Griffin et al., 2009; 

Huang et al., 2009; Gosh et al., 2009; Salman et al., 2009; Abidin et al., 2010, 

Hecimovic et al., 2011). There is not much discussing the impact of regulatory 

changes on AQ in emerging economy country, especially in Indonesia. This study will 

answer the extension of previous studies in regulatory changes to consider and use 

data from actual working papers of each firm in order to support and confirm the 

perceptions given by the participants. As mentioned on the methodological 

contribution below, the case study approach which is used in this study will be able to 

access working papers needed (Yin,1981) since the typical of case study method 
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combines the data collections such as documents (archives), interviews and 

observations (Eisenhardt, 1989).  

 

The next gap is methodology gap. Most of studies use quantitative method. This study 

offers qualitative method with two cases of studies, since this study will see insight 

the process of AQ implementation and the process of adapting and adopting the 

regulatory changes in audit firms, qualitative approach is the most appropriate method 

used.  

 

Finally, the last gap is regarding to the theory for this thesis. As mentioned that 

research about institutional theory has been undertaken to understand whether certain 

environment settings and industries, are more likely to demonstrate isomorphic 

institutional pressures, and the impact of these pressures. Several settings in which 

institutional theory has been examined is art museum (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983), 

electricity sector (Tsamenyi, Cullen & González, 2006), educational system (Hanson, 

2001), information technology and information system (Krell, Matook & Rohde, 

2016), municipal corporation Collin, S. O. Y., Tagesson, T., Andersson, A., Cato, J., 

& Hansson, K. (2009) and public sector (government) (Carpenter & Feroz, 2001). 

This thesis attempts to extend the research into institutional theory within an AQ in 

emerging economy.   

2.8. Summary of the Chapter 

This chapter discusses the critical literature reviews of the thesis for relevance with 

the audit quality and regulatory changes in accounting profession. There are various 

definitions of audit quality have been developed that are based on different 
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approaches. Crucially, the AQ definition is in continuous evolution and the debate in 

the literature is still opened. This study explores another perspective of audit quality 

as a process which concerns the way some efforts in enhancing AQ is implemented as 

well as to get insight how the practitioners implement it into its function.  There is 

also not much research has been conducted, especially in developing economies 

including Indonesia. The previous studies replicate prior studies which was most 

conducted in developed countries. This study could answer the extension of previous 

studies in regulatory changes to consider and use data from actual working papers of 

each firm in order to support and confirm the perceptions given by the participants 

(Hecimovic et al., 2011). By discussing the regulatory changes and AQ as an 

institution, conducting in-depth qualitative method, showing the emerging economy’s 

role and effort to improve audit quality, especially to provide some insights views of 

participants, in the case of how far Indonesia has gone in order to enhance its AQ, this 

study viewpoints to be unlike from the previous studies.  
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CHAPTER THREE 

INDONESIAN BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT 

 

 

3.1. Introduction 

 

Indonesia is one of the emerging economies with high potential market as the number 

of its population is 258.71 million people, living on nearly one thousand permanently 

settled islands (BPS-Statistics Indonesia, 2016). Due to its geographical condition, 

there are 200 - 300 ethnic groups with their own languages which placed Indonesia as 

a multiethnic nation. As a consequence, Indonesia’s diversity has shown apparent gap 

in areas such as education, developments, industry, health as well as in historical, 

cultural, political and socio- economy condition. On a plus side, this condition can 

open up many opportunities but however, if poorly managed it may lead to many 

challenges (Frederick & Worden, 2011).  

 

3.1.1 Historical, Geographical and Cultural Context 

One of the challenges faced by the government is providing prosperity and 

distributing equality to all regions in Indonesia’s chain of thousands of islands. As 

stated in the above, Indonesia has a large number of multiethnic populations with 

large and small group forming geographical enclaves. Towns within such enclaves 

consist of the dominant ethnic group with some members of immigrant groups. 

Sometimes larger cities may consist of many ethnic groups while smaller cities have 

dominant group majority. The ethnics’ composition in the cities and towns had 

developed over the centuries through geographical interactions such as rivers, 

mountains, ports and plains, historical interactions of people as well as political- 
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administrative policies. Others are ethically mixed to varying degrees, and some, are 

homogeneous (Frederick & Worden, 2011). These facts influence the way of thinking, 

behavior, tradition, awareness and attitude towards existing issues, especially 

regarding the accountant’s profession in Indonesia as stated by one of the MOF 

agency (RG01).  

3.1.2 Political Context 

Indonesia's size and ethnic diversity has made national identity problematic and 

debated frequently. Identity is defined at many levels: by Indonesian citizenship; 

recognition of the flag, national anthem, and certain other songs; national holidays; 

and by education regarding Indonesia's history and the Five Principles on which the 

nation is based. Much of these taught in schools and instilled in the media, both of 

which are closely regulated by the government especially after Indonesia achieved its 

independence. The nation's history has been focused on resistance to colonialism and 

communism by national heroes and leaders whose names are enshrined as street 

names. Glories of past civilizations are recognized, though archaeological remains are 

mainly of Javanese principalities (Frederick & Worden, 2011). 

 

After the independent of Indonesia in 17 August 1945, Soekarno became the first 

president of Indonesia. Then, after the 1965 coup, General Soeharto was formally 

name as a president in 1968, and ruled the country for a thirty-two year until 1998.  It 

was during the tenure of President Soeharto that Orde Baru or New Order was in 

effect. The government during this era practiced centralized administration system 

which resulted in impressive economic growth but unfortunately also gave way to 

widespread corruption, nepotism, collusion in government dealing and shocking 
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abuses on human rights perpetuated by the military/authorities. Following the Asian 

financial crisis in 1997, a series of upheavals, rioting and manifested public discontent 

against Suharto’s regime put the nation into crisis. As a result, President Soeharto 

announced his retirement in 1998, and was replaced by the Vice- President BJ 

Habiebie (Frederick & Worden, 2011).  

 

A number of reforms were created following his retirement, among them were 

allowing the first direct election of president, reduction of military seats in parliament, 

removal of restrictions on civil societies, and the creation of new political parties and 

other civil societies. President Habiebie initiated the reform process and democratic 

transition, and were followed by the succeeding presidents, Abdurrahman Wahid 

(1999–2001), Megawati Soekarnoputri (2001–2004) (Ricklefs, ,2005), Susilo 

Bambang Yudhoyono (2004–2014), and Joko Widodo (Jokowi) (2014-present). 

According to the speech of Indonesia’s Finance Minister: Dr. Sri Mulyani, in the 

Singapore Summit 2016 on 17 September 2016 that under the rule of Jokowi and 

vice-president Jusuf Kalla, Indonesia has become more opened and now regarded as a 

middle-income country given its sustained economic growth in the past more than 20 

years. The government today, besides focusing on the improvement of bureaucracy, 

also struggling to reform the business procedures, as well as the quality of financial 

reporting and audit to support the business environment.   

 

 

3.1.3 Socio-Economy Context 

Based on the historical and political context in the above, under Soeharto’s Orde baru 

rules, Indonesia had amended its foreign relations policies and successfully brought in 

financial assistance, foreign aid, and foreign investment from the Western countries 
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and Japan into to help propel the nation economy. The top five donors to Indonesia 

are the Asian Development Bank, the World Bank, the Japan International 

Cooperation Agency, the Australian Agency for International Development and the 

Global Funds. The received funds are utilized to improve the economic conditions as 

well as to fight the social community problems such as health and education 

(Frederick & Worden, 2011). In return, Indonesia has to fulfill the requirements and 

/or the concession as a member of the organizations it participates, and perform 

efforts and roles so as to be comparable and a better country in all sectors, including 

the improvement quality of CPA as one of the trustworthy professions in supporting 

business and economy as explained by RG03.  

3.2. CPA in Indonesia  

Indonesian Institute of Accountants (Ikatan Akuntan Indonesia (IAI)) is the pioneer of 

professional association of accountant in Indonesia. The IAI, which was established 

on 23rd December 1957, has been a member of IFAC since 1986. The IAI is like an 

umbrella organization that includes four ―compartments, or associate organizations. 

The four associate organizations under IAI are (a) Compartment of Public 

Accountant15, (b) compartment of management accountant16, (c) compartment of 

public sector accountant, and (d) compartment of academic accountant. IAI is under 

authority of Finance Department of Minister (IAPI, 2015). 

                                                             
15 The name changed into IAPI (Ikatan Akuntan Publik Indonesia- Indonesian Institute of Public Accountant) and 

formed as a separate organization since 2007  

16 The name changed into IAMI (Ikatan Akuntan Manajemen Indonesia- Indonesian Institute of Management 

Accountant) 
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3.2.1. Historical Background of CPA  

 In 1997 there were many significant changes in the economy of Indonesia. The 

government issued policy and published a law about domestic and foreign investment 

and also the establishment of capital market. These economic changes had impact on 

the need of public accounting profession. Based on the idea of Drs. T. M. Tuanakotta, 

on April 1997 the IAI formed public accountant section and in 1994 the section 

changed into “Compartment of Public Accountants” in which got autonomy right to 

manage and develop this profession. In 2007, based on the Decree of the Finance 

Minister of Indonesia No. 17/PMK.01/2008, the compartment of public accountant 

then has become IAPI (Indonesian Institute of Public Accountants). The IAPI 

represents the auditing profession in this country, and be responsible for the 

designation and examination of Certified Public Accountant. Then IAPI applied the 

membership of IFAC in its own right, and approved since 2014 (IAPI, 2015).  

 

3.2.2. CPA Membership and Career Path in Indonesia 

Indonesia is one of an emerging country which has very big population, more than 

250 million people (BPS-Statistik Indonesia, 2016). However, this societies’ number 

is not equal to the number of Indonesian accountants and public accountants. The total 

number of both accountants as of March 2014 is 22.269 accountants. This is only 

12.07% of total accountants in ASEAN, whereas the number of accounting graduates 

is 35.000 alumni per year (AFA-World Bank, 2014). It should be more accountants 

every year if considering the accounting graduates. This is about the membership 

problem of IAI and IAPI. Indonesia is still having “big work” to scale up and grow 

the number of accountants. The ratio should be appropriate, because accountant is a 
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guardian of business, in term of financial reporting to be more accountable and 

transparence. 

The total member of IAPI is 1,534 for CPA17 and 510 for audit firms at the year of 

2014 (IAPI, 2014). As the explanation stated in the paragraph above about “big 

work”, that number is not equal to the condition of Indonesia economy and Industry 

today. In order to improve the quality of public accountants in Indonesia and to 

answer the “big work” of membership problem, since 2015, IAPI offers certain 

program of certification. Figure 3.1. below is the description of each examination 

level.  

 
                          

Figure 3.1.  

The Exam of Public Accountant’s Certification 

Source: www.cpaindonesia.or.id/info/read/90 
                                                             
17 In order to be awarded the CPA qualification, a person must register as an accountant at the Ministry of Finance, 

pass the Indonesia CPA examination, and fulfill minimum practical experience requirements. An Indonesia CPA is 

required to comply with some additional requirements for submitting application as a registered public accountant 

at the Ministry of Finance in order to obtain a license to sign audit opinions. 
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Instead of offering certification program as the figure above, since 2015 to 2016, IAPI 

introduces a new acceleration and intensive program to stimulate audit firm’s staffs to 

become member of IAPI. This program especially offers to the managers and 

supervisors level in audit firms to get “CPAI18 title”. The new program of IAPI is 

called Professional Recognition Program for Certified Public Accountants of 

Indonesia (PRP CPAI) in 2015 and then changed into Recognition Prior Learning for 

Certified Public Accountants of Indonesia (RPL CPAI) in 2016. This is an initial 

program for the preparation of becoming CPA. There are certain requirements that 

should be fulfilled by the participants. This program is successful, and during almost 

2 years IAPI may increase the members more than 700 CPAI. The next steps will be 

offered to join one more examination to get full “CPA” title (IAPI, 2016). 

 

After getting title of CPA, the accountant can apply for a practice license from the 

Ministry of Finance once minimum requirements for offering professional services 

are fulfilled according to the Indonesian Public Accountants Law No. 5 (2011) and 

The Government’s Rule of Public Accountant’s Practice No. 20 (2015). To meet the 

minimum requirements, a public accountant must supply evidence that he/she has an 

office located in Indonesia; employs three auditors with at least, a Diploma or 

undergraduate in Accounting and at least one must also be a registered accountant; 

and has a quality-control system in place.  If the firm is a partnership, the partners 

must provide the partnership charter and a letter of agreement on the appointment of a 

chairman signed by all partners. This also calls for better aligning clarity and 

                                                             
18 CPAI: Certified of Professional Accountant of Indonesia. CPAI is the beginning title given by the association 

after passing the examination of joining PRP CPAI program. 

http://iapi.or.id/assets/collections/doc/prp.pdf
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consistency of Ministry of Finance ‘s procedure of registration and licensing with 

IAPI membership requirements.   

3.2.3. Audit Firms Size in Indonesia and Audit Market 

This is very important to distinguish the term of audit firms size in Indonesia, just for 

the purpose of this study, since there has not been definite determined, the 

classification of audit firms (Hecimovic et al., 2011; Setiawan, 2016). Based on the 

data from the Directory of IAPI and P2PK, public accountants in Indonesia are 

divided into two main audit firms: global audit firm and local audit firm. One of the 

requirements for the international audit firms are stated in Indonesian Accountant 

Public Law No. 5 (2011) and Government Rule of Public Accountant’s Practice 

(2015). The international audit firms are allowed to operate in Indonesia in 

corporation with local firms, because they are not allowed directly.  

 

The international (global) audit firm divided into two: Big 4 firms and not Big 4 

firms. Big 4 firms are such as PWC, KPMG, Ernst and Young and Deloitte. Other 

international firms are such as Mazars, Grant Thornton International, Moore Steven 

International, BDO, PKF International, RSM International, and Russel Bedford 

International (Tuanakotta, 2013). Most accounting firms in Indonesia are relatively 

small. The small and medium-sized audit firms, due to a lack of adequate resources, 

face challenges in providing high-quality auditing services to financial institutions and 

other public interest entities with complex business transactions (P2PK, 2015). This 

has serious consequences for the quality of audited financial information used by the 

market participants in Indonesia. However, in order to audit financial institutions and 

other public interest entities, public accountant must be registered with OJK. 
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Based on the number of supply side of the Indonesian audit market, the Indonesian 

audit market is called oligopoly market. The audit market is dominated by The Big 

Four. Agus Suprapto is Chief of the Accountant’s Development of P2PK stated that 

the total revenue of Big Four in 2011 was 1,506 trillion rupiah or 65,5%, while non- 

big four firms was 793,387 billion rupiah or 34,50% from the total revenue which is 

reported to The Finance Minister of Indonesian, and most of the audit firms are 

located in Jakarta and Surabaya (P2PK, 2015).  

 

3.2.4. Regulatory Bodies 

Indonesian Certified of Public Accountants is under the supervision of P2PK. P2PK 

supervises the audit firms and practice of public accountants. The main task is to 

prepare the formulation of policies, guidance, development and supervision of public 

accountants. In addition, they are also as administrator of registration and licensing of 

public accountants and accountants, imposition of administrative sanctions against the 

profession of CPA and as well as meeting the needs of stakeholders.  The duties is 

under and responsible to Finance Minister through the Secretary- General. All the 

member of IAPI will be automatically under P2PK’s supervision.   

 

OJK is Financial Services Authority. Not all the members of IAPI are registered as 

the auditors or accountants of OJK. The term and registration of the requirements are 

stipulated in government regulations. Accountant public is one of supporting 

professions at the financial service authority. Supporting professions are registered 

professional at OJK. Other supporting professions instead of public accountants are 
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such as legal consultants, appraiser, notary and other consultants. The total of audit 

firms which are registered as OJK accountants are 200 audit firms (OJK, 2015). OJK 

also supervises and evaluates the performance of audit firms conducting audit in listed 

companies. The accountants which are registered at OJK have to be the member of 

Capital Market Accountant Forum (FAPM). 

Table 3.1.  

Summary of P2PK and OJK Functions 

Agencies Functions/ Primary Activities 

 

 

 

▪ Prepare the formulation of policies, guidance, 

development and supervision of public accountants 

▪ Supervise public accountant services and present 

information thereon 

 

 

 

 

▪ Set and enforce Capital Markets rules and regulation  

▪ Establish disclosure principles for Issuers and Listed 

Companies  

▪ Set Standard, norm, guidance on criteria, procedures 

and implement those in financial institution sector 

 
Source: The Compilation of literature review of this study, proceed 2016 

 

Table 3.1 above describes the summary of regulator’s functions. Both are under 

Minister of Finance. One of the supervision’s agenda of P2PK is quality review or 

inspection to ensure compliance by auditors with applicable standards, rules and 

regulations. Further, auditors of companies engage in capital market activities are 

subject to additional oversight by OJK. Both reviews should achieve synergy between 

them to avoid duplication of work by OJK and P2PK, since the purpose and the 

process are similar.  

 

3.3. Audit Quality in Indonesia 

In this era, Indonesia concerns and pushes the practitioners to be more professional in 

providing and conducting services, and also wants to show the commitment to be a 
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good practice country in accounting and auditing reform. It is started from the 

establishment of professional association above about the historical background of 

CPA and procedures of obtaining CPA title. There are requirements that must be 

fulfilled by anyone who want to be public accountants. In order to support the 

implementation of audit quality, several aspects are considered to be mandatory for 

practitioners and determined statutory framework for institutional and audit policy 

development, such as: auditing requirement and standard setting; continuing 

professional education program; quality review and audit tenure.  

 

3.3.1. Auditing Requirements and Standard-Setting  

According to the Indonesian Company Law No. 40 (2007), corporate entities are 

required to prepare annual financial statements in accordance with the accounting 

standards issued by the professional accounting organization recognized by the 

Indonesian Government. IAI as a professional accounting body, the Indonesian 

Financial Accounting Standards Board under IAI acts as standard setter in the 

country. According to the Company Law, financial statements should consist of a 

balance sheet, an income statement, a statement of cash flows, a statement of changes 

in stockholders‘equity, and notes to the financial statements.  

 

The Company Law stipulates that the following types of entities are required to 

undergo an annual financial statement audit: (a) Company collects and/or manages the 

community ‘s fund; (b) Company issues a debt acknowledgement letter to the public; 

(c) Company constitutes an issuer; (d) Company constitutes a state-owned company; 

(e) Company owns assets and/or business with the minimum value of IDR 50 billion; 
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or (f) Company is obliged pursuant to the prevailing regulation. All listed companies, 

non-bank financial institutions, and banks are required to be audited by a CPA.  

 

There is no extended statutory audit requirement to all companies like Brunei, 

Malaysia, Myanmar, and Thailand (Saudagaran & Diga, 2000). The main reason is 

the limited number of public accountants. It will be difficult for the regulator to 

monitor and enforce audit requirement adequately for a great number of companies. 

The Indonesian ratio between the numbers of companies compare to the number of 

auditor is lower than other country like Thailand, Singapore and Malaysia, is about 

34.58% (AFA, 2014). The number of listed companies based on the record of 

Indonesian Stock Exchange at the year of 2015 is 532 companies, while the number 

of public accountants is 1,534 accountants in 200 audit firms (IDX, 2015).  There is 

also requirement for the accountants who is allowed to conduct audit for public 

companies (public entities). The requirement is the CPA has to be the member of 

Capital Market Accountant Forum (CMAF) (Forum Akuntan Pasar Modal-FAPM), 

and stipulated in government regulation. The statutory audit requirement is carried out 

together by regulator and audit standard- setter. 

 

IAPI is the audit standard- setter in Indonesia. Since its establishment in 2007, the 

IAPI has been responsible for setting a code of ethics as well. The code of ethics will 

be revised in this current year to be updated and met the issuance of Handbook of The 

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 2015 Edition, issued by the International 

Ethics Standard Board for Accountants (IESBA). This handbook was published by 

International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) on May 2015 (IESBA, 2015). IAPI 

also provides implementation guidance for auditing standards. ISAs are the adopted as 
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Indonesian Public Accounting Professional Standards (SPAP19) and are fully 

consistent since 2013. IAPI translate ISAs into local language (Bahasa Indonesia).  

Table.3.2.  

Summary of IAPI and IAI Functions 

Agencies Functions/ Primary Activities 

 

 
 

 

▪ Set Auditing Standards for Public Accountants  

▪ Set Professional Code of Ethics for Public 

Accountants  

▪ Conduct Public Accountant Certification 

Examination  

▪ Provide Continuous Professional Education for 

public accountants 

 

 

 
 

 

▪ Set Financial Accounting Standards  

▪ Provide Continuous Professional Education  

▪ Provide qualifications for those who wants to work 

in financial management and accountancy 

Source: The Compilation of literature review of this study, proceed 2016 

  

Both are professional bodies for accountants in Indonesia. The difference is in term of 

activities’ scope. IAPI is mandatory just for public accountants, whether IAI is for 

state registered accountants. IAPI’s members are mostly also member of IAI but not 

vice versa. Both IAI and IAPI have exams. IAI is responsible for “CA” designation 

and exam, while IAPI is for CPA.  

 

In addition, both also have disciplinary bodies for their members. IAPI‘s DKP 

20(Profession Honorary Board) is responsible for monitoring and taking action when a 

member does not comply with ethical and/or professional standards. The Board is 

established under IAPI‘s article of association and consists of five members who are 

                                                             
19 Standar Profesional Akuntan Publik is the auditing standard of ISAs in the term of local language of Indonesia. 

20 Dewan Kehormatan Profesi 
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elected by IAPI‘s members. However, several sanctions have been imposed so far for 

example by suspending the license practice of CPA (P2PK, 2015). IAI also has an 

Ethics Committee and a Disciplinary Board for its members who violate the code of 

ethics. However, no sanctions have been imposed. 

3.3.2. Continuing Professional Education (CPE) Program 

A certified public accountant must meet minimum continuing professional 

development (CPD) requirements in order to maintain CPA status. Indonesian Public 

Accountant Law No. 5 (2011), article 43 states that one of responsibility of 

association body is to provide CPE program for the members periodically. The detail 

procedures of requirements and conducts of CPE program explained in Rule of IAPI 

No. 4 (2014).  CPE is mandatory program. At least two regulatory bodies such as 

IAPI and P2PK should be reported annually. Another body which requires to CPA to 

maintain CPE is OJK. The CPA should be registered as capital market auditor, and 

submitted annually as well.  IAPI together with PPAJP and OJK, organize training 

programs for enabling their members to comply with the CPE requirements.  

 

There are three main requirements of CPE. The requirements are report deadline, 

format, and number of credit. According to the Rule of IAPI No. 4 (2014), the 

minimum CPE hours should be fulfilled is 30 hours for structural CPE program and 

10 hours for non- structural CPE program. So the total CPE hour is 40 hours per year 

per public accountant.  Structural program means the CPE programs which held by 

the IAPI (5 hours is mandatory from P2PK), whereas non-structural program is the 

individual program of every public accountant. The public accountant may join 

seminar, training, workshop, research, or formal education (Master or Doctoral 
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degree) are classified into non- structural program. Certified professional who fail to 

meet the requirements will be automatically get sanction from the bodies. The 

sanction is in steps; firstly, they usually send a written warning and charging. 

Secondly, non-compliance with CPE requirements results in inability to renew license 

the following year.  

 

Government and professional body put this CPE as an essential thing for professional. 

CPE is a need, is a kind of human capital, especially for public accountants since they 

have big responsibility to public because their output service can influence and 

contribute business significantly. Just take the example of financial scandals happened 

involved this professional. Many effects in business change because of these cases. 

So, by having CPE is a real effort done by regulators to answer challenges in this 

professional world and may increase the audit quality (Cheng et al., 2009).  

 

The objective of this CPE program is to encourage or bring up a culture of continues 

learning among professionals (De Lange, Jackling & Basioudis, 2013). Through this 

program government can socialize and introduce the update standards and regulations 

as well. This program also is like a hope for investors and stakeholders to get 

assurance that these professionals do not only satisfy service but also competent and 

trustworthy person to perform their function effectively and fairly, that what Ibu Lea 

Buntaran, CPA 21, said about this program. She added that this is one of way to show 

value of our profession. By having and joining regular CPE, it is not only learning 

something new and improving technical knowledge and skill but also reminding us 

                                                             
21 Ibu Lea Buntaran is the Head of IAPI in East Java and Kalimantan Regional. Writer conducted discussion with 

her on February 4th  2016 
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the ethical standards that putting public interest above personal interest as long as we 

are still committed to provide service in this profession. Confessing or not, there are 

still many professionals has “big ignorance” to this program.  So, IAPI expects the 

new generation can continue and act proper behavior as a good professional. That is 

why IAPI now, promoting new program e.g.  Recognition Prior Learning (RPL) for 

CPAI and introducing many ways to capture the youth and new generation’s attention 

to be attracted to this profession (IAPI, 2015).  

 

The other ways to attract the members joining CPE program is by having interesting 

and up dated topic. Take an example is the issuing of Peraturan Menteri Keuangan 

(PMK) 191 (2015) about asset revaluation and its fiscal implication. All business 

world in Indonesia were rushing and reacting lot about this government policy, 

whether practitioners, clients, investors. This best moment was taken by IAPI to 

provide PPL in that topic.  IAPI held this topic at the end of 2015, then January 20 th, 

2016, both was in Jakarta, and on January 29th, 2016 was in Surabaya. Those three 

PPL events were joined by many members. It means that as long as the topic 

considered needed in business, it seems will be sold out easily. It is not easy to 

provide an interesting CPE program, deciding topics and providing good speaker or 

expert.  If we try to see the schedule or agenda of CPE in IAPI website, it shows that 

most of the topics given are accounting standards topics, and less of auditing topics. 

Ibu Lea, CPA said that accounting standards changed more rapidly than auditing 

standards. So, auditor must aware and understand with the new standards. How can 

auditor assessed financial statements well and fairly if they don’t know the updated 

accounting policy implementation and calculation as well. So that is one reason why 

the percentage of accounting standards topics dominated the CPE topics. Another 
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reason of this issue is the availability of the good speaker or expert. IAPI can identify 

which speaker is popular among members. It proved by the number of participants 

joining in that program. Experienced and capable person are requirements of accepted 

speaker. IAPI always and never stop trying to provide high- quality continuing 

professional education program, to improve and keep good image of this profession. It 

is not easy to be good. So, by having CPE program can be a media to communicate 

between the regulators and professionals, and reduce gap between the expectation and 

the reality of this profession. And by CPE we can put the good image back for this 

profession; we prove that IAPI and all CPA members committed in quality. For all 

members, let’s put CPE not as our obligation but as our need and commitment. 

 

3.3.3. Quality Review 

Public accountant practice is always under the monitor of professional association and 

regulatory bodies. All of them were formed to ensure the quality assurance of audit 

firms and public accountants as well. In Indonesia, they are IAPI, P2PK, OJK and one 

more is BPK22. 

 
IAPI has started regular quality review program to monitor the compliance of its 

members with professional auditing standards and code of ethics. IAPI ‘s Quality 

Review Board (Badan Reviu Mutu- BRM) consists of five partners from reputable 

audit firms and the Quality Reviewer Team (QRT) (Pelaksana Reviu Mutu-PRM) 

consists of four full-time staff. All have at least five years’ experience working as 

independent auditors; the head of PRM is a CPA and a partner in an audit firm. 

Additional reviewers are to be sought from audit firms willing to lend their partners or 

                                                             
22 Badan Pemeriksa Keuangan, is Supreme Audit Board for public sector auditor. 
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managers when they are available. The results of the quality reviews will be reported 

to the head of IAPI with the recommended corrective actions (IAPI, 2015).  

 

The activities performed by IAPI are mainly done for constructive development 

purposes on the quality of the audit engagement system performed by members of 

IAPI. The Quality assurance activities are focused on the design and implementation 

of quality assurance guidance developed by each member’s firm. The audit 

engagement’s working papers are reviewed, on a sample basis, to see their level of 

implementation of the QA guidance (Quality Assurance Standards (SPM)) established 

by the firm (IAPI, 2015).  

 

Quality assurance activities performed by P2PK are mainly performed for monitoring 

and supervisory purposes. The focus of the activities is the working papers related to 

audit engagements done by the public accountants who are being examined, whether 

or not they support the engagements and comply with the professional (auditing and 

accounting) standards. While based on the Capital Market Law No 8 (1995), specific 

to IAPI members who have performed audit engagements for listed companies, those 

members are also subject to be QA reviewed by OJK.  

 
Likewise, the Supreme Audit Board (BPK) has been given an authority by the State 

Finance Law No. 17 (2003) and by the BPK Regulation No. 1 (2008), to review the 

work performed by IAPI members if those members conduct audit engagements, on 

behalf of BPK, on public sector entities (state-owned enterprises for instance). The 

public accountants which are assigned for that audit engagement will be reviewed by 

BPK as well.  



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

74 

 

3.3.4. Audit Tenure & Rotation 

There are requirements regarding rotation of audit partners and accounting firms based on 

the Government Rule of Public Accountant Practice No. 20 (2015) article 10-11. This 

rule stipulates the audit tenure and limitation of audit services in Indonesia. The 

assurance services which are provided by public accountants: a) audit of historical 

financial statements; b) review of financial statements; and c) other assurance 

services. Instead of those services, the public accountants may provide other services 

regarding to accounting service, management service and financial service. The role 

of providing those services is stipulated by other rules.  

 

The provision of audit services on historical financial information referred to the 

above explanation for an entity by a public accountant is restricted to a maximum of 

five consecutive years.  The entities are required to have this limitation such as listed 

companies, banks, insurance companies, joint-stock companies, and also state own 

enterprises. The public accountant may provide the audit services back on the 

historical financial statements of an entity after two consecutive years of not 

providing the service.  

 

The main purpose of the policy about audit tenure and rotation is in order to improve 

the audit quality and has emerged as an international good practice. However, several 

studies about the association between audit tenure and audit quality in Indonesia 

shows different results.   
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3.4. Adoption of International Auditing Standards 

Indonesia started on January 2013 has been fully adopted ISAs23 stated by the 

chairman of P2PK. 

3.4.1. Why Adopting ISAs 

The main reasons of Indonesia adopting International Standards on Auditing in 

Indonesia according to Ibu Lea Buntaran, CPA24 because instead of being member of 

IFAC25 , there are other reasons: Firstly, in term of efficiency, in which the standard 

help better implementation of audit quality. ISAs require the skepticism mindset. If 

the auditors use this mindset, every professional judgment can be accountable and 

reliable. That is the value added of implementing this standard.  

 

Secondly, in term of legitimacy, that Indonesia is part of the world in which audited 

financial reports should be comparable to other countries’ report and “accepted” by 

international community. It may also say that this is “the power of market”. As long 

as Indonesia becomes part of the global word, Indonesia cannot leave the global 

impact. When the global world adopts this, willing or not we will adopt the same 

standards. Thirdly, the requirements of certain institutions are like World Bank, IMF 

and G20. 

 

Due to those reasons above, Indonesia has to adopt and implement International 

Standards on Auditing properly. This does not mean that there is no difficulty in 

                                                             
23 The announcement is spoken in Public Hearing and Socialization of ISA Exposure Draft on May 23, 2012, by 

Mr. Langgeng Subur the Chairman of P2PK. 

24 Ibu Lea Buntaran is the Head of IAPI in East Java and Kalimantan Regional. Writer conducted discussion and 

interview with her on February 4th  2016 

25 Based on Statement Of Membership (SMO) that every member shall adopt the standards enacted by the IFAC. 
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adopting these new standards. Not only in Indonesia, but also several countries face 

challenges, difficulties and obstacles to the successful implementation of its standards 

(Eglund & Gidlund, 2012; Pineno & Gelikanova, 2010).  

 

In case of Indonesia, the purpose of understanding and implementing audit quality not 

only complying to new auditing standards, but also to explore the way any size of 

audit firms included medium and small firms cope the impact of the changes into its 

process to create appropriate outcomes. The term “outcome” used focus on audit 

firm’s perceptions better than consider only the difference or gap before and after ISA 

adoption. (Samsonova, 2013). 

 

3.4.2. Challenges and Problems in Adoption ISAs 

The implementation of ISAs around countries need transitions that make IAASB 

issued the clarified international standards (IAASB, 2011). Human resources and 

organizational resources play vital role in adoption of clarified ISA and ISQC for 

Small Medium Practice (SMP) in Malaysia (Ang, 2013).  

 

The same challenge also happened in small and medium practices in Indonesia. The 

main impact of this adoption is compliance cost (Tuanakotta, 2013). He states that 

each audit firms have to consider the additional fee for covering the changes. 

However, it may not be reflected in every additional audit fee.  The challenges are: (a) 

preparing training and education cost for upgrading and updating knowledge and skill, 

(b) revise the manual quality (procedures) based on the new framework of 

international standards, (c) provide enough time for giving and transferring 

knowledge or information to staffs, and clients as well, (d) spend and manage more 
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time for partner to auditor in assigning audit engagements. All those challenge need 

enough sources. This condition may not be faced by Big 4, since they have global 

network that can prepare and share much earlier before the standards fully 

implemented. 

  

3.5 Summary of The Chapter 

Indonesia has made significant efforts to improve the quality of corporate financial 

reporting. Considerable progress has been made to strengthen the institutional 

framework of accounting and auditing and to move toward convergence with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) since in the year of 2009 and full 

adoption in 2012 and also adoption of International Standards of Auditing (ISA) in 

the year of 2013. Further improvements are necessary to make sure that Indonesia 

emerges as a good-practice country in accountancy reform in the developing world 

and concern with the audit quality (P2PK, 2015).  

 

The recent evidence of the government’s commitment in improving accountancy 

reform and audit quality was shown by the joining of The 2015 ASEAN26 Audit 

Regulators Group (AARG)27 Meeting and Dialogue with the Audit Firms on June 

2015 in Kuala Lumpur. The main discussion was the regulator’s initiative in order to 

improve audit quality in each country. The topic is included Audit Quality Indicators 

which can be implemented as a concession measurement of its quality (P2PK, 2015). 

This is one example of steps that the government carried out, since the existence of 

                                                             
26 Association of South East Asia 

27 The AARG is an International Forum of Independent Audit Regulators (IFIAR) which members are Singapore, 

Thailand, Malaysia and Indonesia. 
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accountant’s profession, as well as its professional association are very crucial in the 

emerging business world (Fan & Wong, 2005).  

 

The development of this profession and the professional association of public 

accountants in Indonesia cannot be separated from the economic development, 

business, investment both domestic and foreign investments, and also capital market 

and global influence. The milestone for professional development and its professional 

association is strongly influenced by changes of the local economy, as well as global 

economy (Dedoulis & Caramanis, 2007; Okike, 2004). 
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CHAPTER FOUR 

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK AND ASSOCIATED THEORY 

 

 

4.1. Introduction 

The objective of this thesis is to examine how regulatory changes influence AQ 

developments and implementations in Indonesia. The conceptual framework of this 

research focuses on the understanding of how the regulators play their role in 

enhancing AQ due to global the international pressure as well as internal issues of the 

country. It also discusses the practitioners’ (accounting professions) reaction or 

perception, expectation, challenge and how they decide on the appropriate action 

plans to for the regulatory changes. In addition, this study also explores firm’s process 

in implementing AQ following the regulatory changes. Outlining conceptual 

framework is very important, since it provides a theoretical rationale for selecting 

central concepts and to define the concepts in operational term (Easterby-Smith, 

Thorpe, Jackson & Lowe, 2008).  

 

The understanding of the regulatory changes that influence AQ developments and 

implementation involve interaction with many parties such as regulators, practitioners, 

company’s managements and other stakeholders (Martin, 2013). Most interactions are 

considered as economic mechanisms since they regard costs, efficiency and the quality 

of practitioner’s services which are related to audit fee (McNair, 1991). A 

perspective’s theory that helps to form and understand the process of interaction of the 

institutional actors, the regulatory changes and AQ is the institutional theory (North, 

1990; Powell & DiMaggio, 1991).  
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There has been substantial empirical work on institutional theory since more than three 

decades (Dacin, 1997; Jarvenpa, 2009; Krell, Matook & Rohde, 2016; Meyer & Scott, 

1983; Scott, 1995; Sherer & Lee, 2002; Zhang, Boyce and Ahmed, 2014), however, 

there is still a lack of studies that show how institutional system process influence 

organizational development. For the purpose of this study, this theory discusses about 

regulatory changes, and insights on the transformation of its institutional processes, 

and the development of AQ. The regulatory changes are shown through various 

regulators’ roles and efforts that are conducted due to international pressures, which 

demonstrated the actions, improvements and developments undertaken in enhancing 

AQ. The AQ itself is the institution. To show rational justification and consistency of 

the terms used in this study, the word “Institution” is defined in the section 4.3. 

Consequently, the use of theories in researches is to make assumptions based on 

principles, procedures and natural science to understand how the world is perceived 

(Bryman, 2007; Bryman, 2015). Besides, it can also help to not only clarify a research 

design into a conceptual/ theoretical framework but also to decide on the appropriate 

one (Easterby-Smith et al., 2008).  

 

4.2. Theoretical Justification 

The institutional theory is used to develop the conceptual framework that helps to 

improve the understanding on the processes that influence the regulatory changes on 

AQ’s enhancement. In their study, DiMaggio and Powell (1983), label processes by 

which organizations tend to adopt the same structures and practices isomorphism, as a 

homogenization of organizations. The definition of isomorphism itself is a process that 

causes one unit in a population to resemble other units in the same population that 
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share the same set of environmental condition (DiMaggio and Powel, 1983). In other 

words, isomorphism is referred to as the degree at which organizations conform to 

certain norms and practices that are established and institutionalized within a particular 

environment.  

 

The basis of institutional isomorphism is that the organizations consider their 

environment for the clues of appropriate actions and practices. The environment 

pressures organizations to adopt specific practices and processes in order to be 

legitimate, to survive and to be positioned in a certain level. Institutionalized 

environments not only have the power to empower and promote the organizations who 

act within the appropriate norms, but also enact restraints and sanctions on those who 

do not modify their behavior to appear isomorphic.  Thus, by utilizing the institutional 

theory, the process of the regulatory changes, efforts and initiatives prepared by 

Indonesia accounting regulators to enhance its AQ could be explored. In addition, to 

provide significant influence on AQ, the organization needs to establish foundations in 

strengthening the accounting profession generally and AQ specifically. The three 

pillars of institutional are therefore used a basis for compliance of AQ’s function, 

which shows how the regulative pillar is mobilized, and how the normative and 

cultural- cognitive pillars shape value and norms into the accounting profession (Scott, 

2008).  Furthermore, this theory is utilized based on the study by DiMaggio and 

Powell (1983) since it is mostly cited while identifying and examining institutional 

theory within the organizational. Leiter (2015) stated that discussing domination, 

uncertainty, dependency and professionalism increase the possibility of using 

isomorphism. 
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Beattie, et al (2010) studies factors affecting AQ in the 2007 UK regulatory 

environment by using the regulation theory. This theory is used by capturing the 

economic discipline, which shows the market failure evidence combined with 

regulatory impact analysis. The thesis does not focus on regulation or regulative 

aspect only, but also other aspects such as norms, values, traditions and beliefs to 

explore initiatives and efforts conducted by accounting regulators as well as the 

implementation of AQ.  

 

Another theory which is commonly used for most AQ and auditing researches is the 

agency theory (Jensen & Meckling, 1976; Francis et al., 2006; Lin & Liu, 2009), since 

AQ or auditing is related to the interests of stakeholders, in this case between principal 

and agents. Agency theory is therefore considered suitable with AQ and auditing issues 

since it discusses the problems that surface in the organizations due to the separation 

of owners and managers and the emphasizes on the reduction of the principal-agent 

problem. Agency theory helps in implementing the various governance mechanisms 

to control the agents’ action in the jointly held corporations (Jensen & Meckling, 

1976). Nevertheless, the thesis explores the various institutional pressures enacted on 

Indonesia, how the regulators and practitioners interact and respond, and how this 

may affect its AQ by conducting and initiating regulatory efforts in the country. The 

thesis also looks into how the regulators put the basis of compliance as foundation to 

support the efforts, and also how the real implementation of AQ in each type of audit 

firm in Indonesia. This thesis however does not discuss AQ and the elements but 

rather the process of its efforts and changes for AQ’s enhancement in this country. It 

can be explained that instead of analyzing data, utilizing this institutional perspective, 

the thesis goes to the core as to who are mobilized the whole important factors or 
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aspects which have not been explored by other studies. Therefore, the detailed 

explanation of institutional theory as the conceptual framework is described in the 

following sections. 

4.3. Institutional Theory 

Institutional theory is one of the most dominant perspectives in organizational 

analysis and institutionalism and it established itself as a theoretical approach 

emphasizing the importance of broader meaning of system and institutional process 

(Davis and Marquis, 2005; Fogarty and Rogers, 2005). The concept of institutional 

theory may explain the action of individual and organizations as well, and even from 

the macro or global level to the micro level, and institutional theory’s key component 

is achieving organizational legitimacy. As stated by Suchman (1995), legitimate 

culture may decide how an organization is established, implemented, monitored and 

evaluated through the existing practices or processes.  Organizations which has strong 

and limited environment can determine the easiest way to gain legitimacy by 

conforming to the pre-existing institutionally culturally derived norms. Conformance 

to institutional norms brings isomorphism. 

 

Isomorphism is the concept of homogenization (DiMaggio and Powel, 1983). It 

means that the process completely covers from one organization to another 

organization which has the same characteristics of industry in a certain change of 

condition. So, it means that one organization can be influenced by the other superior 

organizations by legitimating within the environment (Pfeffer, 1982).   
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The institutional environment organizations face pressures that influence the structure 

and practices of the organizations (DiMaggio & Powel, 1983). The changes to the 

regulatory landscape globally have primarily affected the accounting profession is the 

institutional environment.  The global regulatory landscape was SOX 2002.  The Act 

of SOX 2002 influence other countries including both developed economies and 

emerging economies countries (Chen et al., 2010; Fearnley et al., 2014; Hecimovic, 

Martinov‐Bennie & Roebuck, 2009). Each country has its own way to anticipate and 

follow the changes. Instead of having an act or a law such as SOX 2002, the adoption 

of international auditing standards is also considered as an example of regulatory 

changes. Each country adopts it with several reasons, and one of the reasons is that 

the output of audit service is deemed comparable and accepted in global market. 

Furthermore, the purpose of adopting changes is the same, which is to obtain 

legitimacy and this theory offers this legitimacy purpose (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). 

The theory suggests that a country makes decisions based on its desire to be accepted 

(has legitimacy) by global organizations in its business environment.  

 

Since the focus of this study is on the pressures from regulatory changes which 

influence the AQ and how the regulators set the foundations of AQ implementation in 

the country, the institutional isomorphism and pillars are relevant to serve as lenses to 

analyze things. Thus, the following section describes the definition of an institution to 

clarify the rational choice of utilizing institutional theory for this study. The section 

also explains the three isomorphism of institutional theory, the three pillars of 

institutional theory and the integration of isomorphism and pillars of the theory.  
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4.3.1. Definition of Term 

Scott (2001) states that in institutional theory, the idea of an institution’s concept and 

definition may have various meanings and usages associated with it. Therefore, in 

order to deliver a clear and in-depth review of institutional theory, it is crucial to a 

provide definition of institution and the selection of terms that are related to the aim 

of this study.  

 

An institution is defined as shared rules, norms, standards and other concession that 

identify group of social agents/ actors and their respective connections or activities 

(Barley & Tolbert, 1997). These institutions are based on connection between 

historically embedded action and process. Thus, it can be said that institutions are 

historical increments of practices and understandings of the past that establish 

conditions in actions. Even though these shared rules, norms and standards are 

identified as the basis of an institution, the institutional concept also incorporates 

behaviors related to these rules. Consequently, according to Scott (2001), these rules 

and norms become institutions if the actions and practices that produce and reproduce 

them are considered, updated, monitored and maintained. In order for the rules and 

norms to be effective, they have to be supported by the authority. The institution 

which possess the power in the form of resources and support must also seek 

authorization and legitimacy for their use. 

 

Institution may also in the form of written or unwritten rules and according to North 

(1990), the term used is formal or informal rules. He stated that the rules of the play in 

society are the designed boundaries that shape people’s interaction. In the context of 

this study, the formal rules are such as contracts (audit engagement letters), Standard 
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Operating Procedures (SOP) and Quality Control Manual (QCM). The informal rules 

on the other hand are generally unwritten, which can be stated verbally and expected 

being adhered through professional behavior e.g. audit liability. Audit liability is a 

condition where an auditor (profession) should behave and conduct the task 

accordingly, however he ignores the fact that he should do although it is not written. 

For example, while conducting audit procedures during audit assignment, though the 

existing audit procedures are not for the purpose of detecting fraud, it should be 

disclosed in the audit findings (Mautz, & Sharaf, 1961; Tuanakotta, 2013) as a part of 

auditor’s liability (Malley, 1993). Thus, it is about values, beliefs and assumptions, 

and it relates to personal desire. This situation also relates to the cultural system and 

internalization of the profession (Powell & DiMaggio, 1991). If a profession breaches 

the norms or beliefs, the punishment or sanction will be given in the form of distrust, 

thus, no more interactions will occur.  

 

In the context of this study, the institution’s term is the AQ as it relates to the 

constraints of the profession’s behavior. They are subjected to rules and regulations, 

and fulfilled written (formal) or unwritten (informal) rules. AQ is endeavored by 

accounting regulators who are formal organizations under the MOF (P2PK) and 

professional body (IAPI) who actions are supported by legal backing such as acts and 

regulations, and facilitated or completed with the adoption of international standards. 

It means that AQ is described as the isomorphism which is considered as lenses to see 

things. Regulators established IAPI and issued CPA act because of coercive pressure, 

adopted international standards because of mimetic pressure, and to be equal with 

other countries particularly in terms of presenting comparable reports, and performing 

the ethic of conducts to provide ethical system for professions is the normative 
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pressure (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). These are evidences that the roles and efforts of 

regulators are being conducted to enhance the AQ as an institution. Additionally, in 

order to strengthen AQ, it needs to adopt the regulative, normative and cultural-

cognitive pillars (Scott, 2008).  Regulative pillars relate to the legal system which is in 

line with coercive pressure, while normative pillar is related to moral and ethical 

systems (has similar perspective with normative pressure). The last pillar is cultural-

cognitive relates to the cultural systems, values and assumptions. Thus, considering 

the aim of the thesis, the uses of the three pressures of isomorphism (DiMaggio & 

Powell, 1983) and the three pillars of Scott (2008) are relevant for this study, as 

explained in the following sub section. 

  

4.3.2. Three Isomorphisms of Institutional Theory 

According to DiMaggio and Powell (1983), there are three mechanisms of 

institutional isomorphic change: a) coercive; b) mimetic; and c) normative. The term 

of coercive may be formal or informal, pressure or influence from other organizations 

which are directly or indirectly impacted due to political, economy, cultural or legal 

environments. Coercive pressure is a consequence of an organization experiencing 

institutionalized pressure from another organization to which they are dependent on, 

to act in a certain manner. In this case, coercive pressure comes from the powerful 

organizations (have the power to reward or punish) in accounting environment and 

these organizations formulate laws, rules, standards and regulations that organizations 

within its environment, need to comply with. In the case of this thesis, coercive 

pressure relates to the pressure from both international organizations such as the 

ADB, World Bank, and IFAC and the government organization in this case the MOF 

agencies which are the policy makers who underpin the accounting professions in 
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Indonesia. The government is an executor of laws and regulations for them. This 

coercive pressure is evident when powerful organizations enforce other organizations 

to act in compliance to certain actions and behavior. 

 

 In other words, the enforcements are related to the compliance to certain actions, 

behavior or activities that are conducted to receive legitimacy or its benefits (Oliver, 

1991; Krell, Matook & Rohde, 2016). Oliver (1991) defines compliance to this 

pressure as a mindful respect to the incorporation of institutional requirements, and 

benefit for who act in compliance with the requirements may include increase 

legitimation.  

 

Another mechanism of isomorphic change is mimetic. This term is used especially for 

the organizations that have ambiguous or uncertain problems or situations. 

Uncertainty is identified as a powerful force which encourage organizations to 

imitate. They tend to imitate or follow certain model from other similar organizations 

within their environment, in which are considered as successful and legitimate 

(DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). This imitation is referred to as mimicry. The 

organization which is being mimicked can be unaware that it is being modelled 

against, and serve merely as a suitable source of appropriate actions for the copying 

organization to utilize. Galaskiewicz and Wasserman (1989) stated that the presence 

of mimetic pressures is also connected to organizations that have close associations 

with those situated in the same organizational field. Furthermore, organizations are 

more likely to mimic other organizations that they are familiar with and trust. Thus, 

the regulators believe that the actions or behavior of similar, close and trusted 

organizations will be easier to be imitated. In addition, mimetic pressure is related to 
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problems which are the result of unclear actions in an ambiguous environment and the 

decisions are based on reasonable solutions and limited resources. Thus, a country is 

likely to perform mimic in a country level and a firm is likely to imitate other 

successful audit firms. In this case, the study addresses challenges and strategies 

applied by regulators as well as audit firms through, for example audit quality 

implementation.  

 

The last isomorphic pressure is normative pressure. It occurs when institutional 

change interpreted under professionalization. This is a very important source of 

isomorphism to keep two aspects of professionalization, especially in public 

accountant’s world.  DiMaggio and Powell (1983) describe professionalism as 

appropriate ways in which to act and behave. This is based on the theory that 

individual within a certain job exhibit norms and cultural behavior which is associated 

with their profession. As a consequence, those included within this profession is likely 

to exhibit homogenous qualities and characteristics, in an effort to appear legitimate.  

For example, as public accountants, formal education and skill of specializations are 

required. Both professional bodies and regulatory bodies, have significant roles in the 

development of their members (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). In this case it is in the 

form of providing Continues Professional Education (CPE) or Continues Professional 

Development (CPD) requirement. The purpose of CPE is to keep the practitioner’s 

level of competency and professionalism is in accordance with the qualification and 

characteristics stated in the requirement. The qualification and characteristics of 

individuals within an organization can bring the organization closer to conformity 

with those organizations within their field. Thus, an organization may perceive as 

legitimate if it employed qualified accountants. Slack and Hinings (1994) sated that 
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the pressures may also have a substantial impact on an organization’s structure and 

operations. Conformity to this form of institutional pressure can result in organization 

changing their structural arrangements to become in line with institutionally 

appropriate expectations. Table 4.1 shows the overview of DiMaggio & Powell’s 

three pressures. 

Table 4.1  

The Overview of DiMaggio & Powell’s Three Pressures 
Description The Origin of the 

pressure 

Organization’s 

Actions to Face 

Pressure 

Legitimacy 

Target/ 

Achievement 

Real Practical 

Actions 

Coercive - Institutions in 

an 

organization’s 

environment 

directly or 

indirectly 

request that the 

organization 

engages in 

certain actions 

and behavior 

- The institutions 

are powerful to 

sanction or 

reward the 

organization’s 

action 

- Estimation of 

institution’s 

ability to 

monitor 

compliance 

- Estimation how 

far compliance 

is desirable 

- Initiation of 

action required 

to achieve 

compliance 

- Estimation of 

sanction and 

reward 

- Complying 

with the 

legal 

aspects 

request 

such as 

law, rule, 

regulation 

and other 

requirement

s 

- Complying 

with the 

internationa

l standards 

- Organizatio

n comply 

with legal 

regulation, 

rules and 

law defined 

by the 

regulators/ 

superior 

institutions 

- Organizatio

n comply 

with 

international 

standards 

adopted by 

regulators 

for national 

standards 

Mimetic - The 

organization 

has sufficient 

information to 

solve the 

problem  

- The 

organization 

saw and 

observe other 

organization 

have 

successfully 

solve similar 

problem 

- Observation 

how successful 

the behavior has 

been 

- Mimicry or 

follow the 

behavior that 

seems suitable 

for them and 

indicate the 

success 

 

- Imitating 

the 

behavior 

that is 

consider 

acceptable 

in the 

organizatio

n 

environmen

t 

- Organizatio

n implement 

for example 

standards, 

quality 

control 

system and 

successfully 

 

Normative Institution in the 

organization define 

and promote norm 

- Estimation 

positive and 

negative 

Identifying and 

complying with 

the norm 

Firm complying 

with norm to be 

professional 
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Description The Origin of the 

pressure 

Organization’s 

Actions to Face 

Pressure 

Legitimacy 

Target/ 

Achievement 

Real Practical 

Actions 

but not directly 

sanction 

compliance or non-

compliance 

compliance 

consequences 

- Estimation the 

cost of 

compliance 

Source: Krell, Matook & Rohde, 2016. The impact of legitimacy-based motives on 

Information System (IS) adoption success. 

 

The table above summarizes the three pressures of isomorphism and its 

implementation and practices. It shows the organization’s actions to face pressures, 

the legitimacy target or achievements and examples of real practices of the three 

pressures. The summary also shows that the pursuit of organizational legitimacy is 

considered as external/ international changes and pressures that influence the actions 

of the practitioners in a country. Therefore, the three mechanisms of institutional 

pressures mentioned above, could assist in analyzing and exploring the process of 

providing and initiating some efforts to enhance its AQ in Indonesia. Beside the three 

pressures, this study also utilizes the three pillars of institutional theory (Scott, 2008) 

which are explained in the following section.  

 

4.3.3. Three Pillars of Institutional Theory 

There are three key institutional pillars identified, which can be the basis of 

legitimacy with broad but different rationales, logic and bases on the compliance and 

order. The three key institutional pillars are: regulative, normative and cultural-

cognitive pillars (Scott, 2008).  The regulative pillar emphasizes rule-setting, 

monitoring and sanctioning activities. The normative pillar focuses on values and 

norms as guides to social and political behavior. From this perspective, institutional 

mechanisms are normative rather than purely coercive, and they operate from the 

logic of appropriateness rather than instrumentality. The cultural-cognitive pillar is 
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the third pillar. It encompasses the frame through which meaning is made and the 

rules that constitute the nature of reality (Scott, 2008).   

According to Scott (2008), the three pillars have been identified as central elements of 

institutions. These three elements may act together to support and contribute to the 

institutional context. Barnet and Carroll (1993) highlighted that the regulative pillar is 

likely to define the changes as an output of external forces and is also driven through 

coercive means. It means that the organizations change because of obligation (they 

have to change). On the other hand, normative pillar focuses on informal structures 

rather than formal one. The organization may change since it becomes the expected 

norm (the ought to change), and the last is cultural- cognitive pillar which emphasizes 

on conceptual beliefs and interpretation. It basically relates to the personal values 

whether they want to change or not, since it also relates to their mental models 

(Barnet & Carroll, 1993; DiMaggio & Powell, 1991; Scott, 2008).   

 

4.3.4. Integrating Isomorphism and Pillars of Institutional Theory 

As discussed above there are three pressures of isomorphism and they link to the three 

pillars of institutions (Scott, 2008). The three pressures are: coercive, which is the 

institutional mechanism within regulative, and normative and mimetic, the 

institutional mechanism within normative and cultural-cognitive pillars, respectively. 

The three pillars of institutional theory are the advanced of the earlier institutional 

theory (Scott, 2008). DiMaggio and Powel (1983) provided the distinctions of the 

three pressures due to the interaction process between the organization and its system 

regarding their three-isomorphism process of social reproduction. Scott (2008) 

provides complementary explanation for social interaction through three different 
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elements: regulative, normative and cultural-cognitive elements. The integration of 

these two perspectives under the same theory will complement each other since both 

examine the influence of the institutional context on organization behavior. These 

elements can work in combination, although they operate through distinctive 

mechanisms and process, nevertheless these elements may also work individually 

(DiMaggio and Powell, 1983; Scott, 2008; Zhang, Boyce and Ahmed, 2014). Table 

4.2.a to 4.2.c shows the integration between three pillars and institutional pressures 

which are applied in Chapter Six, Seven and Eight according to the determined 

phases. As explained in Chapter Five (Research Methodology) this study implements 

three phases of data analysis. 

 

Table 4.2.a below, shows the integration between three isomorphism and three pillars 

of institutional theory which is utilized for the discussions in Chapter Six. This 

chapter presents the first phase of the analysis of this study. Therefore, the aims of 

this chapter are to discuss the rationale for AQ efforts conducted by the regulators by 

incorporating the integration between isomorphism and pillars of the institutional 

theory’s perspective. The table shows the country’s efforts both in ASEAN regional 

level’s movement on AQ as well as the efforts for better AQ in the country level. It 

also shows how these efforts and roles are motivated by pressures and supported by 

the pillars as the foundation to strengthen the AQ. 

 

Table 4.2.b describes the second phase which covers research questions number (5), 

(6) and (7). This table provides the discussion from Chapter Seven on the reaction and 

expectation of practitioners, the challenges faced and the strategies or action plans 

applied by them with regards to the regulatory changes. Institutional theory, however 
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describes that practitioner’s behavior is not the only response that is required for the 

regulatory changes but also product of the institutional context, that is the 

enhancement of AQ. 
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Table 4.2.a  

Three Pillars and Isomorphism of Institutional Theory (Utilized in Chapter 6)    

Institutional 

Pillars and 

Mechanisms 

Description 

 

Source of 

pressure  Key actors 

Basis of compliance, order 

and logic 

Basis of legitimacy 
Elements 

concerned 

Parameter & 

example of 

manifestation 

Coded 

data 

Regulative 

pillar & 

Coercive 

pressure 

International 

institution's 

pressure 

Regulators 

(MOF 

Agencies 

and 

professional 

bodies) 

Coercive compliance with 

international, requirements, 

concession and 

international auditing and 

accounting standards, as 

well as the code of ethics 

Enactment an Act due 

to audit profession; 

Adoption the 

international 

standards (ISAs, 

IFRS, Code of ethics, 

Education Standards) 
Act, law, rules, 

regulations, 

standards 

The issuance of 

an Act No 

5/2011; the 

issuance of PP 

No. 84/2012; the 

issuance of PP 

No. 20/2015 

ASEAN 

Regional 

Level 

 

Government 

mandates, 

rules, law and 

regulation 

Coercive compliance with 

law and regulations 

Re-structuring the 

institutional drivers of 

AQ such as P2PK, 

OJK as well as the 

IAPI 

Country 

level 

 

Audit market 

demand  

Coercive compliance with 

law, regulations and 

national standards 

 

Political 

power 

Coercive compliance with 

law and regulations 

Normative 

pillars & 

Normative 

pressure 

Audit market 

demand and 

other 

stakeholders 

Regulators 

(MOF 

Agencies 

and 

professional 

bodies) 

Social obligation (morally 

governed and expectation 

and reality change in 

auditing culture) 

Binding expectation 

to the practitioners to 

work based on the 

current regulations 

and standards 

the IAPI’s 

Statutes 

Bylaws’ 

Revision and 

regulations 

The socialization 

of the IAPI’s 

Statutes and 

Bylaws’ 

Revision as well 

as IAPI's 

Regulators' 

expectation 
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Institutional 

Pillars and 

Mechanisms 

Description 

 

Source of 

pressure  Key actors 

Basis of compliance, order 

and logic 

Basis of legitimacy 
Elements 

concerned 

Parameter & 

example of 

manifestation 

Coded 

data 

regulations 

Cultural-

Cognitive 

pillar & 

Mimetic 

pressure 

Regulator's 

efforts and 

programs 

Regulators 

(MOF 

Agencies 

and 

professional 

bodies) 

Understanding the 

important role of the 

profession in business 

Be professional and 

keep confidence of 

this profession 

Professional 

behavior 

changes, belief 

Audit report 
Regulators' 

challenge 

Source: The modified table prepared by Jarvenpa (2009) and Zhang, Boyce and Ahmed (2014) 

 

Table 4.2.b  

Three Pillars and Isomorphism of Institutional Theory (Utilized in Chapter 7) 

Institutional 

Pillars and 

Mechanisms 

Description   

Source of 

pressure  Key actors 

Basis of compliance, 

order and logic 

Basis of legitimacy 
Elements 

concerned 

Parameter & 

example of 

manifestation 

Coded data 

Regulative 

pillar & 

Coercive 

mechanism 

Government 

mandates, 

rules, law 

and 

regulation 

Practitioners 

Coercive compliance with 

Act, regulations, rule and 

standards 

Handling sanctions 

Act, law, rules, 

regulations, 

standards 

SPM Manual 

Revision 

The 

practitioners' 

reaction and 

action plans 
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Institutional 

Pillars and 

Mechanisms 

Description   

Source of 

pressure  Key actors 

Basis of compliance, 

order and logic 

Basis of legitimacy 
Elements 

concerned 

Parameter & 

example of 

manifestation 

Coded data 

 

Audit market 

demand  

Normative 

pillars & 

Normative 

mechanism 

Audit market 

demand and 

other 

stakeholders 

Practitioners 

Social obligation (morally 

governed and expectation 

and reality change in 

auditing culture) 

Binding expectation 

to the regulators for 

this profession 

improvements 

Expectation on 

monetary and 

non-monetary 

value added for 

the practitioners 

auditor’s 

employment, 

auditor's 

recruitment, 

CPD Programs, 

audit fee, time 

managements 

The 

practitioner's 

expectation 

Cultural-

Cognitive 

pillar & 

Mimetic 

mechanism 

Regulator's 

efforts and 

programs 

Practitioners 

Understanding the 

important role of the 

profession in business 

Be professional and 

keep confidence of 

this profession 

Professional 

behavior 

changes as well 

as competency 

and skill 

improved 

Audit report 

The 

practitioner’s 

challenge 

Source: The modified table prepared by Jarvenpa (2009) and Zhang, Boyce and Ahmed (2014) 
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Table 4.2.c  

Three Pillars and Isomorphism of Institutional Theory (Utilized in Chapter 8) 

Institutional 

Pillars and 

Mechanisms 

Description   

Source of 

pressure  Key actors 

Basis of compliance, 

order and logic 

Basis of legitimacy 
Elements 

concerned 

Parameter & 

example of 

manifestation 

Coded 

data 

Regulative 

pillar & 

Coercive 

mechanism 

Government 

mandates, 

rules, law 

and 

regulation 

Practitioners 

(audit firm) 

Coercive compliance with 

Act, regulations, rule and 

standards 

Handling sanctions 

Act, law, rules, 

regulations, 

standards 

SPM Manual 

Revision, 

auditing 

framework, audit 

procedures and 

etc 

Quality 

control 

practice 

 

Audit market 

demand  

Normative 

pillars & 

Normative 

mechanism 

Audit market 

demand and 

other 

stakeholders 

Practitioners 

(audit firm) 

Social obligation (morally 

governed and expectation 

and reality change in 

auditing culture) 

Binding expectation 

to the regulators for 

this profession 

improvements 

Expectation on 

monetary and 

non-monetary 

value added for 

the practitioners 

auditor’s 

employment, 

auditor's 

recruitment, 

CPD Programs, 

audit fee, time 

managements 

Ethical 

Practice 

and 

educational 

practice 

Cultural-

Cognitive 

pillar & 

Mimetic 

mechanism 

Regulator's 

efforts and 

programs 

Practitioners 

(audit firm) 

Understanding the 

important role of the 

profession in business 

Be professional and 

keep confidence of 

this profession 

Professional 

behavior 

changes as well 

as competency 

and skill 

improved 

Audit report, 

audit working 

paper 

Ethical 

Practice 

and 

educational 

practice 

Source: The modified table prepared by Jarvenpa (2009) and Zhang, Boyce and Ahmed (2014) 
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Table 4.2.c describes the discussion in Chapter Eight, and which is the last phase of this study. 

The aim of this chapter is to explore how the regulatory changes affect the process of AQ 

implementation and practice in audit firms. The institutional theory suggests that in order to 

obtain legitimacy and to fulfil the regulatory changes, isomorphism pressures and the three 

pillars, should be considered as an input to the organizational change, in this case the audit firms 

and their resources upon which the process of change depend and audit firms will therefore 

enhance with the changes occurring in their context. Therefore, based on the discussion on the 

regulatory changes and their influences on AQ, figure 4.1 below shows the conceptual 

framework which is used in the analysis of the study.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                        

 

 

 

Figure 4.1.  

Conceptual Framework 
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As depicted in figure 4.1 the global changes and environment (in which an organization/ country 

is located) has significant impact on how Indonesia makes decision and initiate certain efforts to 

enhance its AQ. The institutional pressures result in this country conforms to certain actions, 

practices and rules that are evident within the environment, with the subsequent outcome that 

shows the country increasingly appears similar to others (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983).  Thus, the 

first and second phases are motivated by coercive pressure which is also supported by the 

regulative pillar to provide regulatory changes prepared by the regulators. This coercive pressure 

is evident when powerful organizations force other organizations to act in compliance to certain 

actions and behavior to fulfill the requirements and to obtain legitimacy. In the second and third 

phases, from this perspective, institutional pressures and mechanism are rather normative than 

purely coercive, as well as cultural- cognitive since they address issues related to values, norms 

and beliefs (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983; Scott, 2008). These pressures are present as a 

consequence of professionalism within this accounting field. Hence, efforts are being undertaken 

by regulators and accounting profession in Indonesia to strengthen its audit quality and its audit 

profession. 

 

4.4. Summary of The Chapter 

Institutional theory is used to develop a conceptual framework that will help to understand the 

process of the regulatory changes influence AQ in Indonesia. According to DiMaggio and Powel 

(1983), the process by which organizations tend to adopt the same structures and practice is 

known as isomorphism or described as a homogenization of organizations. The definition of 

isomorphism itself is a process that causes one unit in a population to resemble other units in the 

same population that share the same set of environmental condition, which has three mechanisms: 
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coercive, mimetic and normative. Thus, in order to obtain legitimacy, the access to resources and 

risk avoidance, in accordance to the institutional rules and norms should be confirmed. Besides 

utilizing the three isomorphisms of DiMaggio and Powell (1983), this study also applies three 

pillars of institutional theory (Scott, 2008). These pillars provide complementary explanation for 

the interactions through three different elements: regulative, normative and cultural-cognitive 

elements and as the foundation to strengthen its AQ. 
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CHAPTER FIVE 

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 

 

5.1. Introduction 

Research methodology is the undertaken approach to answer research questions. The selection of 

the method for this study is based on the nature of the problem statement as discussed in Chapter 

1. The issue raised in this study requires answers to create an understanding of the phenomena 

about how the regulatory changes influence the AQ developments and implementations in 

Indonesia. This thesis aims to investigate the insight of regulators and practitioners within the 

Indonesian CPA firms on regulatory changes and AQ. As discussed in the previous chapters, this 

study utilizes integrated perspective of isomorphism and pillars of institutional theory. Thus, by 

considering the associated theory and the nature of problems, the qualitative approach with in-

depth case study is conducted to seek information within limited number of people and cases 

(Ahrens ad Dent, 1998; Patton, 2002).  

 

This chapter is structured as follows: the first and second sections provide the introduction, 

research philosophy and research paradigm, followed by research design, validity and reliability. 

Finally, summary of this chapter will be presented. 

 

5.2. Research Philosophy and Research Paradigm 

It is possible to have various theoretical concept and methodological tools in order to justify the 

selected techniques and methods of research. This is supported by Crotty (1998) who stated, 

“Justification of our choice and particular use of methodology and methods are something that 
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reaches into the assumption about reality that we bring to our work”. Thus, this study identifies 

four major assumptions: ontology, epistemology, axiology and methodology. According to 

Ruddock (2000), these assumptions are the basis of a research paradigm. The explanation of 

these four assumptions is presented in section 5.2.1 to 5.2.4 below.  

 

The word “Paradigm” can be defined as the process of understanding and explaining a 

phenomenon which can be gained from examining a social phenomenon (Jaokar, Lewis, & 

Thornhill, 2009). According to Cavana, Delahaye & Sekaran (2001), there are three categories of 

paradigm: positivist, interpretivist and criticalist. Positivist usually uses quantitative method of 

reasoning, while interpretivist uses qualitative method which depends on subjective experience 

and focus on the local and the micro level (Cavana et al., 2001), and criticalist uses the mix of 

both methods. The critical paradigm focuses on the ownership of knowledge and the associated 

social, economic and political implications (Smith, 2015). Creswell (2013) stated that positivist 

apply deductive reasoning in identifying theories that may be used to connect it to a phenomena 

or activity. Deductive reasoning is a logical process, sometimes referred to as top-down logic. 

Interpretive, on the other hand is the opposite of how the positivists approach functions.  This 

paradigm emphasizes on individuals’ perception where the physics and social reality is 

(uniquely) different (Cavana et al., 2001). Interpretive paradigm is also reffered as the 

constructive philosophy since it develops a theory of a certain meaning (Creswell, 2013). This 

inductive approach interprets the meaning of activities or phenomenon, and its nature is very 

subjective because it focuses on short term and local event, and does not emphasize on 

generalizing the results. Therefore, the interpretive paradigm with inductive approach is selected 
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as the research paradigm for this study. The information below shows the descriptions and 

characteristics of interpretive paradigm. 

Table 5.1  

Characteristics of Interpretive Approach 

Descriptions Interpretive (Qualitative) Characteristics 

Assumptions Inter subjective world which science can represent with concepts; 

social construction of reality 

Aim To uncover the socially constructed meaning of reality as 

understood by an individual or group 

Stance of researcher Researcher is part of the study to achieve the full understanding 

of the study. 

Values Values included and made explicit 

Types of reasoning inductive 

Research plan Flexible, and follows the information provided by the research 

subject 

Research methods and 

type(s) of analysis 

Ethnography; participant observation; interview; focus group; 

conversational analysis; case studies.  

Goodness or quality of 

criteria 

Trustworthiness and authenticity 

Source: Adapted from Cavana et al. (2001, pp10-11) 

Based on the figures illustrated in table 5.1, the research paradigm for this study is interpretive. 

Thus, this constructed the meaning of reality as experienced and understood by the research 

participants, i.e. the accounting regulators and public accountants (practitioners). This approach 

is chosen because of its suitability in exploring how individuals perceive something in any 

situation they are facing and how personal meanings are made. Furthermore, the uses of the 

method seems suitable to answer the research questions of “exploring how the regulatory 

changes influence the AQ developments and implementations in Indonesia based on the 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

105 

 

regulators as well as the practitioners’ experiences and the insight of the audit firm” subjectively 

according to their assumptions and values. Thus, all the assumptions of qualitative approach 

including ontological, epistemological, axiological, and methodological assumptions will be 

maintained. In order to collect and analyze the interview data, observation and review of 

documents specific approaches need to be adopted, however, it depends on the level of 

understanding of the ontological, epistemological, and axiological nature of the study (Cresswell 

2013; Ruddock, 2000) and they are explained in the following sections. 

5.2.1 Ontological Position  

The theory of knowledge is referred to the ontology which helps researchers to understand more 

on the nature of reality and its special characteristics (Creswell, 2013). This study discusses AQ 

and regulatory changes. AQ is dynamic; it is placed and affected by its context. AQ may be 

affected by the economy and business (audit market issue), legal, political, cultural, as well as 

the social issues. Moreover, this study is attributed to regulatory changes which influence AQ’s 

improvement and implementation. Therefore, to understand regulatory changes and its influence 

on AQ, there is a need to identify the main actors and their behaviors as well as the interaction 

with the environment (Chua, 1986). Thus, for this study, AQ is a referred to the factual reality 

needed by this country (or an organization) to gain legitimacy as well as professional trust from 

its environment (whether in global, regional and local). The role of the actors is real and rational, 

since they strive for efforts in the form of providing regulatory changes such as issuing the CPA 

Act and regulation, restructuring and establishing accounting regulators, adopting the 

international standards and other regulatory efforts, taking into account their resources 
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availability. Thus, the following section discusses how to obtain relevant information regarding 

this AQ phenomena.  

    

5.2.2 Epistemological Position 

The epistemology of this study is that how to obtain relevant information through selecting 

appropriate participants and available data or information to understand opinions, views, and 

experiences, in order to gain knowledge from them. This study examines actors, the regulators 

and practitioners. Firstly, this examines how the regulators conducts their roles and important 

efforts to enhance AQ, and secondly, it examines how the practitioners show the reactions, 

expectations, challenges and action plans due to the current changes. In other words how the 

participants’ behavior copes and adapts to the regulatory changes. This study also explores the 

relevant information about how different types of audit firms implement AQ based on their 

resources and characteristics. The direct interaction with the key participants (actors) through 

face-to-face interviews and on-site observations at regulators’ office and audit firms, allow this 

study to obtain the real description for this context. The description of participants’ profile shows 

that this study selects eligible actors who have relevant experience to share their perspectives 

about the issue and they also have major role in providing regulatory efforts and AQ 

enhancement. Thus, besides interview, there are also other sources of data and information which 

is explained on the detailed research design (Creswell, 2013). The next section is describing the 

axiological position. 
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5.2.3 Axiological Position 

The interaction between the researcher and participants is crucial for a qualitative study, because 

the type and depth of questions, asked are influenced by the view and the acknowledgment of the 

researcher on the issue or phenomena of the study. In this case, the researcher is one of the 

instruments for data collection and analysis. In addition, the experiences, values and perspective 

of the participants also contribute to the data collection and analysis. Therefore, the position of 

the axiology assumption depends on a personal and subjective value by the researcher or 

participants (Creswell, 2013). Besides, as mentioned in the interviewee profile, the selected 

participants of this study are “the key persons and AQ actors”. Moreover, four of them were 

involved in preparing the draft of the CPA Act at that time and they were also members of the 

standard setters. As for the researcher, she was one of a practitioner in auditing field. She is also 

a member of IAPI and IAI. As a conclusion, the axiological assumption is placed according to 

both sides: the participants and the researcher.         

 

5.2.4 Methodological Position 

To be consistent with the interpretivist paradigm used, this study implements qualitative method 

which attempts to capture the beliefs and perceptions of actors that are located within a particular 

context and setting. Data is obtained from interview, observation and from secondary data such 

as reports, legal documents (Acts, rules and regulations) materials from official website of the 

regulators as well as audit firms, and other relevant written information. To make sense of the 

data, institutional theory is utilized to analyze data together with the conceptual framework 

prepared based on the three phases of analysis. The three phases are explained on the following 

research design.  
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5.3. Research Design 

Research design is an approach to achieve the purpose of a research. This approach involves 

problem identification, research questions, data collection, analysis, interpretation and report 

writing (Creswell, Hanson, Plano & Morales, 2007). Research design also encompasses the 

setting or location, the extent to which it is manipulated and controlled by the researcher and the 

level at which data will be analyzed (Sekaran, 2003).  

 

This study implements three phases of data collections and analysis. The three phases are 

illustrated separately on the following sections in which each phase consists of institutional 

analysis for research questions, data collection and sources, profile of the interviewees, and the 

data analysis. The description of research design for this study is depicted in the following 

figure.  
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Figure 5.1.  

Three Phases of the Research Approach 
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5.3.1. Phase One: Regulators as Institutional Agents 

The first phase covers research questions (1), (2), (3) and (4), explaining the role and efforts of 

the regulators in enhancing AQ, relevant developments and changes concerning AQ and the 

regulators’ expectation as well as the challenges faced regarding the regulatory changes in 

enhancing AQ in Indonesia. As mentioned above, there are four subsections namely institutional 

analysis for research questions, data collection and sources, profile of the interviewees, and the 

data analysis. They are designed based on the aim of this section accordingly. 

5.3.1.1. Institutional Analysis for Research Question (1), (2), (3) and (4) 

As discussed earlier in Chapter Four, utilizing institutional theory seeks to answer research 

question (1) to (4). The aim is to discuss the rationale for AQ efforts conducted by the regulators 

in order to enhance AQ in Indonesia. The questions covered in this phase are: 1) how does the 

regulator play its role in enhancing AQ? 2) what are the recent efforts, developments or changes 

concerning AQ? 3) what does the regulator expect from these developments on AQ? 4) what are 

the regulator’s challenges regarding the regulatory changes in order to enhance the AQ? 

 

The Institutional theory suggests that a country makes decisions based on its desire to be 

accepted (has legitimacy) by global institutions in its business environment. The integration 

between isomorphism and pillars of the institutional theory’s perspective (DiMaggio & Powell, 

1983; Scott, 2008), shows how these efforts and roles are motivated by global pressures and 

strengthen the AQ, thus supported by the pillars as the foundation. This phase also shows the 

country’s efforts through the movement on AQ as well as struggling to promote better AQ in the 

country. Thus, data gathering is discussed on the next subsection. 
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5.3.1.2. Data Collection and Sources 

In phase one, two main methods of data collection are conducted namely: interview and 

documents review. In this phase, reviews are conducted on the available Indonesian legal 

documents and other archival documents such as laws, regulations, rules, and other relevant 

reports. According to Ahrens and Chapman (2006), researchers discuss about their method of 

analysis while discussing data collection and sources. Thus, the method of analysis for legal 

documents for example, is in-depth reading and reflection with other information used in this 

study, as it helps the researcher understands the concept and arguments that the text contains. In 

addition, another method applied in this study are content analysis technique and comparative 

analysis technique which is used for the purpose of data classification. Content analysis 

technique is useful to help researchers to discover and define the focus of individuals, groups, 

organizations and society (Weber, 1990). While the comparative analysis is used to compare two 

similar things that have crucial differences like two texts, two historical figures, and two 

scientific processes and so on (Walk, 1998). Table 5.2 below lists the sources and methods 

analysis used in this phase. 

Table 5.2 

Data sources and analysis method 

No Data sources Analysis method 

1 Acts, regulations, rules In-depth reading; comparative analysis 

2 

Governments’, professional bodies’ 

website and other regulator’s 

websites Content analysis 

3 

Official report of regulators (P2PK 

& IAPI) In-depth reading; content analysis 

4 International institutions’ report Reflection 

5 International institutions’ website Reflection; content analysis 

6 Press release Content analysis; reflection 

7 Newspapers, professional magazine Reflection 
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The documents and reports obtained from the official website of the regulators include the 

Indonesian Institute of Public Accountants (IAPI), Indonesia’s Finance Profession Supervisory 

Centre under the Minister of Finance Department of the Indonesia Republic (P2PK), and the 

Indonesian Financial Service Authority (OJK).  

 

Another data source is in-depth and open-ended interview. According to Taylor et al. (2015) in-

depth interviewing is the main source of a qualitative research. In this phase in-depth interview 

data is obtained and as the main data gathering, since it is the most trustful way of collecting 

information. This process is used to obtain spontaneous response in real expressed words based 

on the participants’ experience. While performing an interview, the researcher uses “target 

issues” which is not a set of detailed questions, but rather a “pre-defined list of issues” as a 

guidance to remind the researcher not to leave the important information that should be obtained 

during the interview. The target issues are in Appendix A.  

 

Open-ended interview also creates an avenue for the researchers and interviewees to have 

informal discussion and to voice out (opinions/ideas) on the subject matter. This is consistent 

with Taylor, Bogdan & DeVault (2015) who stated that the best way to get an in-depth interview 

is by having unstructured questions in a face-to-face conversation between the researcher and the 

participants. According to Taylor et al (2015) in order to conduct a successful interview, there 

are several strategies that can be considered. First strategy is to have a sample development 

which is the way or method on how to perform interviews.  Though researchers suggest that 

face-to face interview is the best method, in this study the researcher performed not only face-to- 

face interviews but also interviews via telephone and texting messages using WhatsApp 
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messenger application. These methods were conducted by request from the participants as some 

of the participants preferred to conduct the interviews straight away upon the researcher’s 

approach. The detail information about the interviews and the method of interview used, is in 

Appendix C: list of interviews and characteristics of participants.  

 

The second strategy for interview is to use two steps for conducting interviews, first is the 

preliminary interview and second is the in-depth interview. Each interview has its own objective 

as stated in the previous paragraphs regarding in-depth interview. The preliminary interview is 

performed to get a glimpse of opinions from the selected participants about the current 

phenomenon regarding regulatory changes and AQ.  This helps to convince the researcher 

whether the participants are concerned and that they follow the updated information or news 

regarding regulatory changes and AQ, and further to know the initial impression and their 

willingness to be participants for the next in-depth interview (Taylor et al, 2015). The place for 

the interviews varied and the time was flexible, where some interviews were held at official 

office, in a CPD program, at home, and other convenient places. Nevertheless, the researcher’s 

concern was the comfortability and the willingness of the participants in conducting the 

interviews.    

 

The total participants for this phase are 29, who comprise of regulators (IAPI, IAI, P2PK, and 

KPAP) and practitioners with the total number of 20 interviewees. The regulators were chosen 

based on their job position, job descriptions and experiences which involve directly supervising 

practitioners. The practitioners on the other hand were selected for this phase based on their 

experience where these practitioners have experience as the board member of IAPI and IAI, as 
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the accounting professional body’s representative of Indonesia in Economic ASEAN Community 

(EAC), and have audit practice experience for more than 10 years. Interview session begins with 

the researcher providing information about the purpose of the study in order to make the 

participants understand about the (subjects) issues that will be asked. For example, the session 

starts with a brief background and problem statement of the study. All data gathered during the 

session were digitally recorded and written notes were also taken. Interviews lasted between 20 

minutes to almost two hours.   

 

The last strategy is the tool for the interview. Researcher used an audio tape recorder and the 

interview data were transcribed. The transcriptions were saved in soft copy, and they were also 

being used during interviews in order to help the researcher continuously triggers questions or 

crucial thought that emerged. Other than using a recorder, a camera is also being used to capture 

the interview setting and descriptions. 

 

5.3.1.3. Profile of the Participants  

As mentioned above the selection of the participants must meet the criteria for the inclusion of 

this study, especially for the practitioners, since this phase focuses on regulatory changes and 

efforts. Besides as practitioners, several participants are also considered as member of 

professional bodies’ board. In addition, there is also a practitioner who is a representative of 

Indonesia in EAC for 4 (four years) since 2013 until now.  

 

One of strategies to be applied in this study is to select an appropriate or eligible participant who 

is identified from the recommendation of other key participants, and understand his (her) 
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perspective about the issue. According to Patton (2002) and Suri (2011) a researcher needs to 

understand the participants’ perspectives by having purposeful snowball or typical case sampling 

as an effective technique where it allows the researcher to intentionally select a group of people 

who have the best information about the problem under investigation. For example, when the 

researcher visited the office of P2PK in Jakarta to see RG01 (Kepala Bidang Perijinan dan 

Pembinaan Akuntan- the Chief of License and Compliance of Accountants’ Division), he 

recommended and accompanied the researcher to meet RG02 (Kepala Bidang Inspeksi dan 

Pemeriksaan Akuntan- The Chief of Inspection and Audit for Accountants’ Devision), after 

conducting an interview with him. He suggested that RG02 could add complete explanation, 

particularly related to the quality inspection or review for accountants. He added that inspection 

is one of a significant factor to improve AQ.  Thus, this study ensures that all the participants 

meet the requirements. Table 5.3.a-c presents a summary of the interviews done and profile of 

the interviewees.     

Table 5.3.a  

Interviewees: MOF Agencies 

No Code 
Participants’ 

Organizations 
Gender 

Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

1 RG01 MOF Agency Male >15 years Chief (of Division in MOF Agency) 

2 RG02 MOF Agency Male >20 years Chief (of Division in MOF Agency)  

3 RG03 MOF Agency Male 

10> x <15 

years Chief (of Division in MOF Agency)  

4 RG04 MOF Agency Male > 10 years 

Member of Committee Public 

Accountant’s Profession 
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Table 5.3.b  

Interviewees: Professional Bodies 

No Code 
Participants’ 

Organizations 
Gender 

Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

1 PB01 

Professional 

Body Female >25 years Head (of professional body) 

2 PB02 

Professional 

Body Male >25 years 

 Board Member of Management in 

Professional body (Headquarter) 

3 PB03 

Professional 

Body Male >20 years 

Head (of Professional Body 

Headquarter) 

4 PB04 

Professional 

Body Female > 35 years 

The member of Professional Body 

Supervisory 

 

 

Table 5.3.c  

Interviewees: Practitioners 

No Code 
Participants’ 

Organizations 
Gender 

Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

1 AP01 Global firm Male > 10 years Audit Manager 

2 AP02 Global firm Male >20 years Partner 

3 AP03 Local firm Male >15 years Partner 

4 AP04 Local Firm  Male >25 years 

Partner; also, board of Professional 

body 

5 AP05 Big 4  Male > 35 years 

Partner; also, board of Professional 

body & the representative of 

Indonesia in EAC for 4 years ended 

in 2016 

6 AP06 Big 4 Female >25 years Partner 

7 AP07 Global firm Female >15 years 

Quality Assurance/ Assurance 

Advisor (foreigner) 

8 AP08 Local Firm Male > 35 years 

Partner (government auditor before 

being a partner in audit firm) 

9 AP09 Local Firm Male > 10 years Tax & audit Supervisor 

10 AP11 Local Firm Male >20 years 

The last time in 2015, he was audit 

manager, and now he is an 

academician 

11 AP12 Local Firm Male >15 years Tax & audit manager 
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5.3.1.4. Data Analysis’ Procedure  

The next step after data collection is to prepare the data to be analyzed. According to Creswell 

(2009) the process of data analysis starts with the raw data being obtained from documents, 

pictures, tape recording transcripts and notes to interpret the meaning of themes or descriptions 

using bottom to top (inductive) approach. The process follows the general procedures of data 

analysis in a qualitative study. Firstly, all raw data and materials are obtained from interviews, 

observations, and documents reviews. This involve scanning for materials, noting essential 

information and grouping the data based on the types of information resource. The second 

procedure is reading through all the data for the researcher to capture the general ideas conveyed 

by the participants and this reflects the meaning of the data which are considered the credible 

data (Creswell, 2009). The third step involves the grouping the data, coding them into categories 

based on the integration of three isomorphism and pillars and summarizing the data in which all 

data will be segmented.  The answers or responses from the participants are set to the appropriate 

indexing categories in the form of subtitles according to themes that emerged with regards to the 

research’s questions.  The output of coding and indexing categories is listed in the table 4.2.a in 

Chapter Four. The transcripts from the interviews are arranged as elements in a table, which 

represent group of indexing categories and group of participants. The process of indexing 

(grouping) was completed using the combination of computerized and manual processes. Finally, 

the last step is about interrelation, connection and construction of the interpretation and the 

understanding by participants, the interpretations of the researcher and the categories into an 

analysis (Wilson, & Sapsford, 1996) using table or diagram as an analytical tool to explore 

regulatory changes and AQ in Indonesia. In the last step all perspectives, explanations and 

literature are connected and summarized into an overall case discussion. 
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Data analysis was conducted based on the conceptual framework prepared (Ahrens and Chapman, 

2006), combined with in-depth reading, content analysis and reflections as explained in section 

5.3.1.2. It also addressed on the target issues of this phase including the role and efforts of the 

regulators, relevant developments and changes concerning AQ and also about the regulators’ 

expectation as well as the challenges faced regarding the regulatory changes in enhancing AQ in 

Indonesia. The final analysis as well as the finding from the analysis on this phase are presented 

in Chapter 6. Figure 6.1: Code of Hierarchy. 

 

5.3.2. Phase Two: The Issues from Practitioner’s Perspectives 

Phase two focuses on the perceptions and the reactions of practitioners about the regulatory 

changes. This phase also explores the expectations and challenges faced by practitioners in 

relation to how the audit firms cope, adapt, and adopt the changes occurred due to the AQ’s 

enhancement. The following paragraphs explain phase two in detail.  

5.3.2.1. Institutional Analysis for Research questions (5), (6) and (7) 

As noted above, the second phase explains the reactions, perceptions, expectations, and 

challenges faced by the practitioners in relation to the way how they cope and adapt to the 

changes due to AQ enhancement.  Every practitioner has different perception and reaction in 

interpreting a certain event or phenomenon. The interpretation depends on their experiences and 

knowledge (Creswell, 2013). The ways they respond to regulatory changes are also different 

depending on the firm’s resources (Hecimovic et al., 2011).  
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This phase however, is used to complement the analysis for the first phase where it emphasizes 

on the perspective of the practitioners. This phase considers the integration between 

isomorphism and pillars of the institutional theory’s perspective (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983; 

Scott, 2008) as a lens for the analysis. The second phase shows how the practitioners give 

different responses to the regulatory changes. However, some also share similar opinions which 

relates to the compliance to regulator’s mandate, that the practitioners are required to comply 

(DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). This regulators’ mandate was issued as a result from the global 

pressures, thus it sets specific acts, rules, regulations and standards that practitioners have to 

implement and act in accordance to.  This source of act, rules, regulations and standards 

regularizes and constrains practitioner’s behavior. When analyzing them in this matter, the 

regulative pillars appear dominant. The mechanism of a change is based on coercion (DiMaggio 

& Powell, 1983), and it also considers the practitioner’s system, sources and capacity (Scott, 

2008). Thus, the practitioners may prepare, wait or simply imitate other practitioners’ actions due 

to the changes, which they considered appropriate to the resources they have. This is the evidence 

of mimetic pressure (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). Subsequently, the data are analyzed from the 

normative perspective which is on norms and values. The analysis is operated from the logic of 

appropriateness, in which the basis of legitimacy is moral and not just legal (Scott, 2008). And 

then, the last pillar is cultural-cognitive view of legitimacy which emphasizes on the background 

or cultural alignment. Therefore, the following section is the description of the data collections 

and sources obtained to be analyzed in this second phase. 
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5.3.2.2. Data Collection and Sources 

The same technique for data collection and sources which was conducted in phase one were 

conducted in this phase which is by performing interviews and gathering secondary data such as 

official reports of the regulators, professional magazines, newspapers, official news and 

announcement from regulators’ website and etc. The same methods were also used for the 

analysis of secondary data, which focuses on in-depth reading, content analysis as well as 

comparative analysis (Ahrens and Chapman, 2006; Weber, 1990; Walk, 1998) as shown in Table 

5.2.   

In this phase, in-depth interview was also conducted. Taylor et al. (2015) said that the phrase in-

depth interviewing always refers to qualitative research method. This interview is very flexible 

and dynamic, conducted in a direct meeting (face to face) to obtain the understanding of 

participants’ views, experience, conditions, and situation of their own ways, and the most 

important thing is that they are understand and focus on the interest of the study. The researcher 

does not only rely on verbal explanation of the participants but also concerns on the body 

gesture, acts, and feeling while the interview is performed. For this phase, the total interviewees 

were twenty-two participants who consist of four (4) participants from the professional bodies, 

fourteen (14) practitioners and four (4) participants from the MOF agencies. The interview 

conducted was not based on a schedule or interview protocol but rather a list of general area to 

be covered in the interview session with each participant.  Thus, the section that follows presents 

the detail of the participants. 
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5.3.2.3. Profile of the Participants  

The profile of the participants for regulators are the same number and profile as stated in Table 

5.3.a and Table 5.3.b. The profile of practitioners is shows in Table 5.4. 

Table 5.4  

Participants: Practitioners 

No Code 
Participants’ 

Organizations 
Gender 

Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

1 AP01 Global firm Male > 10 years Audit Manager 

2 AP02 Global firm Male >20 years Partner 

3 AP03 Local firm Male >15 years Partner 

4 AP04 Local Firm  Male >25 years 

Partner; also, board of Professional 

body 

5 AP05 Big 4  Male > 35 years 

Partner; also, board of Professional 

body & the representative of 

Indonesia in EAC for 4 years ended 

in 2016 

6 AP06 Big 4 Female >25 years Partner 

7 AP07 Global firm Female >15 years 

Quality Assurance/ Assurance 

Advisor (foreigner) 

8 AP08 Local Firm Male > 35 years 

Partner (government auditor before 

being a partner in audit firm) 

9 AP09 Local Firm Male > 10 years Tax & audit Supervisor 

10 AP10 Local Firm Male 

>3 x < 5 

years Senior Auditor 

11 AP11 Local Firm Male >20 years 

The last time in 2015, he was audit 

manager 

12 AP12 Local Firm Male >15 years Tax & audit manager 

13 AF104 Global firm Male >5 years Audit Supervisor 

14 AF201 Local firm Male 2 years Senior Auditor 

 

The participants who are practitioners in this phase vary in terms of experiences as well as the 

positions in audit firms. There are six global audit firms’ practitioners and eight local audit firms’ 

practitioners. This phase uses unstructured interview in which the participants can give or 

express their own words based on their best views and knowledge (Taylor et al., 2015). Based on 

the table above most practitioners have more than 10 years of experience, only three participants 
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have between 2- 5 years of experience. Overall, this means that the participants have good 

knowledge and information about the issue of the study (Creswell, 2009). 

5.3.2.4. Data Analysis’ Procedures 

In the second phase, qualitative data analysis is also conducted.  Most importantly, qualitative 

data analysis approach involves the understanding of how to be logic and making sense out of 

the data, from the interaction or interplay between the researcher and the data (Creswell, 2009) 

as shown in Chapter 7, figure 7.1 Code of Hierarchy. Hence, the next discussion is on the third 

phase of this study which focuses on the implementation of AQ in audit firms. 

5.3.3. Phase Three: AQ Implementation: The Comparative Case Studies 

The third phase explains the ways to answer and analyze the last research question, which is 

about the real strategies applied by audit firms. This phase also explores the firms’ process of 

AQ’s implementation and practice due to the regulatory changes. Hence, the target issue of this 

phase is: how the regulatory changes affect the process of AQ’s implementation and practice in 

audit firms. Case study is used to explain in detail the unit analysis used (Ahrens and Dent, 1998; 

Patton, 2002; Yin 2013). The case studies were conducted in two audit firms, which represent 

both global and local audit firms. The following sections provide the detail explanation on phase 

three. 

5.3.3.1. Institutional Analysis for Research Question (8) 

This phase utilizes isomorphism and the pillars of institutional theory as a lens analysis of the 

third phase as well. The different type of firms within each own characteristics and issues, 

engage similar behaviors to achieve legitimacy (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983; Scott, 2008). Due to 
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the regulatory changes, the audit firm’s behavior is prompted and influenced. Audit firms try to 

reduce the “gap” between them by becoming more similar to each other in term of implementing 

act, regulation, standards and ethic code properly over time and this is conducted by mimicking 

the actions of other audit firms as mimicking is the easiest way and least costly. Hence, in order 

to support these processes, the audit firms build professional firms’ networks among the 

practitioners with a common culture and share similar values; observe and imitate the behavior 

or other audit firms in the environment that seems suitable and acceptable for them; consult with 

the regulators regarding the practical challenges within the firm and join in any workshop to 

obtain new knowledge or refresh information to be implemented within the firms (DiMaggio & 

Powel, 1983).  

 

5.3.3.2. Data Collection and Sources 

Creswell, Hanson, and Plano (2007) said that in order to explore (a case) the cases in detail, the 

researcher may conduct data collection by obtaining them from multiple sources.  Access to 

these sources depends on the methods decided by the researcher. The method or technique that 

the researcher used to gather information from the multi sources include un-structured (face to 

face) in-depth interview with the participants who are the practitioners and auditors (staffs) from 

the global audit firms and the local audit firms.  In this case study phase, the same approaches of 

interview are conducted, namely: preliminary interview and in-depth interview (Taylor et al, 

2015). As mentioned above the researcher should create a comfortable situation while 

performing an interview. Therefore, the participants are able to talk freely while giving 

information, view, perspective based on the issue’s discussed, and they feel relaxed with the 
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existence of the researcher. The next method for gathering data and information in this case 

study is observation (Creswell, 2013; Denzin & Lincoln, 2003; 2011). 

 

Observations is conducted in case studies to allow researcher to see many different aspects, 

examine them in relation to each other, and see the processes in their environment (Gummerson, 

1998). In this study, the researcher examines different units of analysis, for example the open-

ended interviews were conducted with key participants in the audit firms who interact with the 

regulatory changes such as CPA act and auditing standards, since one of the factors influence 

AQ is auditing standards (Beattie et al., 2010). According to Creswell (2013) and Yin (2011), the 

unit analysis of this phase is the participants who are auditors, audit firms and professional 

bodies. Thus, the selected of the participants should be appropriate to the aim of this study 

(Creswell, 2013).  

 

The researcher visited two different audit firms in two different cities, Jakarta and Surabaya, 

because more than 85% accountants in Indonesia are located in these two big cities28). The 

observation was performed while the interviews were conducted. However, the most important 

thing was that the observer should be able to “break the ice” first, especially in the first day of 

the session, and learn the way to be accepted and put an appropriate action in the setting. The 

goal of the observation is trying to record all the occurrences during the interviews and compare 

them to what was told in the interview (Taylor et al., 2015).  

 

                                                             
28 Jakarta is the capital city of Indonesia and Surabaya is the second biggest city in Indonesia after Jakarta. Both are 

the center of business offices and industry. 
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Further, the document reviews were conducted in this study on the auditing standards, quality 

control system manual of each audit firm, audit working papers, annual or official reports of the 

audit firms, official letters from regulators and regulation. Other documents include newspapers 

clippings, profession’s news, and professional magazine. The researcher had good access in 

obtaining data from these two audit firms. Therefore, the cycle of data collection is shown on 

figure. 5.2, while the table of analysis method is presented in Table 5.6. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure.5.2.  

Cycle of Collecting Data 

Source: Cycle of collecting data prepared by researcher, 2016 

 
In general, this study put emphasis on triangulation for data collection (interview, documents’ 

review, and observation). Triangulation in research is a combination of two or more data sources 

or methods employed in a study. Triangulation of multiple sources of data strengthen the 

researcher’s assertions and conclusions. Researcher provides documentation for every claim or 

interpretation from at least two sources to ensure the data support the researcher’s analysis and 

interpretation of findings. As mentioned above, instead of conducting interview and document 
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review, this study also applys an observation method. The observations were performed while 

the interviews were conducted. The goal of this observation is to record all the occurrences/ 

events during the interviews and compare it to what was being told in the interview. The focus of 

observation more on the third phase of data collection process (Creswell et al., 2007; Denzim & 

Lincoln, 2003; Yin, 2013). 

 

The data collection is obtained from the global to specific and detail information.  Based on 

figure 5.3 above, the data collection process is conducted in line with the three phases of research 

approach. The purpose of this process is to ensure the information obtained from the audit firms 

is valid due to the regulators’ data. The main data is collected from audit firms. This technique is 

usually called as “member checking” (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Member checking is a method 

when data, conclusion or interpretation is tested with member of group from whom the data were 

originally obtained. This method is conducted typically for establishing credibility and validity. 

The detail about validity and credibility is explained in separate sections that follow. Data 

collection sources are summarized in the table 5.5: 

Table.5.5.  

Data Collection Sources 

Data Sources Interview Observation Documentation 

Auditor (Senior or 

Junior) 
  Audit working papers (AWP) 

Audit manager   AWP, official letters, SPM (manual), 

audit report of a client 

Quality Assurance (if 

any) 
  SPM, audit report of a client 

Partner  - - 

Other Manager or staff  - Audit firms profile, official report of 

audit firms, official letters, and other 

official archival or records 
Source: Table of data collection sources is prepared by researcher, 2016 
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Data collection sources were obtained from different people in audit firms due to each person’s 

capacity and responsibility. However, in this study, all the obtained data have been approved by 

the partners.  

Table.5.6.  

Data Collection Sources and method of analysis 

No Data sources Analysis method 

1 Acts, regulations, rules In-depth reading; comparative analysis 

2 Audit firms’ website Content analysis 

3 

Annual or official report of the audit 

firms In-depth reading; content analysis 

4 Audit report of clients In-depth reading; content analysis 

5 SPM Manual Reflection; content analysis 

6 Audit working papers 

In-depth reading; Content analysis; 

reflection 

7 Official letters, records and archival Content analysis; reflection 

 

5.3.3.3. Two-Case Study Research 

A case study has been defined as a method which can help to get the answers for particular 

research questions and helps to find the evidences which are available in the settings. There are 

two types of case study, single-case study and multi-case study (Ahrens and Dent, 1998; 

Gillham, 2000). This study is two-case study design; thus, it belongs to the multi-case design. 

The multi-case design is also referred to collective case study. Multi-case or collective case 

means that the researcher can choose more than one program from different settings or only one 

setting, or one issue that raise from multi-case studies (Creswell et al., 2007).   

 

In this study the researcher selects one issue with multi-case study since the researcher wants to 

express the different viewpoints from two different types of audit firms. The objectives of this 
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study are to explain how the regulatory changes affect the process of AQ implementation and 

practices within their firms, how every audit firm in regardless of size overcomes or copes with 

the changes in order to maintain AQ, and the process of each firm to comply with those changes.  

Yin (2003) mentioned in his study that multiple-case design uses a tool of replication in order to 

replicate the steps and procedures for each case. Here is the figure of the multi-case design: 

 

Figure.5.3.  

Two-Case Study Design 

Adopted from Yin, R (2013) 

 

As shown in figure 5.3., this study needs multiple-units of analysis. According to Yin (2013), 

consideration and inclusion of multiple units of analysis are required by a case study research. 

Thus, in order to address the research questions in the case study, a richer data should be 

provided. The multiple units of analysis collected for this study are from the global audit firm, 

local audit firm, CPA regulations, auditing standards, ethical codes, audit quality and 

unstructured interviews with key persons. 
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5.3.3.4. Profile of Participants 

The total interviewees in this phase are thirteen (13) participants, which consist of nine (9) 

participants from “GAF” global audit firm and 4 (four) participants from “LAF” local audit firm. 

Although both audit firms are from different types of audit firm, the number of the audit staffs 

for both firms are almost the same. It is one of the criteria of selecting the case study site. The 

criteria for selecting the case study site is: 1) the audit firm has minimum two partners, 2) the 

audit firm is registered under the P2PK as well as the OJK auditors, 3) the audit firm has been 

reviewed or inspected by the regulators at least five years ago, 4)   the audit firm is willing to be 

the subject of the case study.  

 

The data gathering was conducted in the period of 8 months (not continuously) which involves 

the preliminary interview, in-depth interview, and the fieldwork. The interview was conducted 

based on appointments, while the fieldwork was conducted for 2 weeks in the “GAF” global 

audit firm and for 6 days (including Saturday) in the “LAF” local audit firm.   The Table 5.7.a-b 

shows the profile of the participants. 
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Table 5.7.a  

The Profile of the Interviewees: The “GAF” Global Audit Firm  

No Code Participants’ 

Organizations 
Gender 

Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants Location 

1 AP01 Global firm Male > 10 years Position: Audit Manager Jakarta 

     

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting taxation 

areas  

2 AP02 Global firm Male >20 years Position: Partner 

Malang 

(client) 

     

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting, 

taxation areas; Academic 

expert in auditing, 

accounting, taxation & 

sharia  

3 AP07 Global firm Female >15 years 

Position: Quality Assurance/ 

Assurance Advisor 

(foreigner) Jakarta 

     

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting taxation 

areas  

4 AF101 Global firm Female >25 years Position: HRD Manager Jakarta 

     

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting taxation 

areas 

 

5 AF102 Global firm Male >20 years 

Position: Administration 

officer (junior auditor at that 

time) Jakarta 

     

Practical experience in office 

administration 

 

6 AF103 Global firm Female >5 years Position: Audit Supervisor 

Kudus 

(client) 

     

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting taxation 

areas (Client) 

7 AF104 Global firm Male >5 years Position: Audit Supervisor Malang 

     

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting taxation 

areas (Client) 

8 AF105 Global firm Female >5 years Position: Audit Supervisor Jakarta 

     

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting taxation 

areas (Client) 

9 AF106 Global firm Female >5 years Position: Audit Supervisor Tangerang 

     

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting areas (Client) 
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In the “GAF” global audit firm, the interviews were conducted in different cities or towns 

depending on the assigned location of their clients.  As mentioned in 5.3.3.1 observations usually 

were conducted while the interviews were performed. As for in the “LAF” local audit firm, the 

interviews were conducted in Surabaya. The profile of this firm is shown in Table 5.7.b. 

Table 5.7.b  

The Profile of the Interviewees: The “LAF” Local Audit Firm 

No Code 

Participants’ 

Organizations Gender 

Working 

experience Detail of Participants Location 

1 AP04 Local Firm  Male >25 years 

Position: Partner and 

board of Professional 

body Surabaya 

     

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting, 

taxation areas; 

Academic expert in 

auditing, accounting 

and taxation; One of 

the board in IAI Jawa 

Timur  

2 AF201 Local firm Male 2 years 

Position: Senior 

Auditor Surabaya 

     

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting, 

taxation areas 

 

3 AF202 Local firm Male < a year 

Position: Junior 

Auditor Surabaya 

     

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting, 

taxation areas 

 

4 AF203 Local firm Female >25 years 

Position: Finance and 

Administration 

Manager Surabaya 

     

Practical experience in 

Finance, 

administration and 

HRD areas 
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5.3.3.5. Data analysis 

In general, the analysis method used for this study is the inductive analysis. It means that the 

pattern, themes, and categories of analysis; they emerged from the data rather than being 

imposed on them prior to data collection and analysis (Patton, 2002). The same analysis 

procedure is performed in phase three, such as the analysis on the interview transcripts and field 

notes was geared to identify patterns in the data by means of thematic codes until they are 

connected and summarized into an overall case discussion.     

As mentioned earlier, institutional analysis is performed to understand the context in which the 

elements of isomorphism as well as pillars are set in this study. The analysis focuses on using the 

coercive-regulative, mimetic, normative and cultural-cognitive aspects and all descriptions to 

figure out the processes and changes in both audit firms (Scott, 2008). These two-case studies are 

illustrated in two different perceptions and process due to the AQ implementations and practices 

because of the regulatory changes, and the theory supports to keep the set of case descriptions. 

Subsequently, the data is coded, and start to interpret how the audit firms were affected by the 

process of AQ implementation and practices within their firms.  

5.4. Validity and Reliability 

According to Creswell (2013), the discussion on validity and reliability of research finding in 

qualitative study recommends different approach, which include member checking, triangulation, 

multiple coding, peer debriefing, and prolog engagement (Creswell & Miller, 2000).  Lincoln & 

Guba (1985) mention that member checking is a method when data, conclusion or interpretation 

are tested within members of the group from whom the data were originally obtained, and they 

emphasize that this method is typically for establishing credibility and validity. Further, 
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triangulation is one of the methods employed in qualitative study, and it can be utilized for 

analyzing multiple form of data for patterns and comparisons (Creswell, 2013).  

Triangulation is also defined as a combination of two or more method or data sources in the 

study of single phenomenon (Denzin, 2011) and one of the strengths of case study methodology 

is triangulating multiple unit of analysis (Yin, 2013). Hence, triangulation is the solution to 

increase rigorousness and enhance confidence in presenting findings. Thus, this study adopts 

triangulation method by using multiple data sources such as data from observation, interview and 

documentary sources (Denzin, 2011). These two approaches were used for the purpose of this 

study, since they are applicable in regard to the data and the setting of this case studies.  

5.5. Summary of The Chapter 

Chapter five presents an overview of the case study’s research methodology, which is used to 

understand how the regulatory changes affect the AQ in Indonesia. The three isomorphism of 

Institutional theory (DiMaggio & Powel, 1983) as well as the three pillars of Scott (2008) help to 

analyze the data obtained. In order to ensure adequate depth within the study, multiple sources 

(various approaches) such as interview, observation and (archival study) documents were utilized 

(Creswell et al., 2007). A data analysis plan is established as well. The following chapters will 

discuss the result, data analysis and interpretation.   
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CHAPTER SIX 

REGULATORS AS INSTITUTIONAL AGENTS 
 

6.1 Introduction  

The objective of this thesis is to examine how the regulatory changes influence the AQ 

developments and implementations in Indonesia. As explain in Chapter 4, the institutional theory 

is utilized for this study. The common definition of institution refers to AQ that formulates rules 

which provides the firms and the organizational actors with behavioral guidance and 

recommendations for actions, while simultaneously controlling and constraining them in their 

choices (Scott, 2008). The term of institution in this section refers to AQ, while the actors are the 

regulators and the practitioners. However, this chapter will focus on the regulators, while the 

discussion on the practitioners will be in Chapter 7 and 8.  

The Indonesia regulatory changes occur due to the global pressure. As mentioned on the 

background of the study that several consider the movements of the regulatory efforts can be for 

legitimacy as much as efficiency reason, which these efforts due to the global pressure in the 

form of recommendations and requirements of the international organizations such as ADB, 

World Bank, IMF and IFAC. Others claimed that these intentions relate to the practical issues of 

the country. Nevertheless, efforts are being taken by accounting regulators to improve the 

accounting and auditing landscape of the country (P2PK, 2016; ROSC, 2011). Regulators, as 

carriers of pressures (coercive, mimetic and normative pressures) as explained in Chapter 4, are 

featured in the institutional analysis (DiMaggio & Powel, 1983). The institutional analysis 

focuses on what the actors themselves through the three different mechanisms place their roles 

into some of the efforts and shows how the regulative pillar is mobilized as the foundation to 
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strengthen the accounting profession generally and AQ specifically. This in return, shapes value 

and norms of the normative and cultural-cognitive institutions in the profession (DiMaggio & 

Powell, 1983; Scott, 2008).  

This section addresses questions pertaining to the role of regulators as institutional actors. The 

first is how do regulators play their role in enhancing AQ?  The second, what are the recent 

developments regarding AQ?  The third is what do the regulators expect from these 

developments? And the last, what is the challenge regarding to the regulatory changes in order to 

enhance the AQ? As mentioned that besides three different mechanisms of isomorphism, this 

chapter utilizes three pillars as a lens for analysis as well, and emphasize on regulative pillar 

since their efforts affect the regulative aspects more based on the data obtained. As discussed in 

Chapter 5, that the main data comes from legal documents and interview. Thus, the opinions and 

perception of the AQ actors are interpreted based on their experiences and involvement in the 

context matter. 

The study finds how the regulatory efforts are being motivated by the pressures, and Indonesia 

has then progressively improved AQ in terms of initiatives by accounting regulators. The year of 

2007 has become a starting point for the country accounting profession to show commitment 

through the regulators’ efforts and initiatives for the AQ enhancement agenda. Since then, some 

remarkable progresses have been made, which is demonstrated by the establishment of 

Indonesian Institute of Public Accountants (IAPI)29.The government expected that the new 

professional body will improve the AQ in Indonesia since this professional body focuses only on 

                                                             
29 Before the year 2007, IAI consisted of four sections (i.e. government accountant, management accountant, public accountant 

and academic accountant). it was the year where a part of IAI was permanently split and officially known as IAPI. 
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Certified Public Accountant (CPA). Since then, the IAPI has become the standard setter for 

auditing; while the IAI is determined to be standard setter for accounting.  

The period following the important event of 2007, has seen further efforts and significant 

improvements on the regulatory changes, whether at the ASEAN regional level or the country 

level (IAPI, 2016; P2PK, 2016). In addition, these pressures have also intensified the 

government’s attention on the profession and its AQ, by providing significant accomplishment in 

statutory legal framework include: stronger legal backing for CPA profession (Act No. 5/2011), 

the establishment on the Oversight Committee (KPAP) to provide recommendations to MOF due 

to this profession, restructuring MOF agencies and the adoption of international accounting and 

auditing standards. The accomplishments above not only showing in term of responding the 

coercive pressure, but also the mimetic and normative pressures. Thus, the country has put 

progress and reform which are generally heading in the right direction especially for the 

accounting profession. 

This chapter’s data comes from both primary and secondary sources. The primary source of data 

is from the interviews with the regulators and also from individual observations, while the 

secondary data sources were obtained from the relevant officers and from the participants’ 

official websites. Thus, based on the data, in order to answer the research questions in this 

chapter, a detailed code of hierarchy is illustrated in Figure 6.1 and it will also show the structure 

of this chapter as follows: 1) Introduction; 2) Regulators’ Roles at the ASEAN Regional Level; 

3) The Regulators’ Roles at the Country Level; 4) The Regulators’ Expectation; 5) The 

Regulators’ Challenges; 6 Discussion and 7) Conclusion (conclusion). 
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Figure 6.1  

Code of hierarchy 
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6.2 Regulators’ Roles and Efforts at the ASEAN Regional Level  

Based on the aim of this chapter, the participants were asked whether the they face experience 

under pressure as regulators to play their roles in enhancing AQ, and what have they done due to 

the recent developments regarding AQ, as well as whether they also experienced expectation and 

challenges due to their efforts to enhance this AQ agenda. The detail answer of each question 

explained and explored in separate sections of this chapter as figured on the code of hierarchy 

above. This section focuses more on regulators’ roles and efforts as the AQ agents or actors.  

All participants agree that the main motive and reason of the efforts is the international pressures, 

although they also mention that they struggle to their own practical and internal issues regarding 

the professions. However, the two reasons are interrelated with each other. And the efforts made 

by the regulators can improve the country’s accounting environment as both reasons above. The 

findings show that there were explicit and direct coercive pressures, particularly regulative 

aspect placed on these efforts (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983; Scott, 2008). Since, according to the 

recommendation of international organizations as the list of accomplishments mentioned above, 

the efforts focus more on strengthening statutory legal framework.  In order to support these, 

they also participate in the ASEAN regional level movement which have similar agenda about 

AQ.  

Indonesia plays a significant role and is making huge efforts to improve its AQ. The efforts are 

conducted together with other ASEAN countries through several regional organizations such as 

the Economic ASEAN Community (EAC), ASEAN Audit Regulators Group (AARG), ASEAN 

Federation of Accountants (AFA) as well as other international organization like World Bank 

(P2PK, 2015).   
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The event conducted by Indonesia was the 4th ASEAN Audit Regulators Group (AARG) 

Meeting and Inspection Workshop on 20-22 January 2016, which was taken place in Bali. The 

Finance Professions Supervisory Centre (P2PK), Secretariat General of the Ministry of Finance 

was honored to be host of AARG is a forum of Audit regulators in Southeast Asia who have 

been admitted as member of International Forum of Independent Audit Regulators (IFIAR). 

IFIAR itself is an international organization of Independent Audit Regulators in the world which 

was established in 2006 with about 50-member countries. The IFIAR’s efforts are to focus on 

information and knowledge sharing activities on guidance and supervision of Independent Audit 

Regulators and the audit Firm (KAP). In addition, it is a platform of collaboration and dialogue 

between ASEAN audit regulators, aiming at achieving consistent cooperation and increasing AQ 

provided by Independent Audit Regulators and KAP. The decision to join this collaborative 

effort may open a change for the country to see what the neighbors have done. Although, 

participation in AARG could initially be motivated by mimetic pressure, the evidence shows that 

the country is in positive direction in its quest to improve AQ, and Indonesia has then 

progressively improved its AQ in terms of initiatives by accounting regulators (DiMaggio & 

Powell, 1983). 

The 6th Annual meeting held in Singapore on 26 August 2017 was the discussion with the World 

Bank on collaborative efforts to further raise the standard of AQ in ASEAN. Commenting on the 

AARG and World Bank Collaboration, the Chief Executive of ACRA, Mr. Kenneth Yap said: 

“This initiative bodes well for boosting the confidence in the ASEAN capital markets. 

The World Bank’s support is timely as the AARG seek to speak with a unified voice to 

promote a high-quality audit regime applied consistently across ASEAN.” 

 

A similar statement is also claimed by one of the participants (RG02) in this study:  
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“[…] The AARG will continue to monitor the emerging developments in audit and come 

together to communicate its expectation in common area of interest, highlighting the 

efforts to enhance AQ in Indonesia.” 

This event is a part of the roles and efforts conducted by the regulators. The details of the roles 

and efforts are shown in Table 6.1.  

Table 6.1  

Indonesia’s roles and efforts in ASEAN regional level 

Organizations Descriptions 

Economic 

ASEAN 

Community 

(EAC) 

- 2007: First AEC blueprint 

- 2009: Mutual Recognition Arrangement (MRA) framework on 

accountancy (services) 

- 2014: MRA on accountancy service 

- 2015: A master plan to chart the establishment of EAC 

- 2016: ASEAN Regional SMP Conference, 20th October 2016 in 

Bangkok, Thailand 

ASEAN Audit 

Regulators Group 

(AARG) 

- 2014 Indonesia attended at the first time as an observer 

- 2015 participated in the 5th meeting in Kuala Lumpur with 80 

regulators and audit firms, and the discussion was focused on Audit 

Quality Indicator (AQI) and the implementation of new expanded audit 

report.  

- AARG Audit Inspection Workshop facilitated discussion among 

participants about latest development concerning audit 

- 20 January 2016:  the 4th ASEAN Audit Regulators Group meeting and 

inspection workshop in Bali, Indonesia  

- 26 August 2017: the 6th AARG Annual Meeting held in Singapore, was 

in the discussion with World bank on collaborative efforts to further 

raising the standard of AQ in ASEAN   

ASEAN 

Federation of 

Accountants 

(AFA) 

- 2011: Indonesian Institute of Accountant (IAI) as the care of AFA 

secretariat since 2011 

- September 2014, collaborative work between AFA and World Bank in 

the launching of the current status of accounting and auditing 
profession in ASEAN countries 

- January 2015, 117th AFA Council Meeting in Kuala Lumpur- following 

up the collaborative between AFA and World bank 

- May 2015, 118th AFA Council Meeting in Hanoi- established the AFA 

Accounting Standard Group (AASG) 

- August 2015, 118th AFA Council Meeting in Myanmar- several 

agendas such as: 

▪ The update of the ASEAN accountancy roadmap project 

▪ Preparing for the implementation of the ASEAN MRA on 

accountancy service 
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Organizations Descriptions 

▪ Appointed Ms. Rosita Uli Sinaga of IAI as the Vice Chairperson of 

AASG 

▪ AFA council approved the appointment of Mr. Aucky Pratama 

Setya Dharma (Indonesia) as the AFA Executive Director of AFA 

- December 2015, 120th AFA Council Meeting in Manila- the end of Mr. 

Aguirre’s term as AFA’s President and succeeded by Mr. Sonexay 

Silapet of Laos Chamber for the period of 2016-2017 

Wold Bank - In 2016, the discussion with the World Bank on collaborative efforts to 

further raising the standard of AQ in ASEAN 

- Areas of collaboration include technical assistance catering to the 

different capacity level of ASEAN members. 

Source: IAPI, 2016; AFA, 2015; AEC, 2015; AOB, 2013; P2PK, 2016 

 

The activities mentioned above are forms of the collaborative efforts among ASEAN countries, 

and the collaboration of AARG has created an impact on AQ in the region. These efforts are 

consistent with The Audit Oversight Board’s (AOB) Annual Report of 2013 states that: 

“The AARG Workshop has contributed to greater consistency across the region’s audit 

regulators and facilitated timely discussion of regional issues that have an impact on 

regulation of the audit profession. Through the sharing of experiences and processes, 

regulators are also kept abreast of developments and practices which are useful to raise the 

standard of audit quality in the region.”   

(AOB, p.35) 

These activities not only portray the roles and efforts performed by Indonesia but also show parts 

of the collaborative efforts among the ASEAN countries. However, given these collaborative 

efforts, much is to be learned on how Indonesia progressed individually. This is discussed in the 

next section. 

6.3 Regulators’ Roles and Efforts at the Country Level 

As mentioned on the Chapter 4 that the three pillars of Scott (1995, 2001; 2008) reveal to 

elaborate the lead by making them in detail what has been asserted by DiMaggio & Powell 
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(1983) into regulative, normative, and cultural-cognitive. Thus, the discussion concerning the 

regulators’ roles and efforts at the country level is considered forming a range moving from the 

awareness, from the legally enforced to taken for granted. Furthermore, the efforts at this level 

are divided between two parties: the efforts conducted by the MOF agencies and the professional 

bodies. The MOF’s efforts focus on the enhancement to statutory and institutional framework, 

while the professional bodies concern with their function as standard setters and centers for the 

accounting profession’s transformation to maintain competency, sustain on value delivering and 

brighten the profession’s prospect (IAPI, 2016).  

The MOF’s efforts focus on the enhancement to statutory and institutional framework. The 

efforts signal significant changes in Indonesia’s accountancy that reflect legitimacy and 

institutionalization. These efforts also reflect the regulative pillars where the enhancements come 

in the form of the issuance of new regulations, rules, and standards. While the normative pillar is 

reflected by a general process of professionalization, for example establishing the KPAP and 

optimizing its function as well as restructuring MOF’s agencies such as P2PK and OJK. These 

show that the ways of monitoring and enforcing the accounting and auditing mechanisms 

conducted by regulators are improved, and how the basic of effective regulations are placed. This 

then is being expected to change the value and belief of the actors, which is reflected the pillar of 

cultural-cognitive. Therefore, there should be a consistency between the legal frameworks and 

the adoption of international standards as well as ethic code to create effectiveness (Hayes, 

2002). These efforts of regulatory changes apparently are affecting accounting profession in this 

country (P2PK, 2016).  The detail explanation of their efforts will be discussed in the following 

sections.  
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6.3.1 MOF Agencies’ Efforts 

The data obtained from exploring the framework of regulatory changes regarding the profession 

from an early period30 till recently shows continuous development which have been conducted 

by the regulators. There are three mains regulatory changes conducted by the regulators such as 

enacting acts and regulations related to the accounting profession, adopting the international 

standards and restructuring or establishing the main institutional drivers of AQ. Accordingly, this 

section also compares the regulatory framework in two different periods regarding to the 

profession as well as other efforts like conducting quality inspections.  

In order to explain the detail of the regulatory changes and to show the development of every 

effort, since its framework has changed over time, the regulatory changes regarding to the 

auditing profession in Indonesia can be divided to two-time frames: pre-2007 and post-2007. As 

mentioned above the main reasons for starting the discussion in the year 2007, one of the reasons 

is because: the Indonesian Institute of Certified Public Accountant (IAPI) was established 

independently31 in 2007. This professional body is considered a crucial movement because this 

body as an institutional driver of the next improvements. Following the establishment, 

government had issued new regulations32 specifically for Certified Public Accountant (P2PK, 

2016). Furthermore, the detail developments in each of these time frames will be explained in the 

following section. 

                                                             
30 Early period was started around 1978/1979 when the first Terms of Reference for the assignment of public accountants to 

conduct the audit of companies based on the MOF Decree No. 108/KMK.07/1979 

31 It was part of IAI (Indonesian Institute of Accountant) 
32 Finance Minister Decree No. 17/PMK/ 2008 about CPA Service 
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6.3.1.1 Enacting Acts and Regulations Relate to Accounting Profession 

This section discusses the efforts undertaken by Indonesia in improving AQ on pre-2007 and 

post-2007. The section presents more on regulative and normative pillars to show how the 

regulatory efforts of accounting profession developed in these two periods, focusing on enacting 

act, rules and regulation. 

6.3.1.1.1 Framework of Regulatory Changes at The Pre-2007 Period 

The first Law No. 34/ 1954 was passed concerning to usage of the title “akuntan” (Accountant). 

At that time, membership of IAI is only available to recognized graduates under this law. Since 

then, the policy has been changed continuously according to the condition needed at certain 

times.  

The government and IAI worked out the development plan for this profession and in May 1978, 

IAI published Public Accountant Section (IAI-SAP) (P2PK, 2016). In order to be a practicing 

public accountant, other than becoming a member of IAI-SAP, the person must also acquire the 

“Akuntan” title and serve in the government for at least three years (according to Act No 8/ 

1961, it is a compulsory service for the state/government universities’ graduates). The purpose of 

the requirement was to ensure that the individuals were well prepared to provide good and 

appropriate service. The standards used by the IAI-SAP for guiding the practice were based on 

the Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (NPA33) as the auditing standards while the 

Indonesian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (PAI34) were used as the accounting 

standards (Meng, 1993). The profession also adopted a code of ethics to regulate the professional 

conduct of the members.   From 1978-2006, the government began to have deepen concern with 

                                                             
33 NPA: Norma Pemeriksaan Akuntan 
34 PAI: Prinsip Akuntansi Indonesia 
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public accountant profession by issuing several laws and regulations. The table 6.2 below shows 

the regulatory changes over a period of ten years from 1978-2006. 

Table 6.2.  

Summary of Indonesia regulatory changes from 1978-2006 

Regulation/ Law/ 

Minister Decree  

Year Content Influence on Profession 

Finance of Minister 

Decree No. 

131/KMK.01/2006 

2006 Establishment of 

Centre for 

Supervision of 

Accountants and 

Appraiser 

Services (PPAJP) 

The organization structure was different 

with the previous body (under Directorate 

previously). The position now is 

independent under Minister of Finance as 

Secretariat General. So, the task and 

responsibility was focused on both 

profession (accountants and appraiser) 

Finance of Minister 

Decree No. 

423/KMK.06/2002 

2002 Public 

Accountant 

Services 

Tightening the public accountant licensing 

requirements and procedure, mandating 

audit partner for three years and its firm 

for five years, quality review, sanctions. 

Finance of Minister 

Decree No. 

470/KMK.017/1999 

1999 Public 

Accountant 

Services 

Revision of certain terms used, the 

requirement of licensing, the place to 

work for public accountant (may audit 

firm –KAP or auditing service 

corporation-KJA)  

Finance Minister 

Decree No. 

43/KMK..017/1997 

1997 Public 

Accountant 

Services 

The licensing requirement, place to work 

(KAP or KJA) 

President Decree 

No. 27/ 1992 

1992 Directorate’s 

Supervisory of 

Accountant and 

Appraiser 

Services 

As a supervision body for accountants and 

appraiser 

Monetary 

Directorate General 

Decree No. Kep. 

2894/M/1988 

1988 Development and 

supervisory of 

Public accountant  

Development and supervisory of Public 

accountant, the government put more 

active role to supervise and develop this 

profession, local and foreign accountants 

as well  

The Minister of 

Finance in Decision 

No. 

859/KMK.01/1987 

1987 Effect Emission 

in Stock 

Exchange 

One of profession needed for company to 

do Initial Public Offering (IPI) or to issue 

share is public accountant 

The Minister of 

Finance Decree No. 

763  

1986 The licensing of 

public 

accountants 

Covers the licensing of public accountants 

The Minister of 1980 Public Practicing license had been issued 
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Regulation/ Law/ 

Minister Decree  

Year Content Influence on Profession 

Finance’ 

Announcement, as at 

October 30, 1980 

accountant’s 

practical permit 

Decision of Finance 

Minister No. 

108/KMK.07/1979 

1979 Assignment for 

public accountant 

to the tax 

concession for 

audited financial 

statements 

Terms of reference for the assignment of 

public accountants to conduct the audit of 

companies which are obliged to pay 

corporate tax. If financial statements were 

audited the company was entitled to the 

tax concession 

Source: compilation of statute relates to CPA practices in Indonesia, 2016 

Based on the table above, it shows that the government started to get seriously involved with this 

profession in order to support the business atmosphere in Indonesia, for example related to 

issuing the share and paying corporate tax. However, beginning the year 2000 and above, 

government has taken a more active role to supervise and develop this profession especially 

regarding the admission and practicing license. The purpose was to ensure the quality of service 

provided by either the local or foreign accountants were system. In that period, most of certified 

accountants work in government offices while some are employed by private audit firms (P2PK, 

2015).  

In 2002, there was significant changes occurred in the profession which was due to the internal 

crisis in Indonesia after the year of 1997/1998, and the pressure from the international 

organization which demanded reformed in the profession and its quality to support the quality of 

corporate financial reporting (ADB, 2013). The data is consistent with the below comment made 

by RG03 relating to the international pressure for the country to improve and prepare an act or 

law regarding to the accounting profession. RG03 states: 

“[…] actually, the pressure was from ADB, not because of our own awareness. We 

realized then after doing a study that it is necessary to regulate this profession.” 
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 The government had to issue relevant regulation to support the business and economic 

condition. One of the efforts made to meet the pressing issues was to tighten the requirements 

and procedures of the public accountant’s license and practice. The government also regulated 

the audit rotation, service quality review and/or audit firm inspection. In the other side, the 

government’s moves have opened up opportunity for accounting graduates from private 

universities to apply and become public accountants, as the previous requirements were only to 

the government universities’ graduates and a privilege retired government auditor such as BPKP. 

One of the regulators RG01 states: 

“[…] the era of 1990s to 2000, the government granted a privilege to the retired auditors 

from BPKP to become public accountant. After that the regulation gave opportunity to 

anyone to be a public accountant. In 1997, it was the first time CPA35 certification was 

awarded to individuals who had passed the USAP exam.”      

This is evidence that this period marked the initial reaction of the Indonesian government’s 

policy in the auditing profession. In addition, the government’s effort to improve the quality of 

the profession, the relationship between regulators and practitioners has elevated to a new level.   

6.3.1.1.2 Framework of Regulatory Changes at The Post-2007 Period 

Again, explained that on 24 May 2007, the Indonesian Institute of Certified Public Accountant 

was officially established, based on the decision of the IAI extraordinary general meeting (IAPI, 

2016). The establishment of the institute aims to fulfill the requirement of IFAC which to be an 

independent organization for Indonesian Public Accountant. The establishment then was 

followed and supported legally by the Finance Minister Decree No. 17/PMK/ 2008 regarding the 

CPA Services. Since the issuing of that Minister Decree in 2008, then continued by the issuance 

                                                             
35 At that time the term used for CPA in Indonesia was BAP (Bersertifikat Akuntan Publik). Someone who passed in the CPA 

exam will get BAP title.  
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of Act no 5/2011 in 2011, and the last the Government Regulation (PP) No. 20/2015, Indonesia 

has made remarkable progress and significant efforts in term of strengthening the legal backing 

for the accountancy profession. The RG01 and PB03 claim the similar statements about the legal 

framework today. They ensure that these legal frameworks affect the development for supporting 

high-quality accounting and auditing practices in Indonesia. RG01 says: 

“[…] finally, we have an act which supports the profession, a strong legal backing 

through appropriate national laws. This is very important to ensure the efficiency as well 

as effectiveness of these institutions. […] We are sure that these efforts will support the 

enhancement of high-quality in accounting and auditing practice, because in this current 

regulation, we also establish an Oversight Committee consisting of government and the 

professions that provide recommendation to the Minister, which we call as KPAP.” 

The comments above show the all the efforts, especially the issuing of rule and regulation are 

aimed as a safeguard quality mechanism in auditing. By making interaction between regulation 

and audit quality attributes that will facilitating and strengthening the protective operation in the 

market generally, and especially in auditing atmosphere (Arrunada, 2000). Then finally, the last 

goal is to enhance AQ. Table 6.3 below is a summary of the detail issuance of new laws and 

regulations regarding to accountancy profession and the expected impact to audit quality during 

the year of 2007-2016 (10 years). 

Table 6.3  

Summary of Indonesian’s law and regulation’s changes during the year of 2007-2016 

Regulation/ 

Law/ Minister 

Decree  

Year Content Description Expected Impact to 

Audit Quality 

Government 

Rules (PP) No. 

20/ 2015: 

2015 The practice 

of public 

accountant 

New requirements to 

be CPA, establish an 

audit firm and rule 

of the audit tenure 

- Trigger to increase 

number of public 

accountants and audit 

firms 

- Control the 

accountant’s 

independency due to 

the audit tenure 
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Regulation/ 

Law/ Minister 

Decree  

Year Content Description Expected Impact to 

Audit Quality 

- Quality review and 

inspection 

The Ministry of 

Finance Decree 

No. 

263/KMK.01/2

014  

2014 The Decision 

for IAI as the 

accountant’s 

professional 

body 

(association) 

- Set Financial 

Accounting 

Standards  

- Provide 

Continuous 

Professional 

Education  

- Provide 

qualifications for 

those who wants 

to work in 

financial 

management and 

accountancy 

- IAI supports to 

improve the quality of 

corporate financial 

reporting in which 

will be audited by 

public accountants  

The Ministry of 

Finance Rule 

No. 

25/KMK.01/20

14  

2014 The state’s 

registered of 

accountants 

Title of accountants 

(Ak) 

Regarding the 

improvement of 

competency 

Government 

Rules (PP) No. 

84/ 2012 

2012 The 

establishment 

of KPAP (the 

Committee of 

Public 

Accountants’ 

Profession) 

KPAP is responsible 

to examine 

complaints or 

information 

regarding an alleged 

violations code of 

conduct  

- Control and supervise 

the public audit 

practices  

- As a media among 

regulator, 

practitioners and 

association body 

Law No. 5/ 

2011: 

Indonesian Law 

2011 Public 

Accountant 

Monitoring and 

reporting CPA 

practices, legal 

aspect of audit result 

Monitoring and reporting 

CPA practices, legal 

aspect of audit result 

The Ministry of 

Finance Decree 

No. 

443/KMK.01/2

011  

2011 The Decision 

for IAPI as 

the public 

accountant’s 

professional 

body 

(association) 

- Set Auditing 

Standards for 

Public 

Accountants  

- Set Professional 

Code of Ethics 

for Public 

Accountants  

- Conduct Public 

Accountant 

IAPI supports and 

facilitate members to 

improve competency, 

skills, knowledge, ethics 

etc 
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Regulation/ 

Law/ Minister 

Decree  

Year Content Description Expected Impact to 

Audit Quality 

Certification 

Exam  

- Provide 

Continuous 

Professional 

Education for 

public 

accountants 

Finance 

Minister Decree 

No. 17/PMK/ 

2008 

2008 CPA services CPA regular 

responsibility such 

as CPE and so on 

CPA regular 

responsibility such as 

CPE and so on 

Source: P2PK, 2016 

 

Table 6.3 above shows that regulators put a consistent legal framework in line with the global 

changes to meet the demands and manage integrated mechanism between accounting and 

auditing, since both cannot be separated to achieve a better AQ implementation as well as 

reporting quality in Indonesia.  According to a regulator RG01states: 

 “[…] further improvements are necessary to ensure that Indonesia emerges as a country 

that practices holistic approach to accountancy in the developing world and with a strong 

emphasis on audit quality.” 

 

Table 6.3 shows that every issuance of act, law or regulation has an expected impact, whether 

direct or indirect impact AQ, i.e. the Government Regulation (PP) No 20/2015. One of the 

articles within the regulation is pertaining to audit tenure. The expected impact by issuing this 

regulation to AQ is that it may control the independency throughout the audit tenure, since 

independency and audit tenure have positive influence and are perceived to improve on audit 

quality (Rahmina & Agoes, 2014; Ghosh & Moon, 2005). In addition, the enacting of Act No. 

5/2011 has specific purpose as a legal backing to monitor the CPA practice. This is very crucial 

and useful for audit stakeholder as to what they want to know from the practice about the current 
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CPA report. Then, to measure the AQ report, Audit Quality Indicator(s) (AQIs) is an appropriate 

tool to be used (Martin, 2013; Bedard, Johnstone & Smith, 2010). The detail discussion 

regarding the AQIs effort will be discussed in the section 6.3.1.2: Collaborative Preparation for 

the Draft of AQIs.  

 

Based on the discussion with the regulator participants, the collaborative efforts between MOF 

agencies and the IAPI are not only in preparing the draft of AQIs, but also several programs or 

activities such as the CPD program, FGD program, audit laboratory program and “mini SPAP 

program”36. The following comments were made by RG01 and RG03 (government agency) 

regarding the collaborative programs for practitioners. The main purpose of these programs is to 

provide an applicable formulation of policies which can be implemented in every audit firm and 

comply with the updated standards as well as the law and regulations. RG01 explains: 

“We work with IAPI, for example regarding the PPL (CPD). We have given the right to 

IAPI to handle and provide the schedule of CPD for practitioners around Indonesia. Our 

mandatory CPD for them is included in that schedule. So, we just arrange the time with 

the professional body.” […] we also design and provide affordable CPD program 

especially for firm’s audit staff and not for the partners, because one of the main issues 

regarding to the limited resources of the small and medium audit firms is the cost for 

arranging in-house training or sending the staff to join external training program […].”Of 

course, such programs cannot cover all their needs, but at least we have facilitated the 

firms to develop the competency of their staff. The rest of them may joined other 

programs among audit firms.” 

The RG02 added the comments: 

“[…] we welcome their feedback since the task for enhancing audit quality not only lies 

in the hands of the practitioners, but also us the regulators. […] If I am not mistaken the 

motto of IAPI is “IAPI committed to enhance competency, sustain value delivery and 

brighten the future”. It means that we have to support IAPI to realize all the goals, and 

ending up improving our audit quality.” 

 

                                                             
36 Mini SPAP is a set of auditing standards for conducting audit in small and medium-sized entities 
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As discussed above, the collaborative programs between the MOF ‘s agencies and the IAPI 

marks a shift in the concept of the regulators’ role where the effort’s intention is to work together 

in order to enhance the AQ where the involvement of the professional bodies is required. 

Previously, the regulators work exclusively on their own issuing rules or regulations without 

trying to understand what actually occurs in the practices of the profession as stated by RG02. 

Several collaborative efforts have run well and directly contributed to the process of improving 

AQ. 

In order to figure out the two periods of auditing framework, based on the two sections 

mentioned above, the summary of the difference between the regulatory framework at the pre-

2007 and the post-2007 periods will be explained in the following section discussing the 

comparison of the two-period’s regulatory framework 

6.3.1.1.3 The Comparison of Regulatory Framework (Between The Pre-2007 and Post-

2007 Period)  

The legal basis used to differentiate the regulatory framework between the pre and post- 2007 

period, is according to the available regulation implemented in each era.  The Finance Minister 

Decree no 423/KMK.06/2002 was used before 2007, and the current regulation used for public 

accountant are Law No. 5/ 2011 and Government Regulation No. 20/ 201537. 

 

 

 

                                                             
37 PP No.20/ 2015 is the detail explanation of UU No. 5/ 2011 
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Table 6.4  

The Comparison of Regulatory Framework 

Description Pre-2007 Period Post-2007 Period 

Admission - Accounting major degree 

- “Akuntan” title 

- Be IAI member 

- CPA holder (passed CPA 

exam) 

- Be IAPI member 

 

Practicing License - BAP holder (passed USAP exam) 

- Relevant practical experience at 

least 1000 hours in five years,  

- The privilege for the retirement of 

BPKP at the age min 50 years old 

and 20 years’ experience 

(recommendation’s letter from the 

government to have free USAP 

exam) 

- Public Accountant (AP) Certificate 

Holder 

- As a partner, have to hold AP 

practice license (and employ at 

least 3 auditors) 

- Practicing license declared not 

apply if concerned died or resigned 

(temporary or permanently)  

- CPA holder (passed CPA 

exam) 

- Relevant practical 

experience  

- As a partner, have to hold 

AP practice license 

- CPA and practicing license 

should be renewing 

annually 

Characteristics of 

Regulation 

- Self-regulated 

- Less strength of legal backing 

because based on MoF Decree 

 

- Government regulated 

(supervised closely and 

intensively) 

- Stronger legal backing, 

since the current statutory 

is a law 

Standards Used 

and standards 

based 

Indonesian Accounting Standards 

(SAK- PAI previously) adopted from 

GAAP;  

Indonesian Auditing Standards 

(SPAP- NPA previously) adopted 

from GAAP 

Ethics Code  

 

The standards use rule-based  

  

SAK adopted from IFRS 

SPAP adopted from ISAs 

Ethics Code adopted from 

IFAC Ethics Code 

 

The standards use principle-

based 

Status of Audited 

Report 

If financial statements were audited 

the company was entitled to the tax 

concession 

Optional, the preparer may 

submit audited or un-audited 

report to tax office 

Professional 

Bodies 

IAI (IAI- SAP) 

The membership of IAI may 

IAPI 

IAPI is as an independent 
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Description Pre-2007 Period Post-2007 Period 

individual or association, and this 

qualification didn’t incorporate all 

relevant requirements from IFAC in 

which IAPI and IAMI became its 

member 

professional body and already 

become the member of IFAC 

as well 

Characteristics of 

Government 

(Involvement) 

Less supervision/ involvement  More supervision and 

involvement 

Regulatory Bodies PPAJP; BAPEPAM L/K; BI (Central 

Bank); Jakarta Stock Exchange (JSE) 

& Surabaya Stock Exchange (SSE) 

  

P2PK; OJK; BI; IDX (merger 

between JSE & SSE after 

2007); KPAP 

(In this period government 

established oversight 

committee consisting of 

government and the profession 

to provide recommendation to 

the Minister) 

Term used for 

services provided 

Attestation and non- attestation Assurance and non-assurance 

Form of business 

(audit firm) 

- Sole proprietorship 

- Partnership  

- Sole proprietorship 

- Partnership  

- Firm 

- Other form of business 

conforming to regulation 

CPD program 30 hours/ year 40 hours/ year consist of 

structured CPD (30 hours) and 

un-structured CPD (10 hours) 

Rotation & 

cooling off period 

3 years for AP; 5 years for audit firm 

(KAP) and 1 year for cooling off 

period 

- 5 years for AP (certain 

industry such as banks, 

listed company), 0 years 

for audit firm and 2 years 

for cooling off period 

- However, OJK has its own 

rule similar to previous 

period 

Review and 

inspection 

PPAJP and IAI-SAP regularly  - P2PK (annually schedule) 

- IAPI (annually or 

incidentally) 

Note: P2PK and IAPI 

always have coordination 

to decide the object of 

inspection or quality 

review to ensure the 

inspection range or scope 
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Description Pre-2007 Period Post-2007 Period 

every year. 

- OJK (annually for listed 

and bank companies) 

- IDX (listed company)  

Audit fee service N/A Regulated by IAPI (minimum 

fee) 

Source: Compiled and processed in the year of 2017 

Table 6.4 shows how, the significant approach and requirement regarding public accountant 

which aim to further strengthen the regulatory framework for auditing practice in this country. 

There are at least fourteen (14) aspects that have been identified in this study to show the 

difference of the regulator’s policies relate to this profession. As a conclusion, the regulators 

work closely with the professional bodies as well as the practitioners, and they supervise the 

practitioners regularly and intensively. However, the pressure as well as the recommendation 

from international bodies has made the regulators to take comprehensive action plans and 

continue with the improvements in which many have been realized into various roles and efforts 

as mentioned in the previous sections. However, these roles and efforts have put the regulators 

into a debatable liability in accounting and auditing forums. In short, regulator’s efforts to 

strengthen audit quality (AQ), have influenced the auditor’s liability in the country regulatively. 

Details about the auditor’s liability regarding to the current law and regulation are discussed in 

the following section. 

6.3.1.1.4 The Auditors’ Liability in Indonesia  

The regulators’ effort on the enhancement to statutory and institutional framework shows 

liabilities of the auditors. The developments which are conducted by the regulators create 

different concept among parties, including the practitioners, particularly in the understanding of 
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the auditors’ liability. Most of the policies are substantially in the definition of ideal condition 

which is more applicable for large (global affiliation) audit firms, since the different in nature of 

audit firms in Indonesia between the local and the global audit firms are quite high. This view 

came up when medium and small audit firms face challenges in order to comply and fulfill the 

requirement of the existing law and regulations. The detail discussion about practitioners’ 

challenges discusses in chapter 7.  

Discussing auditors’ liability according Article 29 of to Act No. 5/2011, audit firm or licensed 

auditor is liable for civil, administrative and criminal. The terms civil liability is usually specified 

in the contract between the audit firms and the audited company where the licensed auditor and 

audit firm must keep the information of the company’s operations confidential. If they divulge 

confidential information, the company may seek compensation for the resulting losses. 

The administrative liability38 is defined as the way licensed auditor provides the company with 

an obvious false opinion. In this case, the auditor’s license may be revoked by the MOF. The last 

but not the least is the criminal liability39 which may be applicable when the licensed auditors 

use their authority for their own purposes and violates the rights of a company or related parties, 

and in which they may be prosecuted. The penalty for the offence will be determined by the 

authorized agency in accordance with laws and regulations which may include the cancellation 

of the signed auditing contract prohibition to sign an auditing contract in the following year 

deduction on the agreed audit fee and compensation payment on an agree sum to the audited 

company (client). According to Act above, audit firm or licensed auditor is liable for civil, 

                                                             
38 It also relates to the Article No. 53 about administration sanction (Act No. 5/2011)  

39 Article No. 55 
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administrative and criminal infractions and generally this should be insured appropriately. 

However, under the current law, they are not required to carry professional indemnity insurance. 

RG01 says: 

“Under the current law, auditors are not required to carry professional indemnity 

insurance. This may cause ambiguity in the current law and regulation. […] only a few 

accounting firms have been sued for sub- standard work by companies or other 

stakeholders.” 

 

Regarding to the auditor’s practice RG02 adds: 

“[…] there are only very few cases in which the practitioner or audit firm has been sued 

in a court. The last time was in 2015, and we revoke one of the practitioner’s license. 

Article 55 regulates criminal sanction as well for example doing manipulation, deceiving 

and etc.” 

 

A similar point was made by PB04 (professional body), regarding the ambiguity in current law 

and regulation: 

” [...] the regulators should clearly define whether the roles, rights, and the responsibility 

of all the parties involved in the AQ framework, particularly laws and regulation which 

may be applicable to the line of auditing profession to avoid bias. Where it encounters 

what seems to be some inconsistency of different legislation. […] and the most important 

thing is also about the law enforcement […].” 

AP07 (a practitioner) also concerned the law enforcement:  

“I think that Indonesia has already achieved significant progress due to the issuance of 

laws or regulations, in this case relate to the auditing and accounting profession today. 

However, they should focus more on the enforcements than issuing another rule and 

regulation […].” 

He added that: 

“[…] but, right now, the regulators are focusing on providing a “guidance” rather than 

“punishment”. They consider punishment sometimes not effective in the unnormal 

condition. They are also worry that no one will be in this business anymore”.  
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As mentioned above that significant progress has been achieved and regulatory efforts are 

normally heading to the right direction. There is need to improve the quality of audit and further 

strengthened the effectiveness of monitoring and enforcement mechanism which will have an 

impact on enhancing AQ confidence in this profession’s service. This also need review laws and 

regulation to clarify such ambiguity, particularly due to role and responsibility of all parties 

involved in the AQ framework, thus will make the auditor’s liability clearly among them in the 

same definition. Finally, the study shows at least three auditor’s liabilities according to the new 

act as mentioned above. And according to the principles, auditors can only be found liable, if 

they have been acting negligently (Kinney Jr,1993; Wegmen, 2007). In addition, it also shows the 

liability due to the regulatory changes as well as the suggestion to take the next action plans in 

order to enhance AQ in Indonesia. In this matter the regulators consider focusing more on 

providing guidance rather than sanctioning or policing the accountants. Furthermore, the other 

efforts conducted by regulators will be continued in the section below. 

6.3.1.2 Adopting the International Standards 

This section shows another evidence of clear and explicit (coercive, regulative and normative) 

pressure were placed on the Indonesia by the international organizations. Participants identify 

that the responses of the country not only their decision on law and regulation, but also what 

standards to be adopted. Principally, the country engages with international organizations and 

follow the concession, e.g. IFAC, through Statement of Membership Obligation (SMO). It means 

that as a member Indonesia has to adopt the determined standards (IFAC, 2012; Tuanakotta, 

2013). Thus, other than issuing new regulations, the government announced the adoption of the 

international standards in 2009 starting with the adoption of accounting standards (IFRS), then in 
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2013 the adoption of auditing standards (ISA), and finally still ongoing progress is the adoption 

of the professional code of conduct (P2PK, 2016). According to most of participants’ opinions 

(RG01; RG02; RG03; PB01 and PB03) the adoption of international standards is considered to 

be one of the answers needed for a high-quality standard in the local accounting profession as 

well as a part of strategy to increase the practitioners’ commitment to transparency. Beside that 

the effort is also as step to fulfill the requirements of the international bodies as part of the IFAC 

Member Body Compliance Program. However, the researches regarding the international 

standards adoption in terms of increasing the quality in the accounting profession is still 

debatable (Christensen, Lee, Walker & Zeng, 2015; Lin, & Chan, 2000; Van Tendeloo & 

Vanstraelen, 2008; Ye & Simunic, 2013). Furthermore, the following sections discuss the 

challenges within the adoption process of the international standards in Indonesia: The 

International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) and the Professional Code of Conducts. 

6.3.1.2.1 The Adoption of International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) 

The adoption of ISAs implies the substitution of national auditing standards by a uniform set of 

international auditing standards. As mentioned in the previous section that the regulators which 

is supported by IAPI stands firm on its convergence plans and is scheduled to adopt ISA by 

2013. They have indicated the plans to adopt IAASB in a statement issued in the 2009 IFAC 

Handbook of International Standards on Auditing and Quality Control. IAPI’s Auditing 

Standards Board (DSP) issued the new auditing standards (SPAP) which was expected to be 

effectively implemented by 1st July 2012. As stated by the RG01 and PB03 that the framework 
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for Assurance Engagements was being developed by DSP and all of these professional standards 

are sourced from the international professional standards issued by IFAC.  

“[…] the DSP had developed the target dates of the completion and implementation of 

each standard, which was adopted from the international standards issued by the IFAC. 

They had worked based on the timing for each phase of the converging process in 

sufficient details.” 

 

A similar point was made by PB01, regarding the great efforts of DSP to make sure the 

development of converging professional standards on time and base on the IFAC international 

standards guidance. 

 

“[…] I think the efforts of the regulators, particularly the DSP are already enough. So 

now it depends on us for the implementation. […]. They carried out their tasks in line 

with the international standards published by the IFAC.” 

 

It shows that the regulators are really serious to address a better atmosphere as well as to meet 

the challenges to reform the accounting profession in Indonesia. This effort also put Indonesia 

consistent to raise the quality of audit work in convergence with the global trend.   

 

A contrast statement made by PB04 that the adoption of the new standards whether accounting 

or auditing standards is quite complicated, since the decision concerning the international 

standards adoption is only fulfilling the international organizations’ pressures and requirements 

without considering any preliminary research in this profession. Consequently, in terms of 

implementation, the regulators as well as the practitioners face challenges. Thus, it finds that the 

compliance with the auditing standards implementation differs among audit firms of different 

size. There are various reasons behind the difference, and will be discussed in chapter 7 but the 

challenges of the regulators will be discussed in the last section of this chapter. 
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In terms of highlighting the output of the DSP efforts, according to PB03 currently, were five 

major professional standards (in SPAP) regarding auditing practices that have been issued by 

DSP until December 2016, namely: Auditing Standards (SA); Related Assurance Standards 

(SJT); Quality Control Standards (SPM); Assurance Engagement Standards (SPA); Review 

Engagement Standards (SPR). These developments are very important to show the commitment 

of regulators and the professional body to realize the enhancement of AQ in Indonesia. Then, the 

next discussion is concerning the adoption of accounting standards.  

 

6.3.1.2.2 The Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

Since the establishment of IAPI in 2007 and officially regulated in 2012, IAPI as an association 

of public accountants, also serves as the auditing standard setter, while the accounting standards 

setter is still being handed by the IAI. Similar statements made by RG03; RG01 and RG04 show 

that the convergence process of PSAK to IFRS took quite a while since the work started in 2009. 

However, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (DSAK) had intensified their effort and 

finally in March 2010, they had significantly reduced the gap between PSAK and IFRS by 

revising 15 standards and revoking 15 non-IFRS based standards.  The major challenges faced 

by the DSAK in the convergence process was catching up on the growing number of IFRS 

standards (new or revised) as well as the difficulty in interpreting these standards issued by the 

IASB. They say that: 

“[…] the DSAK had worked meticulously to translate, discuss, interpret, establish and 

socialize the exposure draft of the accounting standards. There are some new standards 

and growing very fast that must all be attended in a very tight schedule. They tried to 

ensure that everything was in the right progress and monitoring effectively.” 

 

Although most of these PSAK are based on IFRS, gaps in the standards still exist because of 

specific Indonesian accountancy environment, and that becomes one of the reasons behind the 
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standard setter taking a longer time in the convergence process of these standards. According to 

RG03, RG04 and PB03 currently more than 100 standards have been updated, revised and issued 

by the DSAK. IAI as the accounting standards setter has been issued four categories of 

accounting standards, namely: Financial Accounting Standards (SAK); Financial Accounting 

Standards for Sharia (SAK Syariah); Financial Accounting Standards for Non- Public Interest 

Entities (SAK ETAP); and Financial Accounting Standards for Micro Small and Medium 

Entities (SAK EMKM). Next, the latest adoption is the professional code of conduct, and this is 

discussed in the later section. 

6.3.1.2.3 The Adoption of Professional Code of Conducts 

Initially, the adoption of professional code of conduct is another evidence of coercive and 

normative pressure (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983; Scott, 2008), since this code of conduct is one of 

the IFAC’s requirement stated in Member Body Compliance Program (IFAC, 2012). Based on 

the interview due to this matter, most of the participants expect that the CPA will put it as their 

behavior reasoning (cultural-cognitive pillar) in order to perform their services, and become 

social identity and personal (Scott, 2008). This CPA is expected to change their conceptual belief 

and interpretation, internalized and valued their work properly, not by being enforced through 

firm’s policy or related regulations and standards, rather than believing personally However, the 

successful of implementing it, depends on the CPA itself (Powell & DiMaggio, 1991). The 

paragraph below shows the process of Indonesia adopting the professional code of ethics. 
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The current process of the international adoption is updating the ethical conducts. The ethics 

code standards are becoming a priority now since it has not been updated in the last 10 years. 

PB01 and PB03 have similar opinion about this. PB03 says: 

“[…] we have made significant progress in term of adopting the ISA as well as IFRS. We 

have prepared full convergence of the Indonesian standards with both the international 

standards. Right now, we are focusing on the adoption of the Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants which was issued by the International Ethical Standards Board- 

IFAC. It has been more than 10 years since the last time our ethic code was issued.”  

He adds: 

 “We have a professional team for revising our code of ethics. The target will be on the 

next year in 2017. But, the main constrain we are facing is having an arrangement for a 

timely translation for this code of conducts. We are still in an argument whether have it in 

the- Indonesian language or in a bilingual presentation. [….] we have to make sure 

everything is in the most appropriate condition before finalizing it.” 

 

The statements show that a serious effort was undertaken by the regulators to speed up the 

process of preparing the code of conducts on time in 2017. The main problem faced by the IAPI 

regarding these standards lies in the translation aspect and the team responsible for this stage 

plans whether it will be possible to have a bilingual presentation. Regulators need to adhere to 

the IESB translation process to ensure consistent terms and a disciplined translation process. The 

last effort of the MOF to enhance the audit quality is by restructuring the main institutional 

drivers of AQ as explain in the section below. 

6.3.1.3 Restructuring the main institutional drivers of AQ  

Restructuring and or establishing the agencies under MOF is also one of the World Bank’s 

recommendation in its report of observance (ROSC, 2011). This effort is also another evidence 

of the pressures. Thus, besides the efforts carried out on the enhancement to statutory and 

institutional framework and the adoption of the international standards, other worth mentioning 
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effort is the restructuring of the main institutional drivers of AQ. The institutional drivers are 

such as the PPAJP and BAPEPAM –LK.  The regulators have changed the name and 

restructured the PPAJP into P2PK in the year of 2014, a body under the Ministry of Finance 

through the Secretariat General which among its functions is to supervise the public accountants. 

Another MOF agency is the BAPEPAM –LK which was changed to OJK (The Finance Services 

Authority) in 2012. According to RG01, RG02 and RG03, the purpose of these changes and the 

restructuring of the agencies is to extend their respective responsibilities and improve their 

capacity building in order to meet the current demands. Table 6.5 shows the restructured 

agencies under The Ministry of Finance. 

Table 6.5  

Restructured Agencies under The Ministry of Finance  

Body Year Content Expected Impact to Quality 

PPAJP 

changed into 

P2PK 

2014 PPAJP changed into P2PK, to 

accommodate additional 

function as supervisor of 

actuarial profession 

Integrated monitoring among 

profession accountant, public 

accountants, appraiser and 

actuarial profession.  

BAPEPAM 

changed into 

OJK  

2012 Not only has a responsibility to 

supervisor capital market, but 

also banking industry in which at 

that time was under the control 

of central bank 

OJK can conduct compliance audit 

for all multinational companies as 

well as related professions like 

public accountants 

Source: P2PK, 2016 

The table shows that the MOF has a specific purpose for restructuring its agencies. As mentioned 

before, the general purpose of the restructuring is to extend the respective responsibilities of the 

agencies involved concerning on the accountant profession as well as to improve their own 

capacity building. The two agencies are the main institutional drivers of AQ as claimed by 

RG01. He says: 

 “P2PK and OJK are known as the main institutional drivers of audit quality, because 

they relate and conduct the integrated monitoring among the accounting professionals 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

165 

 

directly. Both are regulators who prepare the formulation of policies, guidance, 

developments and supervision of public accountants. Meanwhile the OJK focus more on 

the Capital Markets rules and regulation […].”   
 

These agencies then, perform certain form of endeavors to show their functions and roles in-line 

with the AQ agenda, and they are such as: P2PK, Indonesian Stock Exchange (IDX), and OJK. 

Table 6.6.  below show other efforts of these regulators. 

Table 6.6  

Other Efforts of the Regulators  

Organizations Descriptions 

P2PK on 

behalf of 

Ministry of 

Finance  

- 23 November 2016: the socialization of the Ministry of Finance 

Rule’s Draft is about the implementation of identifying the principle 

to be used in obtaining accountants’ and public accountant’s service. 

This is a follow up of the Government’s rule no 43/ 2015 about 

preventing the crime of money laundering  

- Government Rules No. 20/ 2015 about the practice of public 

accountant 

- The Ministry of Finance Decree No. 263/KMK.01/2014 about the 

Decision to appoint IAI as the professional accounting body 

(association) 

- The Ministry of Finance Rule No. 25/KMK.01/2014 about the state 

registration of accountants 

- Government Rule No. 84/ 2012 The establishment of KPAP (the 

Committee of Public Accountants’ Profession) 

- The Ministry of Finance Decree No. 443/KMK.01/2011 about the 

Decision for IAPI as the professional public accounting body 

(association) 

- Indonesian Law No. 5/ 2011 about Public Accountant. This is the 

first law that regulates public accountant in Indonesia 

Indonesian 

Stock 

Exchange 

(IDX) 

- August 2013: Issued a guide on public accountant monitoring and 

inspection and  

- In 2012: IDX issued the updated Disclosure Index for Listed 

Companies 

OJK - The OJK Letter No. 29/SEOJK.05/ 2016 about the mandatory CPD 

for professional (Public Accountants) 

- The OJK’s Rule No. 38/POOJK.05/2015 about the registering and 

supervising for public accountants   

- In 2015, OJK together with IAPI socialized the Government’s Rule 

No. 11/ 2014 about the OJK Tax Levied to Public Accountants who 

accept and conduct audit for banks and financial institutions-non- 

banks 
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Source: P2PK, 2016; IDX, 2016; OJK, 2016 

 

The table above shows can be summarized that in practice, there is a wider agenda that need to 

be addressed by the regulators in terms of providing and conducting some efforts to support the 

enhancement of AQ in Indonesia as the activities and programs listed in Table 6.6. The 

participants claim that the have schedule plan to be prepared and conducted continuously to 

synchronize the policies among accounting regulators, in order to provide obvious 

implementation of the rule and regulation due to the CPA practices.  

6.3.2 Professional Bodies’ Efforts 

This section also explores the roles and efforts which are conducted by regulators, and 

professional body is one of accounting regulators, thus the professional body is one of the the 

AQ actor. There are two professional bodies that govern the accounting profession in Indonesia, 

namely the IAI (Indonesian institute of accountants) and the IAPI (Indonesian Institute of Public 

Accountants). As stated on the Chapter 3 that IAPI has become the standard setter for auditing; 

while the IAI is determined to be standard setter for accounting. To answer the empirical 

question of this chapter, the discussion of this section explains more the roles and efforts of the 

IAPI rather than IAI.  

 

The most current progress that the professional bodies are consistently involve in enhancing AQ 

are the socialization of the IAPI’s Statutes and Bylaws’ Revision draft, the establishment of the 

Public Interest Oversight, and the issuance of the exposure draft of the Audit Quality Indicators 

(AQIs) from October to November 2016 (as stated by PB02 & PB03).  According to them, the 

exposure drafts are the action plan as a follow up of the recommendation from the Committee of 
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Public Accountants’ Profession (KPAP). Preparing the draft of AQs is also in order to meet the 

requirements of the IFAC, as claimed by RG01. Thus, during the year 2016 to 2017 the 

professional body conducted these agenda (IAPI, 2017). These are part of the duty and 

responsibility of IAPI. Furthermore, a participant states that the IAPI within its function and 

responsibility focus on other several efforts and improvements: 

“[…] IAPI regulates two things firstly the way for individuals to become a public 

accountant and secondly the way to manage an audit firm […] Instead of synchronizing 

our standards to the international standards (….) quality review is regulated in the UU 

article 44, then implementing SPAP and its SPM […] we have done lot of things and the 

last was the socialization of the quality index.” […] in our annual planning program, we 

have identified five major aspects of the efforts in order to improve audit quality, or we 

can say improvements to realize quality.” 

 

PB03 adds: 

 

“The five aspects are  improving the quality and competence for individual in the public 

accountant profession; providing and improving the auditing standards (SPAP) and the 

code of conduct referring to the international standards;  continuously encouraging to 

improve the capacity and quality of public accountants and audit firms’ services; 

improving and strengthening the practice of good governance in organizations; and 

improving the involvement and legal advocacy regarding the relevant regulations for this 

profession.[…] we can give you our annual report for a detailed explanations.” 

 

Based on their statements, it found that the professional bodies have always put their respective 

functions properly and determine particular strategies to support the improvement of AQ in 

Indonesia. The efforts emphasize more on normative and cultural-cognitive pillars, since suits 

the interpretation of institutional change under the term professionalization (DiMaggio & Powell, 

1983; Scott, 2008). The regulators expect that by concerning on these five aspects, the 

practitioners will have more awareness to be more professional (IAPI, 2016). These five aspects 

were developed on the basis of the illustrative cases or issues as discussed on the section below.  
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6.3.2.1 Five Major Aspects of Professional Body’s Efforts 

In this regard, IAPI constantly consult and work closely with the MOF agencies. The detailed 

explanation of the five aspects is discussed on the following sections: 

6.3.2.1.1 Improving the individual quality and competence for public accountant 

profession 

As explained above that the normative pressure and pillars emphasize the role more in 

professionalism and moral obligation of the CPA. This pressure and pillar transferred any 

possible media such as professional magazine, socialization of rules and regulations, and or CPD 

program, are seen as evidence to improve the individual quality and competence for CPA. The 

RG02 and RG03 claimed that one of the IAPI’s duties is focusing on the individual quality and 

competence with two main implementations being conducted. The first is by determining the 

entry requirement for professional accountants and providing the CPD program. The entry 

requirements efforts such as restructuring the CPA exam, providing online CPA exam based on 

the Computer Based Test (CBT) in several universities, adopting the international education 

standards revision 2014 – 2015 (based on IFAC standards) and promoting and collaborating 

activities with the universities. RG02 also states: 

“[…] we are doing collaborative activities with the universities. Closely aligned 

particularly with the accounting education program as the entry level. We have built 2840 

Test Centers (TC) in 28 universities around Indonesia for the CPA exam. We expect that 

these may promote, provide training, workshop or seminar programs to improve the 

competency of accountants; besides providing a place to attract individuals to join the 

CPA test and become a member of IAPI […] the TC also as agents to socialize the new 

standards issued by standards setters.”   

Thus, one of the purposes of this program is also to scale up the number of professional 

accountants and promote the accounting profession to university graduates, since the number of 

                                                             
40 The list of TCs attached in the appendix 
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Indonesian Accountants are less than in other ASEAN countries. In fact, every year the local 

universities produce more than 35,000 accounting graduates.  However, this amount does not 

automatically add the number of the professional accountants. Hence, the professional bodies 

decide a certain agenda for promoting this profession among universities in Indonesia and this 

effort to increase the number of professional accountants is deemed as successful as the number 

of accountant increases significantly since the program started to be implemented. The figure 

below shows the increasing number of Indonesian accountants.  

 
Figure 6.2  

Number of accountants by year: 2010-2015 

Source: AFA, 2015 

The number of professional accountants has significantly increased in 2015 since the launched of 

the programs by the two professional bodies of IAPI and IAI, and the efforts are considered 

successful. The programs have helped increased the number of accountant to 44.71% as 

compared to the previous year. This number also has made Indonesia contributes 17% of the 

total number of accountants in ASEAN whereas, not more than 12% in the year 2014 (AFA, 

2014).  Besides the increasing number of accountants, the professional bodies also provide CPD 

program to improve and maintain individual accountant’s quality and competence. Figure 6.3 

shows the CPD program conducted by the IAPI in the year 2015 and 2016. 
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Figure 6.3 

IAPI ‘s CPD program in the year 2015 and 2016 

Source: IAPI, 2016 

 

The IAPI provided various subjects for the CPD program. The subjects are Auditing, 

Accounting, Taxes, Financial Reporting, Banking, Capital Market courses, other financial 

statements reporting and socialization of the law and regulations. The CPD program is conducted 

in major cities in Indonesia such as in Jakarta, Surabaya, Bandung, Semarang, Medan, Denpasar 

and Makassar. The IAPI have even considered to conduct the CPD program all around 

Indonesia. However, three of the practitioners (AP03, AP04 and AF201) stated that certain topics 

are only conducted in big cities like Jakarta. AP03 states: 

“[…] for practitioners like us who provide services in small towns feels that it is hard to 

join the CPD program in Jakarta, because a certain topic like certified professional 

investigator workshop; accounting and taxation treatments for e-commerce industry 

sector, intellectual property and its accounting policy treatment [etc..] we are not only 

spending on the CPD fee, but also the accommodation expense there.” 

 

PB04 also claims: 

“The one who needs the training is not only the partners who are obligated to have a 

mandatory credit for fulfilling the requirements as a CPA, but the auditors as well since 

they are the ones who conduct the audits in the field […]. Sometimes we are busy 

accomplishing the work and to meet clients’ deadline.”  

 

Thus, the personnel development need not only focus on the CPAs but for all the staff concerned 

in any audit firms; and the IAPI has answered the issue of staff trainings accordingly as they 
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have prepared affordable training programs and sometimes at no charge at all. There are several 

reasons behind the programs that only cover for certain topics which are held only in Jakarta. 

PB01 said that the coverage of certain topics depends on the request by members, rise of new 

issues and willingness of the instructor to come only to Jakarta, or sometimes the topic is not 

applicable for other cities or towns besides Jakarta. However, the IAPI will never crease to 

develop the competency of its members.  

6.3.2.1.2 Providing and improving the auditing standards (SPAP) and the code of conduct 

compliance with the international standards 

As explained in 6.3.1.2.1 since 2013, Indonesia has already adopted the ISA as the auditing 

standards. The Indonesian’s auditing standard is the SPAP which consists of Standard of 

Auditing, Standard of Assurance, Standard of Review and other related standards. The most 

recent process of updating the standards involves the ethical conducts and the revised standards 

will be issued in 2017 or 2018.   

6.3.2.1.3 Encouraging improvement on the capacity and quality of public accountant and 

audit firm’s services 

The strategy to improve the capacity and quality of the public accountant or audit firm’s services 

is by considering four factors: input; process; output and post output. PB03 said that the quality 

would be optimized if an audit firm has strong organizational culture. It means that an 

organization needs a real implication of leadership, policy, business process, technical inquiry, 

and quality control. Each function in an organization should be well managed to sustain the 

business and provide high quality of service. According to him, one of the efforts to ensure that 

the implementation of the business process of an audit firm comply with the new standard is to 

conduct quality review program on the employed public accountants. The detail discussion about 
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quality review program explains on section 6.3.3.1. The table below shows number of review 

programs conducted in 2015-2016. 

Table 6.7  

Review Programs 

Year Public 

Accountants 

Audit 

Firms 

Remarks 

2016 21 13 The detail audit firms which were reviewed in 

2016: 3 in Jakarta; 4 in Bandung; 2 in Malang; 2 in 

Pontianak; 1 in Balikpapan and 1 in Kendari 

2015 16 10 The detail audit firms which were reviewed: 2 in 

Jogjakarta; 2 in Semarang; 2 in Medan; 2 in Padang 

and 2 in Jakarta 

Source: IAPI, 2016 

Participant said that the number and frequency carried out above consider regulators’ capacity. 

PB01 and PB03 claimed, due to the limited number of quality reviewers, the selection of public 

accountants and audit firms which to be reviewed will be based on the criteria determined by the 

IAPI. The criteria are, such as complaint reports, the audit firm or public accountant has not been 

reviewed for the last five years, and the request to be reviewed by regulators (peer review).   

6.3.2.1.4 Improving and strengthening the practice of good governance within the IAPI 

In order to improve and strengthen the practice of good governance within the IAPI, the 

following activities were conducted: internal meeting, revising IAPI’s Statutes and Bylaws’ in 

order to be in lined with the current demands and situations, issuing new regulations for the 

association’s members, providing interactive website news, references, coaching clinic and 

providing better infrastructure to serve the association’s members.  

6.3.2.1.5 Improving the involvement and legal advocacy regarding the relevant 

regulations for the profession 
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As mention above, several new rules and regulations were issued and discussed by the 

government regarding the profession, thus IAPI conducted collaborative meetings with other 

relevant regulators to discuss the legal aspects of the profession such as shown in Table 6.8. 

Table 6.8  

Collaborative meetings between IAPI and other regulators 

Body/ Organization Year Content of the Discussion 

Tax General 

Directory (DJP) 

2016 The issue and discourse of audited financial reporting 

should be attached on the annual tax report of each entity to 

DJP 

OJK 2015 OJK Tax Levied to Public Accountants who accept and 

conduct audit for banks and financial institutions-non- 

banks 

The Ministry of Law 

and Human Right 

2016 To enforce the existing corporate Act or to revise it 

Source: IAPI, 2016 

PB02 and PB03 stated that the purpose of the collaborative meetings among the IAPI with other 

regulators such as the DJP, Ministry of Law and Human Rights and other Ministries is to reduce 

the gap or even to overlook the ambiguities or overlapping of the existing laws and regulations. 

They added that at times the existing regulations show contradictory requirements or obligations 

particularly regarding the accounting profession. They say: 

“[…] the example of different requirements is about the audit rotation. According to PP 

No. 20/2015 the rotation period is 5 years for AP (certain industry such as banks, listed 

company), 0 years for audit firms and 2 years for cooling off period. However, OJK has 

its own rule similar to the previous period (3 years for AP and audit firm and 1 year for 

cooling off period). This is just one example. Actually, there is still several differences or 

even contradiction among them.” 

 

 

This is clear that by having these meetings the regulators are able to review and sort out the 

respective redundancies in the regulations, to have the same perspective and share a common 

goal which is to improve the reporting quality of both the audit and the financial reporting. The 

same perspective doesn’t mean that the law or regulation controlled by one agency or ministry. It 
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means that the enforced regulations work in harmony and complement each other on certain or 

similar issues. Then every entity may comply with their respective regulators with the least 

hassle.  

6.3.2.2 Collaborative Preparation for Launching the AQIs with MOF Agencies 

Besides, the five aspects above, the latest activity conducted by the IAPI is the preparation and 

distribution of the Audit Quality Indicators (AQIs) draft. PCAOB (2013) defines AQIs as a 

potential portfolio of quantitative measures that may provide new insights about how high-

quality audits are achieved. As stated on point 6.3.1.1.2 mentioned that in order know the CPA 

practice, and to measure the AQ report of the CPA, Audit Quality Indicator(s) (AQIs) is an 

appropriate tool to be used (Martin, 2013; Bedard, Johnstone & Smith, 2010). Thus, Indonesia 

also in progress of socializing the draft of its AQIs around Indonesia. Table 6.9 shows the 

detailed activities performed by the professional bodies concerning AQIs.  

Table 6.9  

The efforts of professional bodies regarding AQIs  

Organizations Descriptions 

IAPI - November 2016 was in Jakarta, Bandung, Surabaya, 

Jogjakarta, Medan, Denpasar and other major cities in 

Indonesia:  Socialization the draft of “revision of IAPI’s 

Statutes and Bylaws)” regarding to meet the IFAC’s 

requirement to established “Public Interest Oversight”. 

- 9 November 2016 was in Jakarta: Forum Group Discussion 
(FGD) with the title “Guidance AQIs for Audit Firm”. 

Participants were practitioners, IAPI, P2PK (P2PK- The 

Ministry of Finance Department), Indonesian Institute of 

Accountants (IAI), The Financial Service Authority (OJK), 

Indonesian Stock Exchange (IDX), Indonesian Institute of 

Management Accountant (IAMI), Central Bank (BI) 

governments’ banks (Bank Mandiri, BRI, BNI, BTN), and 

listed companies.  

- 28 October 2016 was in Jakarta: The publication of the 

guidance of 6 (six) questions and answers (QA) related to 

auditing standards (SPAP), ethics’ code, manual quality for 
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Organizations Descriptions 

audit firm, as well as the practical problems in audit service.  

- 6 October 2016 was in Surabaya: Introduction and preview of 

the AQIs’ exposure draft. The chief of IAPI said that it will be 

emailed to all the members of IAPI for feedback, and will be 

discussed in FGD.     

IAI - 16 November 2016: Public hearing- the exposure draft of 

professional accountants’ ethics code” in Jakarta (the adoption 

from the Handbook of the Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants 2016 edition) 

- 15 November 2016: Introduce the ASEAN CPA application 

process and the establishment of Accountancy Monitoring 

Committee Indonesia (AMCI) 

- 26 September 2016: IAI released Accounting standard (PSAK) 

No. 70 supporting the Tax Amnesty Policy determined by 

Government 

- 26 July 2016: CA Indonesia (IAI) officially becomes the 

member of the 9th Chartered Accountants Worldwide. The total 

members of this association is nine; CA Australia & New 

Zealand, ICAEW, CA Ireland, CA Scotland, ISCA Singapore, 

SAICA South Africa, ICAP Pakistan, ZiCa Zambia, and CA 

IAI is the ninth member of  (CAW)  

Source: IAPI, 2016; IAI, 2016 

The table above shows that the progress of the Audit Quality Indicators preparation in Indonesia 

which is now in the distribution phase to all members of the IAPI and awaiting their feedbacks 

on the matter. PB02 says: 

“[…] we are now awaiting feedback from the members, since the draft distribution began 

in October 2016, in the big cities (6 cities). We have also consulted the ACRA to improve 

it and will continue with the following steps […].” 

  

When he was asked about why the AQIs is crucial, he replies: 

“AQIs is expected to be a tool to inform us, the regulators, about audit quality as we 

cannot conclude our position that we have attained the desired quality level. We may 

have different perceptions in the evaluation of our audit quality as in good, moderate or 

bad [...]. They may say any opinion because there is no standard assessment.” 

 

Similar reply was made by PB03 in different a place and occasion, he says: 
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“[…] to be honest I cannot give any opinion if I am being asked about the position of our 

audit quality because we have no determined parameter yet. Based on my best 

understanding the audit quality may be assessed according to someone else’s interest, 

whether an investor, a regulator, a practitioner, and other stakeholders. They have their 

own parameters to decide whether the audit quality of “a certain audit firm” for example 

is good or not. […]. Later, the AQIs may aid the decision making of the audit 

committees, investors or managers. It also influences an audit firm’s (practitioner’s) 

practices.”  

Thus, three benefits have been identified with the AQIs’ implementation which is firstly, 

providing information to the regulators about AQ, secondly, helping or guiding the investors or 

managers to make decisions, and lastly, the AQIs will influence the practices of audit firms 

(practitioners).  

6.3.3 Other Efforts of Regulators 

The section below presents other regulator’s efforts, apart from the abovementioned regulatory 

efforts, which also influence the enhancement and the improvement of AQ. 

6.3.3.1 Quality Inspection or Review 

The regulators’ quality inspection or review is considered to be as one of the factor to improve 

AQ (Beattie et al, 2015; Carcello, Hollingsworth & Mastrolia, 2011). RG01 and PB03 stated that 

the auditors in Indonesia (practitioners) are subject to a multi-layered supervision system. 

According to the current legal basis, the authorized body to conduct inspection is the P2PK, to 

ensure compliance by all auditors with the auditing standards (instead of other bodies such as the 

OJK, IDX and BPK)41. Moreover, the auditors of companies that engaged in the capital market 

activities are subject to additional oversight by the OJK.  Then, the IAPI also has a peer-review 

system in place for its members. PB03 says: 

                                                             
41 Both have certain requirements of inspected audit firms, and less scope compare to P2PK authorization.  
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“[…] IAPI has a regular quality peer-review program to monitor the compliance of our 

members with the professional auditing standards and code of ethics. […] our Discipline 

and Investigation Division (DDI) which has a team called the Committee of Discipline 

and Investigation (KDI) consists of seven persons who have the competency and 

experience working as independent auditors from reputable audit firms.”   

 

Hence, the regulators as well as the professional bodies are responsible for monitoring and taking 

the necessary actions when a member does not comply with the ethical or professional standards, 

and will face sanctions. 

 

According to RG03 and RG01 the P2PK performs both on-site inspection and desk review on a 

sample basis to determine the level of compliance with the applicable regulations and standards. 

The findings are deduced from the performed reviews. Based on the manual procedures used by 

the regulators, the table below shows the detail administrative finding’s category. 

Table 6.10  

The administrative category of inspection findings 

 
Source: P2PK, 2016 

Table 6.10 shows the administrative category of inspection findings.  The findings are divided 

into two categories the audit firm findings and the partner findings. The partner finding may be 

called as AP finding. The detailed explanation of the inspection findings will be discussed in the 

next section. 
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6.3.3.1.1 Type of Finding and Sanction 

According to the recent manual procedure on conducting quality review or inspection, the 

category finding of this inspection for public accountants known as an administrative finding. 

RG01 and RG02 explained that the administrative findings may trigger a sanction. RG01 added 

that the classification of sanctions is stated in the UU no 5/ 2011 article 53, e.g. administrative 

sanction. Administrative sanction an action taken as part of a response to a condition where 

standards, policy, procedures, or rule of behavior has been violated, include: 1) recommendation 

to prepare a certain action plan for improvement; 2) written warning; 3) limit the scope of 

providing service for certain client’s industry; 4) limit the scope of providing service; 5) license 

suspension; 6) license revocation; and 7) imposing fines. 

“Act no. 5/2011 has already stipulated the sanction that will be imposed on the 

practitioners. […] the sanction will be given according to the cases, whether the case is 

obtained from the inspection findings, from malpractice report, or other users’ report.” 

 

Then, a question was asked about if there is any audit firm that has been sued in a court. He 

answers: 

“[…] there are only very few cases in which the practitioner or audit firm has been sued 

in a court. The last case was in 2015. We have revoked one of the practitioner’s licenses. 

Article 55 regulates criminal sanctions as well as, for example manipulation, deceiving 

and etc.” 

  

Another form of sanction stated in the same law of Article 55 is about criminal sanctions which 

may also be applied if necessary. In a circumstance where a practitioner with the intention to 

deceive, manipulate or cause losses to other people or party, falsify records shall be the subject to 

imprisonment.  There are only few cases in which audit firms have been sued in an Indonesian 

court, and up till now no audit firm has been sued for the substandard work by a third party. 

However, as discussed as well on section 6.3.1.1.4 that regarding sanctions and related matter, 
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the regulators consider focusing more on providing guidance rather than sanctioning or policing 

the accountants. As long as the matter is not considered as a criminal violence, the regulators will 

keep them a guidance to be better profession. The detail inspection and review of the AQ, 

discusses on the next section. 

6.3.3.1.2 Inspection Schedule and Realization  

As explained in the previous section that although only a few cases in which an audit firm or its 

practitioner has been sued in court, discussing the inspection and its relationship with AQ in the 

era of government regulations is very important (Defond, 2010; Lennox et al, 2009). There are 

several reasons that the inspection or review influence the AQ, and Defond (2010) stated that one 

of the interesting reasons is the auditor’s incentives, since the incentives are most commonly 

associated and expected by practitioners while conducting the implementation of AQ in their 

practices.  

In the case of Indonesia, the government regulation era has designed the inspection to be 

performed regularly every year. RG02 explained that the sample basis for the selection of the 

inspection’s objects is stated in the Standards Operating Procedures (SOP) of P2PK:  

“There are at least three conditions of which an audit firm will be considered for an 

inspection: 1) The Big 10 audit firms category 2) inspection cycle of audit firms and 3) 

internal evaluation or analysis result/ report regarding the audit firm’s profile and 

engagement risk since the regulators apply risk based inspection. The Regulator have 

decided that the inspection cycle will be in 3-4 years for an on-site inspection on the audit 

firm and its partners”   

A statement of PB02, who is one of the professional body’s board members, said that the 

schedule of quality peer-review which is conducted by the IAPI has taken into consideration the 

inspection schedule of the P2PK. He says: 
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“[…] in terms of deciding our peer-review schedule, we also consider the schedule of 

P2PK, why? Because we do not want to put a burden on our members, since it will be 

hard. They have to face twice or even three times of similar inspections and reviews from 

different agencies. Moreover, the previous fee for the IAPI peer-review fee that must be 

paid by the audit firms is around Rp 15 million.  

 

He adds: 

 

This year (in 2016), we will provide a free of charge quality peer-review and the schedule 

will be decided by IAPI.  Just waiting for the agenda to be implemented, […] next month 

we will inform about this policy to our members (Decree of IAPI No. 10/2016). 

However, if we are asked to do peer-review (voluntarily), they will have to pay us, 

because they do not follow the schedule. But, if the audit firms ask the KDI to come, that 

will be different case.”  

 

The finding shows that the regulators with their effort have answered the issue of audit firms 

facing a high compliance fee, particularly in the quality inspection or review activity.  The 

regulators have a few numbers of inspectors as compared to the number of audit firms and their 

partners. However, they work based on their specified target and optimize the available 

resources, and put in place a respective agreement in preparing the inspection schedule with the 

IAPI to avoid overlapping with the IAPI’s quality review program.  The audit cycle of every 

audit firm and its partners to be inspected by the P2PK is for every 3-4 years. The figure below 

illustrates the number P2PK inspection activity for three years.  
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Figure 6.4  

Number of inspection activity by year: 2013 to 2015 

Source: P2PK, 2015 

The figure shows that the number of inspection activity vary for one year to another. In 2013, 65 

audit firms were inspected without being categorized by size, while in 2014 the number of 

inspected audit firm decreases to 50 audit firms, and in the subsequent year the number slightly 

increases to 57 firms. In 2014 and 2015, the inspected audit firms were categorized by size. 

Based on the interviews with the participants who are also inspectors (RG02 and RG04 and the 

division’s team), the varying numbers of the inspected audit firms were based on the selection 

criteria as mentioned before, and the P2PK’s Key Performance Indicators (KPI) as well as being 

determined by the government. Every year an official will monitor and evaluate the achievement 

of a specify target, and this will be adjusted and increased to show the continuous improvements 

on their duty and responsibility. The average percentage of the inspected audit firms is about 

11%-17% from the total number of audit firms in Indonesia during the three-year period. 

According to the inspection reports from the last three years (2013 to 2015), the finding is 
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dominated by the administrative findings, and a critical sanction was imposed on a practitioner 

who had his license suspended in 2015.  

The quality review is not only conducted by P2PK, but also performed by the IAPI. IAPI 

reported it in its annual report, asserted that they have inspected thirteen audit firms and twenty-

one public accountants (AP) from January till September of 2016. The data is described in Figure 

6.5 below. 

 
Figure 6.5  

The total number of IAPI’s Quality Review Program 

Source: IAPI, 2016 

The figure shows that the IAPI has conducted the quality peer-review on its members every year 

based on the schedule provided by the Discipline and Investigation Division (DDI). DDI has 

instructed the Committee of Discipline and Investigation (KDI) team to conduct the review and 

report it back to DDI. Then DDI will send the final report to the board of IAPI. The object42 of 

the IAPI’s quality review is different than the inspection object which were determined by P2PK. 

                                                             
42 The object means the object of quality review/ inspection program conducted by IAPI or P2PK. They may audit 

firms or individual public accountants. 
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However, they consistently communicating with each other to avoid overlapping the activity of 

the same object in the same year. Thus, by doing so, the coverage of quality review or inspection 

of the audit firms in Indonesia will be wider. The annual report of the IAPI including the result 

of the reviews, usually is presented in the Annual General Meeting and will also be shared with 

the P2PK.  

The various efforts that have been conducted including quality inspection program. 

Consequently, these stimulate the expectation of the regulators regarding the efforts on the 

regulatory changes and the following section will examine these further.  

6.4 Regulators’ Expectation on Regulatory Changes 

Chapter 4 explains that the core of institutional theory is to show that regulatory changes as 

efforts of regulators in Indonesia can be described through social construction of reality, want to 

achieve AQ as a legitimacy agenda of the country (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). Thus, this is the 

general expectation of providing and conducting regulatory efforts. Particularly, their efforts 

have pushed the quality of the audit practitioners to a higher level. All of the participants were 

particularly asked about their opinions and views on the expectation of their efforts and the 

developments that have been carried out. The expectation in this case were influenced by the 

factual data that improvement on audit quality has been achieved. Overall data supports the 

positive expectations from the regulators as well as from the professional bodies.  

Based on the analysis, in which the coding categories were derived directly from the data, there 

are two themes that describe the importance of their expectations: (1) the internal side of the 

practitioners; and (2) the five aspects of the external side of the practitioners. 
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6.4.1 Regulators’ Expectation on the Internal Side of the Practitioners  

The internal side of the practitioners including expectation on monetary value added and non-

monetary value added. 

6.4.1.1 Monetary Value Added 

The expectation on the internal side of the practitioners on monetary value added is related to the 

value of money and this refers to the audit fee (financial benefit). The regulators perceived that 

higher audit fee will motivate practitioners to provide higher quality of service because 

practitioners can do more with a better audit fee. Additionally, the clients will be pleased with 

the high quality of service as it would be deemed worthy of every penny spent on a well-done 

job. AP05 (he is one of the boards members of both the IAI and the IAPI as well as a 

practitioner). He says: 

“[…] this regulation may improve the profession in term of financial benefit, or we can 

say the client may pay according to the value for the money spent because they assumed 

that they will get better service by paying more fees to the practitioners.”   

 

A Similar opinion from AP04, he claims: 

  

“That will be easily for us to decide and discuss the rate of fee as long as the client feel 

the worthiness of our value added […].” 

 

RG04 also shared the same view about audit fee, he says: 

“[…] we invited several parties, such as the preparers, users, banks (investors), and 

practitioners. One of the agenda was about audit quality. Audit quality is a very complex 

thing. One interesting issue in audit quality was low audit fee. It led to low audit quality. 

Although there are still several factors […]”. 

Their views show that there is an association between audit fee and AQ. These are also 

consistent with most empirical studies concerning AQ and audit fees which signify that higher 

fees paid to the auditors can affect audit quality (Choi, Kim & Zang, 2010; Deis & Giroux, 1996; 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

185 

 

Hossain, 2013; and Venkataraman, Weber & Willenborg, (2008), in a way that the auditors may 

increase the efforts exerted and thus, increase the AQ.   

6.4.1.2 Non-monetary Value Added  

Apart from the monetary value added, there is also the regulators’ expectation on the non-

monetary valued added. PB01 explains: 

“The government and IAPI have already done enough efforts in regulation and so on. It 

depends on the practitioners. Of course, we expect that the regulatory changes and efforts 

to improve competency because they nurture a continuous learning habit, be better in 

attitude and mental state, and that will improve the quality of this profession […].” 

Regarding the non- monetary value added he says that: 

“[…] instead of getting monetary value added, the non-monetary value such as reputation 

is also being expected here […].” 

RG02 also claims: 

“What we are doing is for this profession to be better in all aspects and that’s the way to 

realize a better audit quality. By having these changes in Indonesia, the audit industry 

will be improved, will open new market opportunities, and, then these may decrease the 

gap among audit firms or practitioners [...].” 

About the audit industry in Indonesia, RG01 says: 

“[…] from the demand side, we expect that the market of this profession will be better 

and expanded, the people will appreciate this profession as its nature not only due to 

formality (…..).” 

In addition, RG01, RG02, RG04 and PB01 agreed that being more professional accountant is one 

of the regulator’s expectations regarding to the regulatory changes Besides that, the regulators 

also expect that by having regulatory efforts the profession will be protected legally and it may 

eventually decrease the gap among practitioners (e.g. gap in resources and market share). 
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As mentioned above, the regulators’ expectations on the non-monetary value added include the 

awareness of being a more professional accountant, i.e. improving the competency, having a 

good reputation, better attitude and mentally, and be competitive. The regulators also expect that 

the profession will be protected legally, and decrease the gap among them. The following section 

discusses the regulators’ expectation on the external side of the practitioners. 

6.4.2 Regulators’ Expectation on the External Side of the Practitioners   

Another expectation of the regulators is on the external side of the practitioner.  The regulators 

try to see the interest from the stakeholders’ side, since the role of practitioner is to provide 

assurance on a business’s financial statements to the stakeholders. There are three mains 

expectations from the external side of the practitioners, namely: protecting the public interest, 

improving the awareness of stakeholders, preparers and users, and optimizing the function of 

KPAP. The detailed views and explanations are discussed in the section below.   

6.4.2.1 Protecting the Public Interest 

As explained above, the role of the practitioners on a business’ financial statements is crucial. 

High quality audit which is based on these statements provide the necessary information to 

influence investment decisions, which in turn will have a direct benefit on the business and 

economy in general (Datar, Feltham, & Hughes, 1991; DeFond & Zhang, 2014; Duréndez, 2003; 

Francis & Wang, 2008). Hence, because of that reason, the regulators expect that the efforts 

through regulatory changes may protect the public interest. RG01 explains that: 

” One of the main purposes of the regulation is protecting the public interest regarding 

the service they obtained from the practitioners […].” 
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Because of this practitioners’ role, the service given must meet the regulation. However, one of 

the professional bodies board members, PB04 said that due to financial statements, the one who 

is responsible and understood not only accountants, but also other stakeholders. Each of party 

has its own responsibility. If an accountant has responsibility on the audited financial statements, 

the management of entity has its own duty and responsibility to present the financial statements 

fairly and transparent. Likewise, with other party like investor or a bank. One more aspect that 

should be understood by other parties (stakeholders) is the role of accountants in auditing and its 

relationship with the financial. Thus, they have to understand full awareness of this matter, 

particularly relates to the regulatory changes that has taken place. PB04 says:   

“[…] the one who should be educated about any changes so far are not only the 

accountants (practitioners), but also another parties to support the regulators’ efforts to 

improve the audit quality in Indonesia [..]. Practitioners cannot work alone. The 

stakeholders are also part of the process” 

She adds that: 

“Most of the people are not aware of the role of a public accountant. We need to do 

more for this profession. If they know the profession’s role and, their own roles, it will 

be easier to implement any policy, because all parties concerned have the same 

perception. We also need to promote this profession to attract fresh graduate […]. Have 

you ever asked the accounting students? What public accountant is?” […] This 

profession should be popular among them.” 

It shows that the regulators not only consider protecting the public interest regarding the 

practitioners’ service, but also involving other parties to support the regulators’ policies, since in 

the audit quality’s elements, practitioners are not working alone but also require the support from 

the stakeholders. In addition, this profession should be popular among the fresh graduate.  

AQ is a complex subject among the parties involved. Every party has its own definition audit 

quality (Martin, 2013). The AQ term is frequently used in debates among regulators, users, 
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stakeholders, preparers, standard setters and even practitioners (Francis, 2011). For these 

reasons, the IAASB have developed a framework for AQ in 2014 which involved all elements 

and interactions. It states that: 

“The framework distinguishes five elements, they are: input factors, process factors, 

output factors, key interaction with the financial reporting supply chain, and contextual 

factors.  

(IAASB, p. 05) 

Hence, based on the statement above the regulators should consider other elements that affect 

AQ, so that they can also protect the public interest against the misconducts of the practitioners 

and create the same perspective among the parties involved.  It also shows that AQ should be 

supported by many parties in order to achieve and implement it properly.   

6.4.2.2 Optimizing the Function of KPAP 

KPAP is a new agency under MOF. It was established based on the requirement of international 

organization (P2PK, 2016; ROSC, 2011). RG04 explained that according to Government Rule 

No. 84/2012, KPAP is an Oversight Committee consisting of officials and professional’s 

members, that one of its function is to provide recommendation to the Minister and acts as an 

appeal committee against imposition of administrative sanctions. However, so far, no practitioner 

has utilized its function. The establishment of this agent is also expected to support high-quality 

auditing practice in Indonesia. He added that the purpose of this committee is to improve the 

transparency and the accountability in order to develop, empower and supervise the profession in 

term of providing the services. He asserts: 

“[…] the committee members are from various parties, such as the MOF’s elements, 

association of professions, Supreme Audit Board for public sector auditor (BPK), Capital 

Market authority, Banking authority, academicians, users, standards setters, Research and 

High Education Ministry, and standard boards (professional, sharia, accounting). This 
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committee will be the bridge among the parties in order to further strengthen the 

effectiveness of monitoring and enforcement mechanism, which will have impact on 

enhancing AQ.”  

 

It shows that KPAP has a very important role for the profession, and represents all parties in the 

audit industry. Then, regarding the regulators’ efforts, particularly due to the establishment of 

KPAP, RG01 then continued with another expectation. He says:  

“[…] the people appreciate this profession due to its nature and not only for its formality, 

they will get the trust back from the market, and ask KPAP to do their work and role.” 

 

Therefore, they expect that this profession may expand the potential market, receive actual 

appreciation from the users (not formally) as explained in the previous section, consider this 

profession as crucial to business, then regain the trust back and also optimize the function of 

KPAP to publicize it. Hence, KPAP provides a lot of agendas such as conducting socializations, 

accepting complaints (of professionals or society), providing recommendation and suggestion to 

the Minister of Finance regarding the accountants’ profession.   

 

As explained above, about the function of KPAP, so far, the KPAP have invited several parties 

such as bankers, preparers, and other stakeholders to socialize the current regulations as well as 

discuss about the public accountants’ profession. However, the expectation of conducting the 

socialization program, did not meet the intended target.  RG04 says: 

“[…] we invited several parties to discuss about audit quality as well as the quality of 

financial statements. However, the outcome is not as our expectation. We need to do more 

similar programs to publicize regulatory changes with a different approach. We show them 

what has actually happened in this business, regarding to the accounting profession. We 

hope we may optimize our function, especially for the profession’s improvements.”     
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Even, RG02 claims: 

“The program which was conducted at that time by KPAP had invited the wrong target 

participants. That’s why the goal was not achieved as we had expected [...]. Although we 

understand that all the efforts support the improvement of our audit quality, but still […].” 

The comments given above show that most of the views and data support the efforts on the 

improvements of AQ, and the regulators have given sufficient efforts for that. The KPAP still 

have duties and one of them which is still considered as ineffective is to give awareness of the 

importance of the regulatory changes in Indonesia, not only to practitioners but also to users, 

investors, emitter, emission, preparers and even to academicians. PG02 added that KPAP has to 

find another strategy to optimize its function. Following the function of KPAP, the section below 

discusses in more detail regarding the last expectation of the regulators on their effort to heighten 

the awareness of other parties, in order to support and enhance AQ.  

6.4.2.3 Improving the Awareness of Other Parties  

As explained in the previous sections about the concept of AQ which not only focus on the 

practitioners but varies according to the parties concerned such as the preparers, users, other 

stakeholders and even the academicians, the regulators must also strive to improve the awareness 

of these parties. In the perspective of institutional theory, it means that this perspective pays 

attention to the representative aspect of social life (Scott, 2001). Thus, the interaction among 

these parties is like a product of social life. So far, most of the perspectives only concern with the 

practitioners who have obligated to improve AQ in their own. Since every party involved in a 

business environment has its own definition and view about the concept of AQ, would be 

impossible for the practitioners to maintain and provide a high level of AQ without the support 

from them (Martin, 2013).  



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

191 

 

As explained in 6.4.2.1 there are five elements in a framework of AQ. One of the elements is key 

interaction. Key interaction refers to interaction within the financial reporting supply chain. The 

financial supply chain consists of regulators, users, auditors, management and Those Charge 

with Governance (TCWG). Thus, this supply chain plays an important role in supporting high- 

quality financial reporting; the way in which those parties (supply chain) interact can have a 

particular impact on AQ (IAASB, 2013). This is the main reason why it is imperative for the 

regulators to improve the awareness of other parties on AQ. RG02 says: 

“The interaction here means the communication among parties, formal or informal 

communication. This will be influenced by the context in which the audit is performed. 

This also allows for a dynamic relationship among parties. For example, the 

communication between auditor and the audit committee of a multinational company 

(listed company). They may discuss about the audit plan for certain audit procedure to 

involve a specialist. Using a specialist is a symptom of good audit quality 

implementation. The communication like this may contribute to high AQ.” 

He adds: 

“In a small company, the discussion usually will involve the company’s owner and the 

auditor. This discussion also may contribute to the improvement of conducting high audit 

quality, since the auditor understands well regarding the objective of the owner of having 

an audited financial statement report. As we all know that every private company (small 

or medium company) has a different purpose to have an audit service. It is quite a 

different reason from the multinational company’s purpose. For them audited financial 

statements is a mandatory, but not for private one.” 

A particular effort of the regulators in order to improve the awareness of other stakeholders is 

also explained in 6.4.2.1. RG02 said that they have invited several stakeholders to be 

familiarized with the AQ although the result of the program did not achieve its target as 

expected. They have planned other collaborative programs with the IAI, OJK, DJP and other 

relevant regulators for this purpose. The main goal is to provide “good supply chain” as 

mentioned by the IAASB. Example of such programs are the collaborative meeting between 
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IAPI and other regulators (see 6.3.1.1.5 table 6.8) and collaborative program with universities 

and the IAI to synchronize the curriculum, conduct workshop for academicians, provide modules 

for CPA review program and provide CPA test centers.   

In short, to improve the awareness of the other parties about AQ, according to two of the board 

members of the IAPI there are two factors influence the AQ in Indonesia, namely system and 

environment. The efforts which have been conducted by the regulators so far are in order to 

improve the system and environment of AQ. The PB03 claims: 

“[...] by designing a system and environment in this area, high audit quality will be 

achieved easily. The system here means at data base and a data center. Every party will 

check the report at the data center, and then they will ensure the quality, since there will 

be something to be cross-checked. And of course, it takes time to provide all. However, 

we are on the right track now. All the efforts are going in the same direction that is AQ.” 

Another board member of the IAPI (PB02) says: 

“This is not an easy way to improve the system and environment among the practitioners 

and the stakeholders. But, this is crucial and has to be carried out gradually. We have to 

make them aware at times. There is not enough with one or two programs, it should be 

continuing improvements to all targets (preparers, users, auditors, universities etc.) […].”  

 

 

Nevertheless, one the IAPI’s board member has a different reaction about most of the regulatory 

efforts, PB04 argues: 

“I am not sure that the efforts will give impact on the improvement of AQ. Everything is 

regulated and controlled, but they (regulators) should understand well that this profession 

to have or to issue a suitable law […] just take for an example of client’s selection. How 

can they implement it? The selection procedure, whereas getting a client is something 

precious for them, is a big fortune […]. They should consider the priority, which one 

should be conducted first.” 

 

The above discussion illustrates how the regulators try to identify the suitable efforts to improve 

the awareness of all parties to enhance AQ and how these efforts should be supported by all of 

them who are involved in the financial reporting supply chain. The discussion also shows how 
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they should put their role in this interaction which may contribute to AQ. The evidence shows 

that the understanding of auditors about their clients’ interest to be audited may be obtained by 

having a close communication. The implication of this practice is that, when the communication 

among them can work well, the auditors will understand the appropriate actions that should be 

conducted in their audit procedures to fulfill the requirements of the other parties in term of 

expecting high AQ. This is another expectation of the regulators related to the efforts which have 

been conducted by them. In order to support this, a data center is required as a source of 

information for the auditors to analyze the requirements of the stakeholders. Hence, all the 

among parties involved will understand the interest of each other that is supported by a reliable 

data, then the expected system and environment in this profession can be realized, and eventually 

the enhancement of AQ can be improved by means of improving the awareness of other parties.  

 

6.5 The Challenges Faced by Regulators  

This section answers the last empirical question of this chapter. The findings suggest that all the 

efforts that are carried out by the MOF agencies and the professional bodies must operate in an 

effective AQ framework. In other words, a high-level AQ in Indonesia can be accomplished 

through effective regulatory developments. In order to achieve that the functions of the 

regulators are separated to avoid and reduce the probable regulations are overlapping and interest 

of other groups from outside of the profession. If not, the regulators will face challenges that 

might hinder the progress of achieving high AQ. Based on the data obtained, majority of the 

participants stated about the challenges they faced during initiating regulatory changes. The 

challenges can be divided into two factors, namely, political and practical challenges.  
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6.5.1 Political Factor of Challenge  

As explained in the previous section that the auditing profession cannot be separated from the 

regulations on the other hand is inseparable from political factor (Milne, 1998). While the AQ 

mandated to the regulators to consider the practitioners in their practice, the implementation 

however showed signs of political challenges. The political challenges started at the beginning of 

the year 2000 when the pressure to have Act for practitioners (CPA) had to be realized. RG01 

says: 

“The process of issuing the CPA Act had faced some challenges. The challenge began 

since the rule-making. It took more than 10 years to finalize it.”  

RG03 adds: 

“It’s not only the process of rule- making of the regulation, but also once we socialized 

it. There were various reactions about it.” 

Back in the year 2000, the regulators proposed the draft for Law No. 5/ 2011 to parliament and it 

took them more than 10 years to be finally granted a nod in 2011. The main reasons were due to 

the arguments concerning the importance of the law (value added) and the conflict of interest 

among parties involved.   

Surprisingly, one of the IAPI’s board members also had expressed a different reaction about 

most of the regulatory efforts, especially regarding to UU 5/2011. According to RG04, the 

issuing of the said law involved a very high cost with a very limited contribution to AQ. RG04 

claims: 

“The issuing of UU 5/2011 was very phenomenal. The number of partners in audit firms 

was around 1000 something was thought by 700 members of parliament, and also it took 

more than 10 years to make it done. In fact, there is no direct effect to the profession, 

especially to AQ.” 

 

However, RG04 adds with a contrast view to the previous statements, she says: 
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“[…] still the profession needs regulations if we want to survive and prosper around the 

globe, especially with all the international pressures. Hence, regulation matters, more 

specifically it matters who regulate what, how and why the basis of what title, at what 

cost and with what consequences. One thing, don’t forget to involve the profession since 

they know what actually happen in practice.” 

 

In this case, RG04 showed something important that has been left out, particularly related to the 

process of law-making. She stated that the rule of law should take into account that some degree 

of governmental intervention to some extent is required; however, this intervention requires 

check and balance for the necessary accountability and prevents arbitrary and unfair actions. 

Thus, all parties involved whether direct or indirect must accept and understand that the 

regulatory changes have occurred.  

  

6.5.2 Practical Factor of Challenge 

The practical factor is another challenge faced by the regulators besides the political factor. 

Practical factor usually concerned with the actual doing and real-life situation unlike the political 

factor which involve the law-making process and legal technicalities. The practical factor that 

follows after the new law was promulgated has raised an issue. The actual doing or situation in 

certain article in UU 5/2011 is irrelevant in the practitioners’ point of view as the particular 

article categorizes incomplete and inadequate audit working paper as a criminal act. The raising 

issue of this article is the absent of a clear definition of completeness and adequateness of audit 

working paper. AP02 explains: 

“[…] how do we decide whether this working paper is complete and adequate? This article 

is bias. The implementation may be inconsistent and tendentious. We should be more 

careful about this “criminal act” term, as well as the definition of completeness and 

adequateness. In our audit standards we have our own term that not all the people 

understand this. So how come “a court” for example judges a practitioner that he/ she hasn’t 

completed the audit working paper then classify his/her action as a criminal act. This is a 
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really serious matter. There should be something that explains the detail about it. Thus, no 

party will feel taken into a risky position. Everything should be clear.”  

 

So, practically, the inconsistency can be mitigated by developing clear definitions and 

conducting thorough reviews on the prevailing legislations, thus ensure if the more technical 

regulations will provide clauses that will likely be against the higher legislations, such reasons 

also need to be clearly explained. 

 

Another reason that this law only focuses and is publicized to the practitioners but a matter of 

fact, to enhance AQ through regulations, the new law should be made known to all relevant 

parties. AP04 says: 

“The regulators should never stop socializing and promoting audit quality to all parties 

concerned. Considering the available Act, it seems only the practitioners carry this 

responsibility on their shoulders. They rest have no idea about audit quality. They thought 

that if we talk about auditing matter, it is an issue of auditor.’  

 

 

PB03 and RG02 acknowledged that the awareness of other parties concerning the UU 5/2011 

and its responsibility is still low. This law is unlike the Tax Amnesty Act, which is publicized all 

over Indonesia.  

 

Another challenge at the publicized stage of the new law is the implementation step in every 

audit firm. However, the implementation is believed to be ineffective since the resources gap 

among audit firms in Indonesia is very wide, especially for the small audit firms. RG02 says: 

“The capacities of small and medium audit firms are inadequate to implement the auditing 

framework, to comply with the new standards, and also the capacity to deal with 

competitors in the market while facing the compliance costs have become one of our 

considerations in finding a strategic way for them. It doesn’t mean that we are taking their 

side but rather to narrow the gap with the big firms, and we have a program for that. Above 
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all, we also need a good enforcement system of to ensure the regulators efforts can be 

implemented well.” 

The above condition holds true that Indonesia is one of the countries where the legal framework 

is still not well implemented, and the enforcement is a crucial aspect after the enactment of a 

certain law and regulation process.  This matter is also one of the challenges that are faced by the 

regulators in their efforts to the improve AQ and the regulators believe that enforcement may be 

one of the factors to create a good reputation for the practitioners and influence an effective 

implementation of AQ. This also means that the regulations may cause a positive consequence to 

push the auditors to perform a higher level of audit quality. (Defond & Lennox, 2011; Francis, 

2011). 

6.6 Discussions      

This dissertation intends to examine how the regulatory changes influence the AQ developments 

and implementations in Indonesia. This study has utilized the basic framework of institutional 

theory of DiMaggio & Powell (1983) to show how the global pressure from the international 

institutions have influenced the regulatory changes in term of conducting the efforts and 

improvements on AQ. Through the three different mechanisms offered by this theory, the 

regulators placed their roles into these efforts and improvements, as the institutional analysis 

focuses on the actors, and the main actors in this discussion is the regulators themselves. In 

addition, this chapter also uses regulative pillars as a lens for analysis, since the regulatory 

efforts change more in the regulative aspects and put it as the foundation of the efforts 

conducted. 

The issue involving financial scandals in the early 2001’s had forced the policy makers to revise 

and amend the auditing approaches which have significantly affected the accounting profession 
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(Asthana, Balsam & Kim, 2009). Thus, the Indonesian regulators have responded accordingly to 

meet the global as well as the local demands to address and improve its AQ. Several efforts were 

conducted by the regulators because of these pressures (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). In order to 

examine the existence of this institutional pressures, and its level of influence on the country’s 

regulatory efforts, the pressures are possible to be clear in the environment in which international 

organizations decided certain requirements and recommendation that Indonesia shall follow to 

get legitimacy as well as efficiency. The IMF, World Bank, IFAC are the organizations that 

recommended Indonesia accounting profession’s environment to improve its AQ (DiMaggio & 

Powell, 1983). Since then, according to participants that several regulatory efforts are performed 

in order to enhance AQ as an institution. As explained on Chapter 4 that AQ as institution 

because it constrains professions’ behavior. They are subjected to rules and regulations, and 

fulfilled written (formal) or unwritten (informal) rules. AQ is endeavored by accounting 

regulators which means formal organizations under the MOF as well as professional bodies, 

supported by legal backing such as acts and regulations, and facilitated or completed with the 

adoption of international standards. Thus, because of the achievement of this institution, then the 

legitimacy and other benefit of this country will be received (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983; Scott, 

2008).   

 

As explained before, the starting point of the discussion on AQ initiatives is in the year 2007. 

Since that year, further efforts and significant improvements on regulatory changes, whether at 

the ASEAN regional level or at the country level efforts have actively been carried out. The 

efforts carried out at the ASEAN regional level do not only portray the roles and commitment 

performed by the Indonesian regulators, but also shows part of the collaborative efforts among the 
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ASEAN countries. While at the country level, the regulators focus on the enhancement of the 

statutory and institutional framework. This refers to how the basis of effective regulations is put 

in place, including the issuance of CPA act, the adoption of international standards and the re-

structuring of the institutional drivers of AQ. These efforts illustrate how they provide the 

foundation for compliance (regulative, normative, and cultural-cognitive) and legitimacy of the 

country in general and particularly, on the accounting profession.  The impact of these efforts 

and the development in enhancing AQ before 2007 are almost non-existence and deem as “un-

achievable dream”. The government back then, was focused on bureaucratic reformation 

especially after the global financial crisis in 1997/1998. However, due to the international 

institutional pressures, the government shifted its attention and considered to improve 

Indonesian’s accounting profession and its AQ.   

The pre-2007 period is the starting point for the government to get seriously involved with the 

auditing profession in order to enhance its quality in Indonesia. They have taken a more active 

role to supervise and develop the profession especially regarding the admission and practicing 

license. The purpose is to ensure the quality of service provided by either the local or foreign 

accountants were systematically conducted. During this period, most of the certified accountants 

work in government offices while some are employed by the private audit firms and the 

government moves has opened up opportunity for accounting graduates from private universities 

to apply and become public accountants, as the previous requirements are meant only for the 

government universities’ graduates and a privilege for the retired government auditors such as 

the BPKP. This period clearly marks the initial reaction of the Indonesian government’s policy in 

the auditing profession. In addition, the government’s effort to improve the quality of the 
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profession has elevated the relationship between the regulators and the practitioners to a new 

level. 

During the post year of 2007, the efforts which are conducted by the regulators are more 

comprehensive and directly address the profession. The efforts also show that the regulators have 

put a consistent legal framework in line with the global changes to meet the demands and 

manage an integrated mechanism between accounting and auditing, since both cannot be 

separated to achieve a better AQ implementation as well as reporting quality in Indonesia. 

However, the regulators are aware that developing effective legal and regulatory framework shall 

take into consideration of the consistency aspects, since there is still other prevailing legislation, 

and thus meeting and discussion with other agencies under the MOF is necessary to maintain the 

legal consistency aspect. In addition, this framework shall satisfy a number of requirements of 

the AQ practices and the consideration of market economy where all audit firms shall be granted 

equal access to commercial and legal certainty in carrying out their business activities. In doing 

so, the regulators have provided many programs to decrease the gap among the audit firms as 

well. This period also sets out the basic principles in promoting the profession among the parties 

concerned and the stakeholders in order to make them aware about the efficient and transparent 

auditing business climate, and accordingly, this shall be implemented along with the consistent 

law enforcement. 

In 2008, the issuance of the Finance Minister’s Decree No. 17/PMK/ 2008 regarding the CPA 

Service; became the first legal backing to this profession.  Under the ministerial regulation which 

affects the development, the regulation enables institutional underpinning to promote high- 

quality auditing and accounting practices in Indonesia. Following this decree, the MOF also 
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issued Decree No. 100/PMK.01/2008, the supervision of accountancy profession including the 

monitoring of the statutory auditors ‘professional activities, that falls under the purview of the 

MOF agency which was previously known as the Center for Supervision of Public Accountants 

and Appraiser Services (PPAJP) but currently known as P2PK. Since then the two regulations 

form the basis of establishing and operating various important agencies43 that underpin the 

accountancy profession as well as issuing stronger legal backing through appropriate national 

laws, not only under the ministerial regulation.  

On 3rd May 2011 the government enacted a stronger legal backing than the MOF decree, which 

was known as Act No. 5/2011 regarding the CPA. Later on, the government had issued the latest 

regulation related to the accounting profession which was known as the Government Regulation 

(PP) No. 20/2015. The enactment of the laws showed that Indonesia has made a remarkable 

progress and significant efforts in term of strengthening the legal backing for the accountancy 

profession. In addition, Indonesia is also committed in enhancing its AQ, although the 

government took ten years to approve one of new accounting laws due to political reasons. 

However, the new regulation had received criticism as the government had left out related issues 

while in the process of making the new regulation. One of the participants stated that the rule of 

law should take into account that governmental intervention to some extent is required but the 

intervention requires check and balance for a necessary accountability and to prevent arbitrary 

and avoid unfair actions. Thus, all parties will accept and understand that the regulatory changes 

have occurred and support the main goal of enhancing AQ.   

                                                             
43 Establishes an Oversight Committee consisting of government and the professions that provide recommendation 

to the Minister and acts as an appeal committee against imposition of administrative sanctions, called as KPAP; 

Financial Service Authority (OJK) and etc.  
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Based on the comparison of the two periods of auditing framework mentioned above, and 

according to the 14 major points, one can observe significant different in the auditor liability. 

Firstly, the enactment of Act 5/2011 on one side this Act serves as the legal backing for the CPA 

(auditor) and on the other side it protects the public who acquires the professional service. The 

public themselves must also play a role in this process since they are subjected to the violations 

on their rights and are in the best position to either file a complaint with the audit firms or, 

ultimately, with the regulatory and judicial bodies. In addition, the Act intended to make the 

auditors liable not only to the client’s company but also to other stakeholders and the third 

parties. The responsibility and liability is borne by the individual auditor and not the audit firm. 

Secondly, the practitioners have to maintain their practicing license by fulfilling the annual 

requirement of personal competency development, re-registering the license and renewing the 

professional membership status after the Act was put into effect whereas prior to the enactment 

they are not required to do so.  

 

Thirdly, the standard uses the principle- based standard according to the basis of integrative risk 

based thinking which requires the auditor to always consider professional skepticism before 

deciding on their professional judgment. Previously, they applied the rule-based standard which 

was full of procedures and relatively little knowledge is needed, since everything has already 

been decided in advanced (or intended). While the principle based standard is based on the actual 

condition that requires the auditors to have and use quite lot of knowledge to provide 

professional judgment.   
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The next is the involvement of the regulators in term of supervising the profession. Previously, 

auditing has gone from an essentially self-regulated profession prior to 2007 to one that is now 

highly supervised profession by the regulators. The term of this change strictly show much about 

what laws and regulations may, or may not, be able to accomplish in regard to AQ. In addition, 

this involvement also considers ensuring the sustainable development of auditing area 

particularly, and contributes to a clearer and healthier economy in general. The laws and 

regulations set out the basic rules of AQ with a few ones protecting the legitimate rights and 

obligations of shareholders, establishing standards for professional acts and morality of 

practitioners (auditors). Finally, the laws and regulations also serve as the basis for assessing the 

implementation of AQ. They represent a good start and show that AQ is being taken more 

seriously by the Indonesian professionals. As a result, the majority of the participants agreed that 

there is need to improve the quality of audit and further strengthened the effectiveness of 

monitoring and enforcement mechanism which will have an impact on enhancing AQ confidence 

in this profession’s service. This also need review laws and regulation to clarify such ambiguity, 

particularly due to role and responsibility of all parties involved in the AQ framework, thus will 

make the auditor’s liability clearly among them in the same definition. 

 

Besides the significant progress, there are three types of auditor’s liability mentioned on Article 

29 of to Act No. 5/2011, namely civil, administrative and criminal liabilities. However, this law 

has not stipulated stringently and clearly the liabilities, to which the licensed auditor is relevant. 

Under the current law, they are not required to carry professional indemnity insurance which 

commonly should be insured appropriately. This may cause ambiguity in the implementation of 

enforcing the current law and regulation. As evidence that there are only a few accounting firms 
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have been sued for sub- standard work by companies or other stakeholders, since particularly 

laws and regulation which may be applicable to the line of auditing profession are considered 

bias. However, the regulators consider that new law or regulations aim to provide guidance 

rather than policing the profession, resulting less legal burden on the auditors. 

 

Instead of the above efforts on the regulatory changes, the adoption of international standards, 

particularly the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) in 2013 and Ethic Codes in 2016 are 

other evidence of the regulatory changes that occurred in Indonesia. The adoption of auditing 

standards, code ethics as well as new quality control standards are sourced from the international 

standards issued by IFAC (P2PK, 2016).  In the context of the current regulations, for the 

practitioners, professional audit standards can be seen as ex ante regulator’s policy. Those 

standards are developed by the standard setter (professional body) to provide practitioners with 

an aid to fulfill their professional responsibilities as well as consider the professional qualities 

such as competency and independency. However, the auditing standards are very general, the 

power as a legal defense is uncertain and do not have the same authoritative as standards set by 

legislation.  

 

However, in order to ensure the implementation of the standards, inspection or quality review is 

conducted by the MOF agencies. The practitioners are subjected to a multi-layered supervision 

system. P2PK and IAPI conduct the inspections or quality reviews to ensure compliance with 

these standards by practitioners. Additionally, practitioners (auditors) of the companies engaged 

in capital market activities are also subjected to the supervision by the OJK. These inspections 

are performed as both regular inspection and incidental (for cause) investigative examination on 
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the practitioners in public service. Several participants viewed, that there is a need to avoid work 

redundancy by the OJK and P2PK, and find a solution to collaborative working. Finally, the 

remaining effort which is still in progress is waiting for the final draft of AQIs.       

 

The process through which regulators’ decision and efforts regarding the regulatory changes has 

altered their expectation on this profession significantly. The pressures to link today’s demand to 

tomorrow’s need have created two major expectations namely: (1) the internal side of the 

practitioner including the expectation on monetary and non-monetary value added; and (2) the 

five aspects of the external side of the practitioner. The expectation on monetary value added is 

related to the quality of money. It means that the quality of money regarding to the audit fee 

(financial benefit). The regulators perceived that the higher the audit fee will stimulate and put 

them into higher obligation of giving higher quality of service because practitioner can do more 

with the better audit fee. Additionally, the clients will not consider the money if we practitioner 

can provide better service to them. While the regulators’ expectation on non-monetary valued 

added, included the awareness of being more professional accountants (improving the 

competency; good reputation; better attitude and mental; competitive). In addition, the regulators 

also expect that by having regulatory efforts that will protect the profession legally and the last it 

may decrease the gap among practitioners (e.g. gap in resources and market share). These are the 

expectation from the internal side of the practitioners. 

 

Another expectation of regulator is the external side of practitioners.  It becomes clear that the 

expectation of regulator on that the efforts in general are included the expectation on protecting 

the public interest. The output of practitioner is urgent for business’ decision and required to be 
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transparent for public. This is consistent with the statements mentioned by AUASB that the 

fundamental principle of audit conducted by practitioner shall be same level of assurance, and 

they are right to do so for public interest (Hecimovic et al., 2011). The other significant 

expectations are: putting trust back to this profession from the business society; improving the 

awareness of related parties about the quality of financial statements; attract the fresh graduate to 

join in this profession and optimizing the function of KPAP. Hence, through regulatory efforts, 

Indonesia has made significant improvements on audit quality since more than a decade 

 

In terms of conducting the regulatory efforts, the regulators face two main challenges, which are 

the political and practical factors of challenges. The political factor of challenge appeared when 

the regulators proposed the draft of Law No. 5/ 2011 to parliament and only after a decade long 

discussion that the law was finally passed. The main reasons are due to the arguments concerning 

the importance of the law (value added) and conflict of interest among parties. However, one 

professional body’s board member participant has a different perception on the regulatory efforts 

especially the UU No. 5/2011 as she argued that the enactment of the law has cost more than it 

can actually contribute to audit quality. 

 

The practical factor of challenge concerns more with the actual doing and appears in the 

promulgation or socialization process of the law. The practitioners have expressed their concern 

on a particular article of the law relating to completeness and adequateness of an audit working 

paper as breaching it is classified as a criminal act. A precise and clear definitions of 

completeness and adequateness are required to diminish the confusion and thorough reviews on 

the prevailing legislations is necessary to ensure if the more technical regulations will provide 
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clauses that will likely be against the higher legislations, such reasons need to be clearly 

explained. 

 

Another (practical factor) of challenge is the implementation step in every audit firm especially 

in the small and medium-sized firms. They are unable to meet the compliance requirements of 

the new regulation as they have limited resources. Besides, they can barely face competition in 

the market. This situation has made the regulators to create a more cost-effective approach so 

that these firms too can reap the benefits of implementing the new regulations. Here, the 

regulators have served the roles as the enforcers as well as consultants to these firms in order to 

improve AQ. However, the role of consultants may portray regulators as showing leniency 

towards these firms and it may show Indonesia as a country where the legal framework is not 

well implemented. While, they at the same time attempt to make improvement on AQ. This is 

indeed has become a challenge for the regulators in the implementation of the new regulations 

and placing the audit practitioners in a good reputation. Thus, based on the conclusion 

abovementioned, the summary of the findings for this chapter is shown on table 6.11. 

Table 6.11 

The Summary of the Findings on Chapter 6 (Research Questions 1-4) 

RQ No Research Questions Findings 

1 How does the regulator 

play its role in 

enhancing AQ in 

Indonesia? 

As the institutional agents, there are two big roles how the 

regulators play its: ASEAN regional level and country level. 

The findings show that there were explicit and direct coercive 

pressures, particularly regulative aspect placed on these efforts, 

which focus more on strengthening statutory legal framework. 

These activities not only portray the roles and efforts performed 

by Indonesia but also show parts of the collaborative efforts 
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RQ No Research Questions Findings 

among the ASEAN countries. However, given these 

collaborative efforts, much is to be learned on how Indonesia 

progressed individually. 

In addition, these accomplishments not only showing in term of 

responding the coercive pressure, but also mimetic and 

normative pressures 

2 What are the recent 

efforts, developments 

or changes concerning 

AQ in Indonesia? 

This study shows that the efforts on the regulators signaled the 

significant changes in the accountancy environment 

particularly, the enhancement to statutory and institutional 

framework to improve AQ. It shows that regulative pillar is 

mobilized as the foundation to strengthen the AQ.  

Furthermore, the efforts at the country level are divided 

between two parties: the efforts conducted by the MOF 

agencies and the professional bodies. The MOF’s efforts focus 

on the enhancement to statutory and institutional framework, 

while the professional bodies concern with their function as 

standard setters and centers for the accounting profession’s 

transformation to maintain competency, sustain on value 

delivering and brighten the profession’s prospect.  

In addition, it finds how the efforts on AQ have influenced the 

auditor’s liability which reveals three auditor’s liabilities 

according to the new act. 

3 What does the 

regulator expect from 

these developments on 

AQ? 

Overall data supports the positive expectations from the 

regulators. There are two things that describe the importance of 

their expectations: (1) the internal side of the practitioners 

including expectation on monetary value added and non-

monetary value added; and (2) the five aspects of the external 

side of the practitioners. 

4 What are the 

challenges faced by the 

regulators due to the 

regulatory changes in 

order to enhance the 

The findings suggest that all the efforts that are carried out by 

the regultors must operate in an effective AQ framework. In 

other words, a high-level AQ in Indonesia can be accomplished 

through effective regulatory developments. However, the 

challenges remain faced. 
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RQ No Research Questions Findings 

AQ? It finds that majority of the participants stated about the 

challenges they faced during initiating regulatory changes. The 

challenges can be divided into two factors, namely, political 

and practical challenges. 

 

6.7 Summary of The Chapter  

The aim of this chapter is to provide four major points to construct an understanding of the 

contributions made by the Indonesian regulators in the country’s audit profession in general and 

on especially on its AQ. These are: 1) The regulators’ roles and efforts at the ASEAN regional 

level; 2) Regulators roles and efforts at the country level; 3) The regulators’ expectation on the 

regulatory changes; and 4) regulators’ challenges caused by the regulatory changes. The details 

of this chapter in each section also discusses the comparison of the important development in the 

pre- and post-2007 periods, with the emphasis on the reason and influences on the auditing 

profession generally and AQ particularly. It also shows that the auditor’s liability is related to the 

expected impact on the enhancement of Audit Quality (AQ).   

The analysis shows how the three isomorphism mechanisms as well as the regulative pillar on 

the explain that the global pressures affects the efforts and roles of the regulators to decide on the 

appropriate actions due to the changes, and how the regulatory changes influence AQ in 

Indonesia. This study finds that the actions and efforts were conducted separately and 

collaboratively by the regulators as a response to the global pressures. The regulators have 

accomplished much to comply and meet the international requirements, such as enhancing a new 

law and regulations, revising and adopting the international standards, and restructuring the 
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institutional drives of AQ. In addition, they have already come up with the Audit Quality 

Indicators (AQIs).  

Related to the statutory and institutional framework’s efforts conducted by the regulators, the 

study results also indicate that there are at least 14 crucial points which show significant different 

between these two periods. Based on the listed points, the post-2007 period of the auditing 

framework shows more interactions among parties involved and were highly supervised by the 

regulators. It is also important to note that the regulatory changes occurred are the efforts and 

initiatives of the regulators to enhance the AQ in Indonesia. By keeping abreast of the current 

developments on AQ, changes in the legal and regulatory frameworks, ensure that the auditing 

standards remain excellent and up-to date. However, in order to ensure effective regulatory 

developments, in this case the auditing framework, the regulators should clearly define the roles, 

rights, and the responsibility of all the parties involved in the AQ framework such as the 

regulators themselves, auditors, management of companies, users, preparers, TCWG and other 

stakeholders, and most of the participants agree about this view. The inconsistency can be 

mitigated by developing clear definitions and conducting thorough reviews on the prevailing 

legislations; and thus, avoid if the more technical regulations will provide clauses that will likely 

be against the higher legislations. This is where such reasons need to be clearly explained.  

 

Finally, the study shows at least three auditor’s liabilities according to the new act, namely: civil 

liability, administrative liability and criminal liability. In principle, the auditors can only be 

found liable, if they have been acting negligently. So far, regarding to the auditor’s liability, 

there are only few cases in which public accounting have been sued in the Indonesian court. In 

other words, it shows that the new law or regulations aim to provide guidance rather than 
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policing the profession, resulting less legal burden on the auditors. Additionally, under the 

current law, they are not required to carry professional indemnity insurance which commonly 

should be insured appropriately. This may cause ambiguity in the implementation of enforcing 

the current law and regulation. Thus, this current study provides initial evidence on how 

Indonesian regulator’s efforts to strengthen audit quality (AQ), have influenced the auditor’s 

liability in the country regulatively and the comparison of the auditing framework in pre-and 

post- 2007.  

However, all these efforts are expected to provide value added. The regulators claimed that there 

are two expectations monetary and non-monetary value added whether for practitioners and for 

the business in general. Besides that, they also expect that the regulatory efforts will protect the 

stakeholders’ interest since the importance role of practitioners practice in business. In addition, 

the regulatory changes may improve the awareness of related the parties such as the clients 

(preparers), the stakeholders, users to be more confident with a business that employs qualified 

auditors as well as the awareness about this profession. The regulators also expect accountants to 

be consistent in supporting and realizing the enhancement of AQ in Indonesia, since they are the 

practitioner to carry out such tasks. In conducting their roles, the regulators also face whether 

political and practical factor of challenges. However, they have prepared mitigation actions to 

overcome these challenges.   
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CHAPTER SEVEN 

THE ISSUE FROM PRACTITIONERS’ PERSPECTIVES  

 

7.1 Introduction  

The objective of this thesis is to examine how regulatory changes influence the AQ 

developments and implementations in Indonesia. Institutional analysis is utilized to understand 

regulatory changes that are taking place in Indonesia. Chapter 6 shows the roles, efforts and 

commitment of the regulators to enhance AQ, as well as their expectations and challenges 

regarding the changes. In addition, the regulators have placed a consistent legal framework to 

work in line with the global changes to meet the requirements, and managed the mechanism 

between accounting and auditing as an integrated process to achieve high AQ.  This chapter is a 

second phase of this study, utilize the institutional analysis at length to analyze how regulatory 

changes affect the practitioners’ (as one of the audit quality actors) perception and reactions, 

expectations, challenges and also the action plans in relation to the regulators’ requirements 

through three types of isomorphism pressures as well as the three pillars of institutional theory 

by Scott (2008). Adopting this institutional theory will be the method of analysis to address the 

data obtained.  

 

The main data was collected from face-to-face interviews and secondary data sources. The 

interviews conducted with participants consisting of regulators from the MOF agencies and 

professional bodies, as well as the practitioners. The subject of discussion of this chapter is 

interpreted based on the participants’ experiences, views and perceptions related to the issues as 
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they are the actors who involved directly in the process of regulatory changes, the impacts of the 

regulatory changes and implementation of AQ (Scott,2008).  

 

This study shows how the regulators emerged and developed, and conclusively affect policy 

outcomes for the practitioners. In discussing the institutionalization impact of the regulatory 

changes on AQ also create an impact for the practitioners. The isomorphism used in this study is 

same with the first phase:  coercive, mimetic and normative. The term coercive isomorphism may 

either be formal and informal pressure or influence from other organizations due to political, 

cultural or legal environments (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). Coercive pressure that originates 

from the regulators on audit firms’ environment has created definite rules, that the practitioners 

must comply, and the regulators have the power to reward or punish them. In short, the regulators 

use their power to force practitioners to engage in certain action plans or activities. While the 

normative isomorphism, it occurs when institutional change interpreted under professionalization 

(DiMaggio & Powell, 1983; Scott, 2008). This is very important sources of isomorphism to keep 

aspects of professionalization. As a practitioner, formal education and skill of specialization are 

required. While mimetic pressure refers to imitating. The practitioners consider that it is easy to 

copy other practitioners’ actions in responding the changes. They prefer waiting (behavioral 

uncertainty on solving/ facing problem) to whom are successfully performed, since a change to 

success seems higher for them. Based on the mechanisms of institutional isomorphic change 

above, this study has identified the type of the institutional theory implemented in Indonesia’s AQ 

due to the impact of the regulatory changes especially to the practitioners. 
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As mentioned earlier, this chapter is the second phase and the purpose is to investigate how the 

practitioners’ reactions, expectations and practices are influenced by the regulators’ efforts in 

order to enhance AQ in Indonesia. The big question that arises from the practitioners’ reaction is 

how appropriate they comply with the current law and regulations as well as the international 

standards appropriately. This chapter explores such question, particularly with the current legal 

backing44 and the SPAP (auditing standards) are in effect. And then, this discussion is divided 

into three major sections: the perspective of the global audit firms on the regulatory changes, the 

perspective of the local audit firms on regulatory changes, and comparison between the 

perspective of the global firms and the local firms. Each perspective is considered four points: 

perceptions, expectation, challenges, and action plans. Based on the data obtained, the detailed 

code of hierarchy is illustrated Figure 7.1 below.  

 
Figure 7.1 

Code of hierarchy of the perspective of practitioners: global and the local audit firms 

Source: Interview data collected, 2016 

                                                             
44 UU No 5/ 2011 and PP No. 20/ 2015, as well as the auditing standards 
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7.2 The Global Audit Firms’ Perspective on the Regulatory Changes  

Chapter 4 explains that the isomorphism and pillars of the institutional theory may work in each 

element within different mechanisms and process, or in combination (Scott, 2008), since one 

pressure may influence another pressure directly or indirectly. For example, the policy makers 

(regulators) set certain rules or standards to follow up the recommendation of international 

organization. The output or product of the regulators shall be implemented by practitioners 

(coercive/ regulative). The implementation of this rule or standard has its goal to improve and 

maintain the practitioners’ professionalism (normative) whether copying or imitating other 

practitioners (mimetic). As a result, this behavior is expected to be a habit and may influence the 

mindset and value of practitioners to change their belief regarding to implement it properly 

continuously and willingly (cultural-cognitive). Thus, this section explores the perspective of 

global practitioners on regulatory changes and its influence on AQ. First of all, this section 

defines the global audit firms, in this case global practitioners as the actor in this chapter. 

For the purpose of this study, a firm which has international service network is considered as a 

global firm. The networks are organized by contractual relation and provide mutual supports 

among member firms. Each partners of a firm forms an agreement with other members firm in 

the network to share common brand name as well as the quality standards. Thus, practitioners 

who are employed in this type of firm are considered as global practitioners (Lenz & James, 

2007).  

7.2.1 Perception and Reaction of Global Practitioner 

Most global practitioners’ views show normal and natural response when facing the regulatory 

changes as explained by AP05 and AP06. The reason behind this is because they have strong 
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network in the form of their own global affiliation, or a global regulatory working group (RWG) 

which consists of six audit firms, namely BDO45, Grand Thornton, KPMG46, EY47, Deloitte, and 

PwC48. This is a group of global audit firms which usually work together to support the 

accounting regulators in discussing policies regarding accounting professions. Their actions and 

reactions tend to be normative pressure rather than coercive, although it is as a result of coercive 

pressure. Because they are part of the policy maker which were involved by the regulators 

(DiMaggio & Powell, 1983; Scott, 2008).  

 

The RWG works at the global level, and is always involved by the regulators or professional 

bodies such as the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) to discuss current issue in 

the profession. Thus, they always know earlier than other audit firms. This situation has made 

them more aware and well prepared to face regulatory changes. They are considered part of 

policy maker. AP05 explains: 

“[…] the regulators cannot work alone, because they do not know the real and dynamic 

things that happen around us (practitioners), and to support the government to understand 

it, we established Regulatory Working Group (RWG) […]. The RWG consists of 10 or 6 

[…] BDO, Grand Thornton, KPMG, EY, Deloitte, and PWC, and we have an office and 

employ full timers in Washington […].” 

 

 

 AP06 adds: 

  

“[…] we have done lot of things regarding to the global changes in this profession, this is 

positive for Indonesia since we will be recognized by the international world. We often 

work together with regulators […].”  

 

With a similar opinion PB04 says: 

                                                             
45 BDO is the brand name for BDO network. BDO stands for Binder Dijker Otte 
46 KPMG is a global network of professional firms providing audit, tax and advisory service. KPMG stands for 

Klynveld, Peat, Marwick and Goerdeler. 
47 EY stands for Ernst & Young, is also global network of professional firm  
48 PWS stands for Price Water House Coopers, is one of the big for global network of firm 
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“[…] the regulators need the practitioners to understand of what actually happened, and 

then they involve us in a certain program or policy […].” 

 

The statements above show that the global firms are ready to face any changes because of their 

global networks. The regulators always involve them in discussion related to the profession, and 

thus, the global audit firms are familiar with the changes beforehand.  As a result, they face no 

difficulty to address their compliance with the standards as well as the law and regulations, and 

give positive reactions to the changes. RG02 states: 

“[…] Most of them face the regulatory changes with ease; they have already planned the 

program long time before the issuance of the new standards. Moreover, they own a 

certain department that deals with the new developments.” 

 

RG03 agrees: 

 

“They know “one night” earlier than other audit firms, including us. Their network 

informed them about the global changes and shared the related “material” to them and 

around their networks […].”  

 

Instead of always being involved with the regulator to discuss particular issues regarding to the 

profession, they also have good and available resources49to be utilized for example audit 

methodology, quality control manual, trainings and team. Overall data support the normal and 

positive reaction or perception such as stated by AP01, AP05, AP06 and AP07. AP06 says: 

 “[…] adopting ISA and other international standards put us at par with other countries 

around the world. We cannot be stagnant, especially in the information and technology 

era of today […], we shall be ready for that, and it is fine for us […].” 

 

More specific explanations about the global firms, AP07 says: 

 

“[…] usually for the big four or other big firms, they have their own system, they own 

accounting and auditing software, and at the same time the quality control, and also own 

a team. So, it means that it is easy for them to implement […] they are dedicated to that 

specific responsibility or scope of work [...]” 

                                                             
49 staffs, supported information and technology, infrastructure and clients. 
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Even a local firm participant confirmed that the global firms have everything to cater for any 

changes that occurred. AP03 says: 

 

“[…] there will not an issue for the big firms (global firms). They can have settled 

everything by all means […].” 

 

 

The global audit firm practitioners believe that the regulations as well as the international 

standards should be implemented properly for the practitioners to be competitive in this current 

business environment. AP05 explains: 

“We have networks […], we have planned program for all. The Big Four are capable to 

mitigate the changes […] how can we be more competitive, if we do not want to change 

[…].” 

 

They are aware and understand the importance of the changes on the quality improvement audit, 

corporate financial reporting, and particularly the outcome of audit market. The reason for these 

improvements is mainly practical for this profession or in other words the audit market 

confidence. Although the regulators’ objective for the regulatory changes are not in general 

targeted at improving distributional outcome in the audit market, the regulatory changes can be 

extended to capture the benefit along these efforts, that was what RG01 and RG02 had 

explained. AP 06 agreed to the improvement of quality. AP06 says:  

“[…] the changes are for quality improvement of both audit and reporting. As long as we 

are in the reasonable corridor and met the regulations, we will reach better quality.” 

 

AP01 also stated a similar view on the quality improvement in the profession due to the 

regulatory changes. He says: 

 

 “The changes in the standard or regulation are not a problem, since they will improve 

our quality especially in doing audit on the financial statements […].” 

As stated above, the global firm practitioners have an excellent awareness and understanding of 

the regulatory changes that would be beneficial as the changes positively affects the auditing and 
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reporting quality. These are evidences that they have social identity and personal which represent 

their cultural-cognitive for responding the changes. They are willing to do that, since they 

believe that that what a professional should be (Scott, 2008). However, they also have 

expectation on the regulators and other parties due to the changes. The detailed expectation is 

discussed in the following section.  

7.2.2 The Expectation of Global Practitioners 

Practitioners have experienced “liabilities” over the last decade. It is common in these days for 

practitioners to bear the responsibility for the regulatory risk management within their audit firms 

as well as quality inspections. Although global practitioners have positive views on the regulatory 

changes on AQ improvement, but they also have expectation on the changes that took place. Most 

of them shared similar opinions regarding this matter.  

AP 05 explains: 

 

“[…] audit regulation is for controlling quality, how can we can have continuous business 

without it […]? We need a balance in the regulation […] public needs quality, they 

expect quality from our services, and we expect fairness on from the regulation, no 

exception, and consider the compensation or incentive because of it [...].”  

 

He adds: 

 

“The regulatory changes provide many benefits for the profession such as increasing 

income, popular career, legal protection and so on, including healthy competition in 

auditing market […].” 

 

The important point of his opinion is about the fairness, since the laws and regulations represent 

justice. However, no account of justice which seems to hold the promise to eliminating the 

compensation issue.  Sometimes there is no equality in the treatment (Rawls, 1958). However, 

most practitioners agree that the regulatory efforts may offer the opportunity to engage with more 
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clients, determine a minimum assurance fee and provide free or affordable professional training 

programs for the non-partner members. They also expect that the new act and regulations make 

auditing as a more desirable profession for the young accountants as the audit firms have higher 

possibility to earn higher turnover. Thus, they may also maintain the number of accountants in 

Indonesia. In addition, the regulatory changes protect the profession legally and finally, the 

practitioners expect that the regulatory efforts may help to decrease the resources and market 

share gap among the practitioners. AP05 says: 

“[…] this regulation may improve the profession in terms of financial benefit, or we can 

say the clients may want to pay for the quality value of money because they perceived 

that they will get better service by paying more fees to the practitioner.” 

 

AP06 shows different expectation, he states: 

 

“The new law and ISA can change the auditor’s way of thinking, such as “risk-based 

thinking” that makes auditors be more cautious cares in performing their attitude and 

their act. This is important because attitude shows our professionalism and that what I 

expect from these changes [...], otherwise we won’t be able to put our confidence back 

[…].”  

 

Hence, based on the explanations above, it is found that all participants share a similar view 

regarding the expected benefit they can get by complying with the regulatory changes. This 

expectation can be divided into two categories. The categories are consistent with the expectation 

categories of the regulators as mentioned above, but in different point of view. This chapter shows 

the expectation from the practitioners’ point of view. 

The first is monetary value added which is related to the value of money and refers to the value 

regarding the audit fee, or otherwise known as financial benefit. The practitioners may possibly 

get more clients which will eventually increase their assurance revenue. The second is the non-
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monetary value added which include the awareness of being more professional as an accountant 

(improved the competency, good reputation, better attitude and mentality and be more 

competitive). Besides that, the practitioners also expect that the regulatory efforts will protect the 

profession legally and decrease the resource gap among the global and local practitioners. In 

addition, the regulatory changes may improve the awareness of related the parties such as the 

clients and the stakeholders to be more confident with a business that employs qualified auditors. 

The practitioners also expect regulators to be consistent in promoting and realizing the 

enhancement of AQ in Indonesia, since they are the authority to carry out such task. 

 

7.2.3 Challenges Faced by Global Practitioner 

A global firm is considered “settled” in term of resources they have. They may rely on their 

affiliated networks to address the changes and to perform the implementation. Nevertheless, the 

presence of practical challenges is unavoidable. Four practitioners (AP07, AP05, AP02 and 

AP01) agreed to such challenges like audit fee, trainings and work’s allocation time and the 

nature of Indonesian’s clients. The sub-section below explains challenges which are faced by 

global practitioners.  

7.2.3.1 Challenge on the Audit Fee 

Audit Fee is one of challenges faced by the global firms although they are considered having 

“settled resources”. However, the perspective due to the audit fee mentioned here is quite 

different from the audit fee problem (perspective) faced by the small or local audit firms (will be 

discussed in the section 7.3.3 below). The audit fee issue for big firms is that their audit fee has 

been perceived as very expensive. Regarding the regulatory changes, they expect an increase in 
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audit fee as the audit efforts and auditor’s liability have increased (Ghosh & Pawlewicz, 2009; 

Griffin et al., 2009). Unfortunately, they are now facing a contradictory condition where the 

clients tend to save money from spending on an increased audit fee. AP07 claims: 

“[…] I notice that the clients don’t focus much on the quality of the auditor’s, they focus 

more in the price of the auditor’s fee. Sometimes they ask for “a discount”. In fact, they 

cannot ask for lower fee since it will be analyzed by a reviewer or inspector (MOF 

agency or professional body) as one of the important points in implementing audit 

quality. The inspector will check the rational fee which is charged to each client [...].”  

 

Similar views stated by AP02: 

“[…] sometimes the management ignores the changes around us or around them; they 

only consider our audit fee […].”  

 

Another practitioner AP05 is also feeling uneasy on the competitive audit fee in Indonesia. He 

says: 

 

“It is very hard to compete in term of audit fee in Indonesia […].” 

Moreover, the audit fee in Indonesia has certain characteristics, which is influenced by some 

factors such as: the management policy and the ownership characteristics of the client’s company 

(Darmadi, 2016; Oktorina & Wedari, 2015) the company size (Rusmanto & Waworuntu, 2015; 

Darmadi, 2016) and also the auditor’s industry specialization (Sarwoko et al., 2014). These types 

of clients are a typical client for the global audit firms and most of these clients belong to the 

multinational (listed companies), foreign or state own companies. RG03 explains: 

“[…] for certain industry, a client prefers selecting auditor who has experience in specific 

industry, such as mining industry, banking, agriculture, real estate, insurance, etc […].” 

 

Government has stipulated a practitioner who provides professional services to such clients, like 

to capital market clients that particular. Practitioner is required to be registered with the OJK, 

and confidentially submit a periodic report on the client’s accounting activity. RG02 mentions 

that: 
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 “Besides submitting the annual report to us (P2PK) regularly, the auditors who perform 

audit on the capital market clients must submit accounting report to their respective 

regulator […].”    

 

Besides the factors mentioned above (management policy and the ownership characteristics of 

the client’s company, company size and auditor’s industry specialization), there is another factor 

that also influences the audit fee in Indonesia. The factor is the audit market structure. AP05 

claims: 

“[…] I have been in this profession for 40 years. The market structure of this profession 

has not changed.  For non- public companies (not listed companies), they prefer being 

audited by the non- Big Four Firms. Clients feel that the mid-sized audit firms have 

rational audit fee.”  

 

One of the regulators concisely explains the audit market. RG01 explains: 

 

“Until now, more than 60% of the total revenue of public accountant is dominated by the 

Big Four […].” 

 

Indonesia has its own market structure for this profession. As claimed by AP05 above that for 

more than 40 years, the market structure in Indonesia stays the same and is dominated by the Big 

Four (RG01). The composition of the market in this profession has not changed much (RG01). 

Both statements are consistent with a previous study conducted, which found that the Indonesian 

audit market is oligopolistic, and dominated by the International audit firms (Irmawan et al., 

2013).  

 

According to the annual report of P2PK, the total revenue of audit firms in the year of 2015 was 

US$258.749.461, 62 (Rp 3.493.117.731.916). Most of the revenue was from assurance services 

(audit and review). Based on the distribution of its revenue according to the audit firm size, the 

composition is shown in Table 7.1. This data is supported the participants’ view that the global 

audit firms dominated the total revenue of audit firms, especially the Big Four firms: 
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Table 7.1  

The Revenue Distribution of Audit Firms Size for the Year of 2015 

No 
Audit firm 

size 

Percentage 

2013 2014 2015 

1 Small 3% 3% 2% 

2 Medium 14% 14% 11% 

3 Big 3% 5% 2% 

4 Very Big 14% 16% 17% 

5 Big Four 65% 62% 68% 

Total 100% 100% 100% 

Source: P2PK, 2016 

 

The revenue’s distribution of audit firms size above shows that the global audit firms have more 

than 80% of the total revenue. The global firm’s categorization as shown include big firms (3%); 

very big firms (14%) and the big four firms (65%). Although in terms of audit firm’s quantity, 

the number of global firms is not as many as the local audit firms.  

 

 

7.2.3.2 Challenge of the Nature of Indonesian Clients’ Characteristics 

Indonesian clients’ characteristics becomes one of the factors which influences the audit fee 

(Darmadi, 2016; Irmawan,2013; Oktorina & Wedari., 2015), and it is also one of the challenges 

which is faced by the audit firms due to the regulatory changes. The challenge is in term of 

influencing the auditor to allocate the work time (AP07 and AP01). They require the auditors to 

be ready at any time whether they need the data or report. Hence, the auditors sometimes have to 

work overtime to fulfill the order (AP01, AF103, AF104 and AF0105). This characteristic tends 

to the client’s behavioral aspect rather than the client’s performance aspect such as the client’s 

assets structure, financial condition, sales growth and so on (Chow, Ho & Mo, 2006; Pratt & 

Stice, 1994).  AP07 gave comments on Indonesian’s client’s characteristics. She claims: 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

225 

 

“[ …] Indonesian clients are spoiled. Sometimes we have to stay long hours in the office 

to meet their demand […]. Most clients expect too much. Sometimes they do not give 

consideration on the time when they request the data, especially on the adjustment or 

correction to the journals. We realize that they need to check the items with their own 

data […].” 

AP01 has similar experience. He says: 

“They do not only expect our report to be released as soon as possible, but they also want 

access and obtain our working paper to be filed as their supporting documents. This 

condition has force us to complete everything in haste and as a consequence we have to 

stay late in the office […].” 

Another auditor in the same office also claimed. AF103 says: 

“We used to work overtime in the audit session from January to April every year. That’s 

all about the clients […]. Actually, we are fine with them, as long as there is no friction 

with our ethics as an auditor.” 

The condition above sometimes very complicated for the practitioners. They show how it is 

critical to carefully consider what Professional Code of Ethics applies to a range of practical 

situation.  

7.2.3.3 Challenge on Training Program versus Challenge on Work Time Allocation 

The next challenge faced by the global audit firms is training program and work time allocation. 

They have enough resources to provide any training whether internal (in-house training) or 

external training (CPD program provided by the IAPI, IAI or other regulators). The problem is 

the allocation of time. They have difficulty to manage and provide the appropriate time for 

themselves to refresh, update or improve the skill, knowledge and competency, since they handle 

a lot of clients, whether in audit session or not. In fact, in order to decide for audit working hours 

for a client, they should consider several factors. The major factors are the complexity of the 

operation, internal control and the size of clients (Blokdijk, Drieenhuizen, Simunic & Stein, 

2006; Malaescu & Sutton, 2014; Stein, Simunic & Keefe, 1994). Thus, the situation has forced 

them to devise a strategy or action plan to solve the issue. Strategy and action plan is discussed 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

226 

 

in the section 7.2.3.4. In the other word, they are capable of handling many auditing jobs for 

clients. Table 7.2 shows the percentage of number of clients among audit firms.  

Table 7.2  

The Distribution of Number of Clients  

No 
Audit firm 

size 

Percentage 

2013 2014 2015 

1 Small 12% 9% 11% 

2 Medium 33% 36% 37% 

3 Big 8% 7% 11% 

4 Very Big 32% 28% 24% 

5 Big Four 15% 20% 17% 

Total 100% 100% 100% 

Source: P2PK, 2016 

Table above shows that a large number of clients are being handled by the big firms, which are 

categorized as the global firms. Most of the audited clients require audit service because they are 

included as entities stipulated by the Indonesian Company Law50 (PB03, RG01 and RG02) to 

undergo annual financial audit and that is one of the main reasons of the client’s distribution 

figure. The clients prefer the audit service from an audit firm which boasted good reputation, and 

good reputation is related to the size of the audit firms (Darmadi, 2016; Skinner & Srinivasan, 

2012; Taqi, 2013). So, the high number of clients means that the audit firm has to manage their 

time allocation, in order to meet requirement of audit standards and the regulation about the 

human resource developments program in their audit firms.   This situation can present a 

challenge to the global audit firms if it is not well managed, unless arrangement in the forms of 

action, action plans or strategy are devised. The action plan and strategy on facing the challenges 

is discussed below. 

                                                             
50 The Company Law stipulates that the following types of entities are required to undergo an annual financial statement audit: 

(a) Company collects and/or manages the community ‘s fund; (b) Company issues a debt acknowledgement letter to the public; 

(c) Company constitutes an issuer; (d) Company constitutes a state-owned company; (e) Company owns assets and/or business 

with the minimum value of IDR 50 billion; or (f) Company is obliged pursuant to the prevailing regulation (P2PK, 2016). 
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7.2.4 Action, Action Plan and Strategy Conducted by Global Practitioner 

The strategy and action plans which discussed on this section is more on mimetic, normative and 

cultural-cognitive pressures. Since, these actions represent their professionalism to cope the 

challenges. This section emphasizes more on how the role of moral obligation and values of the 

practitioners implement properly.   

 

Several participants reported that they face technical issue regarding the regulatory changes. The 

issue is not related to the implementation of standards or regulation, but the way to cope with the 

changes with other parties like the clients and support staffs within the office especially when 

accomplishing their assigned projects and at the same time comply with the new standards and 

regulations.  Both should run together since they support each other. AP01 says: 

“In performing our assignments, we follow the standards and regulation through our 

available audit manual. All the information which is stipulated by the regulation as well 

as the audit standards is there, for example the requirement to prepare for materiality. As 

we know ISA’s requires it, then we apply it based on our own pattern and calculation. We 

may say that our manual audit is the technical support book […]. It does not mean that 

we replace the standard with our audit manual, but that is a “short cut” to understand and 

implement the changes in our jobs, and we have no issue to perform them. Our issue is 

due to the clients, other related parties and also our internal team […].” 

 

 

According to the interviewed data, two major actions or action plans are conducted by the 

practitioners (audit firms), regarding to: 1) clients’ issue and 2) training issue. The most 

importance strategy that is used when dealing with the clients is communication., AP04 states;  

“[…] handling client is how we put ourselves like “customer service”. It should be a 

conversation rather than an explanation. […] sometimes when talking about difficult 

situation to client requires us to understand their personality. If they feel “our existence 

and give their “trust”, that won’t be an issue anymore […].”  
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AP05 also explained that how they (his office team) usually face the clients in a certain situation 

when they have to refuse a request, and then put their crucial point into an appropriate response. 

He says: 

“We are very carefully with a customer’s perception of our service quality which can be 

greatly affected by how attentive, thoughtful, and sincere we are. When we are in a 

condition that we have to refuse a request […], we show our empathy and willingness to 

find an alternative or to show evidence or a reason behind the matter […]. We are sure 

that they will understand. That is what we have done so far.” 

 

Both have similar views that by showing great interest in the client’s need, the client will 

understand and accept any justification. This type of clients is more open-minded, since they use 

to attend or join in certain events or programs conducted by the regulators. However, in every 

communication, we still have to consider the way to deliver our massage.  

 

Another action plan is about the obligation of fulfilling the competency aspect by having 

trainings whether in-house training program (internal office) or CPD programs. All the 

participants mentioned agreed that time management is the key for conducting or joining 

training. Based on their experience, they always look for the best possible time (a chance) to 

conduct or send staff to training program, for example as AP02 explains: 

“[…] my best experience in joining CPD based on where I am assigning my project team. 

So, I will tell them to have “a day break” to attend the CPD program.” 

 

AP01 prefers choosing CPD that is usually being conducted on Friday and Saturday. He says: 

“If there is a CPD program on Saturday, we prefer joining on that day. So, for the 

previous 5 (five) days, we can focus on accomplishing the weekly project’s target. That’s 

the best way for us, no need to leave our work since we have a very tight schedule […].”   

 

In contrast, one participant mentioned that training program is not an issue for them; this is part 

of their obligation. This is just about the time management. AP06 claims: 
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“[…] this is normal; it’s just about time management […] we also may conduct our own 

training as long as we can provide the evidence of it.” 

 

It shows that the awareness of the global auditors regarding the way to maintain their 

professionalism to decide what appropriate strategy to face the challenge, is another evidence of 

the cultural-cognitive pressure. Regarding the training issue, the strategies are: 1) joining the 

CPD program according to the assigning client’s location; 2) joining weekend CPD scheduled 

program; 3) joining small group discussion (internal program) with the assigning team or office; 

and 4) joining a regular training program within their firm51. 

 

Considering the major action plans above, it can be concluded that the main purpose of the 

regulatory changes is to bring the behavioral change (normative and cultural-cognitive) in the 

audit profession which has already been achieved. They view that there is like “transforming the 

mindset” to be better and opened. They do not feel burdensome when facing the changes. They 

also never feel reluctant to discuss about their issue regarding the implementation of regulation 

or standards with any party. They have excellent awareness about the importance of quality, 

including the practitioners in the local audit firms as well.  

 

7.3 The Local Audit Firm’s Perspective on The Regulatory Changes  

As mentioned in the methodology chapter that the classification of audit firms for the purpose of 

this study is based on the MOF’s classification52 (P2PK, 2016). Therefore, the local audit firm is 

                                                             
51Tthis kind of training is usually conducted at least once a year. Most of audit firms have this program. 

52 The local audit firms category consists of: Small (sole practitioner); and Medium (partnership with 3-5 partners); while the 

global firm consists of: Big (partnership with more than 5-10 partners, and usually has international network affiliation); Very 

Big (partnership & has more than 10 partners; and also has international network affiliation) and Big Four (recognized as the Big 

Four in the world such as EY; KPMG; PwC and Deloitte & Touche Tohmasu).  
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defined as a firm that is ran by a sole practitioner or a firm partnership of 2 or 5 practitioners that 

has no international network affiliation. Thus, the same questions were being asked to local 

practitioners. This section explains the perspective of local practitioners on regulatory changes 

and its influence on AQ. 

 

When the participants were interviewed regarding the regulatory changes, all agreed that these 

changes gave significant impact to them. Most of them considered that local firms face more 

challenges as compared to the global audit firms. They directly emphasize that having limited 

resource is the main reason. AP03 claims: 

“[…] for global audit firms are fine. They are one step ahead from us (small and medium 

audit firms). Their international networks have already prepared and implemented a 

program to face the changes. So, the global firms in Indonesia just follow what their 

network program provided them with. For us, we arrange everything and we have no 

enough resource or limited resource. Another reason is our clients. We have certain 

segment for clients […].” 

 

PB04 has different way to express her opinion. She says: 

“[…] yes. That’s good but creates difficulty for small firm like us. Getting a new client is 

thankful. Selecting client is (shaking head) […].” 

 

The statements above find that the main issue is about resources they have. The have to manage 

everything with the limited resources and certain segment for clients, which are small and 

medium size as well. The discussion about the reaction and perception, expectation, challenge, 

and action or strategy of local audit firms to regulatory changes from the local practitioners’ 

perspective is explained in the next section. 
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7.3.1 Perception and Reaction of Local Practitioner 

Twelve out the thirteen of local practitioners agreed that the regulatory changes have given a 

significant impact on them. According their perspective, the significant different is on the risk 

mitigation, since the current standards (ISA) adopt risk-based audit, and the process should be 

shown since at the beginning of the process (clients’ acceptance) to reporting process 

(Tuanakotta, 2013). They explain, due to the new act and regulation as well as the new auditing 

standards, the auditors now, have to be more cautious while performing their job, especially in 

mitigating the audit risk. AP03, AP04 and AF201 shared similar opinions that risk mitigation 

should begin while negotiating an audit engagement with the client. AF201 states: 

” Since the adoption of the new standards (ISAs) and the new Act, our office has 

instructed us to be prudent and take conservative actions at the beginning of audit 

process. Risk on each procedure should be identified carefully […].”  

 

AP04 has expressed similar opinion about being cautious on the assigned assurance service and 

risk mitigation is crucial in every assigned project. AP04 states: 

“[…] the regulations create an impact on our behavior, particularly in the way we think, 

and then influence us, we cannot accept any client easily without considering the risk that 

we might face in the future. However, we have to be ready to face any changes […].” 

 

This is a dilemma for the local audit firms, because while striking a deal with a client ensures 

business prosperity, but the new regulation requires audit risk to be clearly identified and well 

recorded in every audit engagement. Moreover, they assert that the sophisticated mitigation risk 

as the standards require sometimes does not applicable in their practice (for small firm), because 

most of their clients are small or medium companies. However, they are always prepared be 

readied for the regulatory changes. Thus, their will comply and implement the new law, 

regulations and standards properly as they have high expectation on the regulators. Their 

perspective regarding this matter shows the combination of institutional theory’s pressures or 
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elements among coercive pressure (no options, they have to follow the rules and standards), 

mimetic pressure (imitating or copying other practitioners who has similar characteristics with 

their firms’ nature), normative pressure (awareness to be more professional) and the last is 

cultural-cognitive pressure (willingness to change their behavior required and demanded in this 

era of transparency). However, they also expect that all the effort of their regulatory changes in 

order to improve the AQ should be supported and appreciated by the regulators, whatever the 

effort for improvement they have done so far. Or even there will be a “incentive” for the 

profession. The detail expectation of the local practitioners discusses on the following section. 

 

7.3.2 Expectations of the Local Practitioners 

In general, the practitioners use expectation to influence reality and create result. This 

perspective shows evidence as providing normative and cultural-cognitive pressures on them. 

Since the findings suggested that their experiences regarding this matter, influence their behavior 

to be better profession as determined rules and standards. They make a decision based on how 

the regulators expect them to perform. When the regulators expect something from the 

practitioners, they perform their best to gain the respect, because they are also aware about how 

important their profession is for local business scene. Based on the data obtained from the 

interviews, the local audit firms have a similar expectation with the global audit firms, and this 

expectation may be classified into two major expectation of monetary and non-monetary value 

added. AP04 states:   

“[…] this regulation may improve the profession in term of financial benefit, or we can 

say the clients may want to pay for the value of money because they assumed that they 

will get better service by paying more fees to the practitioners.” 

 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

233 

 

AP03 appreciates the efforts conducted by the regulators for the practitioners as they present new 

market opportunities through collaborative agreements with other MOF agencies such the 

Directory General of Tax, the Ministry of Industry and Trade, Indonesian Stock Exchange and 

the Ministry of Law and Human Right, as explained in Chapter Six. AP03 states: 

” We really appreciate what the regulators have done so far, not only involving other 

related regulators to discuss about this profession particularly about the legal advocacy, 

but also create a main “goal” for us, opening new opportunities for audit market […].” 

 

In addition, practitioners keep expecting regulators to facilitate them with “affordable program” 

to improve the internal capacity building of the local audit firms, for example preparing the audit 

manual. They are aware that this manual provides guidance for their auditors to perform their 

assignments, but due to the limitation of resources, they do not have enough time to prepare it. 

They confess that they focus more on marketing and searching for clients. They add  that they 

have no certain marketing team, thus the partners do many functions, including this marketing 

job. AP09 shares: 

 “[…] we are too busy to get projects, otherwise we will not have enough money to pay 

all our operating costs, and one of the costs is for fulfilling CPD minimum hours. […] 

imagine in one year we have to save 40 credits. So, we have to join at least 7-9 training 

programs. One training program costs around 450.000 to Rp 1.000.000 and we get 

around 6 credits. […] say the average is around Rp 700.000. Then how much amount we 

have to spend for one practitioner, I mean one CPA staff […].” 

 

He adds: 

“What about other costs? […]. This is very tough, especially when it is a competition 

outside there [...].”  

 

The explanation above shows that the local practitioners understand about these regulatory 

changes, still other priorities make them put more attention in fulfilling the operational needs. 

AP08 also explained a similar situation about the priority.  He states: 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

234 

 

“Most of our clients are not big companies, and of course that will have consequences on 

our revenues. The idea then is how to get more clients. […] one more thing is about the 

audit firms’ gap between the global and the local firms. Of course, the regulators can 

omit “the gap” or at least reduce it […]. This is a crucial matter […]” 

 

Instead of just improving the audit fee and providing affordable program to the local 

practitioners, decreasing the gap between the global and local practitioners should be another 

agenda of the regulators. Therefore, the regulators’ efforts to enhance AQ can be strongly 

supported by the local practitioners. The conclusion of this section is that the local audit firms 

face inevitable challenges due to the current regulatory changes. The section below discusses the 

challenges in detail. 

 

7.3.3 Challenges Faced by the Local Practitioner 

The regulatory changes have led various practical challenges for the local practitioners. These 

challenges have posed stressful situation for them and the time allocated to prepare for the 

changes has fallen short of their expectation. With respect to the changes the practitioners’ 

participants in the interviews indicated the presence of four basic challenges, namely, time 

management, operational costs, high employee turnover and support staff’s competency and 

skill.  

 

The phrase “time management” in this section is quite different from the “time management” use 

by global audit firms. The global audit firms also face a challenge in their time management but 

due to “the big number of client”. However, time management for local audit firms refers to 

difficulty to manage their time, because they are too busy looking for “projects” from clients.  

This condition has been a routine for them in order to bear the operational costs, and paying for 
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the operational costs is one of the ways to comply with the current rules and standards. This may 

happen because in the local audit firms, the partners perform multiple functions as a managing 

partner, marketer, finance manager, reviewer and human resource manager as claimed by one of 

the participants above. Typically, all the vital functions in the small firms are conducted by a 

single partner or up to a maximum of three partners. They have no certain division to cater a 

single as its function unlike in the global audit firms. AP07 explained that even as partners, there 

are many functions of partners in “an assurance assignment”. A single partner may perform the 

three different functions of engagement partner, managing partner, and reviewing partner (some 

use different term as independent partner review or second partner). Thus, sometimes is difficult 

to imagine that the partners in a small audit firm can manage to depend on only one person.   

 

Another main challenge which is faced by the local audit firm is high staffs’ turnover.  AP04 

says: 

“[…] this is a reality in Indonesia that the auditor’s employee turnover is very high, 

especially in small or medium audit firm. This issue gives us “headache”, because the 

audit working paper will not be completed well. Sometimes they left before the 

assignment is done […].” 

PB04 explained a similar experience about the auditors’ employee turnover. She claims: 

“[…] our problem is also about the team (auditor). After we gave them a chance to get 

experience and skill, they left us. We can’t make them stay […] this condition disrupts 

our activity […].” 

AP10 and AP12 also shared a similar experience as to the explanation of AP04 and PB04 in the 

above. They said that auditor’s employee turnover has a negative effect on organizational 

performance and continuity (Herda & Lavelle, 2012). This may occur because of many factors. 

According to AP12, one of the factors is a demanding working condition, limited career 

prospects and employment security in this profession. He added that it is not that this profession 
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cannot offer good career, but the junior auditors have misperceptions about the profession. 

Moreover, the new legal backing for auditing has forced them to rethink about their employment 

security should their employer fail to fulfill the standards. Thus, it is a duty for the senior 

auditors to promote the profession and convey the correct information to the young auditors. 

 

The final practical challenge is regarding to the support staffs’ skill and competency. The local 

audit firms sometimes cannot implement the correct procedures of selecting and hiring a new 

staff. The main reason is the availability of the applicant who wants to join in the audit firms. 

According to AF203 they cannot expect the applicant to have a certain set of competencies 

required, as the one who possesses the skills have already left for another audit firm. Regarding 

the matter, AP04 explains: 

“[…] usually a friend came and asked for help, to put his or her son or daughter to work 

in our office […] this is quite a difficult situation for me.” 

 

As a result, the firms ended up in spending more cost on this matter. The development of the 

staffs’ ability, skill and competency is the key for them to provide high quality assurance service. 

Unfortunately, the firms lack the resources to do so. Based on the discussion of this section, the 

next section describes the measures taken by the local audit firm to deal with the challenges they 

face.  

 

7.3.4 Action, Action Plan and Strategy Conducted by Local Practitioner 

The action plan and strategy which are conducted by local practitioners are same pressure’s 

evidence as the global practitioners. All actions and strategies are identified as normative and 

cultural-cognitive pressures, since these may be exhibited as professionalism’s efforts. Regarding 
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these matters, there are three challenges that have to be solved or at least needed the necessary 

strategies to be dealt with by the local practitioners. Regarding to the time management and 

competency development program, the measures that have been performed are: 1) the 

practitioners should begin to delegate and distribute the works to the available staff instead of 

conducting the “audit project” all by themselves. For example, appoint a staff as a coordinator for 

preparing or revising the audit manual 2) hold periodic meeting of an hour or two with the staff, 

and discuss not only matters concerning an “audit project”, but also share knowledge or 

information 3) treat every staff as a member of a marketing team. They may help the partners to 

get new client, and in doing offer them with an incentive or reward. The action mentioned is a 

new thing for certain local audit firm as AP11 claims: 

“[…] although I have worked in a public accountant firm for a long time, but the openness 

of the partners about this business to us just happen recently. His working style was a “one 

man shows” […].”   

 

The statement above can be concluded that the factor which influence this business, particularly 

around the small and medium audit firms is about the personal style of the partner himself. This 

condition is not surprisingly. According to several participants, since the type of audit firms is 

sole proprietorship, means the firm only has one partner, that will put closed-management style 

automatically. Thus, it relates directly to the personal revenue as well as the asset of the partner.   

 

The next strategy is to face the high staff turnover and staffs’ skill and competency. The action 

above is one strategy to maintain the staffs to stay and also to improve their skill and competency. 

According to AP10, the most important action for local audit firm to improve the skill and 
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competency of the staffs is by assigning the new staff to “on job training” program. They can 

learn by doing the actual task. AP08 agrees and says: 

“It will be very costly with a very low impact if we just send the staffs for in class training. 

They will only get the knowledge but not the skill and competency as we have expected to 

support the assigned team […] experience is the best teacher. Provide them with 

experience […].” 

 

The explanation above shows that the local audit firms have to be more innovative to manage 

their limited resources, and thus, contribute to some higher earnings for the firm. Another 

important strategy is to maintain internal coordination and communication among the staffs with 

the partners. In order to show the comparation among these two types of practitioner, the section 

below will clarify the explanation by showing the comparison between the global and local 

firms’ perspective regarding the regulatory changes. 

 

7.4  Comparison between the Global and Local Practitioners’ Perspectives on Regulatory 

Changes  

Most of the participants responded to the question about how the regulatory efforts influence their 

practice in audit firms. They claimed that the direct influence for them is the shift in their 

thinking, that makes them apply the risk based thinking or “critical thinking” (Tuanakotta, 2013). 

Hence, 90% of the practitioners said that they need to prepare “a huge project or action plan” 

since they have lots of things to do due to the changes. The table below shows the comparison 

between the global and local audit firm’s perspective on that matter.  
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Table 7.3  

Comparison between Global and Local Audit Firm’s perspective regarding the regulatory 

changes 

Description 
Perspective's Differences  

Perspective's Similarities Global Practitioners Local Practitioners 

Reaction and 

perception 

Normal and natural 

respond 

Feeling tough and 

hard 

The regulatory changes 

purpose is for 

improvements 

 

Depend on their global 

network 

Provide everything by 

themselves  

 

Global firms are ready 

to face any changes 

We have to be ready 

but it's hard  

 

Aware and understand 

the reason behind of 

the changes, and 

already implement it 

Follow the regulatory 

changes and try to 

comply the changes 
 

Expectations 

Fairness on regulation 

Open up the new 

business chance in 

audit market 

Offer opportunity to 

engage with more clients 

 

Provide benefits to the 

profession regarding to 

the regulatory changes 
 

Determine a minimum 

assurance fee 

 

Improve reputation, 

competency, attitude 

and mental, 

competitiveness in 

other word put the 

"confidence" back  

 

Free or affordable 

professional training 

programs for the members, 

especially for the auditors 

not for the partners 

 

  

Auditing as a more 

desirable profession for the 

young accountants 

 

  

Protect the profession 

legally 

 

  

The awareness of being 

more professional as an 

accountant 

 

  

Improve the awareness of 

related the parties 

 

  

Expect regulators to be 

consistent in promoting 

and realizing the 

enhancement of AQ 
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Description 
Perspective's Differences  

Perspective's Similarities Global Practitioners Local Practitioners 

Challenges 

Time management, to 

conduct or join training 

or CPD program, focus 

more on performing 

many projects 

Time management, 

focus more on getting 

projects than 

empowering within 

the office's work, 

because one man show 

performance 

 

 

Handling customer 
Training and CPD 

program   

 
 

High staff's turnover 
 

 

 

Input (incoming) 

staff's skill and 

competence 
 

Actions/ 

Action Plans 

1) joining the CPD 

program according to 

the assigning client’s 

location; 2) joining 

weekend CPD schedule 

program; 3) joining 

small group discussion 

(internal program) with 

the assigning team or 

office; and 4) joining a 

regular training 

program in their own 

audit firm 

1) starting to be more 

opened to staffs to 

delegate and distribute 

the works instead of 

conducting “audit 

project” to the 

available staffs they 

have; 2) providing 

routine meeting which 

has multi functions, 

not only to discuss 

about the job progress, 

but also sharing 

knowledge or 

information around 

one to two hours; and 

the last 3) treating 

every staff as an office 

marketing team 

Preparing or revising “huge 

project": audit manual 

 

Maintains the 

communication well 

Internal coordination 

and communication  

Source: Compilation data obtained, 2016 

The table shows that every audit firm has their own perception, reaction, expectation, challenge, 

and action based on their characteristics as well as the resources they own. It also shows the 

similarity between them in term of perceptions, expectations and actions.  
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7.5  Discussion 

As mentioned earlier, the purpose of this chapter is to investigate how the practitioners’ reactions 

and perception, expectations, challenges and practices (actions) are influenced by the regulators’ 

efforts in order to enhance AQ in Indonesia. Utilizing the institutional analysis, it shows that the 

efforts of the regulators signaled significant changes in the accountancy environment i.e. the shift 

in the practitioners thinking which put them into applying the risk based thinking or “critical 

thinking” which is required to properly implement the law and standards.  

The questions of this study explore whether different size of audit firms reacted and perceived 

differently to the regulatory efforts in order to enhance AQ in Indonesia. Although they reacted 

and perceived, expected, and faced challenges differently in response to the regulators’ efforts, 

however, they shared a similar opinion regarding their general expectations which is shown in 

Table 7.3. In addition, they are aware that the purpose of these efforts and changes is for 

profession’s improvement. Most of them agree that the regulatory efforts may offer the 

opportunity to engage with more clients, determine a minimum assurance fee or affordable 

professional training programs for the non-partner auditors. They also expect that the new act and 

regulations will make auditing as a more desirable profession for the young accountants as the 

audit firms have higher possibility to earn higher turnover. These changes will also protect the 

profession legally, and finally, help to decrease the gap in resources and market share among the 

practitioners. 

The different in expectations between the global and the local audit firms are that the former focus 

more on the fairness of applying the regulations, improvement in competency, reputation, attitude 

and mentality and the competitiveness so that the improvements on the profession will put “the 
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confidence back” to the business environment. While the local audit firms focus more on the 

expectation of the way to obtain more “business opportunity” in order to cover their operating 

cost, due to their limited resources. They also expect that with the regulators constant support 

their business condition will be better in the future. 

Hence, based on the explanations above, it found that all of the participants share a similar view in 

terms of benefits they can get by complying with the regulatory changes. The expectations then 

can be divided into two categories, the first is monetary value added which is related to the value 

of money. This refers to the value regarding the audit fee also known as the financial benefit; and 

the practitioners may possibly get more clients which will eventually increase their assurance 

revenue. The second category is the non-monetary value added which include the awareness of 

being more professional as an accountant (improve the competency, good reputation, better 

attitude and mentality and competitiveness). Besides that, the practitioners also expect that the 

regulatory efforts will protect the profession legally and decrease resources and market share the 

gap among the global and local practitioners. In addition, the regulatory changes may improve the 

awareness of the related parties such as the clients and the stakeholders to be more confident with 

the business that employs qualified auditors. The practitioners also expect regulators to be 

consistent in promoting and realizing the enhancement of AQ in Indonesia, since they are the 

authority to carry out such task.  Therefore, the finding of Chapter 7 is shown on the table below. 

Table 7.4 

The Summary of the Findings on Chapter 6 (Research Questions 5-7) 

RQ 

No 

Research Questions  Findings 

5 How are the reactions and 

expectations of practitioners 

It shows how practitioners reacted and perceived the regulatory 

efforts to enhance its AQ. The global practitioners are always 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

243 

 

RQ 

No 

Research Questions  Findings 

towards the regulatory 

changes? 

preparing to face the changes as they have strong connection 

with the professional international network services, while their 

local counterpart find it a challenge as they lack the necessary 

resources. However, the two group shares the same view that 

they may have to struggle to meet the regulations as well as the 

new international standards. In addition to that, all of them 

perceive similar views regarding the benefits that they may 

receive by having the regulatory changes, in the form of 

monetary and non-monetary value added. Finally, the 

practitioners expect that the regulators will keep on promoting 

and enhancing the practitioner’s work quality in order to raise 

the confidence of the clients and other stakeholders 

Although they reacted and perceived differently in response to 

the regulators’ efforts, however, they shared similar opinion 

regarding their general expectations. They are aware that the 

purpose of the efforts and changes is for profession’s 

improvement. Most of them agree that the regulatory efforts 

may offer the opportunity to engage with more clients, 

determine a minimum assurance fee or affordable professional 

training programs for the non-partner auditors. They also expect 

that the new act and regulations will make auditing as a more 

desirable profession for the young accountants as the audit firms 

have higher possibility to earn higher turnover. These changes 

will also protect the profession legally, and finally, help to 

decrease the gap in resources and market share among the 

practitioners. 

The combination of utilizing the institutional analysis finds that 

regulatory changes affect the practitioners’ perception and 

reactions in relation to the AQ improvements. However, the 

normative and cultural-cognitive pressures provide more 

evidence rather the coercive pressure. Since the reactions, 

perceptions and actions shows professionalism and value of the 

practitioners. 

6 What are the challenges 

faced by practitioners due to 

It finds that the presence of practical challenge faced by the 

practitioners is unavoidable.  The global audit firms’ 
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RQ 

No 

Research Questions  Findings 

the changes? participants agreed to such challenges like audit fee, trainings 

and work’s allocation time (time management) and the nature 

of Indonesian’s clients. With respect to the changes, the local 

audit practitioners’ participants in the interviews indicated the 

presence of four basic challenges, namely, time management, 

operational costs, high employee turnover and support staff’s 

competency and skill.  

The phrase “time management” in the local practitioners’ 

perspective is quite different from the “time management” used 

by global audit firms. The global audit firms also face a 

challenge in their time management but due to “the big number 

of client”. However, time management for local audit firms 

refers to difficulty to manage their time, because they are too 

busy looking for “projects” from clients.  This condition has 

been a routine for them in order to bear the operational costs, 

and paying for the operational costs is one of the ways to 

comply with the current rules and standards. This may happen 

because in the local audit firms, the partners perform multiple 

functions as a managing partner, marketer, finance manager, 

reviewer and human resource manager as claimed by one of the 

participants above. Typically, all the vital functions in the small 

firms are conducted by a single partner or up to a maximum of 

three partners. 

7 What are the strategies or 

action plans applied by both 

types of practitioners due to 

the changes? 

The strategy and action plans of the global practitioners find 

more on mimetic, normative and cultural-cognitive pressures. 

Since, these actions represent their professionalism to cope the 

challenges. The strategies and action plans emphasizes more on 

how the role of moral obligation and values of the practitioners 

implement properly.   

It shows that global practitioners face technical issue regarding 

the regulatory changes. The issue is not related to the 

implementation of standards or regulation, but the way to cope 

with the changes with other parties like the clients and support 

staffs within the office especially when accomplishing their 

assigned projects and at the same time comply with the new 
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RQ 

No 

Research Questions  Findings 

standards and regulations 

The action plan and strategy which are conducted by local 

practitioners are same pressure’s evidence as the global 

practitioners. All actions and strategies are identified as 

normative and cultural-cognitive pressures, since these may be 

exhibited as professionalism’s efforts. Regarding these matters, 

there are three challenges that have to be solved or at least 

needed the necessary strategies to be dealt with by the local 

practitioners. Regarding to the time management and 

competency development program, the measures that have been 

performed are: 1) the practitioners should begin to delegate and 

distribute the works to the available staff instead of conducting 

the “audit project” all by themselves. For example, appoint a 

staff as a coordinator for preparing or revising the audit manual 

2) hold periodic meeting of an hour or two with the staff, and 

discuss not only matters concerning an “audit project”, but also 

share knowledge or information 3) treat every staff as a member 

of a marketing team. They may help the partners to get new 

client, and in doing offer them with an incentive or reward 

 

7.6  Summary of The Chapter 

This study has investigated the practitioners’ expectation qualitatively regarding the regulatory 

efforts conducted in Indonesia. Based on the analysis, it can be concluded that the regulators’ 

efforts have created significant changes on the practitioners in order to improve the AQ. 

However, the practitioners react to the regulatory efforts differently. The global practitioners are 

always preparing to face the changes as they have strong connection with the professional 

international network services, while their local counterpart find it a challenge as they lack the 

necessary resources. However, the two group shares the same view that they may have to 
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struggle to meet the regulations as well as the new international standards. In addition to that, all 

of them perceive similar views regarding the benefits that they may receive by having the 

regulatory changes, in the form of monetary and non-monetary value added. Finally, the 

practitioners expect that the regulators will keep on promoting and enhancing the practitioner’s 

work quality in order to raise the confidence of the clients and other stakeholders.  This chapter 

concludes that the combination of utilizing the institutional analysis finds that regulatory changes 

affect the practitioners’ (as one of the audit quality actors) perception and reactions, 

expectations, challenges and also the action plans in relation to the AQ improvements. However, 

the normative and cultural-cognitive pressures provide more evidence rather the coercive 

pressure. Since the reactions, perceptions and actions shows professionalism and value of the 

practitioners. Therefore, the implementation of AQ may show continues improvement and still 

requires the participations of all parties (especially the practitioners) related to the accounting 

professions. The real implementation of AQ in global and local audit firms, discusses on the next 

Chapter 8 below.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

247 

 

CHAPTER EIGHT 

AUDIT QUALITY IMPLEMENTATION: THE COMPERATIVE CASE STUDIES 

 

8.1 Introduction  

The objective of this thesis is to examine how the regulatory changes influence the AQ 

developments and implementations in Indonesia. As explained in Chapter 7, besides the 

regulators as the main actors of audit quality to provide a decision making to shift or change the 

behavior in relation to the global pressure, the other important actor for this phase is the 

practitioners. This chapter is the third phase of the analysis which presents the actual 

implementation of AQ within the process in two types of audit firms. For this phase of analysis, 

regulative, mimetic and normative pressures are utilized focusing in the AQ implementation 

process in audit firms. When considering these pressures, the practitioners in audit firms needs 

action plans to confirm the compliance which can be achieved through systematic and intensive 

identification processes within their firms and their norms (DiMaggio & Powel, 1983). The 

actions plan has been explained in Chapter 7, and this chapter shows the real implementation and 

practices the in two types of audit firms.  

 

Utilizing these regulative, mimetic and normative pressure, because as a different type of firms 

within each own characteristics and issues, engage similar behaviors to achieve legitimacy they 

decrease the “gap” between them become more similar in term of implementing the law, 

regulation as well as auditing standards properly over time (DiMaggio & Powel, 1983). In 

addition, the three pillars of institutional theory are also utilized as the foundation to support and 

illustrate how they provide the compliance basis on enhancing AQ.   
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The external influence in this chapter is the pressure from the regulators, with their current law, 

regulations and standards, and therefore prompts and influences the audit firm’s behavior and 

values. In order to support these processes, the practitioners may build professional firms’ 

networks among the practitioners with a common culture and share similar values; observe and 

imitate the behavior or other audit firms in the environment that seems suitable and acceptable 

for them; consult with the regulators regarding  the practical challenges within the firm and join 

in any workshop to obtain new knowledge or refresh information to be implemented within the 

firms as claimed by PB03 and PB01.  

The data for this study comes from the observation, interviews conducted with the practitioners 

at all level of auditors within audit firms, as well as the secondary data come from the audit 

firms. The participants for this phase are partners, assurance advisor, audit managers, supervisors 

(manager assistants); senior auditors, junior auditors, and even the support staffs and personnel 

managers. The information on the participants is presented in Chapter 5, while the summary of 

the profile of participants is presented in the appendix. Besides conducting interviews and 

reviewing the documentary materials, observation of the routine activities of the participants was 

also a part of this study. The documentary material was obtained from the officers as well as 

from the official websites of audit firms. The list of sources of data and analysis method of this 

study is also presented in Chapter 5. This chapter is prepared based on the views, experiences, 

opinions as well as the perceptions of the participants (actors) regarding the related problems. 

Given a more intent and focus on the actors is one important direction when using institutional 

analysis especially in studying the heterogeneity and practice variation (Lounsbury, 2001). 

However, it may also remain consistent with the focus on the institutional sources of actor and 

behavior by emphasizing how institutional rationality can provide a foundation of the 
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explanation of variation (DiMaggio & Powel, 1983; Meyer et al., 1977). The variation means 

how organizations employ different kinds of strategies in response to institutional pressure for 

both legitimacy and efficiency (Oliver, 1991). In other word, how variation in the organizational 

practice is systematically shape by institutional forces (Greenwood and Hining, 1996; Ruef and 

Scott, 1998). 

This study shows that the pressure from the regulatory changes influence the AQ implementation 

within audit firms to decide different strategies among them. As presented in Chapter 7, the 

practitioners claimed that there is a significant different between the global and local 

practitioners in reacting and responding to the changes. However, all agreed that the audit firms 

may struggle to meet with the regulations as well as the new international standards based on the 

resources and capacity they owned.  

The participants were asked about how the regulatory changes affect the process of AQ 

implementation and practice in the audit firms. Most of them responded that the regulatory 

changes affect significantly in their office. Moreover, the process of performing audit, since the 

audit methodology and approach according ISAs are different.   This analysis provide evidence 

that whatever the type of audit firm, the hierarchy code shows that there are at least three 

strategies to be considered in implementing AQ practices, namely: educational practice, ethical 

practice and quality control practice as illustrated in figure below. The term practice’s 

categorization is used by Köhler (2009). Based on the data analyzed, the detailed code of 

hierarchy is illustrated in figure below. 
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Figure 8.1  

Code of hierarchy of actual AQ implementation within audit firms  

 

Based on the figure above, the section starts with the introduction, and then followed by the case 

study 1: AQ implementation in the global audit firms and subsequently, case study 2: AQ 

implementation in local audit firms. The AQ implementation in each audit firms will be detailed 

into three practice strategies of: education, ethical and quality control. The general strategies 
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among these audit firms are similar, but quite different in the real practice and implementation. 

However, before discussing detail the strategies which are conducted by the audit firms, the first 

section of case study explains the profile of each audit firms. And then, the next section is the 

discussion part, comparative case studies and the chapter will end with a conclusion or summary 

of chapter.  

8.2 Case Study 1: AQ Implementation in Global Audit Firm  

As mentioned in the previous section, the definition of a global audit firm is a firm which has 

international professional service networks (Lenz & James, 2007). Because of its professional 

service networks, the global audit firms are considered as “big firm” in size. These big size firms 

are recognized as being more superior than their “non-big firms’ counterpart” in term of the 

number of auditors and human resources (DeAngelo, 1981) technology (Sirois & Simunic, 

2011), motivation and professionalism (Herrbach, 2001), Bamber & Iyer, 2002), reputation 

(Lennox,1999; Skinner & Srinivasan, 2012) and competency and independency.  

 

Most of researches have been consistent with the classic definition of audit quality by DeAngelo 

(1981) which states that audit firm size as a surrogate of audit quality. A large audit firms have 

more risk of reputation losses because of their large clients (Francis & Yu, 2009; Choi, Kim, 

Kim & Zang, 2010; Lawrence, Minutti-Meza & Zhang, 2011); Francis, Michas & Yu, 2013). As 

explained in Chapter 7, in the case of Indonesia, the majority of market share in the audit market 

is dominated particularly by the Big-Four audit firms. Based on this, the Indonesian audit market 

is called an oligopoly market (Irmawan, 2015). Taking this condition into account, it is clear that 

the global audit firms are settled in all aspects, which put in a comfortable position to adapt, 
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prepare and manage their firms to face the regulatory changes (Lenz & James, 2007).  The 

following section discusses AQ implementation in the global audit firms which is detailed into 

three practice strategies of educational, ethical and quality control (Köhler, 2009). For the 

purpose of this study, the global audit firm is called GAF. However, the section below explains 

in advance the profile of GAF.  

8.2.1 The Profile of the Global Audit Firm (GAF) 

The profile of the GAF includes the following information:  general, organization chart and 

personnel, its credential and its professional services. 

8.2.1.1 General 

The GAF is domiciled in Jakarta. The firm was founded in 2003 to serve Indonesian business. It 

provides audit, assurance, and other consulting services to different sizes of companies; private 

and public, in various industries. This firm is registered with the Indonesia Financial Service 

Authority (OJK) and Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) in the USA, 

entitling it to provide auditing services to companies whose shares are listed in the Indonesia and 

USA stock exchanges. It means this firm must meet the more stringent quality standards required 

of CPA firms auditing publicly held companies. Second, the GAF is subject to the inspection 

program of the Ministry of Finance, OJK and PCAOB to assure its training, supervision of work 

and continuing education result in an effective quality control system. The GAF also has 

developed its own audit methodology directed at the unique needs of midsized clients. In a 

certain informal discussion, one of the manager claimed that the GAF provides auditing and 

other assurance services with access to extensive resources with first-rate responsiveness and 

personal attention. He (AP01) says: 
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“[…] the involvement of senior level personnel in every engagement, big or small, 

differentiates us from other accounting firms in the nation.” 

 

He adds: 

 

“We place strict standards and high expectations on our professionals to deliver our 

assurance products that fairly, fully and independently assess the condition of clients’ 

companies. They can be assured of a thorough process, efficiently delivered, at a 

reasonable cost.” 

 

This firm can work with any industry, but are especially knowledgeable in the areas of: 

manufacturing and wholesale distribution, coal mining and oil and gas, pulp and paper, 

plantation, manufacturing and trading, health care and not-for-profits.  

 

8.2.1.2 Organization Chart and Personnel of GAF 

The GAF only has three assurance partners, three non-assurance partners, a quality assurance 

(technical advisor), and five managers. Right now, the firm is in process of proposing to the 

MOF to approve one more assurance partner. The total of GAF‘s personnel is currently have 

over 80 professional staffs. The figure 8.2 below is the organization chart of the GAF; 

particularly in audit and assurance service is as follows: 
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Figure 8.2  

Organization chart of the GAF in audit and assurance service 

Source: Organization chart of the GAF, 2016 

The figure shows that in every engagement, the team consists of one assigned group which is 

leaded by a group head under the supervision of a manager. Before being reviewed by the 

partners, a draft report will be checked and reviewed by quality assurance as the last step of 

review. The quality assurance has also had a function as a technical advisor when the teams find 

doubtful on understanding certain auditing or accounting standards. Technical advisor acts as “a 

dictionary” for the teams, where they can obtain the answer of any questions and issues they may 

face during conducting audit field work. However, the manager may sometimes “replace” his/ 

her function, since the teams do not face any difficulty or complicated audit assignments. As the 

explanation of a partner in this firm (AP02) says: 

“[…] in order to maintain both quality and client satisfaction, we only accept new clients 

that we have staff with the appropriate experience and availability to provide this high 

level of service, since it has been determined clearly the duty and job of every personnel. 
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Hence, the teams can work effectively. This is a basic principle of being a professional 

[...].” 

  

The detail job description and function of each position is shown on table below: 

Table 8.1a  

The job description 

Senior/ Junior Staff Group Head 

Review the accounts of companies and 

organizations to ensure the validity and legality 

of their financial records. The detail activities 

are: 

The duties and responsibilities are: 

• Collecting data, checking and analyzing 

spreadsheet data.  

• Examining company accounts and financial 

control systems 

• Checking that financial reports and records 

are accurate and reliable 

• Ensuring procedures, policies, legislation 

and regulations are correctly followed and 

complied with. 

•  Identifying if and where processes are not 

working as they should, and advising on 

changes to be made.  

• Preparing working papers based on audited 

accounts and process 

• Leading the in- charged auditor’s group 

• Sometimes preparing audit procedures. 

• Review the working paper of the senior or 

junior  

• Collecting all detail accounts’ working 

papers prepared by junior and senior. 

• Preparing audited TB’s working paper 

(working balance sheet and profit and 

loss) . 

• Liaising with managerial staff and 

presenting findings and recommendations, 

together with audit manager. 

• Together with the manager, head group 

preparing reports, commentaries and 

financial statements 

Source: Organization chart and job description of the GAF, 2016 

Table 8.1b  

The job description 

Manager Quality Assurance Partner 

The duties and responsibilities 

are: 

The duties and 

responsibilities are: 

The duties and responsibilities 

are: 

• Preparing Audit Planning 

Memorandum (APM) and 

audit procedures. 

• Review the audited TB’s 

working paper (working 

balance sheet and profit 

and loss). 

• Review the quality 

systems to observe if 

they are according to 

the standards that were 

required. 

• Review the audited 

draft report and opinion 

• Plan and manage audit 

engagements, included 

Gauging levels of 

financial risk within 

organizations 

• Understand client business 

and provide appropriate 
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Manager Quality Assurance Partner 

• Liaising with managerial 

staff and presenting 

findings and 

recommendations, 

together with head group. 

• Together with the head 

group, manager preparing 

reports, commentaries and 

financial statements. 

• Preparing draft of opinion. 

• Attend client meetings to 

discuss about audit 

process. 

• Sometimes the manager 

behalf as QA 

prepared by audit 

manager or lead group. 

• QA’s job and 

responsibility can be 

done by manager audit 

too 

audit services to meet 

client expectations 

• Maintain up-to-date 

knowledge about 

company standards, 

policies and regulations 

• Address client concerns 

and escalate complex 

issues to management for 

immediate resolution. 

• Develop innovative ideas 

to extent client services 

• Maintain positive and 

long-term relationships 

with clients 

• Provide support to ensure 

timely completion of audit 

projects. 

• Assist in developing 

company standards to 

improve effectiveness and 

quality of deliverables. 

• Build highly-skilled and 

achievement-oriented 

team environment. 

• Develop new client 

contacts for business 

growth 

• Attend client meetings 

and stay abreast with 

industry trends 

Source: Organization chart and job description of the GAF, 2016 

8.2.1.3 Its Credential – Affiliation 

The GAF is an independent member of Geneva Group International (GGI), the world ‘s leading 

organization of independent professional firms: ranked number 6 worldwide by the Accountancy 
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Magazine (UK), more than 736 offices worldwide, more than 26,000 employees, in more than 

120 countries, combined fee income of USD 5,056 Billion in 2015, and largest multidisciplinary 

organization in the world.  

 

8.2.1.4 Its Professional Services 

The GAF places strict standards and high expectations on their professionals to deliver services 

that fairly, fully and independently assess the condition of their clients. One of the partners 

(AP02) said that there are two types of services: assurance service and advisory and consulting 

services. The detail of each service is shown in table below: 

Table 8.2  

Assurance Services 

Auditing Due Diligence Special Audit Other Assurance Services 

The firm provides 

auditing of 

financial 

statements 

prepared based on 

accounting 

standards (SAK, 

SAK ETAP, and 

SAP). Audits are 

based on auditing 

standards (SPAP).  

 

The firm provides 

due diligence 

review for 

acquisitions, 

mergers, or any 

other purposes  

 

The firm provides 

any other audits, 

including agreed-

upon procedures 

audits (depends on 

the requirements), 

internal control 

audits, and others  

 

The firm provides other 

assurance services, 

including review services, 

forensic audits, and others  

 

Source: Company profile of the firm, 2016 
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Table 8.3  

Advisory and Consulting Services 

Tax Advisory Services 

 

Tax Compliance Services Outsourcing Services 

The firm offers cost-effective 

tax advisory services to 

improve clients’ tax 

efficiency, including: 

• Tax Consultation & 

Planning 

• Tax Due Diligence 

• Cross-border Tax Issues 

• Tax Objection/appeal 

The firm provides tax 

compliance services of a 

consistently high quality. 

The firm assists clients to 

manage Indonesian tax 

compliance issues, risks 

and opportunities  

 

The firm helps clients get 

their focus back on what 

clients do best and allow 

them to take advantage of 

access to specialized skills in 

the area of accounting, 

finance and payroll  

 

Source: Company profile of the firm, 2016 

 

8.2.2 Educational Practice in the Global Audit Firm 

Based on the data obtained, one of the major practices which are crucial for the global audit 

firms to implement AQ is the educational practice. According to AP01 and AP06 the first 

requirement for the audit professional and auditors are skill and competency. Thus, this section 

discusses about how the global audit firms apply the auditing standards into their auditing 

manual, as well as its implementation particularly in education practice.  

 

Forty eight percent of the global practitioners asserted that their “manual book” has high degree of 

compliance with the ISAs. AP01, AP05, AP6 and AP07 stated that their affiliations facilitate the 

update of their manual audit book as well as provide a development program to make their 

employees aware of it. AP05 states: 

“[…] we have prepared well for the new audit standards, and we even have done internal 

training programs for our auditors. Our global affiliates shared and provided the updated 

audit quality policies, practices and also methodologies […] we considered that we are 

ready for the changes.” 
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AP07 is convinced that their actions are not only focused on the auditing standards, but also fulfill 

the practice requirements, and new enforcements approach, as mentioned in the new regulation 

for practitioners, as well as updating the accounting standards, which is still in progress and in late 

2016, the accounting standard setters are still launching and updating these standards. AP07 says: 

“There is still a lot of works related to the standards to be done, especially the accounting 

standards. These standards are very dynamic, so we have to update it at all times, otherwise 

our report will be an issue. […] auditing standards are fine, because we have done 

everything in our audit manual, but for accounting this is a crucial issue right now because 

the team will have to test all the accounts presented in the financial statements. If they don’t 

understand the updated accounting treatment, how can they test them […], other important 

thing is the regulation; […] we just got a visit from the OJK as well as the P2PK to check 

our “corrective action request (CAR)” regarding their last quality inspections. There was 

nothing serious, just to ensure that we performed our CAR, and they were happy because we 

are in the progress of developing our new web-based quality control system. So, the 

assigned team can see the updated process of conducting audit work from anywhere […].”  

 

The statements show that their actions are part of the real educational practice in an audit firm, in 

term of updating the competency of the staffs.  

 

As mentioned earlier, the educational practice section discusses the education and development 

process at length. The objective of educational practice is for developing the capabilities of audit 

professionals which may include internal training program, professional bodies’ program (CPD 

program), on-the job training program, formal academic classes and other courses. Based on the 

data obtained from one of the global audit firms, it shows that on its Quality Control Manual 

(SPM) Chapter 1 is about Personnel. This chapter covers the personnel managing process which 

include or recruitment, professional developments, advancement, and assigning personnel to 

project engagement. In Chapter, entitle Personnel at point number 1.4 under the sub-topic of:  

Professional Developments of the SPM stated as follows: 
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“Personnel of the Firm should develop and maintain the necessary general and industry-

specific competencies by obtaining relevant CPE and other professional development 

activities that enable them to fulfill the responsibilities assigned to them, and satisfy the 

applicable CPE requirements of the Indonesian Institute of Public Accountants, the SEC 

(OJK), and other regulatory agencies.” 

 

Point 1.5 to 1.8 states the following: 

 

“[1.5] The Firm encourages audit personnel to attain membership of an appropriate 

professional body. [1.6] The Firm has policy of minimum requirements for CPE that 

reflect local professional requirements and the requirements of these policies. [1.7] The 

Firm has a policy of 30 hours minimum of structured CPE per year that are measurable, 

verifiable activities including: attendance at courses, external and internal; individual 

study programs such as computer based training; participation as a speaker or attendee at 

conferences. [1.8] The Firm encourages personnel involved in audit to keeping up to 

date through unstructured learning activities such as technical reading. Personnel are to 

act with professional skill, derived from their qualifications, trainings and practical 

experience.” 

The statements stated in the SPM shows the evidence that the global audit firm have complied 

with the regulations as well as auditing standards that require them to maintain their staff ‘s 

competencies as stated in the professional development policy in its SPM book. This is where the 

normative and cultural-cognitive pressures as another evidence of figuring institutional pressure. 

This also shows mimetic pressure, since they tend to adopt the available model of quality control 

manual from their global network. As mentioned that they made justification according to the law 

and regulation of the country. Supporting evidences of the policy were collected the copies of 

such internal training schedule program, staffs training certificates, and personnel checklist 

questionnaire. It shows that the global audit firms not only comply with the standards but also 

emphasize the various parts of the education and development process.  

 

Besides reviewing the official documents related to the personnel developments of the global 

audit firms, this study also performs reflection method analysis which compare and ensure that the 
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official documents is credible. In this case, this study uses the relevant document of the regulators 

which is the P2PK’s document of the quality inspection result dated 20 June 2014. As mentioned 

earlier by AP07, that the regulators visited them in November 2016, two years after the last 

inspection in 2014. The data proves the credibility, since there was no other significant inspection 

finding regarding to personnel developments. The inspection’s result shows recommendation to 

provide more supporting data due to the implementation of SA Section 30053 and SA Section 

31554. 

 

The above discussion on the personnel development is one of the important factors for the 

practitioners to show commitment in AQ, since competency also plays significant role in 

increasing the quality of the audit (Brazel et al., 2004; Gul et al., 2013). In addition, the 

professional competence and due care are the fundamental principles to maintain professional 

knowledge and skill, based on current development in practice, legislation and techniques in 

accordance with professional standards (IESBA, 2015). This is the real evidence that both 

pressures, normative and cultural-cognitive influence the implementation of AQ in this audit firm. 

The next implementation of AQ is discussed from the perspective of ethical practice as explains in 

the following section. 

 

8.2.3 Ethical practice in the Global Audit Firm 

The purpose of professional law, rule, regulation and standards is to require a professional 

accountant to acquire the specific capabilities for example professional skills, professional 

                                                             
53 SA section 300 is about audit planning of the financial statements 
54 SA section 315 is about the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements 
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values, professional knowledge and ethic as well as attitude. All these are needed in order to 

carry out the work as competent audit professional. The discussion of ethical practice in audit 

firms in this chapter, refer to how the practitioners understand ethical and unethical behavior in 

their practice (Gul, Ng & Tong, 2003).  

 

As mentioned earlier, the education as well as the ethic practices utilizes the normative pressure 

where the source of this pressure to keep aspect of professionalization (DiMaggio & Powel, 

1983) and normative pillar operates through the establishment and reinforcement of values and 

norms that shape desirable ends and means for actions, thereby providing frames through which 

action may be evaluated. Hence, the basis of this normative aspect is about moral 

implementation (Scott, 2008). Thus, the normative pressure does not affect audit firms through 

coercion; rather than firms comply with norms because the practitioners identify themselves with 

professional standards. As a result, they believe that compliance with norms specified by the 

professional standards is beneficial for their firm (Palmer, Jennings & Zhou, 1993).  It shows 

extremely important for auditing professionals to be ethical in their practices due to the very 

nature of their profession. The nature of accountants’ work puts them in a special position of 

trust in relation to their clients, employers and general public, who rely on their professional 

judgment and guidance in making decisions. These decisions in turn affect the resource 

allocation process of an economy (Satava, D., Caldwell, C., & Richards, L. (2006). 

 

In the case of ethical practice in audit firms, the data finds that in order to be ethical in 

performing audit assignment, instead of using code of ethics as a mandatory ethical guidance for 

auditor, the global audit firms have included the technical guidance of auditor’s ethic and 
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behavior in their SPM. One of a global audit firms shows certain chapter discuses about 

“Independence, Integrity and Objectivity”.  This is one of the evidence that the global firms 

concern on this matter. In addition, 100% of the participants of the global audit firms convince 

that they have SPM and one of the chapters present the ethical practice used in their firms, and 

this also show the shape of ethic practice or implementation in audit firm. Their “100%” answer 

regarding the availability of SPM can be ensured since all the participants are the OJK auditors. 

It means that without “an established SPM”, they cannot be as the distinguished OJK’s auditor.   

Based on the interview, there are three main discussions regarding to the implementation of 

ethical practice in audit firms: client’s acceptance and continuance process (included rotation), 

statement of independency and statement of confidential data exchange. 

8.2.4 Ethical Practice on Client’s Acceptance 

As mentioned in section 8.2.1.2 AP02 said that in order to maintain both quality and client 

satisfaction, they only accept new clients that they have staff with the appropriate experience and 

availability to provide this high level of service. This is an ethical way how a practitioner keeps 

his/ her professionalism, and the ethical way to the implementation of client’s acceptance. He 

added that being aware of becoming a professional is the basic principle to be an accountant 

(Satava, D., Caldwell, C., & Richards, L. (2006). 

 

AP05 considers the action done after the client’s acceptance process. He discusses other real 

ethic of implementation in the process of conducting audit assignment. He said that this ethical 

implementation involves all the assigned team. It means that those who contribute to the overall 

audit process and reporting will be responsible in ethical behavior. He says: 
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“From my best of knowledge, the standard and law apply not only to engagement partner, 

but also those who are responsible for making “professional judgment decision” to 

overall audit opinion. So, the output of the audit should be considered in certain 

fundamental principles of a profession such as integrity, objectivity […]. That’s all we 

called as an ethical practice.”      

 

Another explanation about ethical practice was stated by PB01, is one of the board members of 

professional body, a practitioner as well as an academician. She says: 

 

“[…] discussing about ethical practice, the main issue is still the same, it’s the attitude. 

The cause was created by unhealthy competition among audit firms. […] as an auditor we 

don’t educate our clients to be better, so this is still the main issue. […] we realize or not, 

we ignore, don’t care about “bad things” happened around us. […] we have done 

“something”, but that is not enough for this profession […]. That’s why I always talked 

in class, to my students, how they have to follow the code of ethics very strictly, because 

in code of ethics I told them there is no grey area, only one white or black. Whether they 

want to follow that or they refused it. Only that. And the decision is in our own hands. So 

that’s why my hope is on young generation […]. It is very easy to make someone smart, 

competence, good skill, but how to change the attitude in order to comply our ethic code? 

[…]. We have to show to them that this profession is still very trustworthy profession 

[…]. This is our job.” 

 

The participants were also asked whether they have ever got a sanction from the regulators due 

to the ethics issue. All the participants said that there has been no violation of the Code of Ethics 

due to conducting their works whether related to their audit firms as well as the partners. AP01, 

AP02 and AF102 said that the partners have ever administrative sanctioned by the OJK as the 

lateness of submitting CPD report recently and they charged Rp 100.000 per day. The answer 

was also relevant with the annual report of P2PK in 2016. In addition, they agree that the high-

quality audit is also supported by the ethical behavior of the auditors (Ardelean, 2015).   

 

Based on the statements above it shows that besides competency or educational practice, the 

perceived ethical behavior of practitioners reveals a significant image in shaping the audit 

perception, since as PB01 said that this auditor is known as trustworthy profession. Thus, the 
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perception of other parties such as users, investors, and stakeholders depend on our ethical 

practice as well as the educational practice. 

 

8.2.4.1 Ethical Practice on Statement of Independency 

Among the fifth of the fundamental principles stated in the Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants, the statement of independency is belonged to the objectivity principle, where the 

practitioner is not allowed bias, conflict of interest or under influence of others to override 

professional or business judgments (IESBA, 2016).  

 

The ethical practice on the statement of independency in the GAF, every auditor has to sign the 

statement of independency first before accepting the assignment of audit. The statement of 

independency of the team is filed and became part of the audit working papers. AP01 says: 

“[…] the Chapter Two of our SPM is the principles of independence, integrity and 

objectivity. All the personnel shall adhere these principles and apply to every audit 

engagement”.   

 

According to their SPM, independence requires: 

 

“Independence of mind - the state of mind that permits the provision of an opinion 

without being affected by influences that compromise professional judgment, allowing an 

individual to act with integrity, and exercise objectivity and professional skepticism, and 

Independence in appearance – the avoidance of facts and circumstances that are so 

significant that a reasonable and informed third party, having a knowledge of all relevant 

information, would reasonably conclude the Firm’s, or a member of the assurance team’s, 

integrity, objectivity or professional skepticism had been compromised.” 

 

Independence encompasses an impartiality that recognizes an obligation for fairness not only to 

management and owners of a business but also to those who may otherwise use the Firm's report. 

The firm and its personnel must be free from any obligation to or interest in the client, its 

management, or its owners. 
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. 

8.2.4.2 Ethical practice of Statement of Confidential Data 

AP01 and AP07 have similar explanation due to implementation of confidential data’s principle. 

The definition of confidential data used in the current ethics codes’ draft is different with the 

previous one. The new definition is exactly the same as the definition stated in the Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants which was issued by IESBA. The new definition is that: 

“Confidentiality- to respect the confidentiality of information acquired as a result of 

professional and business relationship and, therefore, not discloses any such information 

to third parties without proper and specific authority, unless there is a legal or a 

professional right or duty to disclose, nor use the information for the personal advantage 

of the professional accountant or third parties.” 

 

(IESBA, p.10) 

 

AP01 added that the previous ethics code stated only focus on not disclosing any information to 

third parties without proper authority or any permission. It did not mention unless for the purpose 

of legal duty. The personnel manager of this firm confirmed that the ethical practice of statement 

of confidential data implemented well and consistently in this firm. She says: 

“[…] we have done this practice since the beginning of our business. We stated the 

confidential data statements in our “personnel contract or assignment’s letter”. In this 

contract stated that every personnel have to keep any confidential data and information 

well, unless there’s a requirement from authority.”  

 

 

8.2.5 Quality Control Practice in the Global Audit Firm 

In the earlier section, the study has discussed about SPM is the term used by Indonesian standard 

for quality control system in an audit firm. According to the Practical Guide to Quality Control 

System published by IFAC, the purpose of the system is to provide an audit firm with reasonable 

assurance that the firm and its personnel comply with the professional standards and applicable 
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regulatory and legal requirement (IFAC, 2016).  It is very crucial for audit firm’s quality control 

and has good impact to the quality of audit performance, especially regarding to the decision of 

making professional judgment (Roybark, 2012).  

 

In the case of global audit firm in Indonesia, all the global audit firms convince that they have 

SPM as mentioned above. Moreover, they also always implement it properly to support the firm 

and engagement partners and assigned team issue a report which is appropriate in the 

circumstances. AP07 explains the implementation and the description of her SPM: 

“As I said before that the firm developed policies and procedures outlining how the firm 

and its personnel are to comply with requirements. The requirements here mean various 

professional standards as well as the rule and regulation […]. So, all our activities shall 

meet with the SPM […], for example the process of review audit working paper. In our 

SPM describes how the work should be performed by each member of the audit team, 

and should be reviewed by a more senior person. […] the reviewer should be 

appropriately informed of their responsibilities for maintaining the Firm's systems of 

quality. If possible, this review takes place at the client's offices. It is a requirement, 

however, that all engagement reviews should be completed prior to issuance of audit 

report. Moreover, we have application of quality control system to support the auditor to 

prepare audit working paper faster.” 

 

This explanation was also confirmed by one of the team in the same audit firm. AF105 says: 

“[mentioned the name] always reviews our working paper, whether on-side audit or when 

we are in office. He uses certain monitoring form, and writes a note, what or which part 

of audit working paper should be updated and completed. […] he usually calls us to give 

orally explanation if he needs it […]”  

 

Based on the explanation above, this section shows that each member of the professional staff is 

responsible for carrying out the Firm's quality control policies and procedures.  Such policies and 

procedures are designed to provide the firm with reasonable assurance those professional 

standards and other firm policies have been complied with.  They have been designed with both 

professional requirements and the needs of the firm in mind. The global audit firms are always 

considered that they can implement their quality control system consistently, since the firm has 
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also provided it into an application, to make the duty faster and complete. Thus, one of the 

reason large clients (especially for SEC registrants) have tendency to choose Big 4 firms since 

they are considered implementing global quality control and having experienced on audit quality 

(Francis et al., 2009).  

 

8.3 Case Study 2: AQ Implementation in Local Audit Firm (LAF) 

The same question was asked to the local practitioners whether their “manual book” has complied 

with the ISAs. They claimed that their manual books ‘compliance has some significant 

differences; and due to this they require more time to refine it. This manual book is important 

since this is one of the evidence that the audit quality have been concerned, and this question has 

relationship with the following question when they may show that they have quality control 

system, which will be discussed in detail in section 8.3.3. AP03, AP04, and AP09 considered that 

the practitioners have no choice except to comply, even though the impact is hard and costly, 

especially for the small and medium audit firms, which are owned by the local practitioners. They 

have known as limited resources audit firm, and now they also have to be more careful in 

accepting assurance engagements due to the pressure of high quality output at lower fee. The 

detail about low audit fee and clients’ acceptance will be discussed on section 8.3.3.1 below.  

 

The local audit firms differ from the global firms in many aspects. Most of their clients are small 

and medium enterprise and has no access to open market (stock exchange market) (Collis, 2003).  

In the case of this case study, the local audit firms were asked whether they are under supervision 

of OJK, 54% stated that they are registered auditor under this agency. They said that although 

they have no global affiliation, they are fulfilled the requirement as the distinguished auditor for 
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listed companies. AP08 and AP 04 stated that they only have no more than 3 limited companies. 

AP04 states: 

“We have rural bank clients. Thus, we have to be registered as the OJK auditor to be able 

to audit a bank. We only have a limited company client […].” 

Thereby, the local practitioners have implemented AQ based on their capacity and their available 

resources. Although they have small market segment as well, however, their efforts to comply 

and meet all their needs should be appreciated.  

8.3.1 The Profile of the Local Audit Firm 

The profile of LAF consists of general, organization chart and personnel of LAF, its credential 

and its professional services.  

8.3.1.1 General 

The LAF is one of well-known and experienced local audit firms in Surabaya.  Although this 

firm is a local audit firm, however it is firm is registered with the Indonesia Financial Service 

Authority (OJK) and Supreme Audit Board (BPK) for public sector auditor.  The firm provides 

comprehensive audit services and assurance services to all industry types. It assists the clients in 

facilitating audit of the financial statements of their businesses. The firm’s clientele ranges from 

small and medium enterprises to multinational companies. The regulators such as the Ministry of 

Finance, OJK and IAPI ensure and visit the firm periodically whether it has applied proper 

conducting audit based on the current auditing standards.  One of the partners said that the OJK 

just conducted quality review in 2016, whether the MOF’s inspection was carried out three years 

ago.  
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8.3.1.2 Organization Chart and Personnel of LAF 

The firm has two assurance partners and two non-assurance partners. The firm is supported by 70 

(seventy) professionals (with various background education degree such as Masters, Under 

Graduates and Diploma) who are expert in their field.  

The organization structure of this firm looks generally like other audit firms: the partner is at the 

top, with several managers reporting to the partners. The senior staffs report to each manager, 

and staff accountants (juniors) report to seniors. When it comes interacting with clients, the 

assigned team (seniors and juniors) spend most of their times to the clients, while managers and 

partners predominantly office based. A manager usually manages and supervises more than one 

assigned teams. Hence, He has to manage his/ her time to visit the teams’ field work or discuss 

and meet the clients. While a partner’s goal is to obtain as much a new business as possible while 

ensuring a high level of service to their existing clients. A partner cannot only to stay in one 

client in order to survive the firm. He has to manage the time for reviewing the opinion and 

report and for searching potential business opportunities. This audit firm has no quality 

assurance; the duty of quality assurance is usually handled by partners or managers. 

8.3.1.3 Its Credential  

The founder of this firm is Mr. Slamet Supoyo, established since in 1969. The firm continues to 

improve providing services with support from all professional workforces of more than 70 

personnel who are expert in their field as well as administrative staffs. The LAF grows continues 

rapidly and endlessly won the trust of clients or customers.      
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8.3.1.4 Its Professional Services 

Based on the interview to a partner, the firm divides services into three types: assurance services, 

tax services and management services. Assurance engagement that is applied to the historical 

financial information intended to provide reasonable assurance on the fairness of presentation of 

the historical financial information and the conclusions expressed in the form of positive or 

negative statements. Historical financial information includes financial statements, among others, 

part of a financial report, or a report attach to the financial statements. The firm’s professional 

service in this tax service area is the tax consulting and tax compliance. While the management 

services include: preparing feasibility study of business, preparing for Initial Public Offering 

(IPO), Design and set up the management information system, provide training and recruiting 

personnel services.  

8.3.2 Educational Practice in the Local Audit Firm 

As mentioned in the previous chapter that one of the challenges of the local practitioners is about 

providing time for training. The action plans to face the challenges are the evidence that local 

audit firms also implement the educational practice in their firms. One of the interesting program 

conducted by their firms is the “training collaborative program”. This program is initiated by 

AP04. He offers to other small or local audit firms to provide regular training for their junior and 

senior auditor by inviting an instructor to give training. He says: 

“[…] this collaborative program is managed by several audit firms. The requirement is 

only one “local audit firm”.  We decide the topic based on our need in current 

assignment, for example about “employees benefit accounting treatment”. We invited an 

instructor to teach them with the real case faced by the auditor in the field. So, next time 

our auditors have understood how to calculate and check the proper treatment of this 

account […]. We paid together for this program.” 

 

In a separate interview due to personnel development program, AF201 says: 
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“[…] we have two regular programs for developing and updating our staffs’ competency: 

first is the Friday afternoon program, and the second is mentoring program. The Friday 

program focuses on updating current information and regulations, while mentoring 

program is an intensive supervising program, especially for the junior or new incoming 

staffs […].” 

 

Based on the explanation above, the local audit firms also concern this professional development 

matter.  Other program regarding to education and development of the staffs, are almost similar 

to any other audit firms, such as joining mandatory CPD for CPA’s staffs, supervising a new 

staff conducting audit field work, and creating group discussion among assigned team.  It is also 

visible that to provide continuing professional development not only for CPA’s staffs, but also 

for the younger staffs (Kaspina, 2015). 

    

8.3.3 Ethical Practice in the Local Audit Firm 

Ethics has become a key area of concern in auditing at present, not only for the global but also 

the local firms, as PB01 explains: 

“[…] regarding the main issue in ethic is still the same, it’s about the attitude. Actually, 

not only local, even the global audit firms […].” 

 

She adds: 

“Sometimes the accountants’ behavior of a big audit firm impacts significantly compare 

to small or medium audit firms, since most of the clients may influence the stability of 

economy in general.  One of the classic examples is Enron and its auditor. It doesn’t 

mean that the professional body can neglect or be lenient to what the small or medium 

audit firms have already done, especially related to the non-conformity action. We have 

same treatment to all audit firms. Whoever hasn’t done properly to ethics code or 

standards, we will give the punishment. ” 

 

Hence, the statements above are also in line with what the MOF regulator’s explanation. As 

mentioned on section 6.3.2.2 that the sample basis for the selection of the inspection’s objects is 

the Big 10 audit firms. The Big Ten Firms becomes the priority of quality review or inspections. 
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The same reason is about general stability of economy in the country. However, as the regulators 

said that there is no different in enforcing the rule and regulation among audit firms, since that 

more exposure to unethical behavior motivates owners or managers of the small firms to take 

action and implement more ethical policies (Zheng & Mirshekary, 2015). The real ethical 

practice in local firm explains on the following section. 

 

8.3.3.1 Ethical Practice on the Client’s Acceptance and Continuance Process 

As discussed above that the common answers about ethical practice is what has been stated in 

their SPM. However, one of the partners in this audit firm said that it is not easy to implement 

our SPM into real condition, particularly due to the level of fees or anticipated profit which may 

pose a threat to compliance with ethical behavior. AP04 says: 

“[…] we have a complete SPM, we arrange and manage all important procedures and 

process in it. However, not all the process can be conducted consistently particularly 

relate to the client’s acceptance. There are many factors behind this inconsistency. One of 

the factors is our typical clients. Most of them are small and medium enterprises where 

certain requirements usually cannot be fulfilled by them in order to obtain our services, 

especially due to low audit fee. We need to inform them and update them with the current 

information. […] I think that if we don’t do have this side, they won’t never know. This 

is not our excuse; this is the facts what we often face practically, and this is our big 

threat.” 

 

He adds: 

 

“Low fees cannot guarantee that the auditor may perform the engagement comply with 

the standards. […] be honest that this situation may show that we are financially 

dependent on our clients. What we have done so far is by allocating reasonable amount of 

time in field work process. We also offer to client a flat audit fee instead of hourly rate, 

and be honest again that this offer is still need to be evaluated due to the anticipated profit 

that the firm earn […].”  

 

He shifted the topic into SPM discussion, explains: 

 

“We still need to revise our SPM, since based on the quality review which was conducted 

by OJK, there are several points should be met with the new standards, especially due to 
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the terms and definitions, such as attestation and assurance. There’s no term of attestation 

anymore on the current audit standards. […] we have been revised SPM, we focused on 

putting risk- based principles on our new SPM.” 

 

It shows that there is still “social” responsibility and ethical practices of small and medium firms 

face dilemma, and their decision- making process is sometimes influenced by practices’ pressure 

whether from outside or inside of its audit firm. It also shows that the practice at the firm level to 

address the issue is not particularly clear, and the example is the acceptance of client as the 

statement discussed above. However, the role of ethics helps the practitioners identify threats 

they should determine whether appropriate safeguards are available to eliminate or reduce the 

threat to an acceptable level. The safeguards which has been done by the LAF is allocating 

reasonable amount of time in field work process and offering to client a flat audit fee instead of 

hourly rate. These safeguards’ actions still need to be evaluated in the future.  

 

8.3.3.2 Ethical Practice on the Statement of Independency 

The same statement mentioned by one of a senior staff (AF201 that every audit assignment shall 

enclose the statement of auditor’s independency. He said that this form is mandatory to be filled 

by assigned auditor as one of the auditing standards’ requirements.  He added that we noticed the 

way an inspector (from OJK) tested the independency. He explains: 

“[…] the important elements we may identify are: checking non-audit services by 

auditors to their clients, rotation of audit partners, fee audit, and employment by a client 

of former audit staffs. He repeated what the partner said at that time that the inspector 

recommended them to provide “safeguard approach” to independency of their auditors, 

and put it into their revised SPM.”  

  

It shows that the firm has serious effort to determine the appropriate approach places the onus on 

the auditor to consider particular circumstances and ensure whether the next safeguards can be 
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implemented to reduce threats to independence to an acceptable level.  In addition, although the 

firm has generally put in place policies and procedures with respect to preserving independence 

and satisfying requirements based upon law and standards, the inspectors found where firms had 

problems in implementing it.  

8.3.3.3 Ethical Practice on the Statement of Confidential Data Exchange 

Most of all practitioners understand the statement of confidential data exchange as stated in the 

draft of national ethics code has been changed and met with the Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants which was published by IESBA. AP04 says: 

“[…] since the IAPI and P2PK socialized and sent the draft of the current ethics code, we 

also in progress of revising our SPM. […] yes, everything is stated in SPM, the next step 

is how we implement our SPM, that’s the most important point for us. […] we are aware 

that our implementation still needs to be improved; however, we carry out it step by step 

[…].” 

 

He also says: 

 

“So far, there’s no complain to us about this confidential data issues, and we hope that 

won’t be happened in the future. We trust our staffs, and we also mitigate this risk by 

providing a notebook or laptop to our staffs to keep and work in it. At least, this is our 

risk mitigation regarding to keep clients’ data confidentially. This is not easy for us, 

moreover in this technological era that people may access of information through 

different kinds of tools.” 

 

The audit firm is aware that one of their obligations is to protect confidentially of the clients’ 

data and information is imposed in every auditor by the national law, ethics code for professional 

as well as their own SPM. Maintaining confidentially is becoming more difficult, since the 

information technology can improve the quality of care by enabling the instant retrieval and 

access of information through various means, it also can increase the risk of unauthorized use, 

access and disclosure of confidential client’s data and information. This is another challenge 

which is faced by the audit firm.  



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

276 

 

 

8.3.4 Quality Control Practice in the Local Audit Firm 

The implementation of quality control practice in local audit firm has been shown based on the 

result above. Several points which are stated by key persons of the audit firm, such as the 

procedure of recruitment, client acceptance process, the statement of independency, as well as 

the statement of confidential data exchange, are the evidence that constructing and implementing 

appropriate quality control system of audit engagements are challenges for them. Hence, as the 

recommendation given by the inspectors that the firm, to continually endeavor to improve the 

system for ensuring and improving the audit quality under the appropriate control, including 

revising the SPM meet with the current auditing standard and conduct it consistently. Moreover, 

this LAF is one of the auditors which are registered in OJK. It means that they are potentially 

conducting audit of the multinational (listed) company. Hence, the regulators will see closely 

regarding to their audit engagements including their sufficient presentation of their audit working 

paper to support the audit work done in order to provide assurance that the audit was performed 

in accordance with the relevant auditing standards and regulations.  

In term of preparing audit working paper, AF201 says: 

“[…] we have procedures how an audit working paper has to be prepared; we have 

standard templates for recording purpose which can be in hard or soft copy. The working 

paper is not only file of documents related to our field work but also all the steps of 

performing audit (planning, field work and reporting) […]. The all team’s member will 

involve finishing it […].” 

 

 A different explanation was stated by AP04, one of a partner in this firm about the involvement 

of the member of a team: 

“[…] due to the audit working papers, this is a fact that I can’t involve and supervise all 

project, I just focus on reviewing the high-risk clients such as limited companies. The rest 

of clients’ working papers will be supervised by the manager or supervisor or may be the 
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head of the team […]. Because several issues relate to high turnover of my staffs, and this 

consequences on the uncompleted audit working papers. This makes me get “dizzy” all 

the time. We need to update, and sometimes the other staff didn’t know the history and 

the context right, the team has already left [...]. This is true […]. This may provide bias to 

decide the appropriate “audit opinion”, right […]. I will live peacefully if I know that the 

team has done correct and well […]. But I understand that it needs time to prepare them 

to be settled in conducting work […].” 

 

He adds about the need to update the SPM regarding the current auditing standard. He says:  

 “[…] we also need to update our SPM, especially due to the standard of auditing, we still 

mentioned three standards of performing audits, there should be five according to ISA. 

We still have lot of home works […]. And one thing, this condition also the same as the 

reviewer’s recommendation who visited us several months ago, we were asked to 

improve our SPM and implement it consistently. They will visit us this year to ensure our 

action plans.” 

 

The discussions above find that there is still inconsistency in completing and preparing the audit 

working paper since there are several reasons behind this incompleteness. Although the team has 

performed the audit well, however the incompleteness of audit working paper may cause bias 

decision for partner to determine “an opinion” since there is insufficient evidence to support it. In 

addition, although the working paper has been prepared well and complete, however the way 

they present their working paper is not available consistently for the partner for review, this will 

cause the same bias decision consequences.  Furthermore, they still need to revise their SPM 

meet the current standards.  

 

8.4 The Comparative Case Study: AQ Implementation 

Based on the analysis above, the AQ’s implementation between GAF and LAF because of 

regulatory changes occurred. The interpretation from the two audit firms can be compared into 

tables. Instead of having institutional theory as lens of analysis, this section also using 

comparative analysis under institutional categories and three main aspects of AQ 
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implementation. Furthermore, the detail explanation of both interpretation is described as the 

table below. 

Table 8.4  

Institutional Categories and Aspects in Case Global Audit Firm 

Elements/ 

Firm 

Global Audit Firm (GAF) 

Education  Ethical  Quality Control  

Coercive/ 

Regulative 

Normal and natural 

respond (pressure) on 

facing the competency and 

personal education 

development program, 

since they have internal 

regular program for 

auditors/ staffs 

Instead of using code of 

ethics as a mandatory 

ethical guidance for 

auditor, the global audit 

firms have included the 

technical guidance of 

auditor’s ethic and 

behavior in their SPM: 

Independent, Objectivity & 

Integrity 

Pressure reflected that the 

available SPM should be 

updated in line with the 

new SPAP (under ISA). 

Several points still out of 

date such as number of 

credit hours, sampling 

guidance and procedure for 

accepting clients, although 

most of the aspects comply 

to standards 

  

It is reflected in the 

available annual schedule 

plan of the employees' 

development, as well as 

sending their staffs to CPD 

program provided by 

regulators (IAPI & P2PK), 

and fulfill the minimum 

credit hour per year for 

professional (40 credit 

hours) 

The standard and law apply 

not only to engagement 

partner, but also those who 

are responsible for making 

“professional judgment 

decision” to overall audit 

opinion. So, the output of 

the audit should be 

considered in certain 

fundamental principles of a 

profession such as 

integrity, objectivity 

In the progress of 

developing new web-based 

quality control system in 

order to comply the 

standards 

Mimetic Global affiliates shared and 

provided the updated audit 

quality policies, practices 

and also methodologies.  

They consider other 

competitor's strategy on 

implementing ethic code, 

especially relates to 

handling customer 

Global affiliates shared and 

provided the updated audit 

quality policies, practices 

and also methodologies.  

Normative Quality Control Manual 

(SPM) is available, 

Chapter 1 of the SPM is 

about Personnel. This 

chapter covers the 

personnel managing 

process which include or 

recruitment, professional 

developments, 

Encourages audit personnel 

to attain membership of an 

appropriate professional 

body 

The professional staff is 

responsible for carrying out 

the Firm's quality control 

policies and procedures.  

Such policies and 

procedures are designed to 

provide the firm with 

reasonable assurance those 

professional standards and 
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Elements/ 

Firm 

Global Audit Firm (GAF) 

Education  Ethical  Quality Control  

advancement, and 

assigning personnel to 

project engagement 

other firm policies have 

been complied with 

 Normative 

The Firm encourages 

personnel involved in audit 

to keeping up to date 

through unstructured 

learning activities such as 

technical reading 

In their SPM, they regulate 

about Independence of 

mind - the state of mind 

that permits the provision 

of an opinion without 

being affected by 

influences that compromise 

professional judgment, 

allowing an individual to 

act with integrity, and 

exercise objectivity and 

professional skepticism, 

and Independence in 

appearance    

  

  The normative pressure 

and pillars reflected on the 

statement of the 

confidential data in their 

"contract or assignment’s 

letter”. In this contract 

stated that every personnel 

have to keep any 

confidential data and 

information well, unless 

there’s a requirement from 

authority (risk mitigation 

implemented)   

Cultural-

cognitive 

Global affiliates shared and 

provided the updated audit 

quality policies, practices 

and also methodologies. 

They used to see dynamic 

policies from the 

affiliations, thus it 

influences their value, 

belief and attitude. The 

firm also provide 

something like the 

company called "corporate 

Besides competency or 

educational practice, the 

perceived ethical behavior 

of practitioners reveals a 

significant image in 

shaping the audit 

perception, since this 

auditor is known as 

trustworthy profession 

The reviewer should be 

appropriately informed of 

their responsibilities for 

maintaining the Firm's 

systems of quality 
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Elements/ 

Firm 

Global Audit Firm (GAF) 

Education  Ethical  Quality Control  

culture) 

Legitimacy The available practices are 

fulfilled and satisfactory, 

the challenges focus on the 

intensive the updated 

accounting treatment for 

auditors 

Current practice is 

satisfactory, however the 

supervision to assigned 

auditors should be done 

properly to keep legitimacy 

The global audit firms are 

always considered that they 

can implement their quality 

control system 

consistently, since the firm 

has also provided it into an 

application, to make the 

duty faster and complete 

 

Table 8.5  

Institutional Categories and Aspects in Case Local Audit Firm 

Elements/ 

Firm 

Local Audit Firm (LAF) 

Education  Ethical  Quality Control  

Coercive/ 

Regulative 

Feeling tough pressure, 

since they have to spend 

enough resources for the 

auditor's or staff's 

education development 

program, with the 

(limited) resources they 

have. 

Moderate pressure on ethic 

code, since they have 

provided the ethic guidance, 

however need to be revised 

High pressure on manual 

books ‘compliance, since it 

has some significant 

differences; and due to this 

they require more time and 

cost to refine it 

  

They said that, so far, they 

only send two or three 

staffs for CPD program 

provided by IAPI or 

P2PK, and sometimes 

conducting dissemination 

of CPD result to other 

staffs (rarely)   

practitioners have no 

choice except to comply, 

even though the impact is 

hard and costly regarding 

to the quality control of 

their firm 
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Elements/ 

Firm 

Local Audit Firm (LAF) 

Education  Ethical  Quality Control  

Mimetic Since they have no global 

affiliation, then they 

initiate to provide staffs 

development's program by 

conducting collaborative 

program together with 

other local audit firms. 

Thus, they may be more 

efficient in term of cost. 

Actually, this program is 

adopting the other 

program of global audit 

firms, however it has 

different style, but the idea 

is similar (Friday 

afternoon program) 

Expect from regulators to 

provide like "pocket book" 

for simple ethic code's 

implementation (practical 

ethic code book), thus they 

just adopt it 

Expect the regulators 

provide practical quality 

control manual for small 

and medium audit firms, 

thus they just adopt it 

Normative Mentoring program is an 

intensive supervising 

program, especially for the 

junior or new incoming 

staffs, in order to 

accelerate process of 

learning thus they can be 

assigned in a certain 

project as support team 

The expectation to be aware 

with the responsibility of 

this profession 

The professional staff is 

responsible for carrying out 

the Firm's quality control 

policies and procedures.  

Such policies and 

procedures are designed to 

provide the firm with 

reasonable assurance those 

professional standards and 

other firm policies have 

been complied with 

    

begin to implement the 

strategy regarding to risk 

mitigation. It is reflected by 

providing a notebook or 

laptop to our staffs to keep 

and work in it. At least, this 

is their risk mitigation 

regarding to keep clients’ 

data confidentially   

Cultural-

cognitive 

Just taken for granted what 

the senior share or give to 

them, and follow them 

Sometimes the staffs’ 

behavior impacts 

significantly to audit firms 

to keep the staff remain 

using their service, the 

reason is because the clients 

influence the stability of the 

Awareness of quality 

control system must be 

shared intensively to 

change attitude and 

behavior of the staffs 
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Elements/ 

Firm 

Local Audit Firm (LAF) 

Education  Ethical  Quality Control  

firm's business (economic 

aspect).  

Legitimacy The practices so far still 

make the partner not 

confidence with the result 

of the team, however the 

challenge is regarding to 

the personnel skill and 

competency, since the 

process of recruitment 

conducted by them not 

apply accordingly. In other 

words, most of the new 

staffs accepted not because 

of following recruitment 

procedure, rather than " a 

family member of another 

staffs. 

Current practice is 

satisfactory, however the 

supervision to assigned 

auditors should be done 

properly to keep legitimacy 

The practice still need to be 

improved, especially relate 

to the completeness of the 

audit working paper 

 

The table above shows the real implementation of AQ in two different audit firms (the global and 

the local audit firms) because of the regulatory changes. The study shows how the AQ is being 

implemented based on each characteristics of the audit firms. The comparative analysis finds the 

interpretations from the two case firms, where they are categorized under three aspects 

(education, ethical, and quality control) and categories of institutional elements (coercive/ 

regulative, mimetic, normative, cultural-cognitive). Firstly, most of the responses from global 

audit firms on institutional elements show normal and natural pressures, as it positions as global 

firm has given it benefit by obtaining several facilities from the affiliation in the aspect of 

education, ethical and quality control of the firm. However, the local audit firm finds high 

pressure on managing their limited resources such as time, cost and personnel in fulfilling the 

requirement of the regulations and standards.  
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Secondly, most of the participants describe the mimetic pressure for implementing AQ in their 

audit firms in similar ways. Both prefer adopting the available policies and methodology to be 

implemented in each of their firms. The different only lies in the origin of the information 

source. The global firm depends on their affiliation, while the local firm expects guidance from 

regulators. The discussion on normative pressure and pillars by both of the firm focus on 

professionalism. However, the intention of each audit firm is different. The global firm tends to 

encourage the staffs to attain membership of an appropriate professional body, as they are aware 

about the responsibility of practitioners in this profession. It is reflected on "contract or 

assignment’s letter”. The contract stated that every personnel have to keep any confidential data 

and information well, unless there’s a requirement from authority (risk mitigation implemented) 

to disclose it. The local audit firm begin to implement the risk mitigation strategy providing a 

notebook or laptop to staffs to keep clients’ data confidentially. However, they still need the 

effort to provide awareness for new staffs especially on the professionalism, particularly related 

to the clients’ data confidentiality.  

 

The fourth, relates to the cultural system in each firm where they try to internalize their culture, 

value and belief” to all the staffs, supporting and choosing to adopt it. They expect by doing so, 

the staffs believe in it and personally want to implement while performing their professional 

assignments. The global affiliates shared and provided the updated audit quality policies, 

practices and also methodologies. They used to see dynamic policies from the affiliations, thus it 

influences their value, belief and attitude. The firm also provides an environment called 

“corporate culture”. In contrast, the local firm tends to directly accept what the seniors share or 

give thus following them. Hence, these differences show their position of the legitimacy in every 
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aspect thus show satisfactory, the challenge however focuses on the intensive efforts for firms to 

remain satisfactory. On the other hand, the local audit firm, shows variety of practices as the 

satisfactory on the position of legitimacy just on the aspect of ethical, while they are still 

considered less confidence and need to be improved in the future.  

8.5 The Discussion 

As discussed in chapter 7 when the regulatory pressures came up, the practitioners respond with 

their strategies and action plans as the way to answer the changes occur. It shows how the 

regulators emerged and developed, and conclusively affect policy outcomes for the practitioners. 

The practitioners claimed that there is a significant different between the global and local 

practitioners in reacting and responding to the changes. However, all agreed that all the actions 

are to support the enhancement of AQ in the country on the resource and capacity they owned, 

and these affect the process of audit quality implementation and practice in their audit firms. In 

case of comparison between two audit firm case studies, the comparative analysis finds the 

interpretations from the two case firms, where they are categorized under three aspects 

(education, ethical, and quality control) and categories of institutional elements (coercive/ 

regulative, mimetic, normative, cultural-cognitive). Thus, detail of the discussion of the analysis 

results are describe on the following paragraphs.  

The real implementation of AQ in the level of audit firms is presented in this chapter. This 

chapter is also further evidence that shows the mechanism of institutional isomorphic and pillars 

interrelated with the process of enhancing and implementing AQ in audit firms’ practice. 

Although both audit firms within each own characteristics and challenges, engage similar 

behavior to achieve legitimacy in order to comply the law and regulations, as well as current 
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audit standards properly. Both also build professional firm’s networks among them with the 

common culture and share the same values to support the process. Although the process of 

building professional networks for global audit firm is automatically since they have affiliated 

with international service networks, however they still consider that the regulatory changes effect 

significantly in their offices. While the local audit firms, they tend to observe and imitate the 

behavior of other audit firms in the environment that seems suitable and acceptable for them. 

They also go to consult with regulators regarding the practical challenges within the firms. 

The main different between both firms in term of profile is the existence of the international 

service network’s affiliation. Beside as an object of the national inspection program such as OJK, 

IAPI and P2PK, they also as an inspection’s object of PCAOB. Thus, they must meet the more 

stringent quality standards required of CPA firms auditing publicly held companies. In addition, 

that The GAF has also developed its own audit methodology directed at the unique needs of 

midsized clients. However, both can work with any industry, such as manufacturing, trading, 

contractors, and etc. Another difference is the composition of their personnel in their 

organization chart. The GAF puts Quality Assurance (QA) and act as technical advisor as well 

and also employs several foreign officers. While the LAF hires local workers and the function of 

QA is handled by partners or managers. However, in the case of partners and employee’s number 

in Indonesian office has a slightly difference.  

The evidence mentioned earlier also shows how the regulatory changes can shift the behavior of 

the practitioners to put “risk-based thinking” into every process and actions of their practice to 

implement audit quality. This chapter categorizes three practices of AQ’s improvements which 

are carried out by the audit firms: education, ethical and quality control.  
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Educational practice in the GAF is considered have high degree of compliance with ISA, since 

their affiliation network facilitate and provide certain program to make the audit staffs aware of 

the changes. In their SPM also shows the evidence that they have complied with the regulations 

that require every audit firm to maintain their staff’s competencies. As stated in Chapter 1 their 

SPM book, about “Personnel”, covers the personnel managing process which include personnel 

development. The development is not only focused on the general competency, but also on 

industry specific competencies, as well encourage the personnel to attain membership of an 

appropriate professional body. Thus, by doing such programs, the staffs keep up to date and they 

understand that they have to act with professional skill, derived from their qualifications, 

trainings and practical experience.  

The similar actions also have carried out by the LAF. They implement the educational practice 

based on their capacity and available resources. The actions which are conducted should be 

appreciated. One of an interesting development program is “a training collaborative program”. 

This program is initiated by the LAF and managed by several same-sized audit firms. They 

decide the topic of training based on their needs in their current assignment. This shows evidence 

that the LAF also has a good commitment and concern in this important employees’ 

development matter.  

The next evidence is the ethical practice. The discussion of ethical practice in audit firms in this 

chapter, refer to how the practitioners understand ethical and unethical behavior in their practice 

(Gul, Ng & Tong, 2003). The evidence presented earlier shows the ethic practices utilizes the 

normative pressure where the source of this pressure to keep aspect of professionalization 

(DiMaggio & Powel, 1983) and normative pillar operates through the establishment and 
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reinforcement of values and norms that shape desirable ends and means for actions, thereby 

providing frames through which action may be evaluated (Scott, 2008). Hence, the basis of this 

normative aspect is about moral implementation. The practice is extremely important for 

practitioners to be ethical in their practice due to the nature of this profession. The nature of the 

practitioners’ work put them into a special position of trust in relation to their clients as well as 

the public. Thus, the three main discussions regarding to the implementation of ethical practice 

in audit firms are client’s acceptance and continuance process (included rotation), statement of 

independency and statement of confidential data exchange.  

According to the GAF that in order to maintain both quality and client satisfaction, they only 

accept new clients that they have staff with the appropriate experience and availability to provide 

a high level of service. This is an ethical way how a practitioner keeps his/ her professionalism, 

and the ethical way to the implementation of client’s acceptance. They added that that being 

aware of becoming a professional is the basic principle to be an accountant (Satava, D., 

Caldwell, C., & Richards, L. (2006). Another evidence of ethical practice is in the process of 

making “a professional judgment decision”. They said that those who are responsible for making 

“professional judgment decision” to overall audit opinion, not only the engagement partner, but 

also all the assigned team. It means that those who contribute to the overall audit process and 

reporting will be responsible in ethical behavior.  

The LAF has different view about the practice on accepting clients. The main issue is the 

assurance clients’ acceptance due to the pressure of high quality output at lower fee. The firms 

face dilemma, and their decision- making process is sometimes influenced by practices’ pressure 

whether from outside or inside of its audit firm. It also shows that the practice at the firm level to 
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address this issue is not particularly clear. However, the role of ethics helps the practitioners 

identify threats they should determine whether appropriate safeguards are available to eliminate 

or reduce the threat to an acceptable level. The safeguards which has been done by the LAF is 

allocating reasonable amount of time in field work process and offering to client a flat audit fee 

instead of hourly rate.  Consider a flat audit fee instead of hourly rates to encourage audit 

efficiency. Although these might seem higher at the beginning of an audit, clients tell us they are 

often pleasantly surprised to see flat fee rates often come in lower than a comparable hourly rate 

for a previous audit. These safeguards’ actions still need to be evaluated in the future. 

The next ethical practice is the ethical practice on the statement of independency. Both has the 

same view how to show the practice of independency in audit assignments. They provide an 

independencies’ form which is mandatory to be filled by assigned auditor as one of the auditing 

standards’ requirements. The different between them is in term of their SPM book. Although the 

LAF has generally put in place policies and procedures with respect to preserving independence 

and satisfying requirements based upon law and standards, the inspectors still found where firms 

had problems in implementing it. 

The last ethical practice is on the statement of confidential data exchange. Both have been aware 

with the new definition which is used in the draft of Code of Ethics for Accountant Professional. 

They would not disclose any such information to third parties without proper and specific 

authority, unless there is a legal or a professional right or duty to disclose, nor use the 

information for the personal advantage of the professional accountant or third parties. Both also 

have done a mitigation ‘s action to keep the data and information confidentially by providing 

work devices for staffs which are only being used in workplace. The LAF stated that maintaining 
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confidentially is becoming more difficult, since the information technology can improve the 

quality of care by enabling the instant retrieval and access of information through various means, 

it also can increase the risk of unauthorized use, access and disclosure of confidential client’s 

data and information. This is another challenge which is faced by the audit firm. 

The last implementation of audit quality in audit firms is the quality control practice. As 

discussed earlier that the GAF has settled quality control system and implemented it properly, 

since they will also face the international quality review which is conducted by PCAOB. They 

said that each member of the professional staff is responsible for carrying out the firm’s quality 

control policies and procedures. Such policies and procedures are designed to provide the firm 

with reasonable assurance those professional standards and other firm policies have been 

complied with. Moreover, the GAF have provided an online application to implement quality 

control system better.  

In the case of the LAF, they keep to continually endeavor to improve the system for ensuring and 

improving the audit quality under the appropriate control, including revising the SPM meet with 

the current auditing standard and conduct it consistently. Based on the result of quality 

inspection which was conducted by OJK, there is still inconsistency in completing and preparing 

the audit working paper since there are several reasons behind this incompleteness. Although the 

team has performed the audit well, however the incompleteness of audit working paper may 

cause bias decision for partner to determine “an opinion” since there is insufficient evidence to 

support it. In addition, although the working paper has been prepared well and complete, 

however the way they present their working paper is not available consistently for the partner for 
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review, this will cause the same bias decision consequences.  Furthermore, they still need to 

revise their SPM meet the current standards. 

 

The comparative analysis finds the interpretations from the two case firms, where they are 

categorized under three aspects (education, ethical, and quality control) and categories of 

institutional elements (coercive/ regulative, mimetic, normative, cultural-cognitive). There are at 

least four general discussion to figure out the comparation between these two firms. Number 1) 

is that most of the responses from global audit firms on institutional elements show normal and 

natural pressures, as it positions as global firm has given it benefit by obtaining several facilities 

from the affiliation in the aspect of education, ethical and quality control of the firm. However, 

the local audit firm finds high pressure on managing their limited resources such as time, cost 

and personnel in fulfilling the requirement of the regulations and standards. Number 2) is that 

most of the participants describe the mimetic pressure for implementing AQ in their audit firms 

in similar ways. Both prefer adopting the available policies and methodology to be implemented 

in each of their firms. The different only lies in the origin of the information source. The global 

firm depends on their affiliation, while the local firm expects guidance from regulators.  

 

Number 3), the discussion on normative pressure and pillars by both of the firm focus on 

professionalism. However, the intention of each audit firm is different. The global firm tends to 

encourage the staffs to attain membership of an appropriate professional body, as they are aware 

about the responsibility of practitioners in this profession. It is reflected on "contract or 

assignment’s letter”. The contract stated that every personnel have to keep any confidential data 

and information well, unless there’s a requirement from authority (risk mitigation implemented) 
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to disclose it. The local audit firm begin to implement the risk mitigation strategy providing a 

notebook or laptop to staffs to keep clients’ data confidentially. However, they still need the 

effort to provide awareness for new staffs especially on the professionalism, particularly related 

to the clients’ data confidentiality.  

 

The last is that it relates to the cultural system in each firm where they try to internalize their 

culture, value and belief” to all the staffs, supporting and choosing to adopt it. They expect by 

doing so, the staffs believe in it and personally want to implement while performing their 

professional assignments. The global affiliates shared and provided the updated audit quality 

policies, practices and also methodologies. They used to see dynamic policies from the 

affiliations, thus it influences their value, belief and attitude. The firm also provides an 

environment called “corporate culture”. In contrast, the local firm tends to directly accept what 

the seniors share or give thus following them. Hence, these differences show their position of the 

legitimacy in every aspect thus show satisfactory, the challenge however focuses on the intensive 

efforts for firms to remain satisfactory. On the other hand, the local audit firm, shows variety of 

practices as the satisfactory on the position of legitimacy just on the aspect of ethical, while they 

are still considered less confidence and need to be improved in the future. The summary of the 

finding of this chapter is shown on table 8.6. 

Table 8.6 

The Summary of the Findings on Chapter 8 (Research Question 8) 

RQ 

No 

Research Questions  Findings 

8 How do the regulatory 

changes affect the 

process of AQ 

implementation and 

It shows how the regulators emerged and developed, and 

conclusively affect policy outcomes for the practitioners. The 

practitioners claimed that there is a significant different between 

the global and local practitioners in reacting and responding to the 
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RQ 

No 

Research Questions  Findings 

practice in audit firms? changes. However, all agreed that all the actions are to support the 

enhancement of AQ in the country on the resource and capacity 

they owned, and these affect the process of audit quality 

implementation and practice in their audit firms 

In case of comparison between two audit firm case studies, it finds 

that the implementation from the two case firms, where they are 

categorized under three aspects: education, ethical, and quality 

control and categories of institutional elements: coercive/ 

regulative, mimetic, normative, cultural-cognitive. 

It is also further evidence that shows the mechanism of 

institutional isomorphic and pillars interrelated with the process of 

enhancing and implementing AQ in audit firms’ practice. 

Although both audit firms within each own characteristics and 

challenges, engage similar behavior to achieve legitimacy in order 

to comply the law and regulations, as well as current audit 

standards properly. Both also build professional firm’s networks 

among them with the common culture and share the same values 

to support the process. Although the process of building 

professional networks for global audit firm is automatically since 

they have affiliated with international service networks, however 

they still consider that the regulatory changes effect significantly 

in their offices. While the local audit firms, they tend to observe 

and imitate the behavior of other audit firms in the environment 

that seems suitable and acceptable for them. They also go to 

consult with regulators regarding the practical challenges within 

the firms. 

  

8.6 Summary of The Chapter 

This chapter discusses the real implementation of AQ in two different audit firms (the global and 

the local audit firms) because of the regulatory changes and pressures. The study shows how the 

AQ is being improved and implemented, in the context of the both Indonesian audit firms, and 
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how these both audit firms also show AQ improvement initiatives and commitments into their 

professional practices whether education, ethical, and quality control based on the resources and 

capacity they owned. There are three evidences of audit firms’ practices which can be shown that 

the effort in enhancing AQ in Indonesia is improved: education, ethical and quality control, since 

based on the three practices show that the audit firms deliver their professional services through: 

a strong internal culture focus on high quality audit, applying appropriate resources, experience 

and expertise to audit, effective internal supervision and review, identifying and addressing audit 

risk and issues on timely basis and accepting and addressing finding from audit inspections of 

the regulators.  

 

Based on the comparison of implementing AQ, shows the real implementation of AQ in two 

different audit firms (the global and the local audit firms) because of the regulatory changes. The 

comparative analysis finds the interpretations from the two case firms, where they are 

categorized under three aspects (education, ethical, and quality control) and categories of 

institutional elements (coercive/ regulative, mimetic, normative, cultural-cognitive) are different 

on pressures. The global firm tend to perceive and respond normal and naturally, while the local 

firm find high pressure in it. Again, it dues to the resources each of these firms have. The similar 

thing is in mimetic and normative pressures. the discussion on normative pressure and pillars by 

both of the firm focus on professionalism. However, the intention of each audit firm is different. 

While the mimetic pressure, both prefer adopting the available policies and methodology to be 

implemented in each of their firms. The different only lies in the origin of the information 

source. Thus, this may show that the satisfactory in the position of legitimacy of both firms are 

also different. 
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This chapter also shows further evidence of the previous chapters on the consistency of utilizing 

the Institutional Theory which is embedded in this study discussion. The last is that this chapter 

is evidence of the AQ in Indonesian context by utilizing of regulative, mimetic and normative 

pressures, suggest that the AQ can be defined in the sense of audit process as an alternative 

perspective, since most of the previous researches concern on the audit result and deliverables 

rather than the process of audit itself (Francis, 2011).   
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CHAPTER NINE 

RESEARCH IMPLICATION, RECOMMENDATION AND CONCLUSSION 

 

9.1  Introduction  

The objective of this thesis is to answer the questions on how the regulatory changes influence 

the AQ developments and implementations in Indonesia. This study is based on the qualitative 

case study approach and utilizing the mechanism of isomorphism as well as three pillars of the 

Institutional theory to analyze the data obtained. This chapter presents a summary of the main 

findings of this study. It shows that the regulatory changes have significant influence on the 

development and improvement of AQ in Indonesia. It also shows that these improvements are 

necessary to ensure that Indonesia will emerge as a country with good-practice in accountancy 

reform in the developing world and a country that concerns with its AQ. Hence, this study 

investigates the efforts of the regulators and the recent developments in order to enhance AQ.  

 

Some consider that these movements are conducted for legitimacy as much as efficiency reasons, 

in which these efforts basically due to the global pressures in the form of recommendations and 

requirements by the international organizations such as ADB, World Bank, IMF and IFAC. 

Others opined that these intentions relate to the practical issues of the country. The study also 

asks the question of how are the reactions and action plans of the practitioners in facing the 

regulatory changes, and the lastly question is how the process of AQ’s implementation in the 

audit firms is applied. Thus, this chapter highlights these findings, the implication of the 

research, the recommendation and the conclusion.  
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9.2 Overview of the Study 

Scandals such as Enron, WorldCom, and Lehman Brothers have opened debates on AQ 

(Asthana, 2009; Kleinman, Lin, & Palmon, 2014; Sikka, 2009; Lennox, 2009; Unerman & 

O’Dwyer, 2004). These cases significantly affect the accounting landscape globally including the 

emerging economy like Indonesia. These situations have resulted in the rising demands and 

provision of practitioners’ obligation and responsibility to offer a wide range of assurance and 

other related services (Wegmen, 2007). Since then the AQ has become one of the main concerns 

in the accounting profession. 

 

Despite increasing the responsibility on accountant, other practical problems of Indonesian 

public accountant led to loss of confidence in its AQ, as reported in the IFIAR survey result 

which shows the degree of AQ in this country is considered low. This opinion was stated by one 

of the boards of the KPAP whose concern is based on the assessment result on five main issues: 

competency gap among practitioners (audit firms), quality control system, lack of enforcement 

on punishment (sanction) against violation of professional standards and rules, lack of awareness 

by the financial statements’ preparer, and audit fee. In addition, according to the input gathered 

during interviews with the regulators, most of them believe that the AQ has not been 

implemented properly in any type of audit firms. Aftermath of these phenomena has resulted in 

the struggle to reform and alter the regulatory changes. In fact, the regulatory changes in 

Indonesia are caused by the practical problems of this profession and also by the pressures from 

the international organization.  
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This study discusses AQ in Indonesian context by utilizing regulative, mimetic and normative 

pressures. This suggests that AQ can be defined in the sense of audit process in different 

perspectives, while most of the previous researches concern on the audit result and deliverables 

rather than the process of audit itself (Francis, 2011). The analysis of this study shows that AQ in 

Indonesia is being improved. The findings are presented in three chapters; Chapter 6 focuses on 

how the regulators play bigger roles through their regulative efforts rather than other efforts such 

as normative and cultural- cognitive, thus, the discussion emphases on statutory and institutional 

framework. This chapter also focuses on the expectations and the challenges with regards to the 

efforts in order to enhance AQ. Chapter 7 is the second phase of this study which utilizes the 

integration of isomorphism and pillars of the institutional theory in order to analyze how 

regulatory changes affect the practitioners’ reactions, expectations, challenges and action plans 

in relation to the regulatory changes (DiMaggio & Powel, 1983; Scott, 2008). Chapter 8 shows 

the real implementation and practices in two types of audit firms. The same analysis is utilized in 

the third phase. The implementation of AQ in different type of firms was considered appropriate 

taking into consideration each firm’s characteristics, resources and issues while engaging similar 

behaviors to achieve legitimacy. 

9.3 Regulators as Institutional Agents 

AQ becomes one of the important agenda in Indonesia, due to global accounting landscape 

changes that place pressures for the regulators as institutional agents (actors) to take action 

accordingly, in order to put the profession’s reputation back on track. This is considered a 

significant matter, since the crucial role of the regulators is to maintain the performance of 

auditing practice. Thus, the practical issues around the profession can be addressed as an ongoing 
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basis with the goal to improve the level of its AQ. The regulators place their roles into some 

efforts through the three different mechanisms and these roles are supported by three pillars to 

strengthen them (Scott, 2008). This section addresses the questions pertaining to the role of 

regulators as institutional actors. The section’s objective is to answer the question of how the 

regulators play their roles in enhancing AQ, and what are the recent developments, expectation 

and challenges of the regulators in enhancing AQ.   

The result from the analysis shows how the regulators as institutional agents (actors) act as 

policy makers respond accordingly through these efforts to meet the global changes to enhance 

AQ in Indonesia (DiMaggio & Powel, 1983). The beginning of the year 2007 has become a 

starting point for the Indonesian accounting profession in showing commitments for the country 

in relation to AQ. Since then, there has been further efforts and significant improvements on the 

regulatory changes, at the ASEAN regional level and the country level. These improvements can 

be translated into four major points: 1) Regulators’ roles and efforts at the ASEAN regional 

level; 2) Regulators’ roles and efforts at the country level; 3) Regulators’ expectation on the 

regulatory changes; and 4) regulators’ challenges caused by the regulatory changes. The sections 

of this chapter discuss the identification of regulatory efforts undertaken by the Indonesian 

regulators that has been identified on the pre- and post- 2007 basis.  

The finding shows that the year 2007 was the starting point for quality improvement efforts on 

audit practices among public accountants in Indonesia. However, the initial reaction to AQ by 

Indonesia was shown prior to 2007 through the policies established to improve the accounting 

profession. It also identified those regulator’s efforts after 2007 that depicts the collaborations 

among Indonesian regulators in improving the practice. It can be said that the regulators have 
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accomplished much on statutory and institutional frameworks, to comply and meet the 

international requirements, such as enhancing a new law and regulations, revising and adopting 

the international standards, and restructuring the institutional drives of AQ. On top of that, they 

have already come up with the draft of Audit Quality Indicators (AQIs).  

With regards to the statutory and institutional framework’s efforts, the study results indicate that 

there are at least 14 crucial points that show significant different between these two periods (pre- 

and post- 2007). Based on the listed points, the post-2007 period of the auditing framework 

shows more interactions among parties involved and were highly supervised by the regulators. It 

is also important to note that the regulatory changes occurred are the efforts and initiatives of the 

regulators to enhance the AQ in Indonesia. By keeping abreast in the current developments on 

AQ and changes in the legal and regulatory frameworks, it can be assured that the auditing 

standards remain excellent and up-to date. However, in order to ensure effective regulatory 

developments, in this case the auditing framework, most of the participants agree that the 

regulators should clearly define the roles, rights, and the responsibility of all parties involved in 

the AQ framework such as the regulators themselves, auditors, management of companies, users, 

preparers, TCWG and other stakeholders. The inconsistency can be mitigated by developing 

clear definitions and conducting thorough reviews on the prevailing legislations; thus avoiding 

technical regulations which will provide clauses that will likely be against the higher legislations. 

This is where such reasons need to be clearly explained.  

In addition, the finding also shows how Indonesian regulator’s efforts on AQ, have influenced 

the auditor’s liability in the country.  Finding reveals at least three auditor’s liabilities according 

to the new act, namely: civil liability, administrative liability and criminal liability. According to 
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the principle, auditors can only be found liable, if they act negligently. Until currently, there are 

only few cases regarding the auditor’s liability in which public accountants being sued in the 

Indonesian court. In other words, the new law and regulations aim to provide guidance rather 

than policing the profession, resulting less legal burden on the auditors. The regulators consider 

that in order to implement the law enforcement at this time, it is better to focus on how to make 

this profession better and improve AQ, rather than only giving out sanctions, without giving any 

improvements on AQ.  

Thus, all these efforts are expected to provide some added value to the professions. The 

regulators claimed that there are two expectations which are monetary and non-monetary value 

added for the practitioners in specific and for the business in general. Besides that, they also 

expect that the regulatory efforts will protect the stakeholders’ interest since there is importance 

in the role of practitioners practice in business. In addition, the regulatory changes may improve 

awareness among the related parties such as the clients (preparers), the stakeholders and the 

users hence being more confident in a business that employs qualified auditors as well as the 

awareness about this profession. The regulators also expect accountants to be consistent in 

supporting and realizing the enhancement of AQ in Indonesia, since they are the practitioner to 

carry out such tasks. In conducting their roles, the regulators also face challenges with regards to 

political and practical factors. However, they have prepared mitigation actions to overcome these 

challenges. 

9.4 The Issue from Practitioners’ Perspectives 

As mentioned earlier, the second phase of this study investigates how the practitioners’ 

perceptions, reactions, expectations and practices are influenced by the regulators’ efforts in 
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order to enhance AQ in Indonesia. The big question that arises from the practitioners’ reaction is 

how they comply with the current law and regulations as well as the international standards 

appropriately. This study explores such question, particularly with the current legal backing55 

and the SPAP (auditing standards) are in effect. And then, this discussion is divided into three 

major sections: the perspective of the global audit firms on the regulatory changes, the 

perspective of the local audit firms on the regulatory changes, and comparison between the 

perspective of the global firms and the local firms.  

 

Based on the analysis result, the regulators’ efforts have created significant changes on the 

accounting profession in order to improve the AQ. It’s clear that there are explicit and direct 

coercive pressures placed on the practitioners by the establishment of regulative pillars such as 

law, regulations and the adoption of international standards. The pressures are in the form of 

requirements for formal and official reports of the audit firms to regulators submitted annually, 

requirements in their audit practice and fulfillment the legal license and other administrative 

matters (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983; Scott, 2008). However, there are different reactions by the 

practitioners in relation to the regulatory efforts. The global practitioners are considered  to have 

higher readiness level in facing the changes as they have strong affiliation with the international 

network profession services, while their local counterparts find it as a challenge as they are lack 

of  the necessary resources. Thus, actions were taken according to the resources they have by 

identifying appropriate actions internally. Therefore, the local practitioners prefer waiting and 

modelling based on other practitioners who have taken successful and legitimate action. This 

imitating strategy is identified as a result of mimetic pressure.  

                                                             
55 UU No 5/ 2011 and PP No. 20/ 2015, as well as the auditing standards 
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However, the two group shares the same view on the fact that they may have to struggle to meet 

the regulations as well as the new international standards. In addition, all of them have similar 

perceptions regarding the benefits that they may receive from the regulatory changes, which is in 

the form of monetary and non-monetary value added. One example of the non-monetary value 

added is the reputation as a professional. As mentioned by DeAngelo (1981) the crucial factor as 

a practitioner is related to the competency, since the competency contribute to the profession’s 

reputation and play a synergic role to reinforce the audit firm’s performance in performing audit 

service assignments. It shows the normative pressure presented in this phase, as a consequence of 

professionalism within the auditing environment.  Thus, this condition also changes the 

conceptual belief, interpretation and mental model of the practitioner to behave properly 

according to the standards and professional ethic codes. This shows that the cultural-cognitive 

pillar has been internalized into their behavior.  Finally, the practitioners expect that the 

regulators will keep on promoting and enhancing the practitioner’s work quality in order to raise 

the confidence of the clients and other stakeholders. Therefore, the implementation of AQ may 

show continual improvement and still requires the participations by all parties related to the 

accounting professions. 

9.5 AQ’s Implementation (Comparative Case Studies) 

The third phase of this study discusses the real implementation of AQ in two different audit firms 

(the global and the local audit firms) because of the regulatory changes. The study shows how 

the AQ is being implemented, in the context of both audit firms, and how these firms show AQ 

improvement initiatives and commitments into their professional practices that include 
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education, ethical, and quality control aspects based on the resources and capacity they owned. 

These three aspects of audit firms’ practices, show that the audit firms deliver their professional 

services through: a strong internal culture focusing on high quality audit, applying appropriate 

resources, having experience and expertise to audit, having effective internal supervision and 

review, identifying and addressing audit risk and issues on timely basis and accepting and 

addressing finding from audit inspections of the regulators. All these concrete examples of the 

three aspects mentioned, are representing the implementation of three pressures and pillars of 

institutional theory.  

 

For example, audit inspections, is a product of regulators’ forces which is driven through 

coercive means. Coercive means tend to be related to legal obligation which is identified as a 

result of regulative view of institution. The practitioners consider that they have to do it 

accordingly as the how the law and regulation stipulated (Barnett & Carrol, 1993; Scott, 2008). 

Nevertheless, the normative pressure and pillar are focusing on moral bases and they can be seen 

from the internal supervision and review activities. The practitioners feel that they ought to do it 

(supervision and review) as a sense of assignments. Finally, the cultural-cognitive emphasis on 

cultural legitimacy. This means that the practitioners consider that legitimacy comes from their 

personal belief, such as having a strong personal culture focus on high quality audit. It is not 

enforced through standards or firm’s policy, but rather their willingness to apply it in order to 

give real impact for their audit firms’ effectiveness. The cultural legitimacy emphases that 

successful implementation of high quality audit, depends more on the practitioners’ commitment, 

not merely completing paperwork based on audit working paper required, not by following the 

audit procedures’ properly. Unfortunately, this practice actually happens commonly. Audit 
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reports are prepared for the sake of formality, rather than as a real practice as claimed by RG02; 

PB01 and PB03.     

 

Thus, this phase is comparing the two audit firms’ AQ implementation. Based on the 

comparative analysis it shows the interpretations from the two case firms, where they are 

categorized under three aspects (education, ethical, and quality control) and categories of 

institutional elements (coercive/ regulative, mimetic, normative, cultural-cognitive). 

Furthermore, the main points are: 1) most of the responses from global audit firms on the 

institutional elements show normal and natural pressure as its position as a global firm has given 

it benefit by obtaining several facilities from the affiliation in the aspect of education, ethical and 

quality control of the firm. However, the local audit firms find high pressure on managing their 

limited resources such as time, cost and personnel in fulfilling the requirement of the regulations 

and standards. It can be concluded that the findings address their responses on the impact of 

pressures from the sources in relation to their decision to decide proper strategy in order to 

implement their AQ. Next is: 2) Most of the participants describe the mimetic pressure for 

implementing AQ in their audit firms in similar ways.  Both prefer adopting the available 

policies and methodology to be implemented in each of their firms. The different only lies in the 

origin of the information source. The global firm depends on their affiliation, while the local firm 

expects guidance from regulators. 3) The discussion on normative pressure and pillars by both of 

the firms focus on professionalism. However, the intention of each audit firm is different. The 

global firm tends to encourage the staffs to attain membership of an appropriate professional 

body, as they are aware about the responsibility of a practitioner in this profession. It is reflected 

on "contract or assignment’s letter”.  
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The contract stated that every personnel have to keep any confidential data and information well, 

unless there’s a requirement from authority (risk mitigation implemented) to disclose it. The 

local audit firms begin to implement the risk mitigation strategy by providing a notebook or 

laptop to staffs to keep clients’ data confidentially. However, they still need the effort to provide 

awareness for new staffs especially on the professionalism, particularly related to the client’s 

data confidentiality. Number 4) relates to the cultural system in each firm where they try to 

internalize their “culture, value, and belief” to all the staffs, supporting and choosing to adopt it. 

They expect by doing so, the staffs believe in it and personally want to implement while 

performing their professional assignments. The global affiliates shared and provided the updated 

audit quality policies, practices and also methodologies. They used to see dynamic policies from 

the affiliations, thus it influences their value, belief and attitude. The firms also provide an 

environment called "corporate culture. In contrast, the local firms tend to directly accept what the 

seniors share or give thus following them. Hence, these differences show the position of their 

legitimacy. While global audit firms position of legitimacy in every aspect thus show 

satisfactory, the challenge however focuses on the intensive effort for the firms to remain 

satisfactory. On the other hand, the local audit firms show variety of practices as the satisfactory 

in the position of legitimacy is just on the aspect of ethical, while they are still considered less 

confidence and need to be improved in the future.  

 

The last aspect is that this chapter provide evidence of the AQ in Indonesian context by utilizing 

regulative, mimetic and normative pressures, thus suggesting that the audit quality can be 

defined in the sense of audit process as an alternative perspective, since most of the previous 
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researches are concerned with the audit result and deliverables rather than the process of audit 

itself (Francis, 2011). 

9.6 Research Implications 

This study’s implication focuses on four areas: theoretical, empirical, methodological and 

practical implication.  

9.6.1 Implication on Theory 

The first contribution of this study is theoretical contribution particularly on the professional 

audit field by utilizing regulative, mimetic and normative pressures as well as using three pillars 

of institutional theory as a lens for analysis. It is suggested that AQ can be defined in the sense of 

audit process as an alternative perspective; since the institutional theory help to understand the 

processes of how regulatory changes affect AQ. DiMaggio and Powel (1983), label the process 

by which organizations tend to adopt the same structures and practice isomorphism, which is 

described as a homogenization of organizations. The definition of isomorphism itself is a process 

that causes one unit in a population to resemble other units in the population that face the same 

set of environmental condition. Besides, most previous researches are concerned with the audit 

results and deliverables rather than the process of audit itself (Francis, 2011). In addition, most 

studies in this area consider that auditing is full of interest from both, principle and agent (Jensen 

et al., 1976; Francis et al., 2006; Lin et al., 2009). However, this study does not include 

discussion on the intention or interest used by the agent. This study specifically discusses the 

insight process due to the external pressure. The institutional theory was conceptualized where it 

recognized the influence exerted by superior institution on an organization as pressure. Thus, this 

study investigates how the regulators play their role to enhance AQ and how the practitioners 
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face and comply with the regulatory changes due to the efforts conducted by the regulators. 

Evidently, this theory is suitable to be utilized to explore in-depth regarding this matter, although 

agency theory is more popular and mostly being used in auditing research. The researcher is keen 

to contribute different theory as this study focuses on regulatory changes and AQ in which it 

emphasizes on the influence on organization’s practice and process rather than the interests 

among principle and agents. Thus, DiMaggio et al (1983) and Scott (2008) facilitate 

isomorphism and pillars principles to answer this study’s need. Based on the discussion and the 

finding abovementioned, the definition of AQ can be referred to three practices: education, 

ethical and quality control. Therefore, as a conclusion that the theoretical implication of this 

study shows that the AQ in Indonesian is being improved by utilizing institutional theory and it 

is suggested that the AQ can be defined based on audit process as an alternative perspective, 

which is explored by the three phases of analysis. 

 

9.6.2 Implication on Knowledge 

Empirical contribution shows gaps in researches in the previous literature. This study is on 

regulatory changes and AQ in Indonesia however, there are not much empirical debates have 

been done on the rationale for AQ efforts in emerging economy countries. Taking into 

consideration for the perspective of institutional theory, this study aims to investigate why a 

country decides to have movement on AQ because of external and international pressure, when 

the country itself is still struggling to internalize and promote better AQ among practitioners 

especially and stakeholders generally.  
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Since the starting point of AQ movement in 2007 until the adoption of ISAs and the last 

regulation issued in 2015, there is no particular study conducted on this matter. This is a 

contradiction to other studies such as adoption of IFRS which were well researched and studied 

by many scholars. Having said that similar most researches that have been conducted on 

regulatory changes and AQ were conducted in developed economies only, such as the UK, US, 

Australia, and New Zealand (Griffin et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2009; Ghosh et al., 2009; Salman 

et al., 2009; Abidin et al., 2010, Hecimovic et al., 2011). There is lack of researches that cover 

the topic about regulatory changes on AQ in emerging economy countries. Apparently, the 

developed countries are pioneers in theese changes as they respond to critical issues swiftly with 

acts or policies in order to neutralize the global market and business atmosphere (Asthana, 

Balsam & Kim, 2009). The impact of SOX Act is subjected to the change of rules inauditing 

standards and conducting inspections (Bishop et al., 2013) and subsequently, the emerging 

economy countries will follow, adapt and adopt these changes. There should be a significant 

difference between developed and developing economies, especially Indonesia. The differences 

are related to the CPA profession, auditing requirement and standard setting, regulatory bodies 

and quality review, adoption of international auditing standards and the implementation of AQ. 

This study examines the efforts contributed by the regulators and professional bodies to 

introduce or to naturalize the changes. In addition, this also explores the challenges, strategies 

and the ways of different audit firms face the changes in their own respective settings.         

 

This study is also an extension of previous studies in regulatory changes while considering the 

use of data from actual working papers of each firm in order to support and confirm the 

perceptions given by the participants (Hecimovic et al., 2011). As mentioned in the 
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methodological contribution below, the qualitative case study approach which is used in this 

study is capable to see in depth and by accessing the working papers required (Yin,1981). In 

addition, it also combines the data retrieved from documents (archives), interviews and 

observations (Eisenhardt, 1989). 

 

9.6.3 Methodological Implication 

Significant methodological contribution is provided by selecting case study method where two 

different types of audit firms (global and local firms) are selected. In addition, the participants 

who were interviewed are the key participants such as board of professional bodies (IAPI and 

IAI), regulators under the MOF (P2PK and KPAP), the Big Four practitioners, other global 

practitioners and local practitioners who can contribute crucial and significant view, data and 

information. Choosing the appropriate participants who are directly involved with every process 

of AQ implementation can assist to explain and show the evidence relates to the regulatory 

changes on audit quality based on their actual experience and expertise.    

 

Another methodological contribution is in relation to the approach used in this study. Most AQ 

studies with the various proxies or dimensions are dominated by the use of quantitative 

approach. Because this study observes the insight of the process of audit quality implementation 

and the process of facing and adapting the regulatory changes in country level as well as the 

audit firms level, qualitative case study approach is seemed as the most appropriate method to be 

used. 
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9.6.4 Implication on Practice 

This study can be a comparative guidance for audit firms, as an evaluation by the regulators in 

determining certain regulatory changes, and as a reference for investors on how auditor address 

the issue of changes in AQ. The detail practical contribution is explained below. 

 

This study is useful for audit firms to provide reference on how to cope, adapt and prepare for all 

changes based on the firm’s size. The challenges faced can be identified and certain strategies 

can be suggested to deal with them. The outcomes of this study can be a comparative guidance 

for them, especially the small and medium firms in managing their limited resources in order to 

comply with the new auditing standards as well as the rules and regulation. 

 

Another implication is on the regulators (P2PK and KPAP) and professional bodies (IAPI and 

IAI). Through the decades, it has been evidenced that many changes have been imposed in the 

regulation of the auditing profession in Indonesia56. The regulators as well as the professional 

bodies expect that the changes in regulations may accomplish the improvements in AQ. 

However, they need to evaluate whether these changes have made positive contributions 

(benefit) to the CPA practices and businesses or rather create burdens and problems (costs) 

among the practitioners. Thus, measuring the cost and benefit of the regulatory changes is a 

critical issue for businesses since the regulation creates consequences for them and the 

effectiveness of the regulations itself (Mulherin, 2007). 

 

                                                             
56 Compilation of regulatory and institutional changes in Indonesia since the year of 1954 to 2015, proceed in 2016. 



Universlti Utara Malaysia 

 

311 

 

This study provides practical contributions for investors and creditors as they are concerned with 

the AQ thus this is a concern for the regulators. Investors are financial statements’ users and they 

have their own indicators to measure AQ. The perception of investors regarding AQ is important 

since they believe the AQ will affect the investments on the internal control resources (Smith, 

2012).  In other words, the investors are concerned with the ways of the auditors’ addressing the 

issue of changes in AQ. 

 

The last implication is on the awareness of the financial statements preparer. As mentioned 

earlier, one of the issues raised by IFIAR on its assessment of the AQ in Indonesia was “the lack 

of awareness of the financial statements preparers on the importance of their role in enhancing 

high quality of audit. The process of performing audit cannot be separated with the process of 

providing and presenting an auditable financial report. Thus, they have to understand that the 

financial statements are the responsible of the companies’ management, in this case the preparer 

rather than the auditor. 

 

9.7 Limitations and the Suggestion for the Future Research 

This study has a number of limitations, particularly with regards to the questionnaire approach 

where it may potentially create biases in participants’ responds. However, in order to minimize 

the risks, as anticipated, this study has selected group of participants from the regulators who are 

directly responsible with the profession, and these individuals are from the board of P2PK, board 

of IAPI and IAI, the senior Big 4, the global and the local practitioners who (most of them) have 

practicing experience for more than 10 years in this field. Further research that will explore the 

subject of regulatory changes, particularly related to the auditing framework, may extend the 
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group of participants by considering the preparers, users as well as other relevant stakeholders, in 

order to draw on insight how the audit regulation relate to the public interest. 

 

9.8 Recommendations for Improvement on AQ in Indonesia  

This study therefore provides several recommendations for improvement on AQ in Indonesia by 

considering three levels: individual level, audit firms level, and country level. Individual level 

factors are still related to the three practices. It means that they have to keep the competency and 

skills updated therefore they have to maintain the standards in relation to the work procedures, 

since they will always use their personal judgment decision making processes. 

 

Therefore, in order to improve AQ, several factors could be considered by audit firms conducting 

effective quality reviews of audits, remediating situation stated in the findings by obtaining the 

audit evidence which is necessary to form an opinion on the financial report, identifying the root 

causes of problems in the findings from their own quality reviews and audit inspections, 

developing and implementing action plans to address those findings, and monitoring and revising 

these action plans to ensure that they are effective, and finally, reviewing their staff structure to 

ensure that they are appropriately resourced to undertake the increasingly complex audits in the 

future. 

 

The last recommendation is regarding the country level. As explained above AQ is not only a 

responsibility of the practitioners and regulators, but also other parties included in auditing 

framework such as management of companies, users, preparers, TCWG and other stakeholders. 

Therefore, the regulators have to carry the socialization with these parties as part of their 
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responsibility. Secondly, the regulators have to enforce clear sanctions on the violations against 

standards as well as to set rule and regulation properly. Regulators should be consistent in 

following up further on the implementation of AQIs in Indonesia. The last implication is the 

quality of inspection or review. The regulators should consider conducting inspections jointly 

among regulators (Bishop, Hermanson, & Hauston, 2013). This policy considers the potential 

efficiencies and avoids additional burdens on audit firms (Bishop et al., 2013). 

 

9.9 Conclusion 

The study discusses how the regulatory changes influence the AQ developments and 

implementations in Indonesia. It utilizes institutional theory that presents how this theory shows 

the pressure mechanism and foundation as well as the significant matter on AQ practices in the 

context of Indonesian public accountants. For the purpose of this study, the institution refers audit 

quality as AQ. It shows (because of the pressures) how the regulators emerged and developed, 

and conclusively affect policy outcomes for the practitioners. In discussing the institutionalization 

impact of the regulatory changes on AQ, the impact for the practitioners will also be created. This 

pressure appears because of the regulatory changes globally. Indonesia has its own way to 

anticipate the changes with its own reasons. One of the reasons is that the output from the service 

product is comparable and accepted in global market, thus the purpose is to expect legitimacy. 

With this regard, further efforts and significant improvements on regulatory changes, at the 

ASEAN regional level and at the country level efforts have actively been carried out. The efforts 

carried out at the ASEAN regional level do not only portray the roles and commitment performed 

by the Indonesian regulators, but also as part of the collaborative efforts among the ASEAN 

countries. While at the country level, the regulators focus on the enhancement of the statutory 
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and institutional framework, which have a stronger legal backing than before. This shows how 

the basis of effective regulations has been put in place, including the adoption of international 

standards and the re-structuring of the institutional drivers of AQ. With regards to the statutory 

and institutional framework’s efforts conducted by the regulators, the study results clearly 

indicate that there are at least 14 crucial points which show significant differences between pre- 

and post of the critical time (in the year 2007). These efforts and the development in enhancing 

AQ have also shifted the regulators’ attention and considered to improve Indonesian’s 

accounting profession and its AQ. Nevertheless, all efforts are expected to provide added value. 

The regulators claimed that there are two expectations and they are monetary and non-monetary 

value added towards practitioners and business in general. In addition, it also shows the current 

liability due to the regulatory changes as well as the suggestion to take further action plans in 

order to enhance AQ in Indonesia. 

 

Apart from the regulators being the main actors of AQ in providing a shift or change in the 

behavior related to the global pressure, another important actor for this phase is the practitioners. 

This study shows that the efforts by the regulators have signaled significant changes in the 

accountancy environment i.e. the shift in the practitioners’ way of thinking that applies risk based 

thinking or “critical thinking” which is required to properly implement the law and standards. 

This study explores whether different size of audit firms reacted and perceived differently to the 

regulatory efforts in order to enhance AQ in Indonesia. Although they reacted and perceived, 

expected, and faced challenges differently in response to the regulators’ efforts, the firms shared 

similar opinions regarding their general expectations. All of the participants also share a similar 

view in terms of benefits that they can get by complying with the regulatory changes. The 
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expectations then can be divided into two categories, the first is monetary value added which is 

related to the value of money. This refers to the value regarding the audit fee also known as the 

financial benefit; in which and the practitioners may possibly get more clients thus will eventually 

increase their assurance revenue. The second category is the non-monetary value added which 

include the awareness of increasing the accountants’ professional (improve the competency, good 

reputation, better attitude and mentality and competitiveness), legal protection, decrease resources 

and market share gaps among globally and locally and also consistent actions by regulators in 

promoting and realizing the enhancement of AQ in Indonesia. 

 

Finally, the study shows real implementation of AQ in a case study of two different audit firms 

(the global and the local audit firms) in relation to the regulatory changes and pressures. The 

study shows how AQ is being improved and implemented, in the context of both Indonesian 

audit firms, and how both audit firms show AQ improvement initiatives and commitments into 

their professional practices through education, ethical, and quality control based on the resources 

and capacity they owned. There are three evidences of audit firms’ practices that show the effort 

in enhancing AQ in Indonesia is improved: education, ethical and quality control. Based on the 

three practices the audit firms deliver their professional services through: a strong internal 

culture focus on high quality audit, applying appropriate resources, experience and expertise to 

audit, effective internal supervision and review, identifying and addressing audit risk and issues 

on timely basis and accepting and addressing findings from audit inspections by the regulators. 

 

Based on the evidences presented, the AQ in Indonesian context has been improved by utilizing 

institutional theory and it is suggested that AQ be defined in perspective of audit process as an 
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alternative. Thus, based on the conclusion, the summary of the findings is shown in Table 9.1 

below: 

Table 9.1 

The Summary of the Findings  

No Research Questions Findings 

1 How does the regulator play 

its role in enhancing AQ in 

Indonesia? 

As the institutional agents, there are two big roles how the 

regulators play its: ASEAN regional level and country level. 

The findings show that there were explicit and direct coercive 

pressures, particularly regulative aspect placed on these efforts, 

which focus more on strengthening statutory legal framework. 

These activities not only portray the roles and efforts performed 

by Indonesia but also show parts of the collaborative efforts 

among the ASEAN countries. However, given these 

collaborative efforts, much is to be learned on how Indonesia 

progressed individually.  

In addition, these accomplishments not only showing in term of 

responding the coercive pressure, but also mimetic and 

normative pressures 

2 What are the recent efforts, 

developments or changes 

concerning AQ in 

Indonesia? 

This study shows that the efforts on the regulators signaled the 

significant changes in the accountancy environment 

particularly, the enhancement to statutory and institutional 

framework to improve AQ. It shows that regulative pillar is 

mobilized as the foundation to strengthen the AQ.  

Furthermore, the efforts at the country level are divided 

between two parties: the efforts conducted by the MOF 

agencies and the professional bodies. The MOF’s efforts focus 

on the enhancement to statutory and institutional framework, 

while the professional bodies concern with their function as 

standard setters and centers for the accounting profession’s 

transformation to maintain competency, sustain on value 

delivering and brighten the profession’s prospect.  

In addition, it finds how the efforts on AQ have influenced the 

auditor’s liability which reveals three auditor’s liabilities 
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according to the new act. 

3 What does the regulator 

expect from these 

developments on AQ? 

Overall data supports the positive expectations from the 

regulators. There are two things that describe the importance of 

their expectations: (1) the internal side of the practitioners 

including expectation on monetary value added and non-

monetary value added; and (2) the five aspects of the external 

side of the practitioners. 

4 What are the challenges 

faced by the regulators due 

to the regulatory changes in 

order to enhance the AQ? 

The findings suggest that all the efforts that are carried out by 

the regulators must operate in an effective AQ framework. In 

other words, a high-level AQ in Indonesia can be accomplished 

through effective regulatory developments. However, the 

challenges remain faced. 

It finds that majority of the participants stated about the 

challenges they faced during initiating regulatory changes. The 

challenges can be divided into two factors, namely, political 

and practical challenges. 

5 How are the reactions and 

expectations of practitioners 

towards the regulatory 

changes? 

It shows how practitioners reacted and perceived the regulatory 

efforts to enhance its AQ. The global practitioners are always 

preparing to face the changes as they have strong connection 

with the professional international network services, while their 

local counterpart find it a challenge as they lack the necessary 

resources. However, the two group shares the same view that 

they may have to struggle to meet the regulations as well as the 

new international standards. In addition to that, all of them 

perceive similar views regarding the benefits that they may 

receive by having the regulatory changes, in the form of 

monetary and non-monetary value added. Finally, the 

practitioners expect that the regulators will keep on promoting 

and enhancing the practitioner’s work quality in order to raise 

the confidence of the clients and other stakeholders 

Although they reacted and perceived differently in response to 

the regulators’ efforts, however, they shared similar opinion 

regarding their general expectations. They are aware that the 

purpose of the efforts and changes is for profession’s 
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improvement. Most of them agree that the regulatory efforts 

may offer the opportunity to engage with more clients, 

determine a minimum assurance fee or affordable professional 

training programs for the non-partner auditors. They also expect 

that the new act and regulations will make auditing as a more 

desirable profession for the young accountants as the audit firms 

have higher possibility to earn higher turnover. These changes 

will also protect the profession legally, and finally, help to 

decrease the gap in resources and market share among the 

practitioners. 

The combination of utilizing the institutional analysis finds that 

regulatory changes affect the practitioners’ perception and 

reactions in relation to the AQ improvements. However, the 

normative and cultural-cognitive pressures provide more 

evidence rather the coercive pressure. Since the reactions, 

perceptions and actions shows professionalism and value of the 

practitioners. 

6 What are the challenges 

faced by practitioners due to 

the changes? 

It finds that the presence of practical challenge faced by the 

practitioners is unavoidable.  The global audit firms’ 

participants agreed to such challenges like audit fee, trainings 

and work’s allocation time (time management) and the nature 

of Indonesian’s clients. With respect to the changes, the local 

audit practitioners’ participants in the interviews indicated the 

presence of four basic challenges, namely, time management, 

operational costs, high employee turnover and support staff’s 

competency and skill.  

The phrase “time management” in the local practitioners’ 

perspective is quite different from the “time management” used 

by global audit firms. The global audit firms also face a 

challenge in their time management but due to “the big number 

of client”. However, time management for local audit firms 

refers to difficulty to manage their time, because they are too 

busy looking for “projects” from clients.  This condition has 

been a routine for them in order to bear the operational costs, 

and paying for the operational costs is one of the ways to 

comply with the current rules and standards. This may happen 
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because in the local audit firms, the partners perform multiple 

functions as a managing partner, marketer, finance manager, 

reviewer and human resource manager as claimed by one of the 

participants above. Typically, all the vital functions in the small 

firms are conducted by a single partner or up to a maximum of 

three partners. 

7 What are the strategies or 

action plans applied by both 

types of practitioners due to 

the changes? 

The strategy and action plans of the global practitioners find 

more on mimetic, normative and cultural-cognitive pressures. 

Since, these actions represent their professionalism to cope the 

challenges. The strategies and action plans emphasizes more on 

how the role of moral obligation and values of the practitioners 

implement properly.   

It shows that global practitioners face technical issue regarding 

the regulatory changes. The issue is not related to the 

implementation of standards or regulation, but the way to cope 

with the changes with other parties like the clients and support 

staffs within the office especially when accomplishing their 

assigned projects and at the same time comply with the new 

standards and regulations 

The action plan and strategy which are conducted by local 

practitioners are same pressure’s evidence as the global 

practitioners. All actions and strategies are identified as 

normative and cultural-cognitive pressures, since these may be 

exhibited as professionalism’s efforts. Regarding these matters, 

there are three challenges that have to be solved or at least 

needed the necessary strategies to be dealt with by the local 

practitioners. Regarding to the time management and 

competency development program, the measures that have been 

performed are: 1) the practitioners should begin to delegate and 

distribute the works to the available staff instead of conducting 

the “audit project” all by themselves. For example, appoint a 

staff as a coordinator for preparing or revising the audit manual 

2) hold periodic meeting of an hour or two with the staff, and 

discuss not only matters concerning an “audit project”, but also 

share knowledge or information 3) treat every staff as a member 

of a marketing team. They may help the partners to get new 
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client, and in doing offer them with an incentive or reward 

8 How do the regulatory 

changes affect the process 

of AQ implementation and 

practice in audit firms? 

It shows how the regulators emerged and developed, and 

conclusively affect policy outcomes for the practitioners. The 

practitioners claimed that there is a significant different 

between the global and local practitioners in reacting and 

responding to the changes. However, all agreed that all the 

actions are to support the enhancement of AQ in the country on 

the resource and capacity they owned, and these affect the 

process of audit quality implementation and practice in their 

audit firms 

In case of comparison between two audit firm case studies, it 

finds that the implementation from the two case firms, where 

they are categorized under three aspects: education, ethical, and 

quality control and categories of institutional elements: 

coercive/ regulative, mimetic, normative, cultural-cognitive. 

It is also further evidence that shows the mechanism of 

institutional isomorphic and pillars interrelated with the process 

of enhancing and implementing AQ in audit firms’ practice. 

Although both audit firms within each own characteristics and 

challenges, engage similar behavior to achieve legitimacy in 

order to comply the law and regulations, as well as current audit 

standards properly. Both also build professional firm’s 

networks among them with the common culture and share the 

same values to support the process. Although the process of 

building professional networks for global audit firm is 

automatically since they have affiliated with international 

service networks, however they still consider that the regulatory 

changes effect significantly in their offices. While the local 

audit firms, they tend to observe and imitate the behavior of 

other audit firms in the environment that seems suitable and 

acceptable for them. They also go to consult with regulators 

regarding the practical challenges within the firms. 
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9.10 Summary of The Chapter 

This thesis has discussed how regulators influence the improvement and development on AQ 

from different perspective by utilizing three isomorphism and pillars of the institutional theory. 

The main objective of the study is to show that the country was putting in various initiatives in 

relation to its AQ in the ASEAN regional level and the country level. Besides showing evidence 

that Indonesian regulators utilized institutional theory to explore how efforts to strengthen audit 

quality (AQ), it has also influenced the auditor’s liability in the country. Following the release of 

the new law, there have been significant changes in the approach and requirements with regards 

to auditing framework and profession.  

 

This study also shows that the new regulations’ aim is to provide guidance rather than policing 

the profession, resulting less legal burden on the auditors. The improved auditing framework 

now focuses on the government regulators whom they work closely with, and who supervise the 

profession intensively. This has changed from the previous practice of self-regulation to one that 

is now highly supervised by government regulators. From the institutional theory lens, this thesis 

shows how the pillars are mobilized as the foundation to strengthen the accounting profession 

generally and AQ specifically. Finally, the study shows how the real implementation of AQ in 

two different audit firms (the global and the local audit firms) due to the regulatory changes and 

pressures. The study shows how the AQ is being improved and implemented, in the context of 

both Indonesian audit firms, and how both audit firms show AQ improvement initiatives and 

commitments being enhanced into their professional practices in the elements of education, 

ethical, and quality control based on the resources and capacity they owned. The discussion, 

hence conclude that Indonesia has progressed with respect to efforts in strengthening AQ. 
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Appendix A: Target Issues 

Target Issue to Guide Interview in Phase 1 (Regulatory): 

a. The recent developments and changes concerning audit quality in Indonesia 

b. The reasons behind the changes or developments 

c. The expected impacts of these developments and changes 

d. The gap between the expected impacts and the real implementation 

e. The government’s (regulators and professional bodies) effort for the gap 

Target Issue to Guide Interview in Phase 2 (Practice/ Profession): 

a. The perceptions and reactions of practitioners about the regulatory changes (regulations and 

standards) 

b. The main benefit of the changes made by government  

c. The expectation of regulatory changes and regulator’s efforts 

d. The main impacts on audit methodology 

e. The challenges and obstacles faced by the practitioners/ audit firms because of the changes in 

order to prepare, adapt and adopt (main operational impacts) 

f. Audit quality 

g. Justification made 

Target Issue to Guide Interview and observation in Phase 3 (Process): 

a. The real strategies of audit firms to implement the audit quality according to standards as 

well as the law and regulation (main operational impacts) 

b. The efforts made by audit firms on their new audit methodology (practices) 

c. The audit process due to the implementation of audit quality and meet with the standards  

 

Note: This is an open-ended interview, questions are formulated based on the RQs. However, it 

referred to Hecimovic et all (2011) as an example on interviews and such area is 

developed. 
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Appendix B: Interview Protocol/ Guide 

 

Candidate Name : Irma Tyasari    Date: ____/____/_____ 

Metric Number  : 99009 

 

A. Introduction 

A researcher’s interview protocol is an instrument of inquiry asking questions for specific 

information related to the aims of a study (Patton, 2015) as well as an instrument for 

conversation about a particular topic. An interview protocol/ guide is more than a list of 

interview questions; It also extends to the procedural level of interviewing and includes a script 

of what you will say before the interview, script for what you will say at the conclusion of the 

interview, prompts for the interviewer to collect informed consent, and prompts to remind the 

interviewer the information that she or he is interested in collecting. Interview protocols become 

not only a set of questions, but also a procedural guide for directing a new qualitative researcher 

through the interview process (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012).  The advantage of an interview guide 

is that it makes sure that the interviewer/evaluator has carefully decided how best to use the 

limited time available in an interview situation. The guide helps make interviewing a number of 

different people more systematic and comprehensive by delimiting in advance the issues to be 

explored. A guide is essential in conducting focus group interviews for it keeps the interactions 

(Patton, 2015). 

 

I am Irma Tyasari, the Accounting PhD Student of University Utara Malaysia, is conducting a 

research for my dessertation on THE REGULATORY CHANGES AND AUDIT QUALITY 

IN INDONESIA. In this regard, I would like to ask for help to be respondent or participant in 

this interview. I am conducting interview to ask about the audit quality and regulatory changes in 

Indonesia. The official letter for interview request, provided separately. 

 

The objective of this thesis is to examine how the regulatory changes influence the audit quality 

developments and implementations in Indonesia. This research with the case study of Indonesia, 

provide an alternative perspective in audit quality (AQ) definition by looking at the insight of the 

regulators as well as the practitioners.  Face-to-face interviews with relevant participants such as 

the MOF Agencies; professional bodies, both global and local practitioners, have provided the 

impression on how far have the Indonesians achieved to enhance their AQ. Apart from the 

interviews, other information was obtained from utilizing the archival method on the publicly 

available documents on the official websites of parties involved in this study as well as 

conducting observation in audit firms. 
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B. The Participant’s Selection 

The key participants for this study comprise of regulators (IAPI, IAI, P2PK, and KPAP) and 

practitioners. These groups of regulators’ participants have been chosen because their job 

descriptions and experiences which directly supervise the practitioners. The Selection of certain 

practitioners also considered as the interviewees in this study, since several of them were also 

has experience as member of professional bodies as the representative of Indonesia in MEA, and 

have audit practice experiences. Interview session begins when the researcher provides 

information about the purpose of the study to make the participants understand on what 

(subjects) issues will be asked. The participation of all participants in this research is voluntary. 

 

C. The Procedures, Open-ended interviews and Observation  

The sequence procedures for this study in term of performing interview and observation as 

follows: 

1. Official letter was sent for requesting an interview (via email and courier) and agreement to 

be interviewed 

2. Following up and seeking the schedule of having an interview 

3. Visiting the potential participants or joining in a certain workshop to have an interview. 

4. Conducting on site interview (office, workshop venue, clients’ office) 

5. Conducting observation as well for visiting audit firms 

Interviews used as the main data gathering in this study. This process is used to obtain a direct or 

spontaneous response in real expressed words based on the informant’s experience. Open-ended 

interview also create an avenue for the researchers and interviewees to have informal discussion 

or voice out (opinions/ideas) on the subject matter. The interviews are conducted in participants’ 

office, clients’ office and also workshop venue. By having open-ended interview, the participants 

can also give or express their own words based on their best views and knowledge (Taylor et al., 

2015). 

 

Types of questions that the participants are to be asked in the interview based on the each phase. 

The first phase covers the following target issues: a) to ascertain the reason behind these 

developments and changes; b) to describe the regulators’ role and efforts as well as the recent 

and relevant developments and changes concerning audit quality; c) to identify regulators’ 

expectation from these developments on audit quality; and d) to identify the challenges faced by 

regulators regarding their roles and efforts in enhancing audit quality. The second phase’s target 

issues are: a) reaction and perception of the practitioner due to the regulatory changes; b) the 
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expectation of the practitioners regarding the changes; c) the main operational challenges faced 

by the practitioners; d) and action plans applied by the audit firms regarding the changes. Hence, 

the last target issue of the third phase is: how the regulatory changes affect the process of audit 

quality implementation and practice in audit firms. The audit process due to the implementation 

of audit quality and meet with the standards.  

The observation is also conducted by visiting the sites (two different audit firms in two different 

cities). The activity is conducted during the same time when the interviews were performed. The 

goal of the observation is trying to remember and record all the circumstances and put them 

against or compare to what was told in the interview (Taylor et al., 2015). 

 

D. Confidentiality of Research Information 

As mentioned in the interview request letter, this study assured that all responses and answers 

will be kept confidential. Moreover the result of this research will be reported in certain code and 

summary format, so noone will not able to link  the respondent with the response. 

 

E. Contact Information 

The researcher is welcome to get any question regarding to this study. It can be reached on the 

mobile number +62 82245599895 or email: irmatyasari26@gmail.com . This study is also under 

supervised of Dr. Nor Zalina M Yusof, CA(M)., CPA (Aust) , email: nzalina@uum.edu.my and 

Dr. Ku Maisurah Ku Bahador, email: kumaisurah@uum.edu.my.  

 

F. Certificate of Consent 

I have read the above information regarding the research study on the regulatory changes and 

audit quality in Indonesia, and consent to participate in this study.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Name and signature 

mailto:nzalina@uum.edu.my
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G. Confidentiality of Research Information 

As mentioned in the interview request letter, this study assured that all responses and answers 

will be kept confidential. Moreover the result of this research will be reported in certain code and 

summary format, so noone will not able to link  the respondent with the response. 

 

H. Contact Information 

The researcher is welcome to get any question regarding to this study. It can be reached on the 

mobile number +62 82245599895 or email: irmatyasari26@gmail.com . This study is also under 

supervised of Dr. Nor Zalina M Yusof, CA(M)., CPA (Aust) , email: nzalina@uum.edu.my and 

Dr. Ku Maisurah Ku Bahador, email: kumaisurah@uum.edu.my.  

 

I. Certificate of Consent  

I have read the above information regarding the research study on the regulatory changes and 

audit quality in Indonesia, and consent to participate in this study.   

 

 

 

 

 

Name and signature 

mailto:nzalina@uum.edu.my
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Appendix C: List of interviews and characteristics of participants 

No Code Participants’ 

Organizations 

Initial Gender 
Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

Location Date Time Interview 

Method of 

Interview 

of 

Interview of Interview 

Group 1: Regulators                 

1 RG01 P2PK ASP Male >15 years 

The Chief of Accountancy 

Profession's  Jakarta 19-Sep-16 08.40-09.55 

Face-to-face 

interview 

  

(under The  

   

License and Compliance 

Division 

  

(1 hour 14 

minutes) (recorded) 

  

Ministry of 

Finance) 

   

Practical experience in 

auditing, and accounting  

    

      

Practical experience in 

standard setting 

    

           

2 RG02 P2PK AA Male >20 years 

The Chief of Finance 

Profession's Inspection's 

Division Jakarta 20-Oct-16 09.00-10.38 

Face-to-face 

interview 

  

(under The  

   

Practical experience in 

auditing, and accounting  

  

(1 hour 38 

minutes) (recorded) 

  

Ministry of 

Finance) 

   

Practical experience in 

standard setting 

    

           

3 RG03 P2PK AW Male 

10> x <15 

years 

The Chief of Finance 

Profession's Development's 

Division Jakarta 20-Oct-16 11.00-11.37 

Face-to-face 

interview 

  

(under The  

   

Practical experience in 

auditing, and accounting  

  

(38 minutes 

36 seconds) (recorded) 

  

Ministry of 

Finance) 

   

Practical experience in 

standard setting 

    

           

4 RG04 KPAP JK Male > 10 years 

Member of KPAP 

(Committee Public 

Accountant’s Profession) Jakarta 20-Oct-16 

 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, and accounting  

   

(recorded) 
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No Code Participants’ 

Organizations 

Initial Gender 
Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

Location Date Time Interview 

Method of 

Interview 

of 

Interview of Interview 

Group 2: Professional Bodies & 

Practitioners               

1 PB01 IAPI LB Female >25 years The East Java Head of IAPI Surabaya 14-Feb-16 13.28-14.41 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(1 hour 41 

minutes 25 

seconds) (recorded) 

      

Academic expert in auditing, 

accounting and taxation 

    

           

2 PB02 IAPI MA Male >25 years 

The Board Member of 

Management in IAPI 

(Headquarter) Malang 19-Oct-16 13.00-13.50 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(50 minutes 

02 seconds) (recorded) 

      

Academic expert in auditing, 

accounting and taxation 

    

      

Practical experience in 

standard setting 

    

           

3 PB03 IAPI TK Male >20 years 

The Head of IAPI 

(Headquarter) Surabaya 14-Dec-16 14.28-15.51 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(1 hour 23 

minutes 28 

seconds) (recorded) 

      

Academic expert in auditing, 

accounting and taxation 

   

CPD Session 

Program 

      

Practical experience in Sector 

Public Area (auditing, 

accounting) 
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No Code Participants’ 

Organizations 

Initial Gender 
Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

Location Date Time Interview 

Method of 

Interview 

of 

Interview of Interview 

Group 2: Professional Bodies & 

Practitioners               

4 PB04 IAPI EL Female > 35 years 

The member of IAPI 

Supervisory Surabaya 15-Dec-16 13.00-13.10 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

The Ex-Chief of IAPI by 

2012 

  

(10 minutes 3 

seconds) (recorded) 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

   

Annual 

Meeting of 

IAPI 2016 

Group 3: Practitioners                 

1 AP01 Global firm AS Male > 10 years Position: Audit Manager Jakarta 23-Jan-16 19.00-21.10 

Whatsaap 

application 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(1 hour 10 

minutes) (recorded) 

        

24-Jan-16 13.09-14.13 

Whatsaap 

application 

         

(1 hour 4 

minutes) (recorded) 

        

22-Nov-16 11.56-16.08 

Whatsaap 

application 

         

(4 hours 12 

minutes) (recorded) 

           

2 AP02 Global firm KA Male >20 years Position: Partner Malang 2-Feb-16 13.30-14.07 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(37 minutes 

34 seconds) (recorded) 

      

Academic expert in auditing, 

accounting, taxation & sharia 
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No Code 
Participants’ 

Organizations 
Initial Gender 

Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

Location Date Time 

Interview 

Method 

Group 3: Practitioners                 

3 AP03 Local firm RA Male >15 years Position: Partner Malang 3-Feb-16 14.31-1505 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(33 minutes 

04 seconds) (recorded) 

           

4 AP04 Local Firm AB Male >25 years Position: Partner Surabaya 6-Sep-16 13.00-13.38 

Face-to-face 

interview 

  

(also board of 

IAI Jatim) 

   

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(38 minutes 

27 seconds) (recorded) 

      

Academic expert in auditing, 

accounting and taxation  

    

      

One of the board in IAI Jawa 

Timur 

    

           

5 AP05 Big 4 ANS Male > 35 years Position: Partner Surabaya 6-Oct-16 08.15-08.30 

Face-to-face 

interview 

  

(also bard of 

IAMI) 

   

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(30 minutes) (recorded) 

      

Academic expert in auditing, 

accounting and taxation  

  

13.20-13.46 

 

      

Indonesian representative for 

MEA for 4 years 

  

(26 minutes) 

 

      

As the representative of IAMI 

(Indonesian institute of 

Manag Acc) 

  

17.00-17.08 

 

      

One of association's founding 

father (IAI & IAPI) 

  

(8 minutes) 

 

           

6 AP06 Big 4 KR Female >25 years Position: Partner Surabaya 7-Oct-16 13.40-13.55 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experienced audit 

  

(15 minutes) ( not recorded) 
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No Code 
Participants’ 

Organizations 
Initial Gender 

Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

Location Date Time 

Interview 

Method 

Group 3: Practitioners                 

7 AP07 Global firm WN Female >15 years 

Position: Quality Assurance/ 

Assurance Advisor 

(foreigner) Jakarta 19-Oct-16 16.31-17.13 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(42 minutes 

17 seconds) (recorded) 

           

8 AP08 Local Firm Ast Male > 35 years 

Position: Partner (government 

auditor before being a partner 

in audit firm) 

    

      

Practical experience in Sector 

Public Area (auditing, 

accounting) Surabaya 14-Dec-16 08.00-08.22 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(22 minutes 

23 seconds) (recorded) 

          

CPD Session 

Program 

9 AP09 Local Firm DN Male > 10 years 

Position: Tax  & audit 

Supervisor 

    

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas Surabaya 14-Dec-16 08.30-08.42 

Face-to-face 

interview 

         

(19 minutes 

30 seconds) (recorded) 

          

CPD Session 

Program 

           

10 AP10 Local Firm HR Male 

>3 x < 5 

years Position: Senior Auditor Surabaya 30-Dec-16 16.32-16.53 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, & accounting areas 

  

(21 minutes) ( not recorded) 
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No Code 

Participants’ 

Organizations 
Initial Gender 

Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

Location Date Time 

Interview 

Method 

Group 3: Practitioners                 

11 AP11 Local Firm HL Male >20 years 

Position: the last time in 

2015, he was audit manager Malang 31-Dec-16 11.07- 

Whatsaap 

application 

      

now he is concerning more in 

academic as lecturer 

   

(recorded) 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

    

      

Academic expert in auditing, 

accounting and taxation  

    

           

12 AP12 Local Firm AWM Male >15 years 

Position: Tax  & audit 

manager Malang 31-Dec-16 14.05-14.20 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, & accounting areas 

  

(15 minutes) ( not recorded) 

      

Academic expert in auditing, 

accounting and taxation  

    

           Group 4: Case Study (AF1)                 

           

1 AF101 Global firm ST Female >25 years Position: HRD Manager Jakarta 22-Nov-16 09.05-09.45 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(40 minutes) ( not recorded) 

      

Practical experience in HRD 

(recently about 7-8 years) 

    

           

2 AF102 Global firm AA Male >20 years 

Position: Administration 

officer (junior auditor at that 

time) Jakarta 22-Nov-16 10.00-11.05 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in office 

administration 

  

( 1 hour 5 

minutes) (not recorded) 
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No Code 
Participants’ 

Organizations 
Initial Gender 

Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

Location Date Time 

Interview 

Method 

Group 4: Case Study (AF1)                 

3 AF103 Global firm EM Female >5 years Position: Audit Supervisor Kudus 22-Nov-16 12.00-23.40 

Whatsaap 

application 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas (fieldwork) 

 

(11 hours 4 

minutes) (recorded) 

         

break-

continue-

break 

 

           

4 AF104 Global firm ZA Male >5 years Position: Audit Supervisor Malang 23-Dec-16 15.22-18.58 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas (fieldwork) 

 

(3 hours 36 

minutes) (recorded) 

           

5 AF105 Global firm MR Female >5 years Position: Audit Supervisor Jakarta 2-Jan-17 15.22-18.58 

Whatsaap 

application 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas (fieldwork) 

 

(3 hours 36 

minutes) (recorded) 

           

6 AF106 Global firm RN Female >5 years Position: Audit Supervisor Tangerang 11-Jan-17 09.49-11.13 

Whatsaap 

application 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas (fieldwork) 

 

(1 hour 24 

minutes) (recorded) 

         

break-

continue-

break 
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No Code 

Participants’ 

Organizations 
Initial Gender 

Working 

experience 
Detail of Participants 

Location Date Time 

Interview 

Method 

Group 4: Case Study (AF2)                 

           

1 AF201 Local firm YM Male 2 years Position: Senior Auditor Surabaya 30-Dec-16 09.30-10.22 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(42 minutes 

03 seconds) (recorded) 

           

2 AF202 Local firm SE Male < a year Position: Junior Auditor Surabaya 30-Dec-16 10.30-10.45 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in 

auditing, accounting , taxation 

areas 

  

(19 minutes 

38 seconds) (recorded) 

           

3 AF203 Local firm JL Female >25 years 

Position: Finance and 

Administration Manager Surabaya 30-Dec-16 11.00-11.07 

Face-to-face 

interview 

      

Practical experience in  

Finance, administration and 

HRD areas 

  

(7 minutes 14 

seconds) (recorded) 
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Appendix D: Participant's Demographic Characteristics 

No Characteristics of Participants Number; N=29 Percentage 

1 Participants     

  - MOF Agency 4 13.79% 

  - Professional Bodies 4 13.79% 

  - Practitioners 18 62.07% 

  - Support audit staff 3 10.34% 

2 Participant's Academic Degree     

  - Diploma 1 3.45% 

  - Bachelor (S1) 12 41.38% 

  - Master (S2) 12 41.38% 

  - Doctoral (S3) 4 13.79% 

3 

Participant's Professional 

Qualification     

  - CPA 17 58.62% 

  - CA 15 51.72% 

  - CMA 1 3.45% 

  - Ak/ RNA 19 65.52% 

  - Others (BKP; CFE…) 6 20.69% 

  - No qualification 6 20.69% 

4 Participant's Experience     

  - Less than 5 years 3 10.34% 

  - >5-10 years 4 13.79% 

  - >10-15 years 5 17.24% 

  - more than 15 years 17 58.62% 

5 Experience' Scope/ Area     

  - Accountant's Practice 25 86.21% 

  - Academician 10 34.48% 

  - Others (government officer) 4 13.79% 

6 Participant's Position     

  - Chief of Division (MOF) 4 13.79% 

  - Partner 10 34.48% 

  - Assurance Advisor/Quality Assurance 1 3.45% 

  - Audit Manager / Other Manager 5 17.24% 

  - Audit Supervisor 5 17.24% 

  - Senior Auditor 2 6.90% 

  - Junior Auditor 1 3.45% 

  - Audit administration officer 1 3.45% 

7 Participants' Audit Firm Category     

  - Global Audit Firm 12 41.38% 

  - Local Audit Firm 13 44.83% 

  - Others 4 13.79% 
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Appendix E: Approval for Data Collection and Communication 

with key participants 

A. P2PK Approval 
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B. IAPI 
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C. P2PK 
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D. PRACTITIONERS 
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Appendix F: Reports and Studies by the International 

Organization 

 

No Description of Reports or Studies Year 

1 World Bank and AFA: Current Status of Accounting and 

Auditing Profession in ASEAN Countries  

2014 

2 Annual Report: ASEAN Federation of Accountants (AFA) 2015 

3 Annual Report: ASEAN Federation of Accountants (AFA) 2016 

4 World Bank: Report on Observance Standards and Codes 

(ROSC): Indonesia  

2011 

5 The Audit Oversight Board’s (AOB) Annual Report of Malaysia 2013 

6 International Forum of Independent Audit Regulators (IFIAR) 2015 

7 International Federation of Accountants (IFAC): Membership 

and Compliance Program: Legal and Regulatory Environment: 

Indonesia 

2016 

8 Asian Development Bank (ADB): Diagnostic Study of 

Accounting and Auditing Practices (Private Sector) Republic of 

Indonesia 

2003 
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Appendix G: Initial Coding of Transcript 
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Appendix H: The coding transcripts and coding process 
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Appendix G: The code structure 

No Theme Description 

1 THE REGULATORS AS INSTITUTIONAL AGENTS 

 a. Regulators’ Roles and Efforts on Regulatory Changes to enhance AQ 

- at the ASEAN Regional Level 

- at the Country Level 

b. Regulators’ Expectation on Regulatory Changes 

- on the Internal Side of the Practitioners 

- on the External Side of the Practitioners 

c. The Challenges Faced by Regulators 

- Political Factor of Challenge 

- Practical Factor of Challenge 

2 THE ISSUES FROM PRACTITIONER’S PERSPECTIVE 

 a. The Global Audit Firms’ Perspective on the Regulatory Changes 

- Perception and Reaction 

- Expectation 

- Challenges 

- Action, Action Plan and Strategy 

b. The Local Audit Firm’s Perspective on The Regulatory changes 

- Perception and Reaction 

- Expectation 

- Challenges 

- Action, Action Plan and Strategy 

c. Comparison between the Global and Local Audit Firms’ Perspectives on 

Regulatory Changes 

3 AUDIT QUALITY IMPLEMENTATION: THE COMPARATIVE 

STUDIES 

 a. Case Study 1: AQ Implementation in Global Audit Firm 

- The Profile of  the Global Audit Firm (GAF) 

- Educational Practice in the Global Audit Firm 

- Ethical practice in the Global Audit Firm 

- Ethical Practice on Client’s Acceptance 

- Quality Control Practice in the Global Audit Firm 

b. Case Study 2: AQ Implementation in Local Audit Firm 

- The Profile of  the Local Audit Firm (LAF) 

- Educational Practice in the Local Audit Firm 

- Ethical practice in the Local Audit Firm 

- Quality Control Practice in the Local Audit Firm 

c. Comparative Studies 
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Appendix H: Publications 

Journals 

Tyasari, I., Yusof, N. Z. M., & Bahador, K. M. K. (2018). Indonesia’s Participation in 

ASEAN Audit Regulators Group (AARG): Efficiency-driven or Institutional 

Pressure? International Journal of Academic Research in Accounting, Finance and 

Management Sciences, 8(3), 299-309 

Tyasari, I., & Bahador, K. M. K. (2018). Pre- and Post of 2007 Audit Quality Efforts 

in Indonesia. International Journal of Social Science and Economic Research, 4(1), 

578-594 

Conference Proceedings 

Tyasari, I., Yusof, N. Z. M., & Bahador, K. M. K. (2017). Audit Quality in ASEAN 

Region: Some Efforts and Comparisons. In SHS Web of Conferences (Vol. 34). EDP 

Sciences. Paper presented at 17th Asean Academic Accounting Association Annual 

(4A) Conference, on 20-22 November 2016 Riverside Majestic Hotel Kuhcing 

Serawak- Malaysia 

Tyasari, Irma (2017). The Developments on Audit Quality in Indonesia: The 

Qualitative Analysis on the Practitioners’ Expectations presented at 1st Social 

Sciences, Humanities and Economics Conference (SOSHEC), on 24-24 October 2017 

TWhyndham Hotel 67, Kaliasin Surabaya Universitas Negeri Surabaya 
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